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NOTE ON THE AUTHORSHIP OF THE
FIFTH REPORT.

THE authorship of the Fifth Report has been attributed to Samuel
Davis. Davis came out to India as an Officer of Engineers, and in
1784 accompanied Turner on the latter’s Mission to Tibet as far as
Bhutan. He subsequently was admitted into the Company’s Civil
Service, and became District Judge and Agent to the Governor-General
at Benares. On the 14th January, 1799, Wazir Alj, the deposed Nawab
of Oudh, attempted a general massacre of the English at Benares, and
having murdered Mr. Cherry, Captain Conway and Mr. Robert Graham,
made for Davis’ house. The story of how Davis defended his family
on the roof of his house until the arrival of the military from_Secrole is
one of the finest incidents in the history of Briticsh gallantry. Davis
enjoyed a considerable reputation as a painter, an astronomer and
mathematician. He was the father of Sir J. Davis, Bart, k.c.B., who
must have been about three years old when his father defended the
housé. Samuel Davis was'a Director of the E. I. Co. from 1809 to 1819.
See C.S. Markham: Narrative of the Mission of Georye Bogle to
Tibet ; Rivett-Carnac : Many Memories.; Grand: Narrative of a
Gentleman. (Reprint); Buckland: Dictionary of Indian Biography ;
Sir J. Davis: Vigier Ali Khan, or the Massacre of Benaves.

W. K. F.






PUBLISHERS' NOTE.

THIS monumental work was issued by order of Parliament in the
year 1812 and is still the standard authority on land tenures and
judicial and police systems of DBritish India. It has been known to sell
at fabulous prices and is now practically unobtainable at any price.
The present edition has, therefore, been issued at the suggestion of
our esteemed patron the Hon’ble Sir Ashutosh Mukerji, KT., Judge of
the Calcutta High Court and late Vice-Chancellor of the Calcutta
University. It is a faithful and unexpurgated veréafim reprint of the
original Report and contains an historical introduction and biographical
and topographical notes kindly contributed by the Ven'ble Walter K.
Firminger, M.A., B.D., B. LIT,, etc., etc,, Archdeacon of Calcutta, who is
an acknowledged authority on the subject. Besides the elaborate
appendices and the Glossary (in Bengali, Persian and Kaithi with
English equivalents) by Charles Wilkins we have added the valuable
minute, dated znd April, 1788, of Sir John Shore, which is not included
in the original report. A full [ndex, not to be found in any previous
edition, is also appended.

Extracts from the Preface of the Madras reprint of 1883 have, by
kind permission of Messrs. Higginbotham & Co., been added as an
Appendix to the first volume.

May, 1917. R. CAMBRAY & Co.
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PREFACE.

Tue Essay which forms the Introduction to the present
reprint of the Fifth Report is an attempt to trace the stages
by which the representatives of the Honorable East India
Company built up an effective civil administration in
Bengal, while disclaiming almost to the last the possession
of sovereigrn power in India. The story is brought down to
the eve of the arrival of Lord Cornwallis in Bengal, and it
is hoped that this Essay will bring the student up to the
point at which a study -of the Fifth Report may commence.

This Essay was composed during a furlough spent in
Europe in igri-iz, and a part of it was actually written
during the winter of 1912 at Budda Pesth in a delightful
room in the Hotel Fiume with a window looking down on
the Danube. I had hoped to introduce into the Essay much
of the special information gained by me while working at
‘the little known District Records of Bengal : but, realis-
ing that for the ordinary European student the general
outline of the history is still obscure, I found it necessary
to exclude a good deal of interesting and eveil important
local detail. Of the obscurity of the subject no better proof
could be furnished than is supplied, by the way in which the
consultations of the various Bengal Revenue Authorities
have been arranged until at least quite recently, at the
Record Room of the India Office. The officer who, years
ago, catalogued these volumes, could have had te hand no
accessible guide to the history and nature of the various
governing bodies to which the records relate.

On pageiii I have cited passages from often-consulted
authorities on the subject of the battle of Plassey and its
supposed consequences. Perhaps the Plassey legend was
never more inaccurately and more dangerously appealed to
than when in May 1857, Sir John Lawrence assured General
Anson that “Delhi would open its gates on the approach
of our troops.”  Where,” he asked, “have we failed when,
we acted vigorously? Where have we succeeded when
guided by timid counsels? Clive with twelve hundred
men fought at Plassey, in opposition to the advice of his
leading officers, beat forty thousand men,.and ccnquered

Bengal.”*
# Forrest: A History of the Indian Mutiny, vol. i, pp. 57-58.
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Since this Essay'was written, the Government of Bengal
has created a Bengal Historical Record Room, and three
volumes of the Press List have appeared. From this wise
measure great gains may be anticipated.

I would take this occasion to express my gratitude to
Mr. B. Champkin, who kindly read through the Essay
when it was in type-written form, and made many valuable
suggestions, and also to Babu Kirannath Dhar who has
given the utmost pains to seeing the work through the press
and has compiled the Index. To Mr. William Foster, C.I.E.,
I am deeply indebted for his great kindness to me when I
was working at the India Office Record Department.

To the Editor of the Dacca Review I am indebted for
permission to reprint Chapter III, and to the Editor of the
Calcutta Review for permission to reprint Chapter VL
Chapters V & VIII, have appeared in substance in Bengal :
Rast & Present, of which publication I have been the Editor
since the commencement of 1g9o7.

In this Essay I trust I have made available for the
student the contents of books and manuscripts which if
brought together would constitute a very large and costly
library, I cannot, of course, hope that my work will stand
comparison with the works of experts—works such as Field’s
Regulations of the Bengal Code or Cowell’s Courts and
Legislative Authovities in India. There is, however, in
the following work a considerable amount of historical
information with which neither Field nor Cowell was
familiar. I would welcome the opportunity of putting into
a more popular and more readable form the results of the
present inquiry, but for the present, in the endeavour to
provide the student with the materials he essentially requires,
I have been bound to sacrifice many of the attributes of a
book that is easily read, and, in consequence, appreciated.

St. Joun’s Housk,

CALCUTTA WALTER K. FIRMINGER.
9 November, 1976.
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INTRODUCTION,

CHAPTER L.
CONQUEST AND SOVEREIGNTY.

“Men and nations start with a vague notion of being rich, or great, or good. Each step
they make brings unforeseen chances into sight, and shuts out older vistas, and the specifica-
tions of the general purpose have to be daily changad. What is reached in the end may be

better or worse than what was proposed, but it is always more complex and different.”
William James  Pragmatism, p. 141

The battle of Plassey will ever be regarded as a great historical event,
yet, when due regard has been paid to all the factors that contributed to
the success of the English arms, it will be conceded that the victory of
June 23rd, 1757, adds nothing to the splendid military reputation of Lord
Clive. Had not Watts’ intrigues secured the inactivity of Siraj-ud-daula’s
reputed allies, the English forces, as they broke cover for the assault, would
bave been at the mercy of the hordes of cavalry which, under Mir Jafar
and Rai Durlabh, from their position in a wide extending crescent, com-
manded the right flank of the English advance.! Clive, it would seem,
was scarcely ready to risk his comparatively small army in what would
necessarily be a  decisive engagement, nor could he bring himself to rely
on Mir Jafar's undertakings. His Journal shows that he had determined
on making a night attack?—a manceuvre which Mughal commanders sgem
to have regarded as no part of the operations of war, and against which
they were wont to make no provision. The gallant rush across the
swamps and the fierce onslaught which determined the issue of the day,
originated in the order to advance given by Kilpatrick during Clive’s
temporary absence from the field and contrary to Clive’s predetermined plan
of action—an order which when once acted upon, could not be recalled.

Hence it would appear that the battle as actually fought did not
correspond with any bold design framed by the genius of Clive, and
although there must be assigned to him credit for a masterly handling
of circumstances not of his deliberate choice, and although it is not
to be denied that there was much hard fighting—especially with the
Nawab's brave French allies—Plassey cannot rank as a great military
achievement.” There is nothing at all novel in this apparently deprecia-
tory view. In 1767, in reply to Luke Scrafton, who had ventured to
express the belief ‘‘nor could he who had defeated the army of Siraj-ud-
daula with three thousand men conceive the English should ever keep up
an army of fifteen thousand.’’* Holwell, the hero of the Black Hole
incident, writes in a passage, which, while it betrays a curious ignorance
as to the nature of Mir Jafar's relation to Siraj-ud-daula, yet shows that

1 G, C.Hill Bengalin 1756-57 (Indian Records Series), vol. ii, p. 440 and vol. iii
p. 404.

2 Lt.-Col. N. J. Wilson - History of the Madras Army. Madras, 1882, vol. r, p. 84.

3 “The rout of Plassey—for it can hardly be called a battle.” Sir A. Lyall: Rise of the
British Dominion in India, p. 107.

+ Scrafton - Observations on Mr. Vansittart’s Narrative. London. No date.
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n 1767 a former Governor of Fort William did not regard Plassey
as a decisive battle. ‘“ Let it in the first place be remembered that, howso-
ever happy in its consequences the defeat at Plassey proved to individual
sufferers, the means by which it was obtained should rather be forgot,
nor should you blazon that defeat with the semblance of a military act of
prowess, which was solely owing to the treason and treachery of Roydullob
(Rai Durlabh) and Mir Jaffier, two of Surajah Dowlah’s generals, the
highest in office as well as in the confidence of their master; thus betrayed
no glory would have been reflected on our arms, had the defeat been
achieved with one fourth of the men then under Lord Clive’s command.
His Lordship’s established character of a brave officer stands not in need
of any false lustre to be cast upon it; nor will you, I believe, Sir, receive
his thanks for this wanton folly.”!

When the actual benefits by treaty which the victory at Plassey
secured to the Company are considered, their comparatively trifling
character is very striking. Already Siraj-ud-daula, by the treaty of
February, 1757, had consented to that purchase by the Company of the
talukdari rights in thirty-eight villages which the Emperor Farrukhsiyar
had sanctioned in 1717—a purchase which the astute Nawab Murshid
Quli Khan had prevented. The addition to the English zamindari of
the Twenty-four Parganahs conceded by Mir Jafar was little more
than what his ousted predecessor had consented to. Again, as to the
Company’s trading privileges, it was an essential point in Governor
Vansittart’s position in 1760 to demonstrate that the victory at Plassey
had been productive of no fresh privileges for English commercial
enterprise.2 Luke Scrafton, who played so intimate a part in all Lord
Clive’s doings in Bengal in the year 1757, states with much truth: “ The
general idea at this time entertained by the servants of the Company
was that the battle of Plassey did only restore us to the same situation
we were in before the capture of Calcutta; the Subah was conceived to
be as independent as ever, and the English returned into their commer-
cial character with no other alteration in their situation than a full
indemnification for their losses and a small acquisition of territory,
which it.was thought might defray the military expenses of their garrisons
grown too burdensome to be supported by their trade alone; if the forces
were to take the field in support of the Subah, it was to be at his
expense.”® Seven months after the battle of Plassey, the Naib Faujdar
at Hughli had placed a guard round the Company’s old factory at that
place, and threatened to cut down the English colours.?

Y An Address from Fohn Zephaniah Holwell, Esq. to Luke Scrafton, Esq. in Reply to his
Pamphlet, entitled~"* Observations on Mr. Vansittart’s Narrative.” London, 1767, pp. 12-13.
I believe it is a mistake to speak of Mir Jafar as one of Siraj=ud-daula’s generals. Exception
may be taken on this ground to a passage in Mr. J. W. Fortescue’s Military History, p. 160.

3 H. Vansittart: A Narrative of the Tramsactions in Bengal. London, 1766, vol. i, p.
24: “ With respect to trade, no new privileges were asked of Meer Jaffier; none indeed were
wanted by the Company, who were contented with the terms granted them in 1716, and only
wished to be relieved from the impositions to which they had been exposed from the arbitrary
pewer of the Nabobs.”

3 Luke Scrafton, Op. cit. p. 2.

* Long: Selections from the Unpublished Records of the Government of India, vol. i,
No. 335.
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Despite these facts, however, Clive, covered with undying military
glory, in 1762, took his place in the Irish Peerage as Baron Clive of
Plassey, and Plassey is perhaps the one name of a battle associated
with Clive that the average Englishman readily remembers.! In a
popular analysis of English History we read: “ 1757. Calcutta retaken
The battle of Plassey (June 23rd) secures Bengal for ngland.”2 “ Clive’s
victory in 1757, writes Sir Alfred Lyall, ““ was followed by the occupa-
tion of Bengal.”® A recently published - Dictionary of Dates states:
“In consequence of Clive's victory at Plassey, 1757, Bengal passed into
the possession cf the Company, which received formal transfer from the
Mogul in 1765."* Whatever may be said in criticlsm of statements of
the kind, and after it has been pointed out that Plassey was not a great
military achievement and that its actual results by formal treaty were
comparatively inconsiderable, it must still be admitted Plassey has,
in point of fact. exercised an influence over the popular imagination
of so profound a kind that the popular belief, which credits Plassey
with the winning of an Empire, is itself a vital factor in history. It
is impossible to ignore the fact that the makers of English Empire in
India carried in the subconscious depths o: their minds a belief which
associated the origin of their Raj with a definite act of conquest by the
sword—the event of June 23rd, 1757.

In_a case which came before the Supreme Court of Judicature, two
of the original Justices of that Court determined that “the inhabitants of
this town (Calcutta) are all British subjects, because this town was
conquered by Admiral Watson and Colonel Clive, but that does not
extend to subordinate factories.”3 The re-capture of Calcutta by armed
force in 1757 is an historical event that cannot be gainsaid, but it is a
remarkable fact, and one of which the Judges were perhaps ignorant,
that, while undoubtedly Calcutta had been taken by arms from Siraj-ud-
daula, the English abstained from holding the town on the terms of a
military conquest, and instead sought and obtained a senad from the Nawab
for the free tenure of their capital. During the whole period covered by the
present dissertation the justification of the English occupation in Bengal
was, in one way or another, based on the rights of the English as revenue
officials under the Mughal Emperors. It was essentially as revenue
collectors that the English entered into the actual occupation of the
country, and it was the exigencies of the revenue service that compelled them
to elaborate a system of Government, and extrude the native sovereignty by
a long process of exhausting its functions. The history of revenue
administration is thus the backbone of the history of the English occupation
of Bengal.

7 As an illustration of the place of Plassey in Indian Native tradition: ¢ For some time
an idea had been prevalent amongst the natives that the English Raj was not destined to
survive its hundredth year, and that the centenary of Clive’s victory on the field of Plassey on
the 23rd June, 1757, would see its downfall.”” Roberts: Forty-one Years in India, vol. I, p. 172.

2 Acland and Ransome: Englisk Political History, p.13.

3 Lyall: The Rise of the British Dominion in India, 1898, p. 114.

* A Dictionary of Dates. Thos. Nelson & Sons, vol. I, p. 147.

¢ Acharya Codification un British India. Tagore Law Lectures, 1912, p. 408.
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It is true to say that neither Plassey nor Buxar were fought to win
territorial sovereignty for the East India Company or for the Buitish
Crown, although, ot course, those battles were fought to maintain on the
musnudl of Murshidabad a ruler powerless to uproot the British factories.
Although on some few occasions both the Court of Directors in London
and their representatives in Bengal did assume a bellicose tone,? and
although therc were occasions when territorial acquisitions were distinctly
coveted, yet we find that the Company was, on the whole, averse to the
acquisition of ‘‘territory” or ‘‘possessions,’” and that their servants in
Bengal, uuless actuated by some momentous emergency, were unwilling
to interfere in natine politics or to depart from the position of tiaders.”
Many illustrations of #he typical attitude of the Companyt and of its servants
in regard to territorial acquisitions might be cited, but for present
purposes it will suffice to make use of two only.

(1) In the year 1717, the Surman Embassy to the Emperor Farrukh-
siyar—an undertaking which represented many years of preparation, an
enormous expenditure of money, and a vast amount of personal courage, self-
control, patience, and diplomatic skill—secured for the Company the right
to purchase revenue rights in thirty-eight villages in the near neighbour-
hood of Calcutta.” The way in which the Court of Directors acknowledged
the benefits obtained for them by their servants is characteristic. In their
General Letter of the 3rd February, 1719, they wrote :—

“ Notwithstanding the doubts we had, whether it would be our interest
to have the thirty-eight towns, if granted, or whether they might
not engage us in quarrels with the Moors, if herealter they should
be resolved to take them away, when they found them to
flourish, of which we wrote you to have your opinion; we find
by para 85, you say they would be of great advantage to us to
have them. This we have discoursed Mr. Frankland® upon, and
of the necessary charge of soldiers to protect them from, or keep
off, insults; and having well weighed the expected profit on one

1 Musnud—the throne of the Subahdar or Nazim. It was, in fact, a small stone plattorm.

* As, for instance, when' in 1686 they ordered their *“Colonel” Charnock to sicze and to
hold Chittagong.

3 On July 7th, 1712, the Council at Fort William agréed ‘“we write a letter to Patna
forbidding them to give a muchulka (muckalka—agreement), and to let them know that we
can't but wonder that they should believe we have been anyways assisting to Mursudcovey
Cawn (Murshid Quli Khan), since that it 1s not the business of merchants, or advisable for
us to concern ourselves in the government, we well knowing it must bring our Hon’ble
Masters’ affairs into trouble.”

* ¢.g. the renunciation of the acquisition of Ghazipur in 1765, See the General Letter
of the Court of Directors to Bengal, 16th March, 1768, para 7: “ We now repeat our dis-
approbation of such alliances, which we think no circumstances in our affairs can require, and
determined as we are not to aim at any power or possession but what we hold in virtue of
the Mogul’s grants, or what arise from the office of Duan, and consequently are confined within
the boundaries of Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa.”’

¢ For the story of the Surman Embassy see C. R. Wilson Early Annals of the English
in Bengal, vol. 11, part II. Calcutta, 1911,

® Henry Frankland (a maternal great-grandson of Oliver Cromwell) had resigned th
Bengal Service but he returned to Calcutta in 1722 and was Governor, 1726-28. See Bengal
Past & Present, vol 1x p 238 et seg
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side, and the trouble that one time or other may be occasioned
thereby on the other, we think it best for us to bave only so
many of them (when jyou can purchase them) as be contiguous
to our three towns above and below them, and those on the
other side of the river, within about the same extent of ground
as the towns when purchased reach on your side; and we are
inclined only to have such of them as lie on or within about two
miles of the bank of the river, because, if there should ever be a
necessity of defending them from the inroads of some neighbour-
ing petty governor, our soldiers may be harassed by long marches
to defénd our bounds. We suppose, too, that when Jaffer Cawn,
or any other governor, finds -you desire only part of what you
might insist on, he or they may be the easier to give their consent,
and not pick future quarrels; for as our business is trade, it is
not political for us to be encumbered with much territory. Mr.
Frankland assures us, the ground on the other side of you would
be of great service to us for repairing our ships, because the
river is not rapid there, and as we have said about the dock, that
we should find benefit if we could have a good one. We might
also add, that if ever we should be forced to the necessity of it,
our settlement there would enable us to command the river,; but
this is not to be so much as publicly hinted at, lest it should
alarm the government.”!

Again, on 16th February, 1721, the Court of Directors wrote.
“ Remember, we are not fond of much territory, especially if it lies at a
distance from you, or is not pretty ncar the waterside, nor indeed of any,
unless you have a moral assurance if it will contribute directly to our real

benefit.”

(2) A second instance ot the Company’s unwillingness to accept the
responsibilities of government is afforded by the attitude assumed by the
Court of Directors when first informed of Lord Clive’s acceptance on their
behalf of the Diwani of the three Provinces. They wrote “ We observe
the account you give of the Powers of the King’s Dewan, which in former
times was the collection of all the revenues, or, alter defraying the
expenses of the army and allowing a sufficient fund for the support of the
Nizamut, to remit the remainder to Delhi...This description is not the
office we wish to execute.)” The Directors had, in fact, expressed their
approval of the refusal of the Diwani by Governor Vansittart on a former

occasion.

Returning to the first instance it is to be observed that the “territory”
which the Surman Embassy had sought to acquire was, not lands to be
held in sovereign power by the Company, but lands to be held on terms of
zamindari tenure, that is to say, held under the suzerainty of the Mughal
Emperor. The ¢ thirty-eight villages”2 were to be an extension of the
Company’s already acquired zamindari of *‘the Three Towns”—Sutanuti,

1 Quoted by Auber: Rise and Progress of the Britisk Power in India, vol. I, pp. 23-24 .
Sir Thomas Roe had maintained that the Portugugse and the Dutch had spent waore on thei
territories than they had gained by their trade.

¢ {, e, villages not in our present English sense, but as revenue paying units,
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Calcutta, and Govindpur. In consideration of regular payments of fixed
sums agreed upon, the Company, as zamindar, was authorised to receive
the revenue-dues of the inhabitants, and to retain for their own advantage
the profit arising in the difference between the stipulated payment to the
Mughal Treasury and the total collected by the Company from the
occupants of the soil. In other words, the Company sought to become
farmers of the revenues of the thirty-eight villages adjoining their Three
Towns. As zamindar the Company would not only be empowered to collect
land revenue, but also to levy more or less light taxes to defray the cost
of the upkeep of roads and bridges, and incidentally to make a consider-
able profit on the ghafs (river landing places) and bazars within its
jurisdiction. As zaminlar it would also have jurisdiction in civil matters,
while in regard to criminal cases it would enjoy the powers of a magis-
trate of police. But, as zamindar, the Company would be within the
jurisdiction of the Mughal Empire, and would be responsible, under pain
of extrusion from its privileges, for the good conduct of its several offices.
To refer to the securing of zamindari rights as the acquisition of “territory”
was doubtless an inaccuracy, but it is an inaccuracy which reveals the
attitude of their minds in respect to lands placed under their direction.
It is necessary, therefore, to take into consideration certain ideas that
were undoubtedly in the minds of the Directors at this time and influ-
enced their views of the position in Bengal.

(1). There is a saying which passes as a proverb in Western India,
“Madhaji Sindhia made himself master of India by calling himself a
patel.” "With even better reason it might be said that the East India
Company created an Empire by calling itself zamindar. The Company
was not a private adventurer, but an incorporated society invested with
certain sovereign powers by the Sovereign of Great Britain. Whatever
concessions the Company's servants might acquire, their masters intended
to keep by force of arms if necessary, for the Charter of 1683 empawered
the Company “to use martial law for the defence of the said forts, places,
and plantations against any foreign invasion or domestic insurrection or
rebellion.” The acquisition of even zamindari rights at once suggested to
the Court of Directors in England the contingency of defending them
from the inroads of some neighbouring petty governor,” and in the course
of time, after Siraj-ud-daula’s mad seizure of Calcutta, the Company proved
that it could diaw upon the military resources of the British Crown to
insure the retention of concessions obtained from the Mughal Government.
The English could show Mughal sanads and farmans to justify their
occupation, but the Directors, when they referred to lands granted in
zamindari tenure as * territory” or as ‘‘possessions,” clearly intended to
indicate that rights obtained by process of Mughal law, would, if necessary,
be maintained by military force. If then it be true to state that the
English occupation of Bengal was effected by processes of Mughal law,
it is necessary to remember that, although no battles were fought to win
territorial sovereignty either for the Company or the Crown, yet behind
the diplomatic or legal settlement there was a wirfual conquest of the
country, 7.e., a supersession of the nativé military power by the British
military power. In this sense it may be said that Plassey and Buxar
“secured Bengal for England.”
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(2) The views of the Directors in regard to Bengal cannot but have
been influenced by their dealings with the two other Presidencies.
Bombay, it may be said very briefly, was in the truest sense a “posses-
sion,” for it had come to the Crown as part of the wedding dowry of
Queen Catherine of Braganza, and by the Crown it had been granted to
the Company. In Southern India again the Company held lands under
grants from such sovereigns as the Zamorin of Calicut, the King of
Golconda, the descendants of the Vijayanagar Kings &c. &c., and the early
struggle with the Dutch gave to many of the holdings the nature of
occupation by force or international understanding. At a later date, the
English possession of Madras would, in the eyes of the Court of Directors,
be associated with the struggle with the. French. *

(3) The plan of administering the country under what Clive
called “the masked system,” that is to say, of administering Bengal in
the interests of the Company, while maintaining the sovereignty of the
Mughal, might appear to the Company’s servants in Bengal a policy well
adapted to the season and circumstances of the English occupation; but
with its interest in Western and Southern India at stake, the Company
had a position to assert at the bar of international law against the French.
It is thus remarkable in this connection that, three years before the cession
of the Diwani,! the definition of the territories of the Subahdar of Bengal
Bihar and Orissa had been made the subject of an express agreement
between England and France. In our own times we have witnessed
European nations securing ‘spheres of influence ”’-and by appealing to
the * doctrine of the Hinterland” in Eastern Africa wide extending
strips of that continent have been painted red, blue, or green on
the map in order to denote the claims of the various European powers,
although often enough no real effort has been made by the interested
nation to establish a genuine administration in the lands. claimed. It is
thus not difficult to see how the East India Company would, as against
the French, claim as “ possessions ” or “ territory ” lands which, if within
the scope of their influence, were as yet, as against the Native Govern-
ment, no portion of their sovereign domain. The downfall of the French
commercial settlements in 1757 left Bengal, from the point of view of
European politics, a sphere in which the English had won a right to exercise

1 The Annual Register for 1762, p. 244 (State Papers) gives the declaration of His British
Majesty’s Ambassador Extraordinary at Paris in regard to the limits of Bengal in the East
Indies: “the dominions of the Subah of Bengal shall be reputed not to extend further than the
Yanon exclusively, and that the Yanon shall be considered as included in the North part of
Coromandel and Orissy.” On this Treaty of 1762 Lord Clive comments as follows : ¢ flatter
myself that every proprietor must receive infinite pleasure in the reflection that they will soon
reap the benefit of these great and glorious successes now secured to them by the XIth
article of the definitive treaty. Although there are some geographical errors, such as making
the Soubah of Bengal’s dominions extend near two hundred miles more than they do, to Yanam,
and making that place the northern instead of the southern part of the coast of Orixa: the
acknowledging Salabut Jing lawful Soubah of the Decan, and Mahomed Ally Cawn lawful
Nabob of the Carnatic, had better have been omitted for several reasons, and may be productive
of disputes hereafter between the two Companies; yet, upon the whole, the article is very
advantageous to the East India Company.” A Letter to the Proprietors of the East India Stock
from Lord Clive, to which are added the opinions of the Hon. Charles Yorks and Sir Fletcher
Norton on his Lordship’s Faghire, London, 1764, pp. 9 and 10.
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a master’s hand, although no great battle had been fought in Bengal with
“the conscious intention of acquiring territorial sovereignty for either Crown
or Company. Under the plea that they were acting within the constitu-
tion of the Mughal Empire, the Company’s servants built up a system of
internal government, and when the walls of their building had reached
a certain height, the sun of the British Crown rose to its meridian, and
the shadow cast by the setting constellation of the Mughal Empire dis-
appeared for ever. The re-capture of Calcutta, the battles of Plassey,
Udwanala, and Buxar, were not creative fiats at which a British Empige
in Northern India sprang into being. A re-action has long since set in
against the predominantly political treatment of history; and in India,
where a dynasty may dome and go. without even touching the consciousness
of the millions of patient toilers, the method of subordinating great
economic and social revolutions to battles and treaties isin a special
degree suspect. This necessary and essentially healthy re-action, how-
gver must not be carried so far as to exclude vital political truths.
History has no knowledge of an actual conquest of Bengal by the sword,
and yet the sword, if not actually drawn to secure dominion, was t}le
power that lay behind the civil settlement by the English. The deprecia-
tion of “merely military activities ” might, if not tested by actual facts,
lead us on to a harren paradox. It is true that the English made it their
aim not to destroy the native powers—indeed Lord Clive flattered himself
in 1765 that he had revived the power of the Mughall—but to maintain
native rulers who. would nourish, and not crush, a peaceful English
Company of merchants; yet, in so doing, the English, step by step,
destroyed the military supremacy on which the Mahomedan power in
Bengal depended, while at the same time they monopolised revenues for the
maintenance of their own troops and garrisons. These stages may be
indicated by reference to the treaties :—

With Siraj-ud-daula, February, 1757.

4. That the Company be allowed to fortify Calcutta in such manner

as they shall esteem proper for their defence, without any hindrance or
obstruction.2

With Mir Jafar, 15th July, 1757.

2. The enemies of the English are my enemies, whether they be
Indians or Europeans.

10. Whenever [ demand the English assistance, [ will be at the
charge of the maintenance jof them.3

t % By establishing the power of the Great Moghul, we have likewise established his
rights.” Letter of the Governor (Lord Clive)and Select Committee to the Court, Sept. 30,
1765.

* H. Verelst: A View of the Rise and Progress and Present State of the English Govern-

ment in Bengal, London, 1772, p. 140; C. U. Alchison : Collection of Treaties, Engagements
and Sanads, vol. I, p. 182.

® Verelst : Op. cit, pp. 143-44; Aichison : Op. cit. vol. I, p. 186.
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With Mir Kasim, 27th September, 1760.

4. The Europeans and Telingas! of the English army shall be ready
to assist the Nabob Meer Mahomed Cassim Khan Bahader [7.e. Mir Kasim]
in the management of all affairs; and in all affairs dependent on him,
they shall exert themselves to the utmost of their abilities.

5. For all charges of the Company and of the said army and
provisions for the field, etc., the lands of Burdwan, Midnapoor, and
Chittagong shall be assigned etc.

With Mir Jafar, roth July, 1763.

6. I will maintain twelve thousand .horse and “twelve thousand foot
in the three provinces. If there should be occasion for any more, the
number shall be increased by consent of the Governor and Council
proportionally to the emergency. Besides these, the forces of the English
Company shall always attend me when they are wanted.

Wherever I shall fix my court, either at Murshedabad, or else-
where, I will advise the Governor and Council; and what number of
English forces I may have occasion for in the management of my affairs, I
will demand them, and they shall be allowed me.?

With Najm-ud-daula, February, 1765.

4. Ido confirm to the Company, as a fixed resource for defraying
the ordinary expenses of their troops, the chucklas of Burdwan, Midnapoor,
and Chittagong, in as full a manner as heretofore ceded by my father.
The sum of five lacks of Sicca rupees per month for their maintenance
was further agreed to be paid by my father; [ agree to pay the same out of
my treasury, whilst the exigency for keeping up so large an army continues.
When the Company’s occasions will admit of a diminution of the expenses
they are put to on account of the troops, the Governor and Council will
then relieve me of such a proportion of this assignment as the increased
expenses incurred by keeping up the whole force necessary for the defence
of the provinces will admit of ; and, as I esteem the Company’s troops
entirely equal thereto and as my own, I will only maintain such as are
absolutely necessary for the dignity of my own person and government,
and the business of my collections throughout the provinces.3

1 Verelst: Op. cit. p. J57. Aichison: Op. cit. vol. I, p. 215. Verelst defines a Telinga
thus: a “Sepoy, so called from the country of that name, from Whence the first sepoys were
probably enlisted.”

3 Verelst : Op. cit. p. 160. Aichison: Op. cit. vol. I, pp. 219-20. The 4th article of the
“intended ” Treaty, dated July sth, 1763, (Verelst: Op. cit. appendix p. 159) runs: “that
the troops of the English army shall always be ready to be employed in the service of the
Nabob, for the support of his Government, and the defence of his country; the Nabob on
his part shall agree that he will maintain in his Fay no greater number of troops than 6000
horse and 12000 effective foot, for the protection of his frontiers, and the collection of his
revenues.”

3 Verelst: Op. cit. pp. 165-66. Aichison : Op. cit. vol. I. p.224. See C. D. Field:
Regulations of the Bengal Code. ~Calcutta, 1873, Introduction, p. 4. “But there is another
and a very important point of view in which the Emperor’s farman (1765) may be considered,
i.e, with reference to the words ‘as the said Company are obliged to keep up a large army
for the protection of the provinces,’ etc. These words conceded to the Company authority
to undertake the military defence of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, to exercise military power,

2
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The theory that the cession of the Diwans or revenue administratior
to the Company in 1765, left the Nawab in his full position as Subahdar
or Nazim has, therefore, to be counterbalanced bv the very material consi-
fieration that the Treaty of February, 1765, deprived the Nawab of any
independent military or financial support for his executive. The theory
that the Company had acquired no sovereign rights, and that their
administration was within, and not imposed over and above, the Mughal
constitution was of value, firstly as it served in some way to obviate
interference or jealousy on the part of the French in Bengal, and secondly
because it afforded an answer to those who laid it down as an axiom .of
English constitutional law that British subjects cannot acquire territories
save for their sovereibn. In this. way the system of administering Bengal
on the basis of the Diwani served as a stay to the interference of the
Ministers of the Crown with the affairs of the Company in Bengal. The
E“gl.iSh, however, had de facto assumed the military supremacy in Bengal,
and it is this transference of supreme military power which constituted a
“virtual conquest” of the country. '

This process of depriving the Nawab, the only vital representative
of the Mughal empire, of military power is an essential feature in
history. In 1765 all land held by the English in Bengal was held by them
In some way or another on the basis of the Mughal Revenue Law. ’I_‘he
lands granted by Mir Jafar in 1757 were granted to be held on condition
of a payment of revenue “in the same manner as the other zemindars.”
Calcutta itself was a zamindari in respect of which the Company had
originally entered into a customary agreement (muchalka). The
revenues of Burdwan, Midnapur, and Chittagong had been ceded by the
Nawab, but the English had not been entrusted with the direct adminis-
tration of criminal justice within these districts although in actual fact
they supervised it. The grant of the Diwani was a hestowal of a civil
department well understood to be dependent on an executive authority,
which still remained vested in the Nawab. This peaceful acquisition
of a place within the administration of the Mughal empire was all that
such persons as Vansittart and Verelst willed to be concerned with; but
to the unbiassed observer of events it must, even in 1765, have been clear
that it was not enough to say that the English had acquired merely a
certain civil position, since they had been invested with the military
power. The Nawab had not only parted with his authority as Diwan,
but he had made over to the Company the defence of his counry.!

and to assume one of the most important prerogatives of sovereignty. In the agreement of
30th September, concluded with Syaff-ud-Daulah. he agreed that the protecting of the provinces
of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, and the force sufficient for that purpose be entirely left to
ghe discretion and good management of the Company. A clause exactly similar is to be_ found
in the agreement of the 31st March 1770, concluded with Mobarek-nd-Daulah. It will thus
appear that the grant of the Diwani in 1765 was a cession to the East India Company of the
military Government of the three provinces of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, of the right to
administer civil Justice, and of the complete control of the finances, subject to a payment of
twenty-six lakhs fo the Emperor and providing the expenses of administering crimingl justice
and the =aintenance of the police. It was in fact, though not in name, a cession of the
sovereignty of these provinces, seeing that it was a cession of all the essentials of sovereignty.”
See Long: Selections, No. 824 for the authority given to the Resident at the Durbar to reduce
the number of the Nawab's “ useless military rabble.”

! He had also accepted a nominee of the Company as © Naib Subah and guardian of his
household during his minority.”
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Whatever the effect of English military supremacy may have been,
it is important to notice that it left room for a theory, which exercised
the minds of persons of importance right up to the time of the passing of
Pitt's India Bill in 1784. Burke, in the days when he was ready to
defend the Company against the greed of the English Exchequer, spoke
of the Company’s possessions as held ““in virtue of grants from the Delhi
Emperors, in the nature of offices and jurisdictions dependent on his
crown.” The extent to which this doctrine received the adherence of
the Company’s servants in 1769 may be gathered from the words of the
letter in which Governor Harry Verelst bade farewell to the members

of his Council :

“ There is a rock, and a dangerous one, which requires the greatest
circumspection to avoid. We have stepped forth beyond all
former precedent or example. We have the best and most
laudable of all arguments to justify our conduct. But it should
be remembered that we have reached that supreme line, which,
to pass, would be an open avowal of sovereignty. It should be
remembered that we cannot be more, without being greater than
sound policy allows ; the interests of our employers at home, no
less than our national connections abroad, forbid it. If we were
before the change, cautious of interfering with the native govern-
ment, and of awakening the jealousy of foreign nations, we
ought now to redouble our prudence. The change itself,
supposing the greatest forbearance on our parts, has been an
unavoidable tendency to destroy the name of the Nizamut, by
which means, what might have been the happiest event for the
Company and the Nation, may become the source of perplexities
and jealousies; if not the deprivation of the Company’s
privileges. There is, however, a middle way, where moderation
must guide and continue us; where we may walk with safety,
advantage, and consistence, without danger of too much confine-
ment or too much liberty. Exteriors should be regarded as
essentials. Every order should scrupulously wear the sanction of
the native government. Our dependence on its indulgencies,
our obedience to its commands, our delicacy to its ministers,
should appear most conspicuous in all transactions, either of
business or ceremony.”!

In February, 1772, Warren Hgstings returned to Calcutta, and in the
following- April, took over the reins of Government from the amiable but
inefficient Cartier. Hastings’ stay at Madras, it cannot be doubted, had
effected a momentous development in his political ideas. He had learned
to make use of the bold expression ‘the British Empire in India,” and
he had come to see that, however diverse the history of the occupation
in the three Presidencies might be in origin and character, the task of
maintaining all that had been won, against either the scheming ofthe
French on the one hand, or the power of Haidar Ali on the other, required

_the assertion of a British Sovereigaty throughout all the lands the English
could claim as being in any sense their possessions. In Bengal the work

1 Verelst: View, etc., Appendix, p. 123
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of Warren Hastings was no doubt facilitated by the circumstance that he
found a minor established on the musnnd of Murshidabad—a circumstance
which would make it appear natural for the Company as Diwan to act
in loco parentis for the Nazim. It is, however, characteristic of the
strength of Hastings that under attack, he claimed no authority from the
internal constitution of the Mughal empire for his masterly legislation of
1772-74. In 1775, he claimed that all that had been done in 1772 had been
done on the ground that the Nawab had been finally deprived of sovereign
power, and had become a sort of ward in chancery to the Company, who were
in fact the Nawab's paymaster. It is true, of course, that Hastings both
believed and maintamed that the revenue administration he retormed
and the jurisdictions ke set up were revivals of Mughal institutions and
not absolutely new creations, and it is true that the Nazim’s criminal judica-
ture was left by Hastings to Cornwallis to terminate. [t 1s also true that,
although in 1775 Hastings explicitly disavowed any reliance on a Murshi-
dabad sovereign power tor the changes made in 1772, there was, between
the legislative acts of 1772 and the debates of Council 1n 1774, a middle
period in which, instead of treating the Nawab’s sovereignty as evacuated,
Hastings merely maintained the right of the Company to supplement it
when necessary. On the roth July, 1773, he wrote :1

‘““ Although we profess to leave the Nazim the final Judge in all
criminal cases, and the officers ot his courts to proceed accord-
ing to their own laws, forms, and opinions, independent of
the controul of this Government ; yet many cases may happen
in which an invariable observance of this rule may prove
dangerous consequences to the power by which the Govern-
ment of this country is held, and to the peace and security of
the inhabitants. Whenever such cases happen, the remedy
can only be obtained from those in whom the sovereign power
exists. It is on these that the inhabitants depend for protec-
tion and for the redress of their grievances, and they have a
right to the accomplishment of this expectation, of which no
treaties or casuistical distinctions can deprive them. If, there-
fore, the powers of the Nizamut cannot answer these salutary
purposes; or, by an abuse of them, which is much to be appre-
hended from the present reduced state of the Nazim and the
little interest he has in the general welfare of the country,
shall become hurtful to it ; | conceive it to be strictly confor-
mable to justice and reason to interpose the authority or
influence ot the Company, who, as Dewan, have an interest
in the weltare of the country, and, as the governing power,
have equally a right and obligation to maintain it. I am,
therefore, ot opinion that wherever it shall be found necessary
to supersede the authority of the Nazim, to supply deficiencies
or correct the irregularities of his courts, it is the duty of this
Government to supply such means as in their judgment shall
best promote the due course and ends of justice; but that
this license ought never to be used without an absolute neces-
sity, and after the most solemn deliberation,

+ Proceedings of Council, 3rd August, 1773.
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“In many cases it may not be difficult to obtain the Nabob's
warrant for such deviation from the ordinary practice as may
be requisite, and it were to be wished that they could always
be enforced by his authority ; but I see so many ill consequences
to which this would be liable, both from his assent and from
his refusal, that I am rather inclined to propose that every act
of this kind be superadded to his sentence by our own Govern-
ment.

“ Although this is my opinion upon the question, as it respects
the rights of justice and the good of the people, I am sorry
to add that every argument of personal consideration strongly
opposes it, having but too much reason to apprehend that,
while the popular current prevails, which over-runs every
sentiment of candor towards the Company or its agents, it will
be dangerous, both to our characters and fortunes, to move a
step beyond the plain and beaten line; and that laudable as
our intentions were, we have already done too much. My
duty compels me to ofter the advice which I have given;
and to that | postpone every other consideration.”

In 1775, after the passing of the Regulating Act of 1773, and the
establishment of the 'Supreme Court of judicature, Hastings takes the
bolder and more congenial line, which is already indicated in a minute
entered by him on the Proceedings ot Council ot 7tii December :—

“All the act of policy cannot conceal the power by which these
provinces are ruled, nor can all the acts of sophistry avail to
transfer the responsibility of them to the Nabob, when it is as
visible as the light of the sun that they originate trom our own
Government, that the Nabob 1s a mere pageant without so
much as the pageant of authority, and even his most con-
sequential agents receive their appointment from the re-
commendation of the Company, and the express nomination
of their own servants. Even the orders of the Court of Directors
of the 29th of August, 1771, which direct the appointment of an

. ostensible minister to the Nabob, and under which the late
arrangements are professedly formed, appear in the printed
proceedings of the House of Commons and are open to the
view of every nation in Europe.”!

During the last balf-century the students of Anglo-Indian history
who have been engaged in defending Hastings’ administration
against the misinterpretations and calumnies ot James Mill and

! This is in reply to a minute Clavering, Mohson, and Francis entered in the Consulta-
tions of 18th. October, 1775, where 1t had been said: * The mischievous consequences of
departing from this system have been such as the late President and Council might have
forseen. By the want of a person of credit and abilities to fill the station of Minister, and
who, supported by our inflnence and subject te.our control, might represent and act for the
Nazim during his minority, the Country Government, which it has been the constant pohcy
of the Company to support, has been reduced to such a state of weakness and insignificance
as not even to carry the appearance of a government either to its own subjects or to
foreigners.”
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Lord Macaulay, have found their time fully occupied with the neces-
sarily elaborate investigation of certain incidents, such, for instance,
as the execution of Nuncomar, the Rohilla war, the appointment of
Impey to the Sadar Diwani Adalat, the demand on Chait Singh, etc.,
etc. In this dealing with isolated incidents the general nature of the
opposition offered to Hastings’ policy has not received adequate consi-
deration. It is perhaps a natural and not wholly unjust judgment on
Francis and his allies that the violent and unscrupulous line of conduct they
followed should now be ascribed to mere personal animosities and rivalries.
It is impossible save for those who have made a special study of the
Bengal records, and are familiar with the methods of Francis, to realise how
nearly the conflict at tiue Council Board brought the whole fabric of British
Government in India to the ground. In that conflict purely personal
motives counted for so much, that it has been npatural to credit Francis
with nothing else than a desire to build his own good fortune on the ruin of
those of his great opponent. This point of view, if it answers to the deserts
of Philip Francis, is from the point of view of the historian become
manifestly inadequate. The conflict between Hastings and Francis was
one which concerned principles, and of those principles that of sovereign
power was not the least important.

The minute jn which Hastings speaks of the Nawab as ‘““a mere
pageant ” has been quoted. The counter-opinion may best be illustrated
by what took place in connection with two causes which came before the
Supreme Court of Judicature in 1775—a little afterthe hearing of the far more
famous charge against Nuncomar in connectior with the forged Jewel-
bond. These causes are here referred to only so far as they reveal

opinions held in Bengal on the subject of sovereign power. They
are those of :(—

(1). Joseph Fowke, Francis Fowke, Maharaja Nuncomar, and Roy
Radha Churn for a conspiracy against Warren Hastings, Esq.

{2). Joseph Fowke, Maharaja Nuncomar, and Roy Radha Churn for
a conspiracy against Richard Barwell.l

On June 21st, 1775, when the hearing of these trials commenced, the
following letter? was placed before the Court :—

! See the Report of these trials published “by T. Cadell in the Strand” in 1776. After
the execution of Nuncomar, Alexander Elliot (a younger brother of the first Lord Minto) was
sent home with the manuscript Report of the Conspiracy trials and also of the Trial of
Nuncomar for forgery. These reports were printed for T. Cadell, and on the title page of the,

Jast mentioned trial appears the words “ Published by Authority of the Supreme Court of
Judicature in Bengal.”

3 The Trial of Foseph Fowke, Francis Fowke, Maha Raja Nundocomar, and Roy Rddha
Churn, for a Conspiracy against Warren Hastings, Esg., and that of Foseph Fowke, Maha
Raja Nundocomar, and Roy Rédha Churn for a Conspiracy against Richard Barwell, Esg.
London, 1776, p. 2. The case is only here dealt with so far as it affords illustrations of
the opinions of important persons in Bengal on the subject of the alleged sovereignty of the
Nawab, The Dutch raised the question of sovereignty point blank in August, 1785. See
Bengal; Past & Present, vol, 1x, p. 252.
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REVENUE DEPARTMENT,
Fort William.

20th Fune, 1775.

To Sir ELijaH IMPEY, Knight, Chief Justice,
and the rest of the Judges of the
Supreme Court of Judicature at
Fort William.

GENTLEMEN,

Enclosed we have the honour to transmit you the copy of a memo-
rial, which has been presented to us by Roy Radha Churn,
the Vakeel of the Nabob Mubarick ul Dowla, representing that
a bill of indictment has been presented against him in the
Supreme Court of Judicature.

As this person is the Vakeel, or public minister of the Subah of
these provinces, we conceive him to be entitled to the rights,
privileges, and immunities allowed by the Law of Nations and
the Statute Law of England to the Representatives of Princes.
We, therefore, claim those rights in his behalf; and desire
that the process against him may be void, and that the persons
setting out and executing such processes may be proceeded
against in such a manner as the law directs.?

We have the honour to be, Gentlemen,
Your most obedient, humble servants,

JOHN CLAVERING,
GEORGE MONSON,
PHILIP FRANCIS.

The delivery of this letter was followed by proceedings of a more
regular character, and on June the 28th, the subject of the Nawab’s
position as a Sovereign power was discussed with reference to the
immunity claimed for his Vakil. Mr. Farrer, the Company’s Counsel,
said—

“I shall prove the Nabob Mubarick ul Dowlah to be a Sovereign
Prince, and that, in all matters, where the laws of England
have not altered his situation, he must be a Sovereign Prince.
He exercises criminal justice throughout his dominions, and
signs the +death-warrants, without any controul whatsoever
from this Government. He has exercised the right of sending
Ambassadors from time immemorial. He is possessed of a royal
mint, and coins money. He keeps in pay a body ef troops.

1 The Court would of course be powerless to inflict a punishment on th. Governor-
General, and thé persons who served the process in this instance were officers of the Court !
The Judges had required an affidavit to this effect from the Governor General and

Councll
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From all these circumstances, it is evident, he is a Sovereign
Prince. I will also beg leave to mention an observation of
the Chief Justice the other day which was ‘that the Ambassador
of a powerful Prince would be induced to no more privilege
on account of his potency.” Therefore, a forfiors, the present
weakness of the Subah should be no argument why his Ambas-
sadors should not have their privilege ; they ought rather on
that account to meet with protection from His Majesty’s
Courts of Justice. If the Nabob is not the Sovereign, I should
be glad to know who is. Other European settlements ac-
knowledge the Sovereignty of the Nabob ; and I am instructed
to say that a Frenchman is now under actual confinement for
some misdemeanour committed within the Provinces. The
asserting that the Nabob is not the Sovereign would be
productive of the most dreadful consequences. It would, in all
probability, be productive of a war between us and the several
European nations who have Settlements within the Provinces.
For if the sovereigntv is vested in the Company all the
disputes within -the Provinces must, of course, be decided by
us. As to the Nabob’s being princeps sui juris, that canrot
be verified by affidavit ; it is sufficient if he is received as such
by his own subjects.”!

The remarks of the counsel (C. Newman)? for the prosecution need
not be quoted at length. He dwelt on the fact that the Subahdar was
not, by the constitution of the Mughal empire princeps sui juris, but an
officer appointed by the Mughal Emperor and removable at “his pleasure.
Hg_ denied that there had been “a lawful Nabob since the death of
Sujah Cawn, which happened in 1736,”3 and added that it was well known
that Mir Jafar received his appointment from Lord Clive.

“The only presumptive act of Sovereignty vested in, or
exercised by, Mubarick ul Dowlah is his signing the warrants
of capital convictions in the Presidency Audaulet [adalat]
Court, before they are carried into execution; but even this
is a delusion; and political motives in the Company, when
they created these courts, induced them to vest this powei in
him, which will be presently fully explained, and we shall
shew the constituting the courts, and administering criminal
justice to be sovereign acts of the Company, and not of the
Nabob. As to the Nabob's standing army, announced as
an instance of the sovereignty of the Nabob, and of which,
though we are informed by the Counsel, there is not one jot

* Op. cit. pp.6 and 7.

3 Towards the end of 1781 Newman, Counsel for G.F.Grand in his famous action against
Francis, was, in accordance with instructions from the Court of Dirgctors, sent to Madras to
collect information relative to the charges brought against Sir Thomas Rumbold He was
one of the unfortunate persons, who in 1782, escaped from the wreck of the Grosvenor to
perish in the African wilds.

3 Counsel ignores the existence of Nawab Serfaraz Khan who was slain in combat in
1740, when Ali Verdi Khan usurped the Subahdari,
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of proof, your Lordships will find his army is a very inotten-
sive one; for-it js' no other than his Swarry,t of which
the number of sepoys and peons is limited by the Company,
nor can the Nabob have occasion for an army, who has no
possessions to lose, and who is protected in the place he
holds by the forces of another power, which the Company
by the treaty which has been produced, have undertaken to
protect him in.”

Mr. Brix followed on the same side, and supported his Senior’s
arguments as to the original dependency of the Nawabs on the Emperors
—a fact of history so plain that the wonder is that 7t should have been
thought necessary to labour the point. Affidavits sworn to respectively by
Warren Hastings and a high officer of the Company, Mr. George
Vansittart, were submitted, and in these it is clearly asserted that the
alterations in the administration of justice carried out in 1772 were acts
of the Company. Emphasis was laid on the fact that the President had
actually appointed a guardian for the Nawab during his minority, and Mr.
Vansittart mentioned the reduction of the Nawab’s allowances which had
been made in accordance with an order from the Court of Direcrors.2

The dicta of the judges are too lengthy to be quoted here in fulk
The Chief Justice, Sir Elijah Impey, held that the treaty with Mubarick
was in reality ©“ a surrender by him of all power into the hands of the
Company.” “The Governor’s affidavit proves the revenues, their collec-
tion, the whole administration of Justice, both civil and criminal,~and
even the appointment of the officers of the Nawab’s household, to be in the
Company. Mr. Lane, Mr. Hurst, and Mr. Vansittart, all members of the
late Council depose, that all the military is so likewise. They swear that
the whole military power of the Province is, and has been for several
vears entirely under the control of the Company and their representatives.
They swear that he performs no acts of sovereignty independent of, and
without the consent of, the representatives of the East India Company
Nothing, therefore, is left to Mubarick but an empty title.” Sir Elijah
then proceeds to deal with the political danger alleged to be involved
in a decision denying sovereign power to the Nawab.

Puisne Justice Sir Robert Chambers was chiefly concerned with the
question of the alleged immunity of Ray Radha Churn as an “ ambassador*
from the Nawab—a matter which does not concern the present discussion.
He ended, however, by saying “In this state of things......I should not
think myself obliged, whatever might be my private opinion, unnecessarily
to decide, that the King, my master, is not Sovereign of these Provinces,
and to decide that he is, [ would wish likewise to avoid, because the
Parliament seems cautiously to have avoided it, by founding the jurisdics
tion of this Court over those who de not reside in Calcutta or the infetior

> Swarry, from Persian swari, body of ceremonial troops.

3 Hastings expressly asserts that his judicial reforms were carried inte execution
* without consulting the said Nabob, or requiring his concurrence.” I&id. 'p. 13. This s
repeated by G. Vaunsittart, /5id. p. 14. It' should be noted that the Nawab was a miinor tar.
whom the President was a guardian-and diwan of the household

3
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Facteries, on personal not local subjection ; and because such a decision
might engage us in quarrels with the French and other European nations
who have possessions in Bengal.”?

Puisne Justice Lemaistre concluded his opinion by some.remarks
in his characteristic style : “With regard to this phantom, this man of
straw, Mubarick ul Dowlah, it is an insult to the anderstanding of the
Court to have made the question of his Sovereignty. But it came from
the Governor-General and Council.2 I have too much respect for that
body to treat it ludicrously ; and I confess I consider it seriously.”

Puisne Justice, Hyde spoke almost entirely on what to us is the
irrevelant question of Ray Radha Churn’s position as a Vakil, and con-
‘curred with the Chief Justice.

The factious magority on the Supreme Council were determined not to
let the Judges.off easily, and the following letter,3 which might be best
described by a‘slang term as “bluff”, represents an attempt, not to obtain
judicial guidance, but to cenfront the Judges with the political folly of their
decision. Coming from thrée members of the Supreme Council it has
some real importance.as an illustration of political thought in Bengal,
although it may be believed that the hunting down of the Governor-
General, and not the promotion of the Nawab’s interests, was the aim
dearest to the writers :—

To the Hon. Sir Elijah Impey, Knight,

Robert Chambers Esqrs., Judges of the
Stephen Lemaistre Supreme Court of
John Hyde Judicature.

ForT WILLIAM,

Fuly grd., 1975.
Honourable Sirs,

We beg leave to transmit, for your information, the translation of
a letter, which we have just received from the Nabob Mubarick
ul Dowlah ; from which it will appear that he looks upon
himself as Soubah of these provinces, and Roy Rada Churn to
be his Vakeel. We request you will be pleased to inform us in
what light we are to consider those declarations, which we
understand have been made from the Bench, publickly denying
the Sovereignty of the Nabob, that we may k n whow to act
when any case occurs with respect to the signing of warrants

* Chambers was ridiculed by Hicky, Calcutta’s earliest journalist, as * Mr. Justice
Pliant” and Francis always seems to have regarded him as a likely supporter. For fluctuations
in Impey’s view see an article by the present writer, “The Note Books of Mr. Justice Hyde,”
in Bengal: Past & Present, vol. Ill, no. 1, January, 190g.

4By “the Governor-General and Council”, Lemaistre, of course, means the majority of
the Coungil, who, by right of being a majority, had claimed for their actions the supreme
authority.

* This second letter to the Judges was, of course,a repetition of an impropriety against
which the judges had already protested, )
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for the execution of criminals, or what answer we must give
to the Foreign Companies, and particularly the French nation,
who, the better to assert their claims of independency, maintain
with us the same argument which we understand has been used
by Sir Elijah Impey, that there is no double government in
this country, and consequently that the proceedings of Courts
of Dewanny against their subjects, who reside without those
places which have been assigned to them by the Treaty of
Paris, are direct attacks of the English nation against that of

France.

If it be true that the sovereignty of Mubagick ul Dowlah be not
admitted by the Supreme Court, we are persuaded that the
Chief Justice and the others of His Majesty’s judges will see
how important it is, not only to the tranquility of-this country,
but likewise to the preservation of the peace which subsists
between the King and the European Powers who are settled
in this country, that we should not be left in doubt as to the
right to whom the Sovereignty belongs. The late act of
Parliament, as we understand, only subjects such of the natives
to the jurisdiction of the British laws, as are, or were, employed
in the service of the Company, or of British subjects, at the
time when the suit, action, or complaint, against them arose;
from whence we are led to conclude that though the King's
Sovereignty were admitted to be extended over those who
are so particularly described, yet it does not follow, according
to our idea, that it includes the rest of the natives of Bengal,

Bahar and Orissa.
We are, Honourable Sirs,
Your most obedient, humble servants,

J. CLAVERING,
GEO. MONSON,
PH. FRANCIS.

The trial of Ray Radha Churn thus illustrates the position taken by at
least one person of eminence, Philip Francis, in regard to the question of
the Sovereign power in Bengal in 1775. In the year following, Francis
produced his famous plan for the Revenues of Bengal. In the Plan, he
dwells upon the manifold contradictions in principle and in practice which
stand in the way of a statesmanlike solution of existing difficulties. On
the one hand “the Company’s right as Duan, to collect the revenues and
to insist on the payment of duties (from which, they tell us, they cannot
recede).is founded on a grant from the Emperor. They coin money in his
name, while they make peace and war in their own.”! On the other “we
have a Supreme Court of Judicature residemt at Calcutta whose wyits run

! Original Minutes of the Govermor-General and Council of Fort William on the Settlement
and Collection of the Revewues of Bengal, with a Plan of Settlement, » ded fo the Court
of Directors, in Fanuary, 1776. By Philip Francis, Esq. London, pp 37-28,
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wrough every part of the three provinces in His Majesty’s name, indiscri-
minately addressed to British subjects, who are bound by their allegiance,
or to the natives, over whom no right of sovereignty on the part of the
King of Great Britain has yet been claimed or declared.” He then goes
on to urge :

““While these contradictions are permitted to subsist, the actual
government of these provinces must continue to be an arbitrary
-succession of acts of power without right, flowing from different
sources and excluding every idea of unity, regularity, or system.
It would be absurd to propose a plan for the internal govern-
ment of thee country, without taking 1t for granted in the first
instance that ere long it will be determined, whether the natives
of Bengal are to acknowledge one Sovereign, and be subject
to- one Government ; or whether they are to be left in their
present state, divided between their native prince, claiming the
rights of Subadar, whose government they tell us ‘they are
engaged by solemn stipulation to support’—the Emperor,

. whose rights, as Lord Paramount, inherent in the constitution
of the Empire, have been for a number of years acknowledged
by the Company ;— the Presidency of Fort William, who hold
by the sword by agreement with the Nabob, as they do the
purse by grant from the Emperor; and lastly a Court of
Judicature, exercising an unlimited jurisdiction through the
provinces, in the name of the King of Great Britain.”?

Enough has .now been instanced to show that in Hastings’ day
there was a currency for the doctrine that the Company held its posses-
sions “in virtue of grants from the Delhi kmperor, in the nature of offices
and jurisdictions . dependent on his crown.” In 1774 Hastings had
repudiated the obligation of making to the Emperor the annual payment
of twenty-six lakhs of rupees which, according to Lord Clive’s agreement
with Shah Alam, was due to the Emperor as the Emperor's share of the
revenue.2 ‘Consistently with their position, Francis and his allies

* Francis i Minutes ¢f the Governor-Gemeral, etc. p. 28, Another incident, connected
with the controversy of the alleged sovereign rights of the Nawab, took place when Hastings
declared the ﬁw.h to be of age, and in consequence removed Mahomed Raza Khan
from the position of Naib Subah to which he had been appointed, in accordance with the
yote . of liveriﬁg,i Monson, and Francis in 1775. I have not considered it necessary to
deal “with this incident in the text, as my object of illustrating the position of the Francis
‘party is sufficiently fulfilled by the extracts from the Ray Radha Churn cause. It is in
relation to this incident, that Burke, if he be/the author «of the IXth. Report of the Select
Commiftee, 1782, has written a’passage which is rather remarkable in connection with
what was claimed for the Nawab by the Francis party in 1775: “When the Duanny (or
aniversal perception and management of the revenues) of Bengal was acquired.to the Company,
together with the command of the army, the Nubob, or Governor, naturaily fell into the rank,
rather of a subject than that even of a dependent prince. Yet the preservation of such a
power in such a degree of subordination, wjth the criminal jurisdiction and the care of the
public order sunexed to it, was a wise‘nd laudable policy. It preserved a portion of the
government in the bands of the natixgs ; it kept them in respect ; it rendered them quiet in
the chang., and it prevented that vast kingdom from wearing the dangerous appearance, and:
still more from sinking into the terrible state, of a country of conquest.”

. % This repudiation was in accordance with the instruction of the Court of Directors in a
General Letter to Bengal dated 1:1th. November, 1768. The Emperor had become a tool in
the hands of the Marathas,
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condemned this repudiation as unjust in itself and cruel in its conse-
quences.

The opinion in favour of the possession of sovereign rights by the
Nawab, thus vebemently urged by the majority at the Council Board,
serves to show how little conscious the English were of any conquest of
the country by English military power. Francis and his party in reality
carried on the traditiona] views of Verelst: while, on- the other hand,
Hastings’ whole administration is an open denial of Verelst’s assertion
“we cannot be more without being greater than sound policy allows.”
Nothing can be clearer than Hastings’ avowal that his constructive re-
forms of the judicial system in 1772 had been made “without consulting
the said Nabob, or requiring his acquiescence.” If by ‘“‘conquest” is
meant a transference of sovereign rights as a consequence of the super-
session of one military powers by another, it is not overstraining language
to speak of English rule in Bengal as being established by virtue of a
conquest.



CHAPTER Il
THE BROKEN-DOWN MUGHAL GOVERNMENT.

In the year 1575, Akbar’s general, Munim Khan, had defeated Daud,
the last independent Mussalman King of Bengal at Tukaroi,! in the
neighbourhood of Mughalmari. The conquered prince was for a time
entrusted with the government of Cuttack; but, in 1576, he broke into
rebellion, and, in ¢he following year was captured and put to death.
Munim Khan’s invasion of Orissa in 1573 has been described as “one of
the most daring exploits performed during Akbar’s reign,” and it is
asserted that the Emperor chose the name 4tak (Attock) for his fortress
in the north'because the word rhymed with Katak in the south. In 1580,
the Mughal military commanders, who had been established in the newly
acquired provinces of Bengal and Behar mutinied, and the task of their
subjugation was entrusted to the Hindu Rajah, Todar Mal, who had been
the lite and soul of the expedition of 1575.

For the government of the newly annexed provinces, Akbar provided
Commanders-in-chief who appear in our history under the titles of Subah-
dars or Nazims. It was ordained that the Emperor’'s vicegerent ‘should
not consider himself as fixed of residence, but hold himself ever ready for
a summons to the Presence’” [i.e. the Imperial Court], and that “he
should not subvert ancient families, but let an illustrious ancestry redeem
unworthy successors.” As the Subahdari of Bengal was often entrusted
to either princes of blood or to great court magnates, the term of their
office in what was euphemistically called ‘“the Paradise of nations” was
not unusually regarded by them as the golden opportunity of acquiring
the resources necessary to enable them to take each his own part in the
fratricidal struggle for the throne which would be certain to follow upon
the death, or even the report of the serious illness, of the Delhi Emperor.

Beneath the military commanders-in-chief ranked the faujdar. The
Emperor, the Ain-i-Akbari states, “apportions several parganabs to the
care of his trusty, just, and disinterested servants, appreciative of what is
equitable, and faithful to his engagements, and him they style by the
above name. As a subordinate and assistant he holds the first place.
Should a cultivator or collector of the crown lands or an assignee of
government estates prove rebellious, he shall inquce him to submit by fair
words; and, it this fail, he shall take the written evidence of the principal
officers, and proceed to chastise him. He should pitch his camp in the
neighbourhood of the body of rebels, and at every opportunity inflict loss
upon their persons and property, but not risk at once a general engage-
ment...When he has captured the rebel camp, he must observe equity in
the division of the spoil, and reserve a fifth for the royal exchequer.”

3 Blochmann : ZThe Ain-i=Akbar: by Abul Fazl Alami, vol 1, pp. 375-76; Stewart (History
of Bengal) gives Bajura as the name of this battle field, and wrongly places the site in the neigh
bourhood of Cuttack. See also Beames : “Notes on the History of Orissa,” Fournal of the
Asiatic Society of Bengal, vol, lii, 1883,
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Bengal in Akbar’s time was but very incompletely conquered : and
not a century later it remained, as Bernier described it, a ‘“ quantité de pais
dént le Mogal n’est pas trop le miitre.” It may be taken for granted that
Thevenot in 1666 had but few materials from which to fashion a reliable
estimate of the character of the more ancient government, but he observes:
“the country was kept in a far better order under the Patun Kings, before
the Mahometans and Moguls were masters of it, because then they had
uniformity in religion. It has been found by experience that disorder came
into it with Mahometanism; and that diversity of religions have thus
caused corruption in manners.”! About two years after the military rebellion
of 1580, a faujdar, who had assumed an almost regal state in his particular
district in Bengal is memorialised by the following inscription :

“This lofty mosque was built during the time of the great Sultan,
the chief of the Sayyids, Muhammad Ma’¢um Khan. May God
perpetuate his kingdom for ever, O Lord, O Thou who
remaineth. By the high exalted Khan, Khan Muhammad, son
of Tai Mubhammad Khan Qagsul, in the year 989.”2

As the character of Akbar’s occupation of Bengal was predominantly
that of a military occupation, it is important to notice that, while the
faujdars had the means of providing for their own remuneration, the troops
employed, according to the inveterate and vicious habit of the Mughals
even In their best days, were left in arrears of pay dependent on the
exactions they could wring from the terror-stricken cultivators. - Clive was
but exposing the immemorial practice of the Mugtials, when, in 1757, he
wrote : “there were great arrears due to the army by Suraj-u-Dowla as well
as by Meer Jaffier, and the sums amounted to three or four millions sterling.
It i the custom of the country never to pay the army a fourth part of what
they promise them ; and it is only in times of distress that the army can be
paid at all, and that is the reason the troops always behave so
ill.”*+ It was not always the only too human dislike of parting with
ready money, nor indeed the scarcity of that article which led to this
abuse: the motive for which lay in the supposition that a soldier with a
considerable amount of pay standing to his credit would be less likely to
desert than one who had received his pay up to date. This, of course,
applies to the soldiers who drew their pay in cash (nzkd). When the
Mughal conquest was carried into frontier lands, such as Rangpur, Sylhet,
Chittagong,* etc. the practice was followed of making grants of land
revenue free on terms of military service: but the English, in effecting

! Thevenot: Les Voyages en Europe, Asie et Afriqgue. Newly done into Engl;#h
London, 1689, part iii, p. 68. For some observations on the ancient Hindu Kings, see Beveridga:
Bakarganj, p 373.

> Blochmann : Op. cit.'vol 1, p. 621. The ruins of the mosque in question are to be found
at Chatmohar, near Dighaputi.

3 1st Report from the Select Com., 1773, p.155. See also Scrafton : Reflections on the
Government of Indostan. Reprint. 1770. pp. 28-29.

¢ “The garrison troops thus constantly maintained for the protection of the district received
their pay in small allotments of land, which,when the military establishment ceased ‘o be of use,
and other assigned lands were assumed for the benefit of the exchequer, became so many distinct
and separate zemindaries. ... ... ... The original immigrants arriving for safety’s sake in
companies, the leader of each company came to possess as many patches of land as he had
followers, or more,” Cotton. Memorandum on the Revenue History of Chittagong, pp. 3-4.
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their occupation, experienced an initial difficulty in dealing with the
“nugdees,”—the idle and discontented military rabble gathered round the
palaces of the territorial magnates.

In the year 1583 Todar Mal was appointed diwan or vakil, and
commenced, or perhaps took over from a predecessor, the famous financial
measures accounted for in the third book of the 4in-i Akbari. In this
work Bengal is divided into nineteen local governments or sarkars, and
each of these is again divided into a number of mahals or revenue estates.
The situation of many of these mahals or parganahs can still be
traced,’ - but Todar Mal’s division has been obscured partly by the rise of
the great zamindas estates of the eighteenth century, and partly by the
division of Bengal into chaklas under the Nawab Murshid Quli Khan.2
Todar Mal's lists not only fail to give a complete account and omit
districts now well known, but they also include districts which are known
to have been left unsubjugated by Akbar’s generals. The appearance of
scientific financial dealings suggested by the statistics of the Ain-i-Akbari
may thus be most misleading.

The early Mahomedan conquest of Bengal, which, for three hundred
vears had been maintained by a line of independent monarchs, of whom
Daud was the last representative, was probably not of so clement a nature
as that of Akbar. The story is told that ’Ala-ud-din Khiliji (A.D. 1227)
once asked a learned Qazi: “From what description of Hindus is it
lawful to exact obedience and tribute?” The Qazi replied: “Imam
Hanif says that as heavy a tribute as they can bear may be imposed on
infidels; and it is commanded that the Jaziya and Khiraz be exacted to
the uttermost farthing, in order that the punishment may approach. as
near as possible to death.” “You may perceive,” remarked ’Ala-ud-din
Khiliji, “that without reading learned books, I am in the habit of putting
in practice what has been injoined by the Prophet.” In certain parts of
Bengal some such extreme doctrine of Islam may at times have been put
into force, and the disappearance in Bengal, as compared with other
provinces, of certain vestiges of Hindu village institutions may perbaps be
accounted for in this wav. The early Mahomedan power, however, was
compelled to leave room for the existence of extensive Hindu states, within
its borders, and more especially on the frontiers.

In the vear 1776, Philip Francis set forward his conception of Akbar’s
policy as the model which should be adopted by the English in Bengal. He
can have had but a second-hand and imperfect acquaintance with the Ain-i-
APRbari to which he made hisappeal, for presumably he had no knowledge of
Persian, and Gladwin’s translation (a paraphrase) of the work of Abul Fazl,
based on a single text was not published till 1783. With the historical facts
attesting the superficialitv of Akbar’s conquests he_ was necessarily
unacquainted. Ignoring the fact that land revenue in India represents
the immemorial claim of the ruler to a share in the grain on the harvest
floor of the cultivator, and regarding the Indian land revenue as a “tribute”
claimed by right of conquest, Francis maintained that its assessment
should be regulated by an estimate of the actual expenses of Government

1 See Hunter: Statistical Account of Bengal, vol. 1, pp. 348 ef seq.
2 Grant: “Analvsis of the Finances of Bengal,”” 52k Report, 1812, p. 283.
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and not by any strict or even conjectural valuation of the lands or their
produce. Thus he contended :

“The moderation of the tribute imposed by all the Mahomedan
conguerors, and the simplicity of their method of collecting it,
accounts for the surprising facility with which they retained
possession of their conquests. The form of their government
was despotic; but, in fact, it was not oppressive to the mass of
the conquered people [n general, they introduced no change
but in the army and in the name of the sovereign. With respect
to the collection of the revenues, the system of the present
government is, upon principle, directly the reverse of what it
ought to be; and, I believe, such as never was adopted by any
other government. Instead of leaving the management to
the natural proprietors of the lands, and demanding from Zkzem
a fixed portion of the produce, we take the management
upon ourselves, and pay tkem a tribute. Government stands
in the place of the Zemindar.''!

It was the belief of Francis that Akbar recognised “the right of the
Zemindars, the ancient proprietors of the soil,” and that Todar Mal “formed
the jummabundy (7amabandi ) or establishment of rent of all Hindostan on
the principle of leaving the lands to their proprietors, the Zemindars, and of
establishing a moderate permanent jumma or quit-rent to be paid by each
of them to government.”?

On the assumption involved by this theory, we might picture Akbar
or his Viceroy, after the defeat of the insurgent forces, receiving the
chiefs of Bengal into the Mughal Empire, and bestowing on them full
legal possession of the lands formerly held by them, on condition of the
payment of the land revenue. A different and probably more historical
view of what took place has been advanced by the late B. H. Baden-
Powell. His view is as follows: “In consequence of the defeat of the
local rajas of Bengal, the territories of a number of more or less incon-
siderable Hindu states, whose chiefs had been either taken captive or
slain in battle, were directly assumed by the Conqueror, and were deno-
minated Khalisah or Exchequer domains. In addition to these estates,
there were those of but half-subjugated chieftains, and these persons were
left in possession of their countries, with rights which would, to the
European students at least, suggest essential elements of sovereign power,
taxation and the administration of justice. What the conqueror secured
for himself was the zamindari of all acquired territory, i.e., the right to

! Francis : Minutes of the Governor General and Council, etc,, pp. 30-31. Francis
writes: “In the policy and justice of the Mogul Government we had an example before us,
which ought to have been followed. It will appear that'the Mahomedan conqueror was wise
and equitable enough to limit his own power over the people, whom he had conquered, that he
demanded from them a fixed tribute ; that it was moderate in the first instance and never
varied: that he thereby gave them a security in their property against the rapacity of his
ministers and representatives ; and that this was a real security as long as the Mahomedan
government subsisted at Delhi. In effect, it was equally a security tothe Prince against
fraud, and to the people against oppression. They knew what they had to pay, and ke knew
what he had to receive.” 14id., p. v.

3 Jbid., p. 30.
4
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the land revenue. In the case of Khalisah lands, the revenue would be
collected without the interventionof tke local landed magnates : in the case
of the surviving chieftains the bulk of the revenue would be remitted by
them to the Mughal treasury, according to the terms made with them.
The Zamindari of these chieftains was thus a delegated power from the
Congqueror, who himself was the supreme Zamindar of the Empire. Thus,
in relation to the revenues, the chieftains were what at a later date were
known as farmers; that is to say they undertook to pay into the State
treasury lump annual sums representing the revenue assessment of their
districts, and the difference between what they actually collected from the
cultivators and what they paid by terms of their contract with the Sove-
reign was their profit™.!

The actual dealings of Akbar’s revenue officials with the Hindu
Rajas in Bengal is a subject lost in obscurity. The division of the
country into sarkars ignores the existence of ancient Hindu states or
prinCIpalities That such principalities existed in Bengal in Todar Mal’s
time is well known, but although, Nadia for instance appears in the
Ain-i-Akbari as a mahal, we learn nothing from the Ain-i-Akbari of any
Nadia raja. In Auranvmb’s time the zamindari sanads obtained and
paid for by Hindu rajas can be found, but we have no evidence to show
that Todar Mal had any direct dealings with such potentates as the Rajas
of Bishnupur, Panchet, Tipperah, etc. It is certain, on the other hand,
that from the time of Daud’s defeat in 1575 to the end of Akbar’s reign
great changes were taking place, and great landed estates were coming
into existence. Of these the most striking example is afforded by the
principality of the renowned Bengali hem Pratapaditya, one of “the
twelve suns of Bengal.” This prxrml;nllty had its origin in that adven-
turer’s revolt from his father, Vikramaditya, who, a little time before Daud’s
removal from Gaur, had established a city of refuoe amid the swamps of
Jessore. The present rajas of Jessore, or Chanchla trace their descent
from Bhabeshwar Rai, a Hindu, who came to Benga.l with Azim Khan in
1582, and was put in possesion of parganahs taken from Pratapaditya.
A large portion of Pratapaditya’s kingdom lay in the district afterwards
known as the 24 Parganahs, and although a few of those parganahs are
named in the Ain-i-Akbari, yet the district as a whole was unknown to
those who furnished information to Todar Mal.

The great zamindari estates best known to Hastings and Francis had
not come Into existence when Todar Mal was at work. The beginnings
of the Burdwan raj took place in the time of Abu Rai, a Kshatriya, who
came to Bengal from the Punjab, and was appointed chaudhuri and kotwal
of Burdwan about the year 16go. Sitaram Rai; according to traditional
accounts, was originally sent by the Mahomedan authority to collect
arrears of revenue from certain defaulters. In one way or another he
created for himself a vast estate, and then in turn became defaulter.2 His
capture- and consequent execution must have taken place some time
before 1717, in which year the English in Calcutta were, to their alarm

1 Asiatic Quarterly Review, July, 1894. B. H.Baden-Powell - “Is the State the Owner
of all Land in India?”

* Westland - District of Fessore, p.25 et seq.
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called upon to produce the persons of his widow and children.! The
beginnings of the greatness of the Natore family commence with the
dismemberment of Sitaram’s estate. The history of the connection
of this family with Rajshahi is of great importance, on account of
the magnitude of this rapidly acquired estate. *In the year 1728 the
zamindari of Rajshahi extended from Bhagalpur on the west to Dacca
on the east, and included a large subdivision called Nil Chakla Rajshahi,
which stretched across Murshidabad and Nadia as far as the frontiers
of Birbhum and Burdwan. Rajshahi thus comprised an area of 13,000
square miles, and paid a revenue of 27 lakhs.”? In a Narrative of the
Transactions in Bengal,® written by a native historian for the edification
of Governor Vansittart, it is stated : "

“Qdynarain, who-e family had long enjoyed the Zemindary of
Rajeshay, was so distinguished by his abilities and application
to business, that Moorshed Kuly Khan entrusted him with the
business of the Khalsah collections, and placed under him
Gholaum Mohammed, Jemidar, with 200 horse. The Jemidar
having demanded his pay in a riotous manner, Moorshed
Kuly Khan sent Mahommed Jan, one of his checlahs,* with
troops to punish him. .\ conflict ensued near the Rajebarri,®
in which the Jemidar was killed, and Odynarain, dreading
Moorshed Kuly Khan's displeasure, destroyed himself. The
zemindary of Rajeshay was then conferred upon Rajewan
and Ranookhewa, two zemindars on the ecast side of the
Ganges, in consideration of their having been more exact in
the payment of their rents from the other Zemindars of
Bengal.”¢

Another version of the story is given by Sir John Shore in his minute
of the 2nd April, 1788. According to this account the small zamindari of
Bungachi was bestowed, about the year 1707, upon Raghunandan, son of
Kamdeo, a Brahmin, in the name of Ramjewan, in consequence of the
neglect of the former zamindars to discharge their revenue dues. Four
years later, Raghunandan acquired the zamindariof Bhetoreah, on the
demise of Rani Sarbani, who had left no beirs. In 1713 he was permitted
to annex Rajshahi, as a reward for his capturing Uditnarayan. On the
death of Sitaram Rai, Raghunandan acquired the zamindari of Bhushna.
In 1713 Ramjewan, in whose name the zamindari had been securcd,
died, and in 1733 bis adopted son, Ramkanta was confirmed as zamindar
by sanad. = The famous Rani Bhawani was Ramkanta’s widow.?

In the same minute, Shore asserts that “most of the considerable
zamindars in Bengal may be traced to an origin within the last century

Wilson : Early Annals of the English in Bengal, vol. ii, pt. 1, p. 166.
Imperial Gazetteer, vol. xxi, p. 162,

Translated by Francis Gladwin, Calcutta, 1788, pp. 61-63.

# Cheelah—a slave born in the house.” [Translator’s note.]

o * @ o8 =

Rajbari : Raja’s house.
8 See also Calcutte Review, vol. lvi,
7 Long : Selections, No. 693: Westland : Op. cit., p. 48.
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and a half.”” James Grant, in his Analysis of the Finances of Bengal, had
indeed gone so far as to write of “the universally new creation of that
necessary class of officers denominated Zamindars in the course of Jafer
Khan’s [Murshid Quli Khan’s] viceroyalty.” This, however, was an
exaggeration, and Grant’s references to the family histories of the great
zamindars of his time were based on misinformation. It is certain that
the zamindaris of Dinajpur,! Burdwan, Nadia,? Lashkarpur,® Naldanga*
were founded before Murshid Quli Khan became diwan of Bengal.

A revenue assessment is said to be ‘rayatwari’ when made with the
ryots [raiyats] or cultivators; and ‘zamindar’ when made with an indivi-
dual contracting with the ruler for the realisation of the revenues as
assessed.” It has' been asserted that Todar Mal’s assessment was
rayatwari. The Ain-i-Akbari gives an account of the functions of the
collectors of revenues who are quite distinct persons from the faujdars,
but under the early Mughal system in Bengal it was the faujdars who were
ultimately responsible to the” diwan for the realisation of the estimated
revenue. The figures of the Ain-i-Akbari perhaps were intended to serve
as a guide to what might be expected in the way of revenue, and to afford
a test by which the faujdar’s diligence could be appraised. The elaborate
principles for assessing the lands by the character of the produce could
only have been applied in the case of districts well beneath the eye of the
supreme authorities, and it is therefore impossible to believe that these
principles could have been brought into operation in little known districts
of a partially conquered province. It cannot be supposed that the total
sum of the revenue, derived from Bengal in Akbar’s time, can be arrived
at by the simple process of adding up the figures given in the Ain-i-
Akbari as the revenue yield of the several sarkarg.

It is doubtful whether the revenue so assessed was ever collected and
paid into the Imperial treasury, for the assessment, as it appears in the Ain-
i-Akbari, includes Chittagong for instance, which was not at the time a
Mughal possession, and Orissa, which lapsed into the hands of the Afghans
before the close of Akbar’s reign. It is vain to argue with Francis that,
because the total of Todar Mal’s assessment does not differ much from the
total of Shuja Khan’s, there was little or no variation in the assessment. It

1 Calcutta Review, vol. lv. Art. The '“ Dinagepore Raj’ by E. Vesey Westmacott.
* Calcutta Review, vol. lv. Art. “The Nadiya Raj.”

3 Calcutta Review, vol. lvi. “The Thakurs, or rajas of Patiya, the aldest territorial
aristocracy of Rajshahi, are said to have acquired it from Lashkar, an officer of Murshi®
dabad.,” The name Murshidabad commemorates Murshid Quli Khan who made that place
his capital, but it was of importance long before. Murshid Quli Khan’s time It had a
resident Faujdar in 1676. Vide Temple: Diaries of Streynsham Master, vol. 1, p. 30.

+ Westland: Op. cit. p. 48. The founder of the Naldanga family was Ranabir who
came into possession of his estate having  exterminated the family of an Afghan zamindar”
by the power of his own arm.

5 Baaerjea: A4 Study of Indian Economics, p.168. “ When the revenue is assessed by
the State on an individual or community owning an estate and occupying a position identical
with, or analogous to, that of a landlord, the assessment is known as samindari; where the
revenue is imposed on individuals who are, or represent, the actual occupants of holdings,
the assessment is known as rayatwari, Under either system, there may be rent-paying
sub-tenants.”
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may, however, be admitted that Todar Mal's assessment embodies informa-
tion collected by him from the Qanungos and that this information was in
some instances tested by measurements of the lands. At what portion,”
writes Sir John Shore (Lord Teignmouth), “he estimated the Sovereign’s
share, I know not. One account in my possession, of unknown authority,
states that he regulated it, according to the situation of the land, and the
quantity of the soil, by the labour and expense attending the cultivation of
it, in different degrees of proportion, from one-half to one-eighth of the
estimated gross revenue. This account is at least probable.”?

Francis in his Plan goes on to explain:
“A roll or record was formed of this jumma, which in Persian is called
Tumar, from whence the settlement of Toorell Mall (Todar
Mal) is called the Twumar Fumma, aroll of the rent; 2 and
Ausil (Asal) or original jumma, with reference to all subsequent
alterations and additions. ‘

“ A Tukseem (Zaksim), or division account of the whole Soubab,
was formed at the same time, shewing the constituent parts of
each zemindary, such as pergunnahs (parganaks), villages,
etc., with the proportion of the general quit:rent payable by
each. The hereditary office of the Canongoes [ Qanungos] was
established to keep the accounts of the Tumar and Tukseem.
The authority of these records is still known and respected.
In all sales and transfers of property among the zemindars, the
new sunnuds are taken out on the Tumar Jumma. The
Jaghiers of the royal officers or Munsubdars were always
granted as portions of this Jumma. The Resum [rasum,] or
fees of the Canongoes are still calculated from thence, and the
.Tukseem 1is referred to, even at the present time, to decide
claims or disputes regarding the limits of landed property.”?

1 Sir J. Shote: Minute of April, 1788 in ]. H. Harington's An Elementary Analysis
of the Laws and Regulations, Calcutta, 1814-15, vol. II, pp. 233-3¢4 This valuable minute is
not included in the Fifth Report from the Select Committee of the House of Commons on the
affairs of the East India Company, 1812. Shore suggests that Akbar may have been influenced
by the “ Inftitutes of Timour,” and quotes a translation by Major Davy and Prof. White. In the
passage quoted an kast-o-bud is ordered if the subject should not be contended.” This is
interesting as grancis contended that valuation by hast-o-bud was unknown to the Mughal

ractice. Shore had, as the following extract from a letter (written by him to C. W. Boughton
ous, Feb. 22nd, 1789) shows, made a minute study of the mss. of the Ain-i-Akbari: *Mr.
Ggant’s chief foundation for his Rudéa, or ‘ Fourth,’ arises from his mistaking Rubba for
Reia * produce’; although the Tables, which follow the passage where the word is mention-
ed, shew the proportion to bein one-third. I compared four copies of the Ayeen Akbary,
#nd I foupd Reia in all. The merit of his production is certainly great, but it is so
obscured by his -style that it -requires more penetration, and attention than I can give to
it to discover his meaning.” Life of Lord Teignmouth, vol. 1, p. 169.

2 It is unfortunate that writers did not call ldnd revenue simply land revenue. The
habit of calling it “rent”, “quiterent” & “land tax” tended to obscure the subject.* Land
revenue in India is something swi generis. It represents the ancient Hindu right of the King
toa portion of the grain on the cultivator’s floor. The Mughal Empire took over this
institution and provided a system of terminology, records etc,, and perhaps introduced the
system of land measurement. See Baden-Powell: Land Rgvenue in British India, pp.

6-37. When English writers call land-revenue ‘rent” it is generally because they favour
the Francis-Shore view that the zamindars were the legal land owners: those who use the
word “tax” usually favour the view that the land belonged to the head of the State.

3 Francis: Op. cit. p. 33.
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To thesc assertions Warren Hastings replied :

“The ancient Tumar and Tuckseem (Zaksim) or distribution of the
land rent, which was formed about 220 years ago, has long
ceased to serve as a rule. Under the old government, this
distribution was annually corrected by the accounts, which the
zemindars and other collectors of the revenue were bound to
deliver into the office of the Canongoes, or King's registers, of
the increased or diminished rents of their lands and of the amount
of their receipts. But the neglect of these institutions, the
wars and revolutions which have since happened in Bengal,
the inugdations of rivers, the increase of cultivation in some
parts of the province, and the decrease in others, and the
unequal depredations of the famine,! have totally changed the
face of the country, and rendered the Tumar rent-roll a mere
object of curiosity. The land-tax has, therefore, been collected
for these twenty years past upon a conjectural valuation of the
land, formed by the amount of the receipts of former years, and
the opinions of the officers of the Revenue, and the assessment
has accordingly been altered almost every year.”?

A far more radical objection to Francis’ reliance on the Tumar Jama,
would arise from the conclusions formed by an industrious revenue expert,
and embodied by him in a work entitled 4 View of the Finances of
Bengal.® In this deeply learned but oppressively turgid book, the author,
James Grant, contends : ‘‘the previous rent-roll, technically urderstood by
the Persian terms jumma toomary* now in current use is zof that original
account framed by Torrell Mull (Todar Mal), and specified in the Ayun
Akbarry (Ain-i-Akbarz), as ignorantly believed by the native officers of
Government, and designedly imposed by them on the credulity of others :
but a repeatedly enlarged and corrected, and practical scheme of the
finances, improved at various periods by actual surveys, hustabood
accounts, or particular local/investigations, in the course of near a century
and a half to the expiration of almost a third of the present.’¢ The

1 j, e, the famine of 1769-70.
3 Francis: Minutes of the Governor-General, etc., p. 145.

3 Included in the Fifth Report of the Select Committee of the House of Commons on the
affairs of the Hon. East India Company, 1812 James Grant, the revenue-expert, is not to be
identified with the James Grant, who assisted in the attack on Warren Hastings in 1775, and
to whom Hastings refers “I will not leave such wretches as G , y and james
Grant (names that I blush to write) in the power to render my designs abortive.” The james
Grant so characterised went homein 1776 and was not permitted to return to India. The
James Grant in whom we are interested was appointed writer for Bengal on 13th May, 1778, but
was probably already in India, for his arrival is dated July 14th of the same year. Ia 1782 he
was Assistant to the Resident at Hyderabad. In 1784 he compiled a lengthy report on the
revenues of the Northern Circars, and followed this up by his View of ¢the Finances of Bengal.
The materials he made use of were chiefly revenue records he had been so fortunate as to be
able to purchase (1); and, as those records have disappeared, it is impossible to test the use he
made of them. A letter of the Governor-General (Sir John Macpherson) and Council, dated
19th July, 1786, created the office of Chief Sherishtadar, in favour of Mr. Grant. See Colebrooke :
Supplement, pp. 251-53. For some curious and little regarded facts about Sir J. Macpherson's
administration, consult British India Analysed, 1793, part ii, chap. vi.

+ Tumar-Jama. Tumar=a rent roll or register.
5 |. Grant: Wiew of the Finances of Bengal.




THE BROKEN-DOWN MUGHAL GOVERNMENT. xxxi

authentic original revenue-roll Grant believed to “be complete in the daily
practice of the native officers employed in the Company’s exchequer.”

When the Company took over the revenue administration, they
became acquainted with a standard valuation of the cultivated lands, and
this valuation was known to them as the ausi/ tumart fama, or the valua-
tion the lands bore on “the King's books.” We even find a.young
military officer, who had been sent to bring to order the zamindars of the
wild districts to the west of Midnapur, writing to the Resident : “I really
think from what I saw of the country that he (the zemindar of Sankakalia
or Lalar) cannot be in the same flourishing situation which his forefathers
were in, if I may judge from Taroor Mull’s tuxeram jumma.’! Lists
giving the amount of the land revenue as borne on *‘the King's books” are
to be found in the Record Department of the India Office, but, if Grant’s
argument 1is to be accepted, these lists will not really correspond with the
statistics of the Ain-i-Akbari.

From antiquarian speculations as to the nature of the Mughal revenue
system in the period before the English occupation, it is now necessary to
turn to the more general system of the Mughals as the English found it at
work. It has been seen that the government of the three provinces of
Bengal;, Bihar, and Orissa was generally entrusted to a single person
known as the Subahdar. It has been asserted, and it may be true, that up
to the reign of Aurangzib, the Subahdar was both Nazim and Diwan of his
.province, but that Aurangzib, in order to reduce the power of a too
independent viceroy, divided the offices. The functions of the Nazim
are thus clearly defined by Field :

“Under the Mahomedan Government, the MNazim was the chief
officer charged with the administration of the criminal law and
the police, just as the Diwan was charged with the administra-
tion of the civil law and the colléction of the revenue. The
term Nizamut denoted the offices, duties of the Nazim, the
administration of police and criminal law. In the palmy days
of the Mogul Empire, it was usual to conduct the administra-
tion of the more important subaks or provinces through a
Viceroy or Governor called a Subahdar, who was occasionally
a relative of the Emperor, and to whom were entrusted not
infrequently both the diwani and the nizamut. As Diwan he
collected and remitted the revenue and administered civil
justice. As Naib or Nawab Nazim, i.e. Deputy of the Minister
for the administration of criminal justice and police, who was
near the person of the Emperor, he administered criminal
justice and managed the police of his province. The Subahdar
of Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa formerly exercised these double
functions.”2

3 Lieut. ]. Ferguson to John Graham, Resident of Midnapur, r1th February 1767. See
Midnapur Districts Records, edited by W. K. Firminger, vol. L p.g4. Beames (Fournal of
the Royal Asiatic Society, 1896) deals with the subject of Asia as described in the din-i-Akbari,

¢ Field: Regulations of the Bengal Code. Calcutta, 1875. Introduction, p. 2.
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It must be borne in mind that the Mughal Government of Bengal was
in character a military occupation rather than a civil administration.
Beneath the Subahdar were the faujdars (fauj-army : dar-holding), and
it was the duty of these officers not only to preserve the peace, but to
overawe and restrain the zamindars. The Subahdar and the faujdars
thus formed the executive force of the province. The faujdars were, at
least in theory, appointed by the Emperor and were removable by his
authority only. According to Seid Gholam Hossein Khan, the author of
the Seir Mutagherin, Behar and Bengal had been divided into the
following Faujdari jurisdictions :—

Behar. Shahabad and Rhotas.
Monghyr and Behar.
Champaran and Sarun.
Tirhoot and Rajipur.

Bengal. Chittagong (Islamabad)
Sylhet.

Rangpur.
Rangamati.
Midnapur.

Castle of Djalal-gur-poorania. [ Jalalgarh, some ten
miles N. E. of the town of Purniah on the
old bed of the Kosi river. ]

Rajshahi.
Burdwan.
Hughli.

The same author tells us that it was the business of the faujdar to see
that in the district entrusted to his charge no zamindar erected fortifica-
tions or collected provisions of war. If the zamindar consented to give
up his arms and dismiss his troops, he was “to be forthwith removed from
that spot and zemindary ; but in case he attempted to resist, then the
Faujdar was to attack him immediately ; to chastise him with severity, to
demolish his castle ; and to act with so much expedition and vigour, as
that the refractory land-holder should be reduced to extremity, and hence-
forward obliged to wear in his ear the ring of obedience, as well as to
carry on his shoulder the trappings of submission, in such a manner as to
have it no more in his power to disobey or resist. The Faujdar was to
drive the delinquent from that spot, and never to suffer his residing in it
again, unless by a special order from higher authority......... In case he
had been able to lay hold of him, he was to send him to the Governor-
General (i.e. the Subahdar), prisoner and chained or to keep him confined
until he might receive orders respecting the disposal of him.”*

1 The Seir Mutagherin or View of Modern Times. Translation, Calcutta, 1789, vol. II, p.
569 et seg. The author notes that Dacca had a Nawab etc. etc. of its own, but his list is
certainly defective as far as Bengal is concerned. His language about the zamindars might be
supposed t be coloured by his prejudices, for he describes them elsewhere (vol. If, p. 602) as a
“malevolent race”, and adds that formerly “no trust was reposed in their words nor in their
actions ; for their character was thoroughly understood: they were looked upon to be an
incorrigible race.” Of twelve causes assigned for “the diminution of revenue and pepulation
over all Bengal”, he says, “the seventh cause may be found in the overgrowing power of the
zemindars, and in their being trusted too much.” This was probably written in 1781.
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Many of the faujdars we meet with in the course of the early history of
the English in Bengal were persons of considerable importance. As it was
a faujdar, Muhammad Zaman Tahrani, who extended his patronage to the
first English merchants in the Bay, so it was the faujdar of Hugbli who kept
them in an abiding state of apprehension.

Verelst, in the glossary prefixed to his View of the Rise, Progress and
Present State of the British Government, defines a “chuklah” (chakla) as
“the jurisdiction of a faujdar who receives the rent from the zemindars.”
Whatever the practice of the first Mughals may have been, the faujdars from
Shah Jahan's time at least, seem to have secured their appointments by
speculative offers of lump sums of revenue which they - pledged themselves
to collect. Todar Mal’s statistical account of the Districts might serve as a
standard by which these offers could be tested, but that it fettered the
faujdars when once appointed cannot be supposed.

For the Rangpur district, there is an account of the revenue operations
under the Nawab,! drawn up by the Kanungo for the information of the
English Collector, and this account no doubt represents the state of
affairs elsewhere in Bengal :

“In the Bengal year 1147 (A.D. 1740) Cossim Ulee Khan having
given to #ahood? for Rs. 3,36,000 came to this place, and that
bandobust was continued without alteration to the end of the
year 1164 (ie. about April, 1758). In the year 1175,3 Shekh
‘Abdool Soobha, who was Cossim Ulee Khan’s servant, being
discontented with his master, went to Moorshedabad and told
Meer Cossim (the Nawab Mir Kasim) that the district was
capable of yielding an increase, for which reason Meer Cossim
gave a fahood for an increase of one lakh upon the former
jumma, and having appointed Shekh Abdool Soobha his Naib,
he sent him up to Rungpore, where he died five or six days
after his arrival. The Nabob Meer Cossim, having received
account of the said Shekh’s death, immediately set out for this
place, and, after his arrival, having laid an increase on the
whole district, he took from Rampershad a Zzkood for ten lakhs
of rupees and then returned to Moorshedabad. The revenue
was not realized, and therefore, Rampershad and his relations
were imprisoned in the fort. In 1166 (A.D. 1759) a decrease
was granted on the former jumma, and Dewan Shamsoondur
gave a tahood for the revenue, which continued under his
management during the years 1166 and 1167 (A.D. 1759 and
1760). In the year 1168 (A.D. 1761) Dewan Bydnath and
Meer Murdun Ulee arrived, and, having laid an increase of a

1 The Collector, D. H. McDowall, writes in 1787: “It is more than probable the lands of
Rungpore have never been measured since the country first came into possession of the Kings
of Hindoostan; and the records of the district afford not the smallest information as to the
quantity of land fit for cultivation, nor of the bazi zameen in the possession of individuals.”
Glazier: Further Notes on the Rungpore Records, p. xli.

3 Tahood [Tahud): Band:)bust, an agreement.

3 je, 1768 A.D. Mir Kasim became Nawab ia October 1760 and was dispossessed in
1763. The error in date does not affect the general truth of the Kanungo’s statement.

5
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lakh and odd thousand rupees, they again took a tahood for the
amount from Dewan Shamsoondur, but, from the revenue not
being paid up Meer Dour Buksh was appointed Szzawal. This
man deprived a great many Hindoos of their caste, and
exercised the greatest severities in the collections, but was
unable to realize the revenues. In the end of the year 1168, or
the beginning of 1169, in the month of Assar, a Soobadar, with
near a hundred men came from Monghyr, and having confined
the Sazawal Meer Dour Buksh, and the amla, he carried them
on board a boat, together with Ramchund Roy, the Gomastah
of Bhuda (Boda?), etc. After that, in the year 1169, Dewan
Soba Chund gave a fakood for the same jumma, and began to
make the collections; but in the meantime a numerous body of
ryots belonging to Cargehaut rose in rebellion, and seized upon
the mofussil collections, report of which being sent to Monghyr,
a message came from thence to the ryots, informing them that
if they did not return to their duty, forces should be sent
against them. The son of Soba Chund was accordingly sent
with some forces, and used every mode to encourage them to
return to their duty, but without effect; and the troops were at
last under the necessity of engaging and putting a great many
to death; after which the aforesaid Dewan was confined and
carried to Monghyr for having failed in his payments. Some
time after this, the Nabob, Meer Cossim Khan, fled from
Monghyr,! and the Company got possession of the country.
Cossim Ulee Khan, who was formerly at Rungpore, returned
in the year 1170 (A.D. 1763) on the part of Meer Jaffer (the
restored Nawab Mir Jafar), and, having granted large deduc-
tions, he made a settlement for Rs. 6,17,262-15-8-3.”2

1 At the end of October or early in November, 1763, the Rangpur district seems to
have held out for the fugitive Nawab, In the consultations of the Dacca Council, on November
the gth, 1763, we read : “In consequence of our address of the 2nd instant to the Hon'’ble
Board representing the unsettled and confused state of the Rungpore Provinces, and the
Government there still holding out against the Nabob Meer Jafer; likewise informing them of
the confinement of Mr. Moore, an English Agent, we have been favoured with their answer
this day : that we send a detachment of troops into that country to seize the Phousdar, if
possible, and to subdue it in the name of the Nabob Meer Jaffer. Agreed that Lieutenant Dow,
with four companies of seapoys, with a Howitz, be appointed for this service, and that a sufficient
number of boats for the embarcation of the troops be provided with all expedition, and that
a sum of money amounting to 10,000 Rupees be lodged in the hands of Mr. Dow, for pay and
batta to the purport of the Hon’ble Board's letter, vis: that the command he is now trusted
with is with the following views: to subdue that country, and to restore peace and tranquillity
by fixing the officer appointed to act by the Nabob as Phousdar in his full power and
authority ; to release whatever English Gentlemen may be in confinement, and to seize the
person of the late Phousdar. All of which being effected, he be ordered to return with his
detachment to Dacca.” During the troubles of 1763, Cartier, the then Chief at Dacca, was
in Calcutta, occupied with his duties at the-Council Board. The approach of an armed body
of Fakirs in June 1763 caused the rest of the Dacca Council (W. Ascanar Senior, R_Leyceser,
and T. French) to fly for safety to the Factory at Luckipore (Lakshmipur). Dacca was
recaptured by either Lieutenant Grant or Lieutenant Swinton. Vide Bengal : Past anhd Present,
vol. v, p. 209. At Cossimbazar the English servants (John Chambers and Lyon) were
captured and murdered in the general massacre of the English at Patna.

s Glazier: Op. cit. pp. xxxix-xi. The Mahomedan authorities did not remain in the un-

healthy Rangpur district for the whole year, but visited it at the critical revenue seasons, Rennell
in his Journal for November, 1765, notes : * There is but little worth remarking about Rangpur,
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Another and a brief instance of the system of letting out the revenues
in farm to executive officers of state may be cited. On the 22nd January,
1771, the newly appointed Deputy Supervisor of Sylhet, John Sumner,
writes to Thomas Kelsall, the Chief and Supervisor of Dacca : “I have
presented your letter...... to the Naib Phousdar; he referring it to the
Dewan, who has charge of the collections in the Phousdar’s absence. He
tells me that there is a balance necessarily arising at the end of every
year, which he has always explained to the Nabob, and assures me that a
part arises from an exaggerated statement made by a former Phousdar to
the Nabob with a view to emulate a rival in the Nabob’s favor ; that,
however, the amount was never collected in one year.”

It is not difficult to see how it would become the policy of the Nawabs to
make use of Hindu local capitalists in order to secure the payments of reve-
nues—a service in which their far too independent faujdars were notoriously
remiss. The Hindu with his keen scent for the acquisition of a fortune in
the service of a master, before whose terrors he bowed but whose vigi'ance
he well knew how to escape, understoad, as the faujdars, usually immigrant
Persian soldiers, could not understand, the arts of concealment and collu-
sion practised by the native cultivators. Murshid Kuli Khan, the first
practically independent Nawab, made it his practice to employ in the
collection of the revenues Hindus in preference to Mahomedans, for the
Hindus were both more pliable and more skilled ; while the Mahomedan
faujdars were, if not indolent, apt to fly into revolt. ~No account of the
condition of Bengal will resemble the truth, if it takes it for granted that
the Nawabs felt themselves bound to deal with any one set of officers for
the realisation of their revenues. To collect their ma/ and sayer the
Nawabs would be hampered by no constitutional rights of faujdars on the
one hand or of zamindars on the other. The creation of the smaller type
of zamindar seems to have been due to the desire of the Murshidabad
Power to have two strings to its revenue bow—the Hindu who understood
so intimately the habits of the people who paid the revenue, and the Fauj-
dars, who, although distrusted, could squeeze, when occasion required, the
petty zamindars.

The early English writers, e-g., Philip Francis and Sir John Shore,
Boughton Rous, etc., based their conclusions on inferences drawn from
statistics and to a purely legal Mughal theory, rather than on the actual
facts of history. They do not, for instance, seem to have been aware that
under the Mughal rule the collection of the revenues was often entrusted
to military officers, nor do they sufficiently appreciate the fact that many of
the great zamindari estates known to them were of recent origin. It is, how-
ever, no part of our present purpose to deny that, so far as Bengal is con-
cerned, the “‘palmy period” of the Mughal administration ever existed. If
a time so blessed there ever was, it had ceased before the English came to
the country. It is true that in Verelst’s days the period of Shah Shuja’s

it being only a principal gunge (market), and like most of the others, the houses cre built of
matts and hamboos, there being but one brick house in the town.” T.D. La Touche:
The Sournats of Major Fames Rénnell, (Asiatic Society of Bengal, 1910) p. 55. The
importance of Rangpur as an emporium for trade was probably due to George Bogle, who was
Collector of Rangpur in Hastings’ time.
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subahdari had come to be venerated as “that era of good order and good
government,” 1 but the English records during that period do not confirm
the supposition. Mr. Westland, in his account of the Jessore District,
gives us.a picture, the contours of which remain firm as long as retrospec-
tion gives a view :

“These zemindars were a turbulent lot, much foo independent and
not very punctual in the payment of their revenues. They
might, however, fight among themselves and swallow up their
smaller neighbours, much as they chose, so long as they paid
their revenue ; and to ensure their paying the nawabs kept a
military governor with a small force in each of the districts.
This officer, the faujdar, as he was called, retained, on the
part of the Nawab, sufficient appearance of power to make
it the interest of each zemindar to secure himself by continuing
to pay his revénue, or as much of it as would satisfy the
Nawab. Beyond that point probably the faujdars did not care
to go, as the system of the nawabs was rather a military occu-
pation of the country where the zemindars, their tribute bearers,
were the potentates, than the administration of the country
as their own.”?

From the faujdars, attention must be turned to the zamindars. In
strict etymology the term zamindar means a land (z2min) holder (dz7»). In
revenue practice a zamindar is one who holds a portion of land described
as pargana or an aliquot portion thereof. From 1775 to the date of the
Permanent Settlement in 1793 the question was discussed with much
learning and some vehemence, “Is the sovereign or are the zamindars
the owners of all land in India? ” In this controversy the etymological
meaning of the term zamindar was pressed in order to make good the
assertion dogmatically made by Philip Francis of the zamindar’s owner-
ship. “The Company, I believe,” wrote Francis, “had conceived an
early, but erroneous, opinion that, by the constitution of the Mughal
Empire, the governing power was proprietor of the soil ; consequently
that, in the -management of their territorial acquisitions, they ought not
to content themselves with a fixed tribute as government, since they had
a right to engross the entire produce as landlord.” In contradiction to
this error, Francis urged * the cultivation of the soil should be left with
the Gentoos (7. e. Hindus), whose property it is.”

L Verelst: View, efc, Appendix, p. 230. “No alterations had taken place in the ancient
divisions of the country, and the confusion, which is now apparent, has been posterior to those
times.”

% Westland: Op. cit, p. 53. Westland overlooks the fact that the faujdars who in origin
were appointed by the Emperor, and so intended to be a check on the Nawab, were often
productive of the evil results of double government., Contrast with Westland’s historical
statement Francis’ theoretical view : “The mode of collections is well ascertained. The Zemin-
dars paid the rents themselves for the most part at the treasury. When Collectors were
sent on the part of government, it was not to dispossess them of the management of their lands,
or to.discover the amount of their profits as proprietors, with a view of bringing those profits
to the credit of government. When such officers were sent, it was in consequence of some
fault in the Zemindar, or failure in his rents, to levy the dues of government by distress or
temporary attachment of the lands. Hence they were called Sazawuls, literally punishers.”
Francis : Op. cit, p. 34,
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This question *“ Who is the landlord ? " was probably not nearly so
much in the minds of the Company’s servants as Francis supposed. The
Company’s government was in fact concerned with the Mughal institution
of land revenue which had been placed in its hands: the question of
ownership in land (complicated as it was by the importation of those
ideas as to absolute ownership of land which Englishmen usually hold,
in despite of the teaching of their own lawyers,) was one which Francis
brought into a prominence it never had before his time. The abstract
question of the zamindar’s right of property was one which Hastings
expressly declined to deal with. ‘I do not mean,” he says in his
Review of the State of Bengall (written on his homeward journey in
1785-86), ‘“to contest their (the zamindars’') rights of inheritance to
the lands, whilst I assert the right of the Government to the produce
thereof.”” He turned his back on thé discussion as to inherited property
and pointed to facts which had been before the eyes of the Company’s
servants. ‘“ The zemindary of Rajeshahy, the second in rank in Bengal,
and yielding an annual revenue of about twenty-five lakhs of rupees has
risen to its present magnitude during the course of the last eighty years
by accumulating the property of a great number of dispossessed zemindars,
although the ancestors of the present possessor uad not, by inheritance, a
right to a single village within the whole zemindary.”?2

This was perhaps an appeal to an extreme instance. It would, on
the other side, have been possible to point to zamindars who represented
families of great antiquity and whose position might plausibly be des-
cribed as inherited. The Rajas of Bishnupur and” Birbhum, for instance,
as Wardens of the Western marshes, had not been subjected to the
severe financial measures of the Nawab Murshid Kuli Khan, and might
with reason be grouped with such other magnates as the Rajas of
Tipperah, Cooch Behar, Nadia, Burdwan, etc., 2s enjoying titles rather
by hereditary right than official grant. The difficulty irvolved in the
controversy lay in the fact that the term zamindar included persons
whose relation to the lands in their enjoyment was of a very varying
character. By a zamindar might' be meant the representative of some
ancient Hindu sovereignty; it might mean a government farmer who in
recent years had acquired his zamindari by inserting himself in the place

* Included in vol. II. of Mr. G. W. Forrest's Selections from the State Papers of the
Governors-General of India: Warren Hastings. “The public in England have of late years
adopted very high ideas of the rights of the Zemindars in Hindostan; and the prevailing
prejudice has considered every occasional dispossession of a Zemindar from the management
of his lands as an act of oppression. [ mean not here to enter into any discussion of their
rights, or to distinguish between right, fact, and form, as applied to their situation. .Our
Government, on grounds which more minute scrutiny may, perhaps, find at variance with facts,
has admitted the opinion of their rightful proprietorship of the lands. I do not mean to contest
their right of inheritance to the lands, whilst fassert the right of Government to the produce
thereof. The Mahommedan rulers continually exercised, with a severity unknown to the
British administration in Bengal, the power of dispossessing the Zemindars on any failure in
the payment of their rents, not only protempore, but in perpetuity.” Then follows the passage
about Rajshahi. Zbid., p. 72.

* A remarkable instance of the tendency of English writers to ascribe antiquity to
zamindars is supplied by Lord Macaulay’s account of the rajas of Benares. Chait-Singh’s father,
who was the first to hold the title of raja, was at first a mere farmer of the Nawab of Qudh’s
ravenues,
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of the dispossessed, and it might mean the occupant of but a single
parganah. But, setting aside the issue as to ownership, it was clear
that all these kinds of zamindars had at least one function in regard to
the State—they were one and all answerable for the yield to Govern-
ment of the sovereign’s portion of the harvest, in kind or in pecuniary
equivalent, on the threshing floors of the cultivators, and this function
was expressed in writing by the terms of their sgnads, or patents of
appointment. Whatever might be put forward as to ownership, here-
ditary succession, etc., it could not affect the fact that the right of the
sovereign to participate in the produce of the soil was even more ancient
and more firmly established in native ideas than any claim that could be
asserted as to the rights of any single zamindar.

Viewed from the point of view of his obligations to the State
the position of the zamindar, therefore, was not unlike that of a revenue
farmer. The historical zamindari is not the zamindar's private estate but the
parganah, group of pargahahs, or aliquot portion of estates for which the
zamindar is pledged to make good to Government the payment of the land
revenue. To dispossess the zamindar of his zamindari is not necessarily
to deprive him of his household and zancar (subsistence) lands, but to
assign to another the profitable employment of collecting from the
dependent ryots or cultivators the revenue assessed on their holdings and
retaining a commission on the revenue so collected. In itself the word
zamindari means, as Baden-Powell points out :1

1. The right to the revenue share.
2. The right to dispose of waste and unoccupied lands.
3. The right to certain mineral royalties, etc.

The zamindars, when they come into prominence, not as petty half-
tamed kings or chieftains but as zamindars, are local capitalists employed
by the State to exercise the zamindari right on specified conditions.

Whatever may have been the portion of the harvest claimed by Akbar
as the king's share, there is no doubt about the views entertained at the
time of Aurdngzib. “There shall be left for every man who cultivates
his land as much as he requires for his own support till the next crop be
reaped and that of his family, and for seed. This much shall be left to him ;
what remains is land-tax, and shall go to the public Treasury.” It has been
said that under native government, up to our own times, there has been
‘““no other limit to the demand upon the land than the power of the
Government to enforce payment and the ability of the people to pay.”2

“In every district throughout Bengal,” writes Sir John Shore, ‘ where
the licence of exaction has not superseded all rule, the rents of lands
are regulated by known rates called xi#£ and in some districts each
village has its own. These rates are farmed, with respect to the land at

1 B. H. Baden-Powell in dsiatic Quarterly Review, July, 1804.

* Thomason quoted by Sir John Strachey: /ndia : its Administration and Progress, 3ed
edn, p. 126.
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so much per bigha. Some soil produces two crops a year of different
species, and some three. The more profitable articles, such as the
mulberry plant, betel-leaf and tobacco, sugar-cane, and others, render the
value of the land proportionably great. These rates must have been fixed
upon a measurement of the lands and the settlement of Todar Mal may
have furnished the basis of them. In course of time, cesses were superadded
to the standard and became included in a subsequent valuation, the rates
varying with every successive measurement. At the present time there
are many abwabs or cesses collected distinct from the »i»k, and not
included in it, though they are levied in certain proportions to it.”1

The payment required of the ryot was therefore of a twofold kind :
(1) the nirkh, which theoretically represented the division of the produce
at harvest, and this counstituted the asa/-jame and was a fixed rate per
bigha ; and (2) the abwabs or cesses which were demands locally imposed.
These cesses, which were imposed on the ryots, were partly of a provin-
cial and partly of a local character: some of these cesses may be
specified in order to illustrate their general character:

1. Khasnovessy, originating in an annual rasum or fee exacted
from the zamindars by the clerks (Khalsa mutasaddis).

2. Mathaut (from matha, lit: “head )2 raised for defraying expen-
ses of the punya (Khilat Baha), repairing bridges and banks
(pooshtebandi), etc., a commission exacted by the head peon
on treasures brought from the districts in the interior (Rasum
nezarut), or to defray the expenses connected with the main-
tenance of the Nawab and Diwan’s elephants (Fil khana).

3. Faujdari abwabs?® to defray the expenses of the faujdars and
their establishments.

In addition to the parganah rates collected for the benefit of the
State, the local collectors had another collection which was known as
kharij-jama (corruptly and commonly kkiadge jama).* It would be the

1 Shore: Minute of June, 1789, paras. 301 & 392. Shore, as Sir W. Hunter has pointed
out, was “not aware of the imperfect character of Akbar's settlement in Lower Bengal,”” and
“in assuming the eXistence of successive measurements he went beyond the ascertained facts.”
Hunter : Bengal Records, vol i, p. 56.

2 Grant records that the Indian wmaathaut (corruptly mathoot) was confused in Europe
with the French maltote, which may have originated in an indulgence of restraining horsemen
from trampling down corn

3 By some writers the faujdari abwabs were supposed to be of the nature of fines inflicted
by the courts: on the contrary they were permanent assessments, and they may often have
been bribes paid by the zamindars to keep out the faujdar’s interference, but they were collected
' from the ryots.

¢+ The Hon. R. Lindsay writes from Sylhet, 1st Oct., 1779 : “Their inability to comply
with the demands of Government is further owing to their having, for trifling considerations of
ready money, disposed of considerable portions of their hereditary lands upon Khaudge Jumma,
or exempt from the revenues, for which the Zemindars (are) yet responsible, though not in
possession of the lands upon which the taxation is formed. The present possessors would
still be liable to be called upon for their proportion of the rents, but they have in general
avoided this by obtaining charity sunnuds for the lands so purchased, under the seals of the
former diwans of Sylhet.”
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policy of a strict revenue government, such as was that of the Nawab
Mir Kasim (1760-63) to “resume” all these concealed collections for
the benefit of the provincial treasury, and the increment so obtained for
the Nawab was spoken of as kifayat (corruptly Zejfyet) or profit.!

One of the most formidable demands made on the ryots by the
zamindars was mangan, or an assessment levied to defray the incidental
expenses of the zamindar and his household. The enormous expenditure
to which the zamindars would go on such occasions as the funerals of
parents, the “house-warming” of new »gjbaris, the marriage of children,
or the adoption of heirs, was met on every occasion by cesses levied on
their dependent ryots. It belongs to the mysterious passive tempera-
ment of the East, that cesses of this kind were often repeated long after
the occasion, which had given rise to them, had ceased.?

Another kind of cesses, under such heads as najai, derivallah, firari,
palataka, etc., were designed to make up losses due to desertion of the
ryots by imposts on those who remained. Warren Hastings, in his impor-
tant letter of 3rd November, 1772, refers to the najai as in part accounting
for the maintenance of the revenue collections unabated during the terrible
famine of 1770. Hoondean was designed to cover losses on the exchange
of coins. Yet another kind of cess (Moorkafee Jarib) may be mentioned
and that was a payment made by the zamindar on the ryot in order to be
spared an husta@ood or exact valuation of his holding.® In Ali Verdi
Khan’s time the Chout, or “Dangelt” to the Marathas was added.

It has been said by Sir William Hunter that the imposition of these
abwabs or cesses had the effect of rendering the original assessment, or
asal tumari jama, “nugatory,’”” but the idea that the cesses were not made
in the early days of the Mughal Government is probably a delusion. The
prospect of being able to enrich himself at the expense of the ryot was the
very actual inducement which led the faujdars to settle in the districts ;

' Kifayat~i-sair : the profit derived by bringing to account concealed eXactions in custom
duties, etc. Kifayat~i-faujdari: “‘increased assessment on the frontier lands held by the military
governors, levied by them, at first for their own benefit, but brought to the credit of the
government by Kasim Ali Khan” H. H. Wilson : Glossary of Revenue Terms.

* Having been called on to report if the Zamindars in the Rangpur district would
contribute to defray the cost of providing public granaries, the Collector, Peter Moore, writes,
3rd Dec., 1784 : “Neither the zemindars in this, or any other, part of the country, will pay it from
any stock of their own, but, as usual, levy it from the country under the denomination of mangun,
or want; and, as a measure of finance adopted by the Government, it will then meet a ready
and voluntary concurrence. In well-regulated zemindaries, even when mangun has been
privately asked by the zemindars, the ryots, understanding it as a necessity of the zemindar’s
household, or requisition for services beneficial to the zemindary, it has been known to meet a
ready and voluntary consent. If such supplies were readily furnished under the Mogul Govern=-
ment, when neither life, liberty nor property were secure, it ought not to be supposed that
under the mildness and security of English protection and laws, when those blessings are
sacredly preserved to them, as far as the English arm can reach, land-holders will be less
inclined to lend the same acquiescence.” It-may be mentioned that Peter Moore, a hostile
witness at the trial of Warren Hastings, was by marriage a great uncle of the novelist, W, M.
T{:ackeray, tc whom he was guardian and that he was the friend and benefactor of R. B.
Sheridan.

3 In 1769 the sum of Rs, 25, 036-15-10 was paid out of a total revenue of Rs. 12, 37, 367=14-
13-3 by the cultivators of Rangpur to obviate a measurement.
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almost numberless cesses from the cultivators. On behalf of the Imperial
Government for each important unit of the revenue collection there were
officers called Kanungos.! Of these officers Mr. Westland writes :
“These Kanungoes were officers deputed on the part of the iuling power
to the offices of the zemindaris. Their duty was to authenticate transfers
and leases, and to see that the zemindari accounts (the basis of the various
settlements) were truly and properly kept. According toa very ancient
custom, they were paid by a sort of cess called nim-fek: or pao-taki,
according as it was half or quarter per cent, of the collections. Besides
the kanungoes at the sudder office? of the zemindari, there were similar
subordinate officers at the mofussil® cutcherries, but these were either
paid in cash or by a piece of land by the zemindars. Some of the
zemindars did not like this supervision, and did what they could to oppose
the kanungoes ; but some of them, for their own sakes, liked to have one
as a check upon their own amlah.”* It has been seen that it was from
the kanungoes Todar Mal derived the bulk of his information, and in the
Ain-i-Akbari it is said “the Kanungo is the protector of the husbandman,
and there is one in every parganah.”

The representative of the village in revenue matters was the Patfwarz,
who was maintained by allowances from the cultivators and grants of
village lands. The Kanungo, who represented the State, and the
Patwari, representing the cultivators, would have been invaluable officers, .
had not the whole Mughal system been vitiated by the cesses worked for
the benefit of faujdars and zamindars. Under the system of cesses,
however, the district records bear witness to what Sir John Shore aptly
described as ‘“ an intricate scene of collusion opposed to exaction and of
unlicensed demand substituted for methodised claims.” If the Patwari
was well aware of the oppressive nature of the demands of the zamindar,
he was also not ignorant of the fact that the cultivators, whom
he represented, held far more land than was placed under assess-
ment.®> The structure of the Mughal system indeed had become so
thoroughly rotten that when in 1772 the English Government attempted
to relieve the cultivators by abolishing some of the most obvious abuses
in the cesses, such for instance as the haldari or fees on marriage, the
repeal failed to benefit the ryots, for the cesses continued to be collected
but were not placed to the credit of the treasury. The ignorance of
Government as to the extent of the ryots’ holdings stood in the way
of any measure which would have benefited the ryot, and the patwaris
had too long been accustomed to place their whole trust in collusive frauds

1 Properly Kanungo: go=speaker : Kanun=the canon or rule. Lindsay writes
“Congoo” !

3 Sudder (Sadr)—headquarters.

3 Mofussil (Mufassal)—district, “up-country.”

+ Westland : Op. cit. pp. 87-88. Amla- “the collective head native officers of a judicial
or revenue court.” Wilson : Glossary.

8 Harington in his Analysis mentions that in Jessore the mominal rate of the land
revenue assessment was three rupees per bigha, but the acfual rate was only one rupee “as the

riots possess fifteen bighas when their pattas state five only,” and upon the last quantity the
assessment of three rupees only is made,
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to look for the salvation of their clients in the good intentions of the
English sahibs.

The subject of the administration of justice during the Mughal
occupation is an extremely difficult one, and contradictory accounts have
been given by writers of authority. Field, in his work, 7he Regulations
of the Bengal Code, writes: “The operation of these Courts: was
confined to the circle round about Murshedabad, and there were no
proper arrangements for subordinate jurisdiction in the distant districts.
The Kazi indeed had his substitutes, but their power was exercised under
no lawful and authoritative commission, and depended upon the pleasure
of the people, or their ability to contest its exercise. The zemindars,
farmers, and other revenue officers accordingly assumed that power for
which no provision was made by the law of the land, and they exercised it
with a view, not to justice, but their own interests.”2

In the Sixth Report of the Committee of Secrecy, r773, on the other
hand, it is stated: “The Criminal Court in every district was generally
known by the name of the Phousdary (Fzujdari), the Zemindar or raja of
the district was the judge in this court : his jurisdiction extended to all
criminal cases, but...... in such as were of a capital nature, the sentence
was not to be executed until a report of the case was made to the Govern-
ment at Murshedabad, and orders received upon it. The proceedings in
this Court were summary : the most frequent mode of punishment, parti-
cularly where the man accused was a man of wealth, was by fine, and every
fine imposed by the authority of the Court, was a perquisite of the zemindar
himself, by virtue of the tenure of his lands; the natural effects of this
circumstance, upon the fair administration of criminal justice appear to
your Committee to have been severely felt.”

In a minute dated the 7th December, 1775, Hastings disputes the
accuracy of this statement, and when it is remembered that Hastings

1 Field (Op. cit. pp. 134-35) gives the list supplied in the Letter of the Committee of
Circuit, 15 Aug., 1772 : R

(1) The Nazim, who, as supreme Magistrate, presided personally at the trial of capital
offenders.

(2) The Diwan, who was supposed to decide cases relating to real estate or property in
land, but who seldom exercised this jurisdiction in person.

(3) The Darogah-Adalat-al-Alia, or Deputy of the Nazim in the criminal court, who took
cognizance of quarrels, frays, and abuse, and also of all matters of property, except-
ing claims of land and inheritance.

(4) The Darogah-i-Adalat-Diwani, or Deputy of the Diwan in the Civil Court.

(3) The Faujdar, or Officer of police, and Judge of all crimes not capital

(6) The Kazi, who decided claims of inheritance or succession.

(7) The Muhtasib, who had cognizance of drunkenness, the vending of spirituous liquors
and intoxicating drugs, and the examination of false weights and measures.

(8) The Mufti, who expounded the law for the Kazi, who, if he agreed, decided accordingly.
If he disagreed, a reference was made to the Nazim, who called a council of
jurisconsults.

(9) The Kanungoes, or Registrars of the lands, to whom cases connected with land were
occasionally referred for decision.

(10) The Kotwal, or Peace-Officer of the night, subordinate to the Faujdar.

* Field : Op. cit. Introduction, p. 135. Field overlooks the special jurisdictions at

Dacca.
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during his early career in the country had been stationed as Resident at
the Durbar and had acquired in that position an unrivalled knowledge of
the Native Government, his view may be accepted with confidence. In
reply to a minute entered by Clavering, Monson and Francis in which the
statement of the Committee of Secrecy in regard to the alleged jurisdic-

tion of the zamindar in the Faujdari Court had been repeated, Hastings
writes :

‘“The nature of the jurisdiction which the constitution of Bengal
allowed to the Zemindars as it is explained in the opposite
paragraph differs very widely from the idea which I have
always entertained of it. I venture to pronounce with con-
fidence that by the constitution of Bengal the zemindar neither
presided in the criminal court of his district, nor pronounced
nor executed sentence on all offences less than capital, nor on
any offences whatever except the non payment of the rents
(i.e. the revenue). ‘He was answerable,’ it is true, for the
peace and good order of the country as far as his jurisdiction
extended, but .enly as the subordinate instrument of a larger
system. The land servants, or the ancient militia of the
country, were under his immediate charge, and being distributed
throughout the zemindary, enabled the zemindar both to watch
over its internal quiet and to obtain information of whatever
passed in any part of it, and so far the faujdar’s jurisdiction is
inherent in the zemindar. In the exercise of it, he was subject
to a faujdar, who had the superintendence of a district
comprehending many zemindaries, and had the thanas or
inferior stations under the charge of officers and armed men
dependent on him, besides a part of the land servants of each
zemindary, the rest being employed to guard the villages and
enforce the collections. It was the zemindar’s duty to give
constant intelligence to the Nawab through the Roy Royan
[Rai Raian] and to assist the faujdar in the apprehension of
robbers and in executing the measures, which were required
of him for preserving the peace of the country ; but this duty
first and immediately belonged to the faujdar, who was the
representative of the Nazim, and to him the people looked up
for justice and protection, even against their own chiefs. The
Faujdar was the check even upon the zemindars, who were
often—and those of the Dacca district always—the patrons
and abettors of dacoits, whose haunts and practices it was
their especial duty to detect. In effect the law or custom which
made the zemindar responsible for all robberies committed in
his district,! whatever might have been the purpose of its

1 The following letter from the Comptrolling Council of Revenue at Murshidabad is
illustrative, (Consultations of 10th June, 1771.)
Murshidabad,
toth June, 1771,
To Mr. William Rooke,
Supervisor of Jessore.
Sir,

vireinienien.on . After the measures we have already taken for protecting the country from
the outrages of dekoits, we are concerned to find that they should still continue, and as the
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original institution, operated and was regarded under the
Mohammedan Government rather as a punishment for con-
nivance than a fine for neglect. Many instances may be
quoted of zemindars who exercised other powers, and parti-
cularly in the oppressive custom, which they had assumed, of
levying unlimited fines from the ryots on accusations of forni-
cation and a variety of other pretences. Such is the case in
all despotic Governments, especially in those which have
undergone frequent revolutions ; but I believe—and I have
authority for believing—that the constitutional powers of which
the general Police of Bengal was composed will be found
exactly as I have described them......The zemindar of Burdwan
was allowed the exercise of a faujdary jurisdiction by a special
sunnud from the Nazim. I believe there is not another
instance, and this is rather a proof of the existence of the
system which I have descrihed than an exception to it, other-
wise an especial sunnud would have been unnecessary.”!

The responsibilities of the zamindars is a subject of some importance
in the present inquiry, and it will be worth while, therefore, to give in
parallel columns the relevant part of the text of two zamindari sanads :2

extremity they have gone to in perpetrating the murder of Mr, Dennis Holland affords but too
just cause to suspect that they are countenanced in their villainies by the zemindars of the
district or their officers, we are, upon this presumption, determined to sift the matter to the
bottom ; and, as it becomes necessary in so doing to adopt the custom of the country in making
the zemindar responsible, we direct, if he does not immediately produce the murderers, that
you do send him a prisoner to the City (i.e. Murshidabad), accompanied with as particular
information as you can collect on the spot of the circumstances attending this atrocious murder.
You will at the same time take such measures as that the Business of the Revenue may not
suffer by the zemindar’s absence....evvvuiuennn,

We are, (etc.)
See also Long : Selections, No. 843.

1 G. W. Forrest : Selections from the Letters, Despatches, and other State Papers, preser-
ved in the Foreign Department of the Government of India, 1772-1785, Calcutta, 18go, vol. ii,
PP- 454-55. Clavering, etc, attempted to reply by producing an apparently contradictory
statement in the 18th article of Hastings and Barwell’s Proposal for a new settlement, 22nd
April, 1775. See Forrest : Op. cit. p. 505. But Francis seems to have been convinced. When
examined by the Select Committee of the House of Commons (V Itk Report, p. 11) in 1782
Francis referred to the discussion in 1775, and added : “The result of later enquiries has in
some degree satisfied him that, whatever criminal jurisdiction was exercised by the zemindars,
it did not go much beyond petty offences ; he believes it did not extend to life or limb.,” On
these points, however, Mr. Francis said, he did not presume to speak positively. ~

2 It may be observed that on 13th February, 1776, Hastings’ government granted a
sanad for the zamindari of Cooch Behar to Rajah Dhairyendra Narayan. The terms of
this sanad are almost identical with those of the sanads cited in the text above. See Aitchison :
Collection of Treaties, etc..vol. i, p. 293.
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(From Shore's Minute,
April, 1788.)

Translation of a Sunnud, wunder
the seal of the Nawab Serfraz
Khan, Dewan of the Soobak of
Bengal, dated the 27th of
the month Rumszan, in the
17th year of the veign of
His Majesty Mokum-
mad Shak, or A.D.

1735-6.

To the Mutsuddies® of affairs, and
the officers entrusted with public
transactions, for the time being and
to come, to the Canoongoes, Mukud-
dums,? and husbandmen, of the
pergunnah Rajshahy, etc., belonging
to the Soobah of Bengal, the Para-
dise of Kingdoms, be it known that,
in consequence of the Ferd Sewul,?
which has been signed by the noble
and princely Shujaa ud Doulah,
Mohtimun ul Muluk, Shujaa ud
Deen, Mohammed Khan, Behadur,
Assud Jung, Nazim of the Soobah,
and agreeably to which the Furd
Hukeekut* and Mochulka® have
also obtained signature (the contents
of all which are endorsed therein)
the service of the zemindarry of the
aforesaid pergunnah has been con-
ferred, since the decease of Ramjee-
wun, and in consideration of a
peishcush, etc., and the balances,
and the annual jumma of the
pergunnah abovementioned, accord-
ing to the annexed endorsement,
on thefirst among his contemporaries,
Ram Kunt, the adopted son of the
aforesaid person; to the end that, duly
attending to the duties and functions

INTRODUCTION.

(From Verelst’s View.)

Sunnud for the Zemindary of the
Honourable East India Com-
pany’s lands, given under the
- seal of the Nabob Allow o

Dowla Meer Mahomed
Saddoc Khan Bahader
Assud Fung, Dewan
of the Subah of
Bengal.

To the Muttaseddies for affairs
for the time being and to come, and
Chowdrees and Canongoes, and
inhabitants, and husbandmen of the
Kismut! Purgunnah of Calcutta,
etc. of the Sircar Sautgaum,? etc.
belonging to the Paradise of Nations,
the Subah of Bengal. Be it known,
that in consequence of the Ferd
Sawal, signed by the glory of the
Nobility and administration, Shujah
ul Muluck Hossam o Dowla Meer
Mahomed Jaffier Khan Bahader
Mahabut.-Jung, Nizam of the Subah,
and the Ferd Huckeekut and
Muchulca, signed conformably there-
to; the forms of which are herein
fully set forth. The office of the
zemindarry of the Purgunnahs above
written, in consideration of the sum
of twenty thousand one hundred
and-one rupees (20,101) Peshcush,3
etc. to the Imperial Sircar, accor-
ding to the indorsement, from the
month Poos (Anno 1164) in the year
eleven hundred and sixty-four of the
Bengal aera is conferred upon the
noblest of merchants, the English
Company, to the end that they

3 Mutasaddi., A writer or clerk.

3 Mukaddam. The village head-man or
representative.

2 Fard-i-sawal. Petition,

*  Fard-i-hakikat. A memorandum or report
on the circumstances.

$  Muchalka. Counterpart covenant.

* Kismut, correctly kismat, ‘“Applied in
revenue matters to a portion of land getached
from a larger division as from a talukor a
argana, especially if subject to a different
jurisdiction.” Wilson : Glossary.

3 Sautgaum, i.e. Satgaon, the ancient
Hindu Saptagram (the seven villages, and the
Portuguese Porto Piqueno. See an article by
Lt-Col. D. G. Crawford: “Satgaon and
Tribeni”, in Bengal : Past and Present, vol. iii,

3 Peshkash. Fee.
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of that service, he may not be want-
ing in the most minute particle of
diligence and assiduity ; that he pay
into the royal treasury the peishcush,
etc., and the balances, according
to kistbundy;! and discharge year
by year at the stated times and
periods, the due rents, after receiving
credit for muzcoorat,? nankar, etc.,
agreeable to usage ; that he observe
a commendable conduct towards the
class of ryots and common people
at large; and employ himself
diligently in expelling and punishing
the refractory ; and exert his utmost
endeavours that no trace of thieves,
robbers, and disorderly persons, may
remain within his boundaries ; that
he conciliate and encourage the
ryots, and promote the advancement
of cultivation, the improvement of
the country, and the increase of its
produce; that he take special care
of the high-roads, so that travellers
and passengers may pass and repass
in perfect confidence ; and, if at any
time the property of any person shall
be stolen or plundered, that he
produce the thieves and robbers
together with the property; and,
delivering the latter to the owner,
consign the former to punishment:
that in case he do not produce them,
he himself become responsible for
the property; that he exert his
vigilance that no one be guilty of
drunkenness or irregularities of be-
haviour within the boundaries of his
zemindary ; that he refrain from the
exaction of the abwabds prohibited by
the Imperial Court; and that he
deliver into the Dufter Khannah of
Government the official papers

\  Kisti-bandi. The document inthe collece
tor's hands showing portions of the annual
assessment, dates when due, etc.

% Maskurat, Deductions allowed to cover
the zamindar’'s expenses in collecting the
revenues ; admitted fees, religious assignments,’
etc,
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attend to the rights and customs
thereof as is fitting, nor in the least
circumstance neglect or withhold the
vigilance and care due thereto ; that
they deliver into the treasury at
proper times, the rents of the Sircar ;
that they behave in such manner to
the inhabitants and lower sort of
people, that by their good manage-
ment the said Purgunnahs may
flourish and increase: that they
suffer no robbers nor house-breakers
to remain within their districts, and
take such care of the King’s high.-
ways, that the trayellers and passen-
gers may pass and repass without
the least molestation: that (which
God forbid) if the effects of any
person be plundered or stolen, they
discover and produce the plunderers
and thieves, together with the goods,
and deliver the goods to the owners,
and the criminals to condign punish-
ment, or else, that they themselves
be responsible for the said goods;
that they take especial care that no
one be guilty of any crimes or
drunkenness within the limits of
their zemindarry; that after the
expiration of the year they take a
discharge according to custom, and
that they deliver the accounts of
their zemindarry agreeable to the
stated form every year into the
Dafter Canal of the Sircar; and
that they refrain from demanding
the articles forbidden by the Im-
perial Court, the (Asylum of the
World).

It is their (the Muttaseddies, etc.)
duty to look upon the said Company
as the established and‘lawful zemin-
dars of those places, and whatso-
ever appertains or is annexed _to
that office as their right; in this
particular be they strictly punctual.

v Daftar-khana, Office,
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required, conformable to custom Dated the first of Rabbi ul Sauni?
signed by himself and the Canoongoes | in third sun? of the reign.
of the Soobah.

It is, therefore, required of the
aforesaid persons, that they regard
the above-mentioned Ram Kunt as 1\ Rgbia-us-sami. 4th month of Maho-
the authorizedzemindar of pergunnah | medan year.

Rajshahy, etc. etc. 2 Should be the sth sun (Verelst’s note).

Let the indorsement be wrote.

To these requirements the petitioner for the sanad entered into an
obligation by a muchalka which was inséribed on the sanad itself, and
repeated word for word the requirements which have been quoted. It
will be observed that the sanad, while it throws on the zamindar the duty
of apprehending thieves, does not empower him to sit in judgment on
them.

The subject of the police in Mahomedan Bengal is an exceedingly
difficult one, because what research proves to be true of one district is
probably untrue of another. It used to be a rather highly treasured
belief that the village watch in Lower Bengal was a survival of the village
system, which, it was supposed, ‘prevailed throughout Hindustan,” but
the special investigations conducted in 1865-66 by Mr. D. J. McNeile
revealed the fact that, while ‘“in the Western Provinces of Lower
Bengal . . and notably in Orissa, the village system has not been entirely
swept away,” (“the very general assignment of lands to the village
watchmen in service tenure being in itself one of the most prominent of
its surviving features,”) the existing village watch had been ‘instituted
as a stipendiary force by the Zillah Magistrates within the last fifty years
in all the districts of Chittagong, Dacca, and Nuddea and Rajshahy
Divisions, except in part of Moorshedabad, and perhaps in the Nuddea
and Jessore Districts.”! Mr. McNeile's conclusion was that “in the part
of Moorshedabad just excepted, throughout the Divisions of Patna,
Bhaugalpur, Burdwan and Cuttack, the general character of the establish-
ment is that of an immemorial institution.”?2

Under the ancient system the village watchman was employed to
guard the persons and property of his fellow-villagers, and was maintained
by small assignments of land and contributions of grain at harvest time.
““As a rule,” writes Mr. McNeile, “ he belonged himself to some.thieving
gang, and his engagement as watchman was in fact an arrangement by
which the villagers secured a partial immunity from attack by buying over
one of the enemy.”3 It is conjectured that under the Mughal system the
watchmen became enrolled on the establishments of the several zamindars,

' D. J. McNeile: Report on the Village Watch of the Lower Provinces of Bengal.
Calcutta, 1866, p. 4. ‘

3 The names under which the village watchman appears in the District Records are
infinite in number. See a partial enumeration in McNeil : Op. cit pp. 8 & 9. Mr. McNeile
mentions that the term “Chokidar” does not appear to have been attached, before the Decen-
nial Settlement, to the village watchman, properly so-called, in any part of Bengal.

s Id, p. 5.
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were employed in the collection of the revenue as well as in their
original occupation of the village watch, and were, with the other inferior”
local servaunts, rewarded by lands on ckataran tenure.

The greater zamindars, it must be remembered, had considerable
numbers of troops at their disposal. In Burdwan, for instance, the English
1}2 1760 found three distinct establishments under the orders of the

aja ;—

1. A military force (“nugdees”) paid in cash from the Raja’s
treasury, their maintenance amounting to an annual cost of
three lakhs.

2. A police force (thanadari).

3. A body of village watchmen and revenue collectors (“mal gram
saran jami”) maintained, as was also the thanadari force, by
assignments of land revenue-free.

The Rajas of Birbhum and Bishnupur must also have had consider-
able armies at their command, for upon those potentates fell the defence
of the western frontier. In Birbhum we meet with a frontier police, known
as ghatwals, described by Sir William Hunter as “for the most part
adventurers from Upper I[ndia, Afghans and Rajputs, who were wont to
hire out their northern vigour and trenchant swords to the aristocracy of
Lower Bengal.” In point of fact the ghatwals were not a rural police,
although they had certain police responsibilities.? The consideration of
the military forces at the disposal of the rajas is relevant to the matter
under present discussion, because under the zamindari system, not only
would the police proper have been -used for purposes of enforcing the
revenue collections and other duties equally foreign to their original
employment, but the whole military force would have beén available for
the realisation of the leading zamindar's respoasibilities in the matter of
the preservation of the peace and the expulsion of gang-robbers.

The system of police as we have described it was broken down
before the English came into power in the districts of Bengal. Nothing
can be more eloquent or more convincing than the fact that the gang-
robbers, of whom the English had a terrible experience, were marauders,
not by individual choice or necessity, but by ancestral calling. “The
dacoits of Bengal are not, like the robbers in England, individuals driven to
such desperate courses by sudden want: they are robbers by profession
and even by birth.” So wrote the Commijttee of Circuit on June 28th,
1772.2 The lesser zamindars not only concealed crime, because they
would be held responsible if the facts were made known, but in the feeble
condition of the Mughal Government, they purchased their own safety
by collusion with the criminals. ’

* See Hunter : Annals of Rural Bengal, 3rd edn., 1868, p.324, and Baden-Powell:
Land Revenue in British India, p 119.

*  Forrest : Selections from the State Papers of the Governors-General of India: Warren
Hastings, vol. ii, p. 289.

7
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It is .important that the student should remember that the land-
revenue, through whateverchannel it passed to the treasury, was taken
from the immediate cultivator of the soil. It is therefore necessary,
before closing the present chapter, that some account should be given of
the conditions of the ryots.

To enumerate the different kinds of ryotwaritenure which a survey of
rural Bengal reveals would be a lengthy, and, for our present purpose,
an uncalled-for task ; the distinction between the khudkasht and paikasht
ryots is, however, essential to an understanding of the economic laws in
process in ‘the period of time covered by the English occupation.! The
khudkasht (£hud=own, kasit=cultivation) ryot cultivated lands in the
village2 in which he resided. Having erected his own dwelling, he improved
the cultivation, and almost invariably took in more land than he actually
accounted for with the revenue authorities; this type of cultivator had
obvious reasons for clinging to his holding. It is of this class of culti-
vator, Hastings writes: ‘“the more valuable are those who reside in one
fixed spot, where they have built themselves substantial houses, or derived
them by inheritance from their fathers. These men will suffer much before
they abandon their habitations, and therefore they are made to suffer much.”
A zamindar possessed of intelligence, it might be supposed, would not
carry his oppressions so far as to drive a valuable cultivator to desert and
so injure his own interest in the revenue collections, Whatever right
the ryot might lay claim to, that right was subject to the conditions that
the revenue was paid and the holding was cultivated : and these condi-
tions fulfilled, the zamindar who attempted to oust the ryot, in order to
instal one who offered an increased payment, would be regarded as acting
unconstitutionally.

The Paikasht (pai, corruption of paki from pak=pas, near, and so
non-resident) ryot held his holding.in a village to which he did not belong.
“The vagrant reiats,” Hastings continues, ‘have it in their power in some
measure to make their own terms with the zemindars. They take land at
an under-rent, and hold it for one season : the zemindar then increases their
rent or exacts more from them than their agreement, and the reiats, either
desert, or, if they continue, they hold their land at a rent lower
than the established rent of the country. Thus the ancient and indus.
trious tenants (7. e. the khudkasht ryots) are obliged to submit to undue
exactions, while the vagrant reiats enjoy lands at half-price, which
operates as an encouragement to desertion and to the depopulation of the
country.”3

It has been said that prudence might have dictated to the zamindar
the necessity of keeping the khudkasht ryots on their lands, but

1 See an article on “The Khudkasht Ryot of Bengal” in the Calcutta Review, vol.
1xxvii, 1883.

* The English reader must not be misled by the use of the familiar English word
tyillage” in matters of Indian revenue. In connection with Indian revenue the village is not
the cluster of homesteads only but an area of cultivated lands, in which homesteads may be
congregated together or (as in the Rangpur district) even widely scattered.

3 Francis : Op. cit, p. 154.
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unfortunately the zamindars were not liberally endowed with that virtue.l
Again constant rebellions, the menace of the Marathas, the raids of gang-
robbers, etc. etc. were alike calculated to produce a state of things in
which the necessity of flight would gain the advantage of love of an
inherited hearth and home. In a European country in our own time,
peasants have been known to consult lawyers as to the best way of getting
rid of their rights as parliamentary electors, and it can be well understood
how, with severe demands of revenue to satisfy, the ryot’s predominant
anxiety would be to dispossess himself of so costly a right to the soil.
The khudkasht ryot, when he abandoned his holding, joined the ranks of
the vagrants, and thus, gradually a tenure dependent on status was, under
the working of the law of supply and demand, changed for tenure by
contract. The famine and pestilence of 1769-70, resulting in an estimated
loss to Bengal of one-third of its inhabitants, necessarily increased the
tendency of the remaining resident cultivators to wander abroad in search
of holdings on more moderate terms.2

1 Francis argued that the zamindar and ryots “if left to themselves, will soon come to an
agreement” : to this Hastings replies . “this would be a just conclusion, if the zemindars were
all capable of distinguishing what was for their advantage. But it is a fact, which will with
difficulty obtain credit in England, though the notoriety will justity me in asserting it here, that
much the greatest part of the zemindars, both of Bengal and Bahar, are incapable of judging
or acting for themselves, being either minors, or men of weak understandings, or absolute
idiots. This circumstance, and the consequent oppressions, which are exercised by those who
act for.them, without any interest in the prosperity of the zemindary, render it necessary to
provide for the security of the Reiats by checks and regulations.” Francis: Op. cit, pp.
153-54. Sir John Shore may also be quoted in confirmation of Hastings’ view of the
incapacity of the bulk of the zamindars

* In this paragraph I have followed the lines of Sir William Hunter's argument in his
Introduction to Bengal Ms. Records : but I venture to express the opinion that it will be neces-
sary to sacrifice lucidity of his argument in the interest of a number of historical facts relative
to the tenure of the ryots, eg., the diminished revenue demands on ryots, known as jotedars,
ganthedars, etc etc., on the terms that they would realise revenue from their dependents.
There were ryots who, in the records, appear as zamindars goked at through the other end of
the opera-glass. The creation of this class of ryot must have, at least to some extent,
counterbalanced the economic process so clearly traced by Sir William Hunter. See West-
land : Op. cit., p 9t; Seton-Karr : Cornwalls: (“Rulers of India" series), p. 56, and Glazier :
Further Notes on the Rumgpore Records for T. Sisson’s account of Purja (Praja=subject)

ryots.



CHAPTER III.
THE COMING OF THE ENGLISH TO BENGAL, 1630-1698.

In the year 1620, English pioneer merchants from Surat had ieached
Patna, by way of Agra, but this early attempt to found a commercial
settlement in Behar was soon abandoned.? Eleven years later Thomas
Robinson made an effort to reach Bengal. He left Masulipatam, on 2gth
July, 1631, but his ship, the Hopewell, was compelled by foul weather to
return. In the following year, Thomas Woodson sailed for the Bay in the
Pearl, to barter lead, quicksilver, vermilion, cloth, etc., for rice, butter and
cloth, etc., and to discover what opportunities for trade Bengal could offer,
but contrary winds compelled the fear/ to return without completing the
voyage.2 In 1633, the Company’s agent at Masulipatam, finding it
necessary to obtain a more liberal supply of cloth than that place could
afford, despatched eight Englishmen by country boat to the coast of Ouissa.
A picturesque account of this journey, by William Burton, is to be found
in Osborne’s Collections of Voyages and Travels (1752). After describing
the visit to the Durbar at Cuttack, Burton writes : “The ninth of May we
gathered together all our things and at night departed from Coteke. The
tenth, at the hour of two in the afternoon, we came to the town of Harharra-
poore. and rested in the house of our interpreter. The eleventh day we
went to the Governor of the town, and shewed him our fermand (farman),
or commission from the king: the governor made a great salame, or
court’sy in reverence unto it, and promised his best assistance and help in
everything that he could do : and there the said governor had a small present
given him. The twelfth day of May Mr. Thomas Colley came to us at
Harharrapoore, and the rest of the English with him, with all the goods :
there we hired a house for the present, till such time as ours might be built,
for our further occasions to the Company’s use...... The fourteenth day, the
two merchants went abroad, and found out a plot of land to build upon ;
then they laid the King’s deroy3 on it and seized upon it for the Company’s
use ; and there was no man that did or durst gainsay them for doing the
same.”*

1 This fact is mentioned by Stewart { History of Bengal, 1847, pp. 140-41) who refers to
“Vol. 1 of Jndia Records, 1620,” a reference now impossible to verify. Yule (Hedges Diary,
Hakluyt Society) conjectures that if the English indeed reached Patna at an early date the
advance must have been made from the Western coast. Mr. Foster has given the documentary
proofs in his English Factories in India, 1618-1621, p. 191 ef seq.

+ 2 C.R. Wilson: A Noteon the English Chiefs at Balasor, 1633-50. 1906. (unpublished
pamphlet). See Foster : English Factories in India, 1630-33, p. 244-

‘s C. R. Wilson explains this word : “Mar. Durahi or Tel. durai : ‘a prohibition in the
King’s name for anyone to have anything to do with them till that be taken off.” The late Mr.
William Irvine, in a private letter writes : “This passage is of considerable importance in its
bearing on the hotly contested question of private property in land. In this instance, when the
ruler required some land he ordered it to bestaken without payment.” This durai was the act
of Agha Muhammad Zaman, the Nawab or Governor of Cuttack.

* C. R.Wilson : Early Annals of the English in Bengal, vol 1, p 15. Hariharapur or

Hariharpur at the mouth of the Patali, or Patna river, is between Cuttack and the ancient
harbour of Harispur,
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The farman referred to by Burton cannot be traced, and it is possible
that the document may have been not a farman from the Emperar, but a
rescript from the Subahdar of Orissa or Nawab at Cuttack. The important_
thing to be noticed is that the Company’s servants in their early days in
Bengal were under a pathetic delusion that the Mughal Empire was so
compactly organised that the written word of “the King” (as they called
the Mughal) would be regarded as law by all his subordinates. President
Methwold indeed had a deeper insight into the real state of affairs, and it
would have saved the Company much expense and repeated disappoint-
ments had they been guided by the President’s wise words (written on 28th
April, 1636) : “the Kinge’s commands (for so much the word farman doth
imply) are as easily procured as other princes’ ; for, if there be no powerful
opposer, they are almost as easily had as the charges are disbursed. And,
when you have them, they are no more esteemed than things so easily
purchased ; whilst everyone honours the Kinge, but no man obeys him. And
so it comes to passe that his firmaun doth neither inforce us to Piply nor
yet exclude us from Harriupore, which latter place wee doe only frequent.
So that matters not much, if peace be made with the Governor, what the
Kinge shall please to command or forbid, except some neibour Governor
find himselfe prejudiced 1

It would seem that the English were obsessed by the fallacy that a
farman from the Emperor would be as binding and efficacious as was
their own Charter from the English Crown. They sought to obtain
concessions which once granted would not be subject to be worked at the
Emperor’s pleasure, whereas to the Mughal this doctrine as to the limita-
tion of his discretion by farmans would probably have seemed strange and
undesirable. The English failed to understand that the Mughal Empire
was something sui generis, and they emphasised their misunderstanding
by expecting from the Delhi Emperor pledges, which, under a Government
so loosely held together, were impossible. Even after the English had
provided themselves with a fortress and the means of offering retaliation
for real or fancied injuries the concessions accorded to them in 1717
proved nugatory, because, whatever the Mughal might choose to order his
Viceroy at Murshidabad would not allow the Company to realise their
rights. It was not till 1765 Clive won from the Eniperor irrevocable
concessions but at that date the military supremacy in Bengal had been
transferred to the English.

There is ground for believing that in 1634, the year following the
foundation of factories at Hariharapur and Balasore by Cartwright, the
English at Surat received from Shah Jahan a fg#man permitting their
merchants to trade in Bengal, ‘but restricting™ their ships to the Port of
Piple.2

* Foster : The English Factories in Bengal, 1634-30, p 204.

2 The object of this restriction was perhaps to prevent the English becoming tao powerful
at Hughli, whence the Portuguese had been expelled in 1632. Mr. Foster shews that Dr.
Wilson’s scepticism as to Shah Jahan’s farman of 1634 is not justified. In 1621 that Emperor,
when Prince Khurram, visited Pipli, and named it the “Royal Port, Shah Bandar.,” The town
has been completely washed away.
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Stewart, however, 1s 1n error when he says that it was at Pipli “the
English established their first factory in Bengal.”1

In 1650 the factory at Hughli was founded. The picturesque tradition
of Gabriel Boughton and his services in restoring the health of Shah
Jahan’s favourite daughter, the poor burned Princess Jahanara, and of the
reward he so unselfishly claimed in trading privileges for the Company,
cannot be wholly trusted ; but Mr. Foster's recent researches? have made
it appear extremely probable that it was due to Boughton’s influence with
his patron Sultan Shuja that, in 1651, the Hughli factors obtained a nzskan
from Sultan Shuja, then residing as Subahdar of Bengal at Rajmahal,? and
by the terms of this nishan, for which was paid a peshkasi of three
thousand rupees, the English were permitted to trade free of duty.* This
precious document was lost when Paul Waldegrave fell among theives and
was robbed of his and the Company’s possessions on the road from Balasore
to Masulipatam. To supply the place of so essential a credential, a *‘Mr.
Billedge” repaired to the Court of the Prince at Rajmahal, and thanks to
the offices of * James Price,—that was Mr. Boughton’s servant,” obtained
a nishan, identical in terms with the one that had been stolen.

Sultan Shuja, it will be remembered, was the second son of the
Emperor Shah Jahan. The story of his attempt to secure the throne of
Delhi, of his defeat by his third brother, Aurangzib, and of his murder by
the Arakanese, forms a memorable chapter in the history of the Mughals.
In after times the subahdari of Sultan Shuja came to be regarded as an
epoch of good and equitable administration, and the decline of the Mughal
rule in Bengal has been held to date from 1659, when the ill-fated Prince
set out to play his part in the fratricidal struggle for the Peacock throne.
An account of Hughli written by Walter Clavell in December, 1676,
perhaps gives a better date to fix the period of decadence:

“ Hughly having the advantage of situation upon the banks of the
river Ganges, whose branches come far from the country
above, and spread wide thereabouts, was in former times in
the possession of the Portuguese, who in their prosperity sailed
to it yearly from India and Malaya with 60: 8o : to 100 : vessels,
and since the loss of it to the Moors, which happened about 42
years since, hath continued to be a scale (emporium) of great
trade, having the King’'s mansabdars for governors, who were
put in by and answerable to the Nabobs of Bengal, who reside

* Stewartl: Op. cit., p. 154. Field (Regulations of the Bengal Code, introduction) wrongly
gives 1642 as the date of the commencement of the Balasore Factory. The error is repeated on
p- 173 of vol. I of Aitchison’s Treaties. (4th edition).

3 Indian Antiguary, vol. Xl part dxi, September, 1911, art. “Gabriel Boughton and the
Grant of Trading Privileges to the English in Bengal” by W. Foster.

® Sultan Shuja had removed his capital from Gaur to Rajmahal (or Akbarnagar). See
Stewart : Op. cit,, p. 156.

+ A copy of the nishan will be found in the MS. collection of Charters and Treaties at
the India Office, vol. 11, pp. 5-8. A translation is given by Stewart, op. cit., Appendix No. ii,
and Sir R.'Temple: op. cit. vol. ii, p. 21. The date given in the copy found in Streynsham
Master’s Diary is “the year of Hegira one thousand sixty-six (April, A. D. 1656) in the 28th
year of the Emperor Shah Jehaun (Shah Jahan) his glorious reign.” Dr. C. R. Wilson’s
reasoning about the date, however, has been disposed of by Mr, Foster’s researches,
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at Rajmahal or Dacca, as they pleased. So long as it conti-
nued thus governed by the Moors, justice was more exactly
administered, and complaints made against the King’s officers
took place, particularly in the favour of strangers. But since
the year 1663, or thereabouts (really 1666) that Nabob Shaistah
Khan, the present King's uncle became Suba, or Viceroy of
Bengal, and obtained Hughly as part of his jzgi» (or lands
assigned him for his person), his servants being made so far
governors as to receive all the rents, profits, perquisites, fines,
customs, etc. of the place, the King’s Governors hath little
more than the name, and for the most part sit still while the
Nabob’s Officers oppress the people, monopolise most comodi-
tyes, even as low as grass for beasts, canes, firewood, thatch,
etc. nor do they want ways to oppress those people of all sorts
who trade, whether natives or strangers, since whatever they
do when complained of to Dacca, is palliated under the name
and colour of the Nabob's interest; and that the Nabob’s
officers may, without control, drive the trade of the place, there
is sent from Dacca, or detained out of the rents, twenty or
forty thousand rupees yearly to be employed in merchandise
which is distributed amongst the Hindu merchants of the town,
to each in proportion, for which they agree to give twenty five
per cent per annum, but are called upon at six or eight months’
end to make up their accounts and pay the principal with
advance of a year, by which means, calling-in" their principal
and in.erest so often, it sometimes happens that the merchants
pay 50 per cent to the Nabob and Governors per annum,
draining themselves by this unhappy trade with him and his
Ministers of the whole advantages they make of their other
traffick. And yet, as if this were not enough-to impoverish
them, the Governor, whenever he hath any goods on his hands,
calls for them, and distributes amongst them what quantity he
pleaseth, at 10 to 15 per cent higher than the market’s for
time, and they pay ready money. Nor doth this exempt them
from piscashing the” Nabob’s Karoris or Governor with small
presents at all feasts, his or his son’s birthdays, circumcisions,
marriages, or his going to and coming from Dacca, making up
accounts and compounding for his rogueries. Nay, it hath in
my time happened that, when the Nabob and his officers at
Dacca have squeezed him much, and yet he is so lucky to
return to his former employment, there hath been a tax laid
upon the whole government under hand for the raising of the
sum expended, which some one or two fearful persons have
been brought on to comply with, and afterwards none of the
rest have dared to withstand.”!

3 The Diaries of Streynsham Master, 167580, and other comtemporury Papers relating
thereto. (Indian Records series, 1911). Edited by Sir Richard Carnac Temple, Bett., vol. ii,
pp. 79-81. Clavell arrived in London on 16th May, 1668. In 1670 he became “Chief in the
Bay,’” and died at Balasore on the 3rd August, 1577. I have modernised the spelling in this
passage, and adopted in one sentence the more reasonable reading suggested by Sir R. C,

Temple.
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This passage is full of important points. It brings out in the clearest
way the evil of the divided government, the King’s officers and the
Nawab’s: and it reveals highly placed Mughal authorities in the character
of unscrupulous and oppressive merchants. The interest taken by the
Nawabs in trade may be illustrated by a fact recorded of Prince Azim-ush
Shan. ¢ The Prince,”’ writes Stewart, ‘“wished to become the sole
merchant of all European and foreign goods brought to Bengal; he,
therefore, established agents at all the ports, with authority to purchase
the cargo of every ship that arrived, at a low price ; and after-wards retail
the goods to the merchants at a considerable profit. To this species of
commerce was assigned the epithets of soudai khas or soudai aam, special
and general purchases.”’!

Despite the oppressions complained of the commercial undertakings
of the English prospered, and from Hughli they despatched their merchants
up-country. In order to procure their “investment,” it was necessary
that the merchants should make advances of money to the native manu-
facturers, and experience soon showed the necessity of a constant
watchfulness over all to whom advances had been made. If the weavers
would not come to the English, the English were bound to go in search of
the weavers. The factory of Cossimbazar was opened before 1658. In
1659 the English were once again in the neighbourhood of Patna.? The
Company in its letter of January 4, 1658, sanctioned a factory for Dacca,
but, although Jean de Thevenot in 1666 speaks of the English house in
that city, Dacca apparently did not enjoy the dignity of having a chief of
its own until the year 1669. As the Company sent its bullion to be
coined at Rajmahal the advantage of a settlement near at hand was
perceived, and on October 14, 1676, Streynsham Master records in his
Diary: “Mr. Richard Edwards, being now goeing with the Honourable
Companyes treasure to the Mint at Rajamaull, it is thought fitt that, so
soon as he shall put that business in a good forwardness he doe make a
step over to Maulda to lay out the same iu all sorts of goods before
mentioned, and to informe himself well of the trade in the place, and to
give the Councell an account thereof in writing.”” All this Mr. Edwards
performed, but it was not till 1680 that the factory in Malda, or rather in
its proximity, was founded.

‘The Malda iary, comfimencing April 22, 1680, affords soms striking
instances ofe?e evils wrought by the double government of the faujdars
and the revefiue officials. On April roth, we read:

' Stewart : Op. cit., p. 218. Soudai=sazuda, traffic. 4um signifies the public as oppased
to khas, the nobility.

3 See John Marshall’s “‘Accompt of Pattana” written December 16th, 1676 : “The
Honourable Company hath noe Factory here, but what hire, nor doth the Chiefe usually reside
there, by reason the Nabob's Pallace is in the Citty, and his servants and officers are’ constantly
craveing one thing or another, which, if not given, though they have not what they desire (sic)
yett they are not satisfied therewith but creat trouble ; and if given what they desire, will be
very chargeable. Which inconveniency is prevented by living at Singee, which lyes north
of Pattna, -about ten or twelve miles Extra Gangem, and is scittuated in a pleasent but not
whole (some) place, by reason of its being most saltpeter ground, but is convenient by reason
thereof, for salt-peter men live not far from it Diaries of Streynsham Master, vol.ii, p 89.
Cule (Diary of William Hedges, vol. ii, p. 241) 1dentifies Singee with Singhiya near Lalganj
Tor dates in text see Jbid vol, pp. 194-95.



THE COMING OF THE ENGLISH TO BENGAL. lvii

“ Yesterday and to-day the town of Maulda was put to a great
alarm, both our Phausdar and Crowry (Krorz!) prepareing to
fly for fear of one Sadutbuno Cawn (formerly a Hindoo of these
parts whoe is come from the King with a company of 4, or 500
horse, pretending to have a phirmaund for his haveing the
place of Congoy (Kanungo) and for breaking a Hindoo pagoda
by Binnood Rayes house in Sawazaan, where he now is. It is
also reported that by beating an old woman of Binood Rayes
household into confession, (he) has found 2} lack of rupees,
which he takes as his owne and also 25: Turky horses out of
his stable and since has killed the old woman that told him of
the mony and 2: or 3 men at the dore of the house entering in
and other of Hunaraine’s servants he imprisons and has forced
some to turn Mussellmen.”

A week later the Factors heard with relief that “Sadutbuno Cawn
was removed from Sawazaan and intended for Razanull” The following
passage (September 12) gives us the Faujdar’s portrait in miniature : 2

‘“ About 1: a clock at night a broad iron pointed arrow was shott
into our house and almost hit a pion (peon) that slept at our
dore : whereupon a great complaint was made to the Fousdar
withall threatening him to send the arrow to Dacca, etc., if he
would not give us satisfactory justice ; whereupon he seemed
very hott on our side, but that was soon cooled after he had
ransacked all the widoes, moodyes and weavers houses about
us and taken away from them who probably never had an
arrow in their lives (and called many people to see his zeale
for justice) which was all he gott.”

During the struggle between the sons of Shah Jahan, the Faujdar of
Hughli and the English bad come to an agreement that in return for its
privileges of free trade in Bengal the Company should pay an annual
peshkash of Rs. 3000 to the Subahdar. Mir Jumlah, the general who had
driven Sultan Shuja to his flight and doom, remained as Viceroy in Bengal,
and removed the seat of his government from Rajmahal to Dacca. In
1660 the English ventured to retaliate for the detention of one of their
saltpetre boats by seizing one of the Nawab’s vessels. An humble apology
to the Nawab terminated this incident, but the event had its significance.
Mir Jumlah’s death in 1663-64 seems to have been the result of the ardours
endured during his expedition in Assam. He was succeeded in the
Subahdari by Shaista Khan, a great magnate of the Imperial Court, and a
maternal uncle of the Emperor Aurangzib. Stewart observes that “although
no English vessels were allowed to sail up the Ganges before his (Shaista
Khan’s) time, viz. A. D. 1664, yet it appears that, in the year 1669, the

1 Krori,a revenue collector to the extent of a ror of dams, generally an overseer.

The Diaries of Streynsham Master afford several instances of the need-in which the
English stood to humour two rival authorities, e. g. “This day Mr. Clavell, Mr. Vincent, and
myself made a_visit to the King’s Fousdar, and to Bull-Chand, the Nawab’s Governour of
Muxadavad.” Vol. I, p. 365. “Visited our new Governour for the King, Meer Reeze (Mir Riyaz),
as also Ashmutt Cawn (‘Azmut Khan) Governor for the Prince”’ Vol. I, p. 298,

8
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East India Company had, by his permission, formed a regular establish-
ment of pilots, for conducting their ships up and down the river. Shaista
Khan also, in the year 1672, granted them an order for freedom of trade
throughout the province, without the payment of any duties.’! In Shaista
Khan's time, it is said, the French and the Danes commenced their
commercial activities in Bengal.2

It would be beside the purpose of the present work to attemptan
enumeration of the various commercial negotiations which took place
between the Company in Bengal and the successive Subahdars. The
tendency of the Mughal officers, under Aurangzib was to deal with the
English as infidels, and therefore subject to the infliction of the poll tax
orjizia. At Surat, moreover, the Company paid a duty of 3} per cent
on its goods, and it was claimed that a similar duty should be paid in
Bengal. The English had indeed secured a fazrman from Aurangzib
but this document, dated 1680, admitted of-being read in two different
ways.® The high-water mark of privilege in fact was represented by the
concession of the right to trade duty-free in consideration of the payment
of an annual sum of Rs. 3000.

*  Stewart, op. cit.,, p. 189. Shaista Khan held the Subahdari of Bengal from A. D. 1663-
64 to 1667, and again from 1679-80 to 1689.

® Stewart (op. cit., p. 190) writes : “It was during the government of Shaistah Khan, that
isto say about the year 1676, that the French and Danes established themselves in Bengal.”
Apparently the French first settled in or close to Hughli. In 1688 Andre Boureau-Deslandes
was appointed Director-General of Commerce in Bengal, but, having quarrelled with the Por-
tuguese Augustinian friars, in 1690, he retired to Chandarnagar, and commenced a loge there.
On January 16th, 1692 the Calcutta Council write that “the“French had almost completed a
large factory at Chandarnagar.” The General letter from Fort St. George (Madras), dated
2oth November, 1691, records “the Mounseers have been long idle and quiet at Pullichery......
though their Chief in Bengall is building several large factoryes, bigg enough for a mighty trade
but ‘tis doubted too large for their stock.” See Storia do Mogor, edited by W. Irvine, vol. iii,
p. Ixxiv and Bengal : Past and Present, vol. iv, pp. 616-17, vol. v, pp. 342-45 (contributions by
W. Irvine and A. Lehuraux) and vol v, for an article “Notes on the Head-quarters of the
French East Iadia Company at Hooghly” by Charu Chandra Roy. Streynsham Master in
September, 1676, writes : “less than two miles short of Hughly we passed by the Dutch garden,
and a little farther by a large spot of ground which the French had laid out for a factory, the
gate to which was standing but was now in possession of the Dutch.” Diaries of Streynsham
Master, vol. 1, p. 325. The Danes had an entrenched factory at Balasore, op. cit., vol. I,
pp- 319-20. The Danish settlement at Serampore was not commenced until 175g.

3 Inthe Name of God, Amen. To all present and future rulers in Surat that remain in
hopes of the Emperor’s favour. Be it known that at this happy time it is agreed of the
English nation besides their usual custom of two per cent, for their goods, more one and
a half per cent sizyak, or poll-money, shall be taken. Wherefore it is commanded that in the
said place, from the first day of Shawal, in the 23rd year of our reign, of the said people
three and a half per cent of
English reading—All their goods, on account of custom or poll-money, be taken for the future
And at all other places, upon this account let no one molest them for custom,

The Nawad’s Reading—All their goodes, on account of custom, or Pollax, be taken for the
future, and at all other places. Upon this account let no one molest them for customs,
rah-davi, peshkash, farmaish, and other matters made by the Emperor’s Court forbidden, nor

make any demands in these particulars. Observe. ~Written on the twenty-third day of the
month of Qafar, in the twenty-third year. Wilson : Early dnnals, vol. ii, p. 78.

In a. unpublished note, Mr. Irvine explains :—

“Rah-dari. The evolution of the word seems as follows : (1) Rah dar, guardian of a road ;
(2) Rah dari, either the safe convoy, or the office of the Rah-dari itself ; (3) Rah dari, the sum
realised to pay the guards; (4) Rahdari, a transit duty pure and simple.
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The English had thus entered Bengal as the humble servants of a
trading company, and for freedom and protection in their commercial
operations they relied on the good will of “the country powers.”” The
farmans and parwanas expressive of this good-will, however, were regarded
by them as definite concessions of legal rights, and it wasnot in their
nature to forego meekly any right they believed had been formally
conceded to them. Nor could’it be forgotten that the Charter granted to
the Company in 1661 empowered its Government ‘ to erect fortifications,
to raise troops, and make war with non-Christians.” The necessity of
protecting their commerce by the establishment of a fortress came into
view, and as this necessity comes to be understood, the history of the
English in Bengal passes into its second phase.!

In the year 1682, the Company, in consideration of the great
increase in its Bengal investments, and no doubt elated by the receipt
of Aurangzib’s farman, made Bengal independent of Madras, and des-
patched William Hedges, one of their directors, to be their chief Agent
or Governor in the Bay of Bengal. The new Governor came to his
task with a belief in his own superior power of negotiation, and for a
time there was a revival in the confidence formerly reposed in farmans
and parwanas. Although Bengal had twice been visited by the Com-
pany’s Governor of Fort St. George, and attempts had been made to
remedy evils, yet in 1682 the trade at Hughli came to “a general stop.”
In October of that year finding “the several affronts, insolences, and
abuses daily put upon us by Boolchund (Balchandra), our chief cus-
tomer......... grown insufferable,”2 Hedges resolved to proceed to Dacca,
and lay a complaint before Shaista Khan. The events which followed
this resolution are deeply significant. Paramesvar Das, the local
revenue authority, allowed the Governor and his escort to set sail, but
secretly despatched armed parties to seize the little fleet higher up
the river. After an affray, full of ignominy for the English, and five
days spent in humiliating disputes, Hedges made off for Dacca by night.
In the course of the journey he met with further molestation, but ulti-
mately reached Dacca on the 29th of October. At the Capital, Hedges
spent some six weeks in negotiations, and came away flattering himself :

“ My going to Dacca has in ye first place got 7 months time for
procuring a phirmaund (farman); 2ndly, taken off wholly

“Poshkash. 1 should myself prefer the etymology of peshkashdar ‘to bring or lay before
anyone.! Thus peshkash—a thing laid before someone, i. e, a gift, all gifts to superiors being
soﬂ%mnly produced and accepted.

“Rarmaish. (Wilson defined the term as ‘commission for goods'). As ‘Commission’ in
common usage means a ‘percentage allowed to someone, would not ‘order for goods’ be
preferable ? Farmaish means a requisition for goods issued by a superior to an inferior official,
These were not always paid for or allowed.”

1 The subject of the Company’s sufferings at the hands of unlicensed European traders,
“ipterlopers” as they were called, istoo large a one to be handled in this work, but it sheuld
be pointed out that the natural refusal of the Mughal authorities to expel the Company’s
rivals was regarded by the Company’s officials as an infidelity to agreements.

3 The Diary of William Hedges, Esq. (afterwards Sir Willam Hedges). Transcribed for
the Press with Introductory notes by R. Barlow, and illustrated by copious extracts, etc. by
Colonel Yule, R, E, C.B., LLD. Hakluyt Society, 1887, vol. i, p. 32.
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ye pretence of 5 per cent custom on all treasure imported
this and ye three preceeding years, besides 13 per cent of what
was usually paid, at ye mint for some time past; 3rdly,
procured ye general stop to be taken off all our trade, our
goods now passing as freely as ever they did formerly; 4thly,
got 2 command to turn Permesuradars (Paramesvar Das) out of
his place, and restore ye ‘money forced from us; sthly, and
last, prevailed upon ye Nabob to undertake ye procuring a
phirmaund for us from ye King...... If God gives me life to
get this phirmaund into my possession, ye Hon’ble Company
shall never more be troubled with interlopers. I bless God
for this great success I have had, beyond all men’s expecta-
tions, in my voyage to Dacca.”?

All these expectations were to prove the merest illusions; but
elated with his supposed successes, Hedges now felt that his hands
were free to accomplish a complete reform of the Company’s service.
Like Clive in 1765, Hedges in 1661 believed that he had an Augean
stable to cleanse. Clive indeed succeeded in driving from Bengal the
men he charged with corruption, but this was at the cost of finding
them again in England not only relieved of the charges by which he had
attempted to ruin them, but supported by a majority in the Court of
Proprietors and in a position to make his own acts the subject of a
busy and incessant persecution. Hedges had neither the position nor
the personal power of Lord Clive. He displaced subordinates, but
dared not attack the superior servants, who, despite local scandals. con-
nected with their names, were well known to enjoy the confidence of
the Company in England. Having thrown the Company's establish-
ment into confusion, on July 17, 1684, Hedges received the bitter
news that he himself stood dismissed.

In the meanwhile the Company in England had been slowly coming
to see the futility of their past confidence in privilege on paper. Hedges
had some years past, suggested to them that a quarrel with the Maho-
medan authorities being inevitable, they would do well to risk the loss
of one year’s trade in the Bay and build a fort on the Isle of Saugor.
In the despatches of December 21st, 1683, in which Hedges’' dis-
missal was ordered, they say that, after a discussion of the matter, they
had concluded that seizing one of those pleasant islands in the Gan-
ges and the “Braces,” would be far too expensive and calculated to
bring the Dutch to the assistance of the Mughal. An attack on the
latter might be more efficiently commenced from Bombay than from
Bengal, but, if war there must be in Bengal, why not seize Chittagong?
This, however, was made as a purely academic suggestion. A few years
later, the Court had developed a military spirit, and in 1686, having
obtained permission from James II, they ordered the Governor of
Bombay to withdraw from Surat, and the dependent factories, and to
direct his ships to seize those ~of the Mughal. The chiefs and factors

3 Ibid, vol. i, p. 62.
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in Bengal were to retire to Balasore, where they would be taken on
board by the fleet, which was about to bring to India a powerful army.
It was enjoined that, as the Nawab at Dacca would in all probability
make no reply to an ultimatum which was to be sent him, the troops
were to take possession, by force if necessary, of the Town, Fort, and
Territory of Chittagong, and “our Lieutenant-Colonel Job Charnock”
was thereupon to be installed as “Governor of our Fort, Town and
Territory of Chyttegam.”!

In the year 1686 Job Charnock, having given the slip to the guards
placed round his house at Cossimbazar to prevent his departure, arrived
at Hughli, and assumed the office of Chief at the Bay. Before the
close of the year troops from England to the number of nearly three
hundred had been landed in Bengal, and quartered in the neighbourhood
of Hughli. The squadron sent out consisted of six ships, each with its
company of soldiers; but of these ships three only reached the Bay, viz,
the Beaufort, commanded by Captain John Nicholson with 70 guns and
300 seamen, the Nathanie/ commanded by Captain Mason, with fifty
guns and 150 seamen, and the Rockester with twelve guns and twenty
seamen. The Company in India also could supply a number of vessels
well adapted for the purpose of river conflict. In addition to the soldiers
sent out for the campaign, the Company had already at Hughli a
motley band of fighting men—native Christians and half-caste Por-
tuguese, known as ‘topasses,” Rajputs, and native peons. The Nawab,
on the other hand, was easily able to despatch three thousand horse
and three hundred foot to guard the town, and the Governor, Abdul-
Gani at once, raised a battery of eleven guns to threaten the English
shipping in the river. On October the 28th, the illtreatment of three
English soldiers, who had gone as usual into the bazar, where they had
been seized and beaten, led to the outbreak of hostilities. The fighting
of that day went in favour of the English, of whom but one man was
killed, although in the attack on the battery many were wounded. The
enemy lost about sixty killed, and it was believed that Abdul-Gani dis-
guised himself and fled panic-stricken.

The English factory, however, had been burned, and Charnock,
who had been intending to abandon Hughli for some time before the
actual outbreak, realised that the cessation of hostilities, agreed upon
after the conflict of the 28th, was but breathing space in which he had
best prepare for a withdrawal. Not till December the 3zoth did the
English leave Hughli, and in their ships sail down the river to Sutanuti,
the site of the northern quarter of modern Calcutta. For a time it
seemed that Shaista Khan, who had despatched an agent to negotiate,
would accept the English demands, but in February it became clear
that the Nawab was only seeking to gain time for preparations designed
to drive the English from Bengal for ever. On February the gth, Char-
nock burned down the King’s salt-houses, and on the 11th captured the
Thana forts a little below Kidderpore on one side of the river and

1 Wilson : Early dnnals, vol. i, p. go.
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Sibpur on the other. While Charnock was so employed, Nicholson
had taken possession of the island of Hijili.

From this island place of refuge, the English put the important town
of Balasore to the sack. The trying months of March and April were
bravely endured; but the number of the dead and dying increased, while
the Mughal forces were known to be gathering round in stern league.
In the middle of May Shaista Khan’s General, Abdu-s Samad, had
reached the neighbourhood of Hughli and with him were well-nigh twelve
thousand men. On May the 28th some seven hundred Mughal horse
and two hundred gunners ferried the Rasulpur river, and attacked the
English fort. Only after a most desperate fight the English drove off
the foe. On the first of June seventy men, fresh from Europe, arrived
under the command of Captain Denham, and proved their worth op the
following day by a successful sally from the Fort. Having observed that
the appearance of this fresh force had disconcerted the enemy, Charnock
hit upon the ingenious plan of secretly smuggling a number of sailors,
in pairs, out of the Fort, and then when they had formed themselves
into a smart little company on the landing place, marching them up to
the Fort, with drums beating and flags flying, looking to all the world
like yet another band of recruits brought hither from the seas by the
ships. The ruse succeeded, and on June the 4th Abdu-s Samad exhibit-
ed a flag of truce. An exchange of hostages was made, and the English
hostages were instructed in the demands of the English on the Nawab.
Then, on June 18th, Job Charnock’s little army marched out of the
Fort, with all their warlike supplies, and drums beating and flags flying.
The record of those three months at Hijili is one of which our nation
may well be proud.

From Hijili, Charnock and his party went up the river to Ulubaria
where they remained three months, waiting for some effect to be given to
the understanding entered into with Abdu-s-Samad. In September they
returned to Sutanuti “as well for a recruit of provisions as for spinning
out of this monsoon,” but with a firm resolution not “to settle nor tra:de
till he (the Nawab) confirm these last articles and give us some security
against any demands of damages that arise against us hereafter.”

News of Charnock’s doings had in the meantime reached the Court
in England, and, at the beginning of 1688, a certain Captain William
Heath was despatched with a fleet of ten or eleven ships. Heath’s
instructions required him to visit the Bay, take charge from Charnock, and
capture Chittagong. On September the 20th, the Captain reached
Sutanuti and almost immediately informed the Council of the nature of
his orders. The story of the wanderings of the Bengal factors, with
the braggart Captain Heath as their guide, read more like a boy’s book
of adventures, or a chapter in prose from the “Hunting of the Shark,”
than real history. On the 8th of November the English again left

*  Vide Bengal : Past and Present, vol. iii, ‘A Document of the Charnock Time” by W.
Foster ; Wilson : Early Anmnals, vol. i, p. 115 et seg; Yule: Diary of William Hedges, vol.

ii, p. 79 et seq.
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Sutanuti, and on the 16th reached Balasore, with Heath engaged in fight-
ing and negotiating in turn. Chittagong was reached on January the
18th, at which place the Captain’s transactions were devoid alike of
honesty and common-sense. He intimated to the Governor that he had
come, according to an agreement with the Mughal, to assist in reduc-
ing the King of Arakan, but while he thus greeted the Governor as a
friend and an ally, he was in fact consulting the Council as to the advisa-
bility of making an attack on the Town. He then sailed off to offer his
services to the King of Arakan, who however had no use for the services
of the gallant Captain. Abandoning to his fate an unfortunate envoy
who had been despatched on some mad errand, Heath set sail for Madras.
Thus as impotent and indigrant spectators of Heath’s inconsequent
adventures, Charnock and his Council, were carried from Bengal to
Fort St. George.

The interference with their trade, of which the English had so long
complained, had not been designed to drive them from Bengal. On the
contrary the imports especially the specie they brought to the country,
were welcomed and it was understood well enough that the British com-
merce was productive of gains which the imperial treasury could ill
afford to forego. Contemptible as might be the English power on land,
the whole of the Arabian trade, and the pilgrimage ships to Mecca, were
at the mercy of the English ships. Heedless of far gains, local rulers
had yielded to the temptation to snatch at the immediate small profits
of the moment. The golden eggs had been irresistible, and the dis-
appearance of the goose which laid those eggs was an event which caused
its former proprietors some disagreeable reflections. Aurangzib, having
repented of his earlier denunciation of the “infidels,” informed the
Nawab at Dacca that he had been pleased to pardon the “irregularities”
of the English, and that on their return “you must not create them
any further trouble, but let them trade in your government as formerly.”

Shaista Khan had, some time previous to Captain Heath’s arrival,
resigned the Government of Bengal. His successor Bahadur Khan, who
had sequestrated the English property at Dacca and placed the factors in
prison was soon succeeded in the government by Ibrahim Khan, who had
administered Behar in the days when Charnock was at Sinjiya. Ibrahim
Khan at once wrote to Charnock at Madras urging him to return to Bengal.
All the old Agent’s past experience warned him against relying on merely
general promises of goodwill, and he stood out for a fzrman from the
Emperor to secure the protection and the privileges the English trade
required. The Nawab wrote in reply that he had indeed applied to the
Emperor for such a_farman, but as it would take some time before the
farman could be obtained, he pressed Charnock to return at once. In
August of 16go, Charnock and his council and factors were again in
Bengal, and on Sunday, St. Bartholomew’s Day, August 24th, at noon,
they landed and made the famous “midday halt” at Sutanuti—an event
which stands out in History as the foundation-day of the Premier City,
till lately the Capital, of British India. The entry in the Diary and
Consultation Book for August 24, 1690, records :

“This day Sankraul ordered Captain Brooke to come up with his
vessel to Chutanuttee (Sutanuti) where we arrived about noon ;
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but found the place in a deplorable condition, nothing being
left for our present accommodation and the rain falling day
and night. We are forced to betake ourselves to boats which,
considering the season of the year is unhealthy; Mellick
Burcoozdar and the country people at our leaving this place
(in October 1688) burning and carrying away what they could.
On our arrival here the Governor of Tana sent his servant
with a compliment.”

In course of time Charnock received a parwana from Ibrahim Khan
and the Imperial Diwan permitting the English ¢ contentedly” to
‘““continue their trade in the places of their former residence, at Hugley
and Ballasor, etc. under the Government of this subaship;”’ requiring of
them the payment of an annual peskkask of Rs. 3,000 and forbidding any
further demands. In selecting Sutanuti as the place for the chief
settlement in Bengal, Job Charnock made his choice deliberately and well.
Indeed, even before sending out Heath, the Company had evinced an
inclination to trust to their old servant’s judgment in this matter. Garden
Reach, a little to the south, had in gone by days been the great anchoring
place of the stately Portuguese ships, and at Betor, on the opposite side,
each year was built afresh the temporary markets in which they exposed
their imports for sale. Higher up the river the great ships could only go
at extreme peril. On three sides the place was secured by the river, the
salt lakes, and the ancient channel of the Adiganga. Sir William Hunter
is guilty of a picturesque error, when, alluding to the great mortality of
the settlement in its early years, he writes it ‘‘ was identified by our
mariners with Golgotha, the place of skulls.””! No one to-day takes Mr.
Rudyard Kipling’s lines as serious history :—

“ Once two hundred years ago the trader came meek and tame,
Where his timid foot just halted there he stayed,
Till mere trade
Grew to Empire and he sent his armies forth,
South and North :
Till the country from Peshawar to Ceylon
Was his own ;
As the fungus sprouts chaotic from its bed,
So it spread
Chance directed, chance erected, laid and built
On the silt
Palace, byre, hovel-- poverty and pride
Side by side ;
And above the packed and pestilential town
Death looked down.”

! Golgotha seems to be due to a misappreliension of the Portuguese name for Hughli
Golin, and this name was perhaps derived from a rapid or whirl-pool in the river at that place
When Heurron in his Sailing Directions speaks of “Gull-Gat” he is referring to the site of the
English factory at Hughli. French writers having heard the English faclory called Golghat
transferred the name to Calcutta, and so Sonnerat (in 1782) writes Calecutta but adds that the
English pronounce the word Golgota ! See Diary of W. Hedges, vol, iii, p. ccXix.



CHAPTER 1V.
THE COMPANY BECOMES ZAMINDAR.

In the last chapter, it has been seen how in the year 1686 the Com-
pany authorised Job Charnock, their Agent in the Bay, to capture Chitta-
gong and hold that place as a military conquest. Had a policy of the
kind been pursued, the history of the English occupation of Bengal would
in all probability have been a far simpler story than it is. The new period,
which commences with the foundation of Calcutta in 1690, has indeed a
certain military interest, for it was during this time that old Fort William
was enterprised and completed,? but it was not till 1757, when Colonel
Clive, robbing Admiral Watson of his precedence, marched his troops
into the ruins of the Fort, that the entrenched citadel became for the first
time, the symbol of a conquered territory. The English in the sequel,
however, elected to hold their capital under a sanad from the Nawab,
and in a true sense it may be said that the most lasting thing achieved by
the Company, in the period 1690-1757, was not the building of a Fortress,
but the acquisition in 1698 of the tenure, on terms of Mughal revenue law,
of the three villages of Calcutta, Sutanuti and Govindpur. By this
acquisition the Company obtained for the first time a legal position within
the Mughal Empire, and thus brought into existence a working theory,
in the development of which the acceptance of the Diwani in 1765 is the

final logical completion.

When the head-quarters of the Company in Bengal were fixed at
Hughli, in close proximity to the far more imposing buildings of the Dutch,
and under the eye of perhaps the most powerful of the faujdars, the
English, living a collegiate life within the boundaries of their Factory walls,
were not much concerned with problems of civil justice and local
administration. Their legal position in respect to the Country Govern-
ment was that of tolerated merchants, and infidels at that. In respect to
their own Sovereign, the legal position of the English was what the
Charter of the Company defined, and these definitions were subject to
interpretation by a Nawab who knew nothing of international law. When,
however, Charnock established himself and his subordinates at Calcutta,
*it was at once found that the practical occupancy of a group of towns,
including colonies of wealthy Armenians and native and Eurasian
Christians, and possessing a much frequented port, involved the English in
new responsibilities and obligations. Twelve years after Charnock’s final

1 See C. R. Wilson: 0ld Fort William in Bengal (Indian Records series). In the
year 1696 Subha Singh, a zamindar in the neighbourhood of Burdwan, revolted, and called to
his aid Rahim Khan, the Afghan chief of Orissa. The whole of Western Bengal, from Raj-
mahal to Midnapur fell for the time into the hands of the Afghans. During this disturbance,
the aged Nawab, Ibrahim Khan, gave permission in genera'l terms to the English, Dutch and
French, to fortify their factories. The result of this permission was the commencement of Fort

William.
9
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hz}lt at Sutanuti, the population of the three towns was estimated at 1 5,000
eight years later it had risen to 31,000. The necessity of providing some
sort of local government, of finding means of defraying the ever-increasing
expenses of °roads, markets, river landing-places, etc., and many other
urgent considerations, compelled the English to obtain at least the recog-
msg:d _authority that the neighbouring zamindars possessed. Until such a
jurisdiction could be obtained, they were subject to be harassed every day
of their live§ by overbearing and fraudulent collectors of arbitrary market
dues, and for the redress of their own personal grievances the Company’s
servants would have to rely more on the terror they could inspire than the
]ustice; the_y could obtain from a somnolent and supine Hindu cutcherry.
The situation was such that the English could not remain content with the

status of mere squatters. On the 14th of December, 1697, the Council at
Calcutta wrote home :

“By the death of Agent Charnock,! your Honours are disappointed
in your intentions and expectations of having a Court of
Judicature erected in Bengal, and, for that reason we presume
the Honourable President and Council of Fort St. George took
the commission out of your Honour's packet before it came to
us. Our endeavours have been fruitless hitherto in procuring
the Nabob’s and Duan’s consents for a firm settlement in
this place, and we have no hopes for the grant for it so long as
this Duan continues. We have endeavoured to gain two or
three towns adjacent to us (Chutanutti included), the rent
whereof will amount to about 2,000 or 2,500 rupees yearly,
which is a means to increase your Honour's revenues in your
town of Chutanutti, for, although we do make some small
matter out of your bazar by grain fines, etc., yet we cannot lay
any impositions on the people, though never so reasonable, till
such time as we can pretend a right to the place, which this
farming of the towns adjacent will soon cause, and procure us
the liberty of collecting such duties of the inhabitants as is
consistent with our own methods and rules of Government, and
this is the only means -we can think of till we can procure a
grant for our firm settlement.” 2

The Consultations of 7th March, 1698 show that, in seeking for these

boons, the English met with opposition on the part of ‘“the Jimidar
(Zamindar) of the Country” :

“Having try’d all means with the Jimidar of the Country adjacent
to us, to let us have the town of Decalcutta [Dihi Calcutta] at
the usual hyre or rent, and rather than fail, having promised
him } part more than the place at present brings him in, and
all to no purpose, he making frivolous and idle objections that

' Job Charnock died on the 1oth January, 1693. The year 1692 on the epitaph in the
Mausoleam represents, of course, the Old Style. For a short time after Charnock’s death, the

Bengal Agency was made subordinate to Fort St. George. Bruce : Annals of the Homourable
East India Company, 1810, vol. iii, p. 144.

* Wilson : Old Fort William in Bengal, vol. 1, pp. 14=15 ; Bengal : Past and Present,
vol. vi,y p. 147 ef seq.
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he will not let us have any part of that country in the Right
Honourable Company’s name, but that we might have it to our
use in any of the Natives’ names. The reason he gives for it
is that the place will be wholly lost to him, that we are a
powerful people, and that he cannot be possessed of his
country again when he sees occasion, whereas he can take it
from any of the natives that rent any part of his country at his
pleasure, in consideration whereof, and the difficulty we find in
treating with these inferior Jimidars, in which there is neither
security nor credit to what there may be, if we have the country
rented from the great ones.

“It is agreed that we apply ourselves to the Prince (and) to make
what interest we can amongst his officers, for three towns, viz :
Chutanutti, Decalcutta and Gobinpore, the ground of which will
be to that extent required by our Right Honourable Masters.

« And- the rent amount to about as much money as they have
likewise allotted to us; and, considering that we are making a
resent to the Prince about other affairs, we hope that there
will be the less difficulty in getting a grant for the aforesaid
towns; but if there should appear any, rather than be disap-
pointed of so great a conveniency, as those towns will prove to

the Honourable Company.

“It's agreed that we advance a quarter part mofe than the revenues
bring in at present to the Jimmidar, intending to improve the
same to better advantage than hitherto has been done or the
Jimmidars are capable of.”!

In accordance with these resolutions the Council sent Mr. Walsh to the
Durbar of the Subahdar, Prince Azim-ush-Shan (grandson of Aurangzib).?
On this deputation Walsh was accompanied by the Armenian Khwaja
Sarhad, who in after years accompanied John Surman on his embassy
to the Court of Farrukhsiyar.? The result of this deputation may be read
in the Consultations of 31st October, 1698 :

«The Prince having given us the three towns adjacent to our settle-
ment, viz. Decalcutta, Chuttanutti and Govindpore, or more
properly may be said the Jimmidarship of the said towns,
paying the same rent to the King as the Jimmidars succes-
sively have done; and at the same time, ordering the
Jimmidars of the said towns to -make over their right and title
to the English upon their paying to the Jimmidars one
thousand rupees for the same ; it was agreed that the money
should be paid, being the best money that was ever spent for

1 Wilson: Op. cit., pp. 34-35-

2 An agent of the name of John Anthony Teshmaker had been sent up- to the
Prince on other business, but he was drowned near Rajmahal while crossing the river during a
storm.

3 On this occasion the English paved their way to the Subahdar’s favour by a douceur of

Rs. 16,000,
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so great a privilege, but the Jimmidars making a great noise
being unwilling to part with their country, threatening to
complain to the King of the injustice of the Prince in giving
away their country which they had so long in possession, and
finding them continue in their averseness, notwithstanding the

Prince had an officer upon them to bring them to a com-
pliance ; -

“It is agreed that 1,500 rupees be paid them, provided they
will relinquish their titles to the same towns, and give it under
their hands in writing, that they have made over the same to
the Honourable Company.”!

The actual ““Nishaan” signed by Azim-ush-Shan has been lost,?2
and it is, therefore, extremely difficult to determine with precision the
exact legal rights it conferred ou the Company. The * Jimmidais” of
the records we have .quoted were the family of the Savana Mazumdars
whom Dr. Wilson speaks of as the “so called Zamindars” The author
(Mr. A. K. Ray) of the Skort History of Calcutta, which formed part 1
of vol. viii of the Census Report for Calcutta of 1go1, asserts that these
Mazumdars had got themselves into such bad odour with the Nawab,
on account of the assistance they had given to the English, that they
were only too glad to sell their rights for a merely nominal sum. The
documents that have been quoted do aot sustain any such imputation of
Anglophile sympatbies to the “Jimmidars.” The Three Towns in fact
belonged to the Mughal Khalsa, or territories directly assumed by the
Imperial exchequer and had been granted to the Subahdar of Bengal
as part of his Jaghir. This being the case, it was in the power of the
‘Subahdar to entrust the forming of the revenues to whomsoever he
pleased. The Company’s payment of Rs. 1,300 to the Mazumdars was,
as Dr. C. R. Wilson has put it, *‘for the sake of peace and quiet.”

By this successful negotiation the English were made responsible “for

the payment of lump sums representing the estimated revenue due from
the inhabitants of the Three Towns.

Rs. As. Ps

Dehi Calcutta ... ... 468. 9. o
Satanuti ... 5o1. 15. 6.
Govindpur in Pargana Paikan .. I23.15. 3.
» in Kalkata ... 100. 5. IL
1,194. 14. 5.3

' Wilson: Op. cit,, pp. 39-40.
3 The Bai Namah, or deed of purchase, from the Mazumdars, dated November gth, 1698,

is preserved at the British Museum (Addit. Mss. No.24,039.) A translation by Mr. W.
Irvine is given by Wilson. (Old Fort William in Bengal, vol. 1, pp 40+48.)

3 'rhis is the sum according to the parwana of 'lzzat Khan, dated Sha’tan 2, in the
. forty-second year. (British Museum Additional MSS. 24, 039, No. 36). In the Bengal Public
‘Consultations, May 4th, 1714, the annual rent is stated to be Rs. 1,281.6.9. C.R. Wil.son
remarks “the increase is in the rent of Govindpur in Paigan”” Wilson : Old Fort William
wBengal, vol. 1, p. 4 ; Early Annals of the English in Bengal, vol. ii, part 1, p. 174,
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To meet this annual due, the Company was privileged to collect a
maximum of three rupees per bigha for land held by the inhabitants. In
1704 the average monthly balance to the Company’s credit amounted to,
Rs. 480: in Holwell’s day it amounted to about Rs. 3,800 : but Holwell’s
figures take into account more land than was included in the Company’s
legitimate holding. Holwell tells us that in the year 1732 the Governor
and Council “ had 1n agitation the raising the rents of your own Zemindary
of Calcutta, which, being rumoured abroad, they received a peremptory
perwannah from the Soubah, forbidding them ; in which the Soubah told
them that they were presuming to do a thing which he had not power to
do; and that if they persisted, they would, by the laws of the Empire,
forfeit their lands.”’!

In consideration of the responsibility of paying in lump sums as the
land revenue of the district, the English by their transaction with Azim-ush-
Shan, obtained these three rights :

1. To collect the rents from the ryots.
2. To deal at pleasure with waste lands.
3. To impose petty taxes, duties and fines.

Whether the English had become zamindars or talukdars is a technical
question of some interest, hut ot no great historical importance, tor the
Company at once regarded itself as zamindar and exercised the functions
of that office. In order to contend with their increased responsibilities,
the Company appointed an additional member of Council, and gave to him
the title ot “zaunndar” or collector. From Ralph Sheldon, appointed
Collector in the year 1700, through Holwell, who was Collector in the year
of the Black Hole tragedy, to the present day, the succession of Collectors
of Calcutta is unbroken.

In accordance with zamindari customs, the English zamindar of the
Three Towns acted as a magistrate of police, and held courts in which
petty offences and cases of revenue disputes were decided. It has been
seen that Warren Hastings in 1775 disputed the accuracy of the account of
the zamindar’s position in the administration of justice given in the Sixth
Report of the (larliamentary) Committee of Secrecy in 1773 : the
Committee, however, correctly represents the Company’s earliest concep-
tion of the zamindar’s duties. L'his may be best brought out by placing in
parallel columns relevant passages from the Keport and Bolts’ description
of the Calcutta cutcherries.

The English paid their revenue quota three times in the year to the Karori (the Nawab’s
collectorg) at pHughll. It appegrs that the lands thus occupied by the English formed part of
the Nawab’s Jagir. See Bengal Public Consultations, Dec. 8th, 1719. “ Sookdeb Carowree'
(Sukdeva karori), demanding three hundred and twenty-five sicca rupees for four months
ground rent of Chuttanuttee, de Calcutta in Burgunna of Amarivad (Amirabad) in Jaffer
Cawn’s (Jafar Khan's) Jageer (Jagir)” etc. Wilson : Early Annals, vol. iii, p. 173.

1 |. Z. Holwell: Interesting Historical Events relative to the Provinces of Bengal and the
Empﬁye of Indostan, with a seasonable Hint and Persuasion to the Honourable the Court of
Directors of the East India Company, 2nd edition, London, 1766, part 1, p. 222. .
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Report, 1773.

(1) “The Criminal Court, in every
district, was generally known by the
name of the Phousdary ; the zemin-
dar or Raja of the district, was the
judge in this court : his jurisdiction
extended to all criminal cases, bat. .,
...In such as were of a capital nature,
the sentence was not executed until
a report of the case was made to
the Government at Murshedabad,
and orders received upon it. The
proceedings in this Court were
summary, the most frequent mode of
punishment, particularly where the
man accused was a man of wealth,
was by fine, and every fine imposed
by the authority of the Court, was a
perquisite of the Zemindar himself,
by virtue of the tenure of his lands ;
the natural effects of this circums-
tance upon the fine administration
of criminal justice appear to your
Committee to have been severely

felt.” (page 2).

INTRODUCTION.

Bolts' Considerations, &ec.

(1) “The other Court is called
the zemindarry, or Fowjdary, court,
in which, according to late practice,
presides a member of the Board .of
Council, or sometimes a servant
under Council, alcne ; his business
is to enquire into complaints of a
criminal nature among the black in-
habitants, and in cases where natives
do not apply to the English establish-
ed Court of Justice...... He proceeds
also in the above summary way, to
sentence and punish, by fine, impri-
sonment, condemnation to work in
chains upon the roads, for any space
of time, even for life; and by
flagellation, in capital cases, even to
death. The ancient Moguls and
Nabobs would not permit of the
professors of Islam to be hanged,
according to the English custom,
esteeming that too ignominious a
death for a Mahomedan to suffer ;
therefore in such cases as were
deemed capital, only the lash was
permitted to be inflicted until death
on the Mogul's subjects, Mahome-
dans and Gentoos ; but the officers
of the Court called Chawbuckswars,
or lashbearers, are sometimes so
dexterous as to be able to kill 2 man
with two or three strokes of the
Indian Chawbuck. In cases which,
according to the usage of this Court
or office, are deemed worthy of
death, it has been usual for the
Zemindar first to obtain the approba-
tion of the President and Council,
before the fatal stroke be given.”!

v Considerations on Indian Affairs, parti-
cularly respecting the Present State of Bengal
and its Dependencies, etc., by William Bolts,
Merchant & Alderman, or gudge of the
Mayor’s Court of Calcutta. 2nd edition, with
additions (3 volume edition), London 1771.
vol. 1, p. 81. In connection with the passage
about flagellation, it must be remembered that
Bolts’ work is an attack by an exceedingly
biassed person on the E. I. Company. The
English reader in reading of matters of this
kind in Anglo-Indian records must bear in
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(2) “In every district it (the Civil
Cutcherry) was generally known by
the name of the Adawlut; the
Zemindar or raja of the province
was judge also of this Court ; its
judicature extended to all causes
between party and party ; the judge,
as a perquisite of his office, was
entitled to a chait, or share, of what-
ever was recovered in his court,
which, as your Committee have been
informed, amounted to }th or lth
of the whole wvalue...... The parties
were very reluctant to resort to this
tribunal.. hence it has long been a
prevailing practice in Bengal to
refer matters of controversy to arbi-
trators chosen by the parties.”

lxxi

(2) The Court of Cutcherry
“which on its present establishment,
is composed of the Company’s
servants under Council, any three of
whom, their President being one,
upon days stated at their own option,
meet for the hearing and trying and
determining, in a summary way, all
matters of meum et tuum to any
amount, wherein only the native
inHabifants of Calcutta are concern-
ed. The Mode of proceeding is
indeed as summary as possible. The
plaintiff and defendant, with their
respective witnesses being summon-
ed, the Court hears what they have
to offer or prove, viva woce, and
immediately proceed to decree in
such matters as do not admit of
much contest. From the decisions
of the Court the Company have
directed appeals to lie finally to the
Governor and Council ; which, how-
ever, is seldom done except in
matters of the greatest consequence,
as in these cases the general practice
of the Court, when not unduly inter-
rupted is to have every cause deter-
mined by arbitrators or umpires,
chosen by the parties, or with their
consent, whose decision is final, and
made a decree of the Court.”

(3) “Besides the above-men-
tioned, there is another cutcherry,
called the Collector’s -cutcherry,
which has been established in
Calcutta ever since the Company

mind the fiercely savage character of the crithi-
nal laws in Englandg at this time. Gentoo-is
the name commonly applied in old English
books on Bengal, to the Hindus. In 1754,
eleven lascars were tried by a Court of Admir-
alty at Calcutta for the murder of their English
Captain. Of these two who were Christians
were condemned and executed ; the others
being Mahomedans were also condemned, but,
as the Council dreaded a disturbance with the
Nawab, the convicted Mahomedans were kept
in prison “to be producable at any time, if
sickness do not take them out of the world.”
See Long : Selections from the Unpublished
Records of Government, 1748-1767, No. 134.



Ixxii INTRODUCTION.

had anything to do with the collec-
tion of the ground rents.”’! -

1 Bolts: Op. cit, p. 80, There was alsa
a Caste Cutcherry presided over by a Hindu
appointed by the Governor. Verelst. View,
etc., p 27.

The account of the Court of Cutcherry given by Bolts closely corres-
ponds with a passage in one of Holwell's letters printed in his 7Zxrdia
Tracts. Holwell adds:—

“Such was the power annexed to this office (ie. the office of the
Collector or Zamindar), when this gentleman [Holwell] was
appointed the head of it, and such had it been for a long term
of years preceding that period; a power much too great for
one man to be intrusted with. Therefore, in the year 1758,
at the recommendation of Mr. Holwell, a stop was put to it by
the Court of Directors, who appointed three Judges of this
court, members of the Board, in monthly rotation. Before this
gentleman took charge of this important post, there never had
been any register of causes or decrees kept in English, but
from that time,! a register of the proceedings was monthly laid
before the Board at Calcutta, for their inspection, and annually
transmitted to the Court of Directors.”

Holwell's account of the Collector’s functions would appear to in-
dicate that the Criminal and Civil Courts belonged in 1758 to one and

the same Cutcherry.?

For purposes of administration, the Three Towns were divided
into four divisions:—
1. The Great Bazar.
2. Town Calcutta. R
3. Sutanuti (“Sutta Loota.”)
4. Govindpur.

1 Holwell was appointed Collector by the Directors in January, 1752. He had left
India in 1748, and “had no intention of ever seeing India again ; but; finding (as do) many
others who return from India with small fortunes that money does not go far in England, as
he fondly imagined, he thought it necessary to return and increase his capital, then lying at
interest only, in your (the Company’s) cash at Fort William.” He assumed the office of
Collector in July, 1752. Holwell: Op. cit.,, pp. 120-21. He had originally gone to Bengal as
a surgeon’s mate on an East Indiaman.

3 “The Zemindar acts in a double capacity, distinct and independent of each other
(with very few exceptions) the one as superintendent and collector of your revenues, the other
as judge of the court of Cutcherry, a tribunal constituted for the hearing, trying and deter-
mining all matters and things, both civil and criminal, wherein the natives only, subjects of the
Mogal, are concerned. He tried in a summary way, had the power of the lash, fine, and
imprisonment : he determined all matters of meum and tuum ; andin all criminal cases procee-
ded to sentence and punishment immediately after hearing, except where the crime (or murder)
requires the lash to be inflicted until death, in which case he suspends execution of the sentence,
until the “acts and evidence are laid before the President, and his confirmation of the sentence

i:obtained. He has also the power to condetn thieves, and other culprits, to work in chains
upon the roads, during any determinate space of time, or for life. In all causes of property,
an appeal lay to the President and Council against his decree.” India Tracts by Mr. Holwell

and Friends, 2nd edition, London, 1764, p. 120.
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Under the Collector or Zamindar there was a native official known
as “the black collector”—a person accustomed by immemorial practice
to supplement his inadequate salary by what he, following native tradi-
tions, considered as the perquisites of his office, emoluments which, on
scrutiny, would be regarded by his employers as embezzlements. Hol-
well commenced his labours by an attempt to bring Govindram Mittre,
the then “black-collector ” to account.

In a later chapter it will be necessary to deal with the subject of
the administration of justice under charters granted by the British Crown.
The judicatures we are at present concerned with are based on the Com-
pany’s position as Zamindar of the Three Towns. The jurisdiction of
the Courts established at a later date by the charters of the Sovereign
of Great Britain extended over the subjects of the British Crown, their
dependents, and those who by voluntary submission subjected them-
selves to that jurisdiction. The Court of Cutcherry, on the other hand,
was a judicature which, at least in the ideas of the English, derived its
authority from the Mughal Empire, and it was a jurisdiction to which
the Mughal’s natural subjects, as such, were subject. It wasin 1704
perhaps that the Court of Cutcherry was organised, for the Consultations
of Council on 18th August of that year show:

“It is ordered that Mr. Robert Nightingale, Mr. George Redshaw,
and Mr. Benjamin Bowcher! do meet in some convenient place
between the hours of nine and twelve in the morning, every
Saturday to hear and determine small controversies, but if
anything difficult and of moment happens it is to be heard in
full council.”

Two years later, 2g9th August, 1706, it is recorded:

“A few days ago, there were taken several robbers and thieves; the
former have taken and murdered several people, it is agreed
what persons we have in custody and what may be taken, that
the Gentlemen belonging to the Court do burn such persons on
the cheek, and turn them on the other side of the water.”

The Council seems to have hesitated in exercising the zamindar’s
authority in levying taxes to defray public expenditure. In the year
1727, the Council were at a difficulty to provide the funds for the purchase
of a building for the Mayor’s Court, and a new Jail.

In January they decided that a tax be levied on the inhabitants, but
they flinched from putting their resolution into execution, and, as the
inhabitants considered it “‘a hardship to bear the whole burthen and the
Company bear no share,” in 1731 they wrote home stating that the
assessment had not been made. In January, 1733, they say “the assess-
ment of the black inhabitants had made them uneasy.” If this assess-
ment was ever made, the odus was probably cast on the shoulders of the
Justices of the Mayor’s Court.?

PR — o —

1 Bowcher was Collector from 1st February, 1704, to his death on 24th September,
1703.

® In 1748 an attempt was made, but ineffectually, to impose a cess for providing a wharf
to the road leading to Sutanuti bazar. See Long: Selections, Nos. 27 & 31. In 1755 the
European inhabitants defeated an attempt of the Collector to impose a duty of 5 per cent on

10
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In January of 1714 the hearts of the English Government at Calcutta
had been enlivened by the receipt of an imperial order {Hasb-ul-hukum)
addressed to the Nawab ordering him “to permit the English to trade
as formerly in Aurengzeb’s time and not to molest them.” Political ex-
pediency dictated the necessity of a public demonstration of joy.! To
follow up the advantage as speedily as possible, the Council determined
to carry into execution a plan of sending an embassy to Delhi—a plan
which Thomas Pitt, Governor of Madras, had conceived nearly six years
before, but which, owing to the disturbed state of the country, had been
taken up and allowed to drop. After much discussion and several revi-
sions of the appointments, the personnel of the embassy was fixed. The
chief was John Surman, a young man? of remarkable abilities. A wily
Armenian, Khwaja Sarhad went as second, Edward Stephenson3 as
third, and Robert Barker,* as Secretary. Surgeon William Hamilton
accompanied the embassy as doctor, and in fact the success the diplom-
atists reaped was very largely due to Hamilton’s medical skill in dealing
with the.Emperors disease.

The story of the Embassy stands revealed in the Surman Diary,
the publication of which, with elaborate notes and a valuable introduction,
necessitates a revision of some of the most striking details in the accounts of
the Embassy that have come to us by tradition. The Diary, as Mr. [rvine
has pointed out, gives ‘‘an almost photographic picture of an oriental Court,
seething as usual with intrigue and a mere battle ground of personal
ambitions.”” Khwaja Sarhad loses his title to the fond memory
established for him by long tradition in Calcutta, and Mr. Irvine is only
faithful to the contents of the Dia»y when he writes: ‘“Sarhad, the shifty
Armenian, if left to himself, might have succeeded by his own devious
ways : on the other hand, Surman would have certainly done better
if unhampered by Sarhad as a companion.” The importance of Hamilton’s

the sale of houses. 74id., No, 162. In their General Letter of 2nd February, 1769, the Presi-
dent and Council wrote : *“Previous to our coming to a final determination on the method of
making and repairing theroads and the appointment of a Surveyor for the management of that _
businéss, we thought it necessary to have the opinion of the most able lawyers in the place on
three points : Whether and how far we, as President & Council or as a bench of Justices, had
a right to cesses or levy any scavengers’ rates from the European inhabitants for the purpose
of defraying the expenses of making and repairing the roads and drains within the town, and
any other expense that might be incurred in regulating the police of the place. Mr. Holmes,
the Registrar, was accordingly consulted, and gave -it as his opinion that we had a right as
Justices of the Peace, to make an assessment not exceeding sixpence in the pound.”

! “The Husbull Hookum arriving last night under the Grand Vizier’s seal ordering the
Duan Jaffer Cawne (Murshid Quli Khan) not to molest usbut to let our trade pass with the same
freedom and privilege we enjoyed in the days of our predecessors it became necessary to make
a publick show of rejoicing for that favour from the King which was done in the following
manner. After three volleys of small shot from all our soldiers we began the healths of our Queen
and of King Furruckseer firing 51 great guns to each health after which we drank prosperity
to the Honble. Compy. with 31 guns and success to their trade with 21 guns more and
all the ships in the road fired at every health, after this at night we order’d a large bonfire to
be made and gave our soldiers a tub of punch to cheer their hearts, we also ordered our
merchants to write to their correspondents everywhere of this Husbull Hookum and how greatly
we honour and esteem the King’s gracious favour and what rejoicings we made at it.”' Diary
and Consultation Book, Jan. 4, 1713/14. Wilson : op. cit., vol. 11, pt. 1, p. 153.

2 Probably about 25 years old.
s Born 1691, Oct. 8, and therefore at this time aged 23.
* Probably about 21 years. old.
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services,! which James Mill in a footnote brings into question, is
established. The Wazir, whom Mill represents as a mere- obstructionist,
appears to have been at first unduly neglected by Surman,? but, when at
last approached, to have acted with both reason and vigour.

The Embassy did not leave Patna until April, 1715. They carried
with them instructions from Madras and Bombay as to the privileges
desired by those presidencies; the privileges sought for Bengal iere as
follows :

“That you may know what to ask for, ‘tis necessary you be
well informe’d of what our privileges re and on what terms
we enjoy them.

“Instead off Custom we pay a yearly peeshcash (peshkash) off three
thousand sicca rupees nto the King’s treasury att Hughly, and
we pay no other custom or duty on any goods or merchandize
which we import or export, nor on treasure comned for us at ye
King’s mint which was at Rajamoll (Rajmahal) butt is now
removed to Muxadavad (Murshidabad).

“Qur goods or treasure which we send to our settlements or any off
the Aurungs (aurangs) inland, pass on our own dustick (dastax)
without examination and back to us in ye same manuer.

“Qur Merchants, Factors or Agents, whom we employ at the
Aurungs or elsewhere are not to be molested or called to ac-
count by small officers upon firivilous pretences, whilst they
continue in our service and are employed for us.

“Iff our Factors or Merchants endeavour to defraud us the remedy is
in our own hands, we take themn up and use such meanes as
are proper and necessary to make them pay us what they justly

owe us.

« Convenient places and parcells of ground were granted us to build
and settle tactorys on, att, or near severall inland places off
nate as Hughly, Cossimbuzar, Patna, Dacca, Maulda, Rajamoll,
Ballasore, Radnagur, etc. which we still keep possession oft,
and may settle factorys again att, atter the Kig is pleased to
confirm all to us in his Royal Phirmaund (farman).

“ We hold and enjoy three towns namely,—De (d74z) Culcutta,
Sootaloota (Sutanuti) and Govindpore (Govindpur,) paying ye

1 For the materials for Surgeon Hamilton’s personal history see Wilson: op cit.

2 Holwell supplies another instance of Surman’s want ot judgment: “ When Mr.
Surman......... was on his return to Fort'William, he pitched his tents in the neighbourhood
of Moorshidabad, and having acquired from the Emperor a title and rank 1n the hst ot
burrahs, some thing superior to that which Jaffier Khan (then Soubah of Bengal) bore, Mr.
Surman expected the first wisit. Jaffier Khan allowed Mr. surman’s superior title, but
considering himself in rank the third Suba of the empire, and Viceroy of Bengal confirmed
from the Court, thought the digmty of his post demanded the first visit from Mr. Sirman;
frequent messengers passed between them, touching tnis curemonial, tor the space of three days,
but, neither stooping, Mr. Surman struck his tents and returned to Calcutta. Thus an
injudicious punctilio in Mr. Surman destroyed all tuture cordiality with 4 man on whom
(from the nature and power of his post) so much depended, tor the due execation of those
phirmaunds granted by Farrucseer.”” /ndia Tracts, p. 279.
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same yearly rent for them into the King’s treasury, which the
Jemidars (zamindars) paid before they were granted to the
English Company. The Grant was made at Burdwan (anno
1698) in a Nishaun (uzshan) from Sultan Mahumud Azzeem
(Muhammad Azim-ush-Shan), ffather off his present Majesty
king Furruckseer (Farrukbsiyar) whom God pieserve. What
we desire more for Bengal is that we may have ye use oft the
King’s mint custom ffree att Muxodavad (Magsudabad) and
Dacca as we had itt att Rajamoll (Rajmahal) and the same firee
use off ye mint att Patna also iff itt may be obtained. We
also desire our bounds round us att this place may be enlarged.
The additions we desire will amount to eight thousand sicca
rupees yearly rent and something more, which, added to near
thirteen hundred Sicca Rupces which we pay yearly rent for
the three towns, will make about nine thousand four hundred
Sicca Rupees per annum : which we desire we may be appointed
to pay in one summ yearly into the King's treasury att some
certain place, and that we may not be called upon for itt before
ye day of payment by any Suba Diwan (diawani-subah) or
Collectors off revenues whatsoever.

“That you way, petfectly understand what additions we desire may
be made to our present buunds, and be well undeistood when
you petition for them, we berewith send you a list off the
towns we now possess and off thcse we desire may be added
to us, with ye rent paid ye lor same ‘by ye Jemidars (zamin-
dars) into ye King’s treasury, and we have hopes they will
be granted to us, because we shall be punctual in paying our
rent on ye day, and att the place appointed, which Jemi-
dars are not always.

“ It would be a good advantage to the Company’s affairs iff the
King may be prevailed with to order that the Rupees coined
att Madrass may pass in payments off his revenues in Bengall.
Endeavour att getting such an order, which we hope may be

" granted, because Madrass Rupees have ye King’s stamp as
well as Bengall Rupees and are full as valuable. For they
are off equal weight and fineness with them and will always
be made so.”

Not before February 1st did the Embassy receive the desired farman,
the} delay being to a great extent due to their unwisdom in ignoring the
Wazir, the officer through whom their petition should have properly been
submitted. Farrukhsiyar granted the English their freedom ot trade in
return for the yearly peskkiash of three thousand Rupees, confirmed the
purchase of the Zamindari rights in the Three lowns, and sanctioned the
purchase of similar rights in the thirty-eight towns mentioned in the peuition,
exempted Madras Rupees from discount, granted forty bighas ot land “in
any place they may have a mind to settle factories,” and forbade the
Governors of sea-ports seizing the cargo of wrecked ships or demanding
a “quarter part salvage.” The farman is silent as 1o the free use of the
mint at Murshidabad.
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On November 16th, 1717, the Governor and Council proceeded in
state to Tribeni above Hughli to receive the farman, and the usual
rejoicings ensued. Already Murshid Kuli Khan! had ceded the point about
the customs, but the Imperial farman had not the slightest effect in altering
his determination about the use of the mint. In vain Samuel Feake,
the Chief of the Cossimbazar Factory pleaded with him. Having read the
Imperial rescripts, the Nawab ‘ positively said we shall not have the use
of the mint nor liberty to purchase more towns, though both are granted
to us by the King.” And here, so far as Bengal was concerned, the
affair of Surman’s Embassy ended. Had the English been able to pur-
chase the towns, their zamindari would have extended from the boun-
daries of the Dutch factory or Barnagore in the north to Kalpiin the
south, and have included on the river bank opposite to Calcutta the
villages of Salkea, Howrah (Haurah), Kasundiyah, Ramkrishnapur,
and Betor. But beneath Murshid Kuli Khan’s scowling countenance,
what native would dare to sell his zamindari rights?

In a narrative history of the English in India the story of Surman’s
Embassy to the Mughal Court would by right of importance occupy a
prominent place;? in a study of the English occupation of Bengal this
story is of no great importance. Elsewhere the privileges secured by
this negotiation oroduced their full eftect, but in Bengal the Nawab was
strong enough to prevent the Company realising the principal objects
for which the Imperial fazrman had been obtained with so much toil and
patience. So far as Bengal is concerned, the most that can be said ot
the results obtained is what has been said by the late Dr. C. R. Wilson, in
his Introduction to the Dzary of Messrs. Surman and Stephenson:?

“In Bengal it placed the local government (the Nawab's) techni-
cally in the wrong so long as the farman and the orders of the
Emperor were disregarded, and it consequently furnished the
English with a standing quarrel which they might take up any
time. This they at last did after the catastropbe of the Black
Hole, and the with-holding of the rights won by Surman
were put forward by Lord Chive, when he broke with Siraj-
ud-daulah and entered upon the conquest of the country. The
soldier completed, and more than completed, what the am-
bassador began.”

The labeour of the Surman Embassy thus, so far as Calcutta was
concerned, proved nugatory; but in 1754 an energetic Collector of the

v Mr. Irvine writes (Fournal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1897, pp 181-82 :—“Murshid
Quli Khan, the diwan of Bengal, was removed on Bahadur Shah’s accession in 1119 H. (1707)
and joined that Menarch’s Camp on his march to the Dakhin, Murshid Quli Khan was not
reappointed to Bengal until the 2nd Muharram 1122 H. (March 2, 1710), atter the assassination
of Zia-ullah-Khan.”

2 Mill : History of British India, vol. iii. p. 23 (edn., 1857). C. R. Wilson attributes the
failure of the English at once to benefit by the privileges granted by Farrukhsiyar to other causes
besides that of Murshid Kuli Khan's intransigence; viz., complications arising from out of
the struggles first with the Ostenders and afterwards with the Marathas; and ‘‘by the natural
unwillingness of the Company’s servants to quarrel with the local government to the detriment
of their own private business.” Wilson, Op, cit, vol. ii, pt. ii, p. lviii.

3 This Diary forms part ii of the second volume of the late C.R. Wilson’s Early
Annals of the English in Bengal. Dr, Wilson died in London on July 24, 1904, and the 2nd
part of vol. ii of the Annalswas published in 1911, edited by William Irvine (died 1911) to whose
memory a splendid edition of Manucci's Storia do Mogor forms the finest monument,
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Three Towns was successful in obtaining from the local zzmindars the
possession of an adjacent district. On December the 8th the President
and Council wrote home :

“On the 8th August, Mr. Holwell, in a letter to the Board, informed
us he had been at some pains to prevail upon the Proprietors
of a spot of ground called Similia to rent it to your Honors for
the sum of Rs. 2,281, which be required our permission to
take on your account as the situation (being a part of Calcutta
in a manner itself) had many advantages and its revenues
yielded in its present management more than the sum we
should pay, and he did not doubt would produce considerably
more when in our hands. We have accordingly given him
leave to take possession. But as there are since contested
claims to the ground, we have not as yet been able to settle it,
but, when we do, we shall duly advise your Honors.”’1

Research may perhaps reveal the nature of the terms on which the
Company held the Iands. oc_cupied by the subordinate factories, but at
present that subject remains in obscurity. At the time of Siraj-ud-daula’s
outbreak in 1756, the Company had factors settled at Balasore,?> Cossim-
bazar, Dacca, Jagdea, and Luckypore, the business at each of these places
being conducted by a Chief and Council subordinate to the President (or
Governor) and Council at Fort William.

In 1756 Calcutta was beseiged and captured by the Nawab Siraj-
ud-daula. In 1757 the town was re-captured by force of arms by Admiral
Watson and Lord Clive ; but the English elected to hold their capital on
other terms than those of military right. At the beginning of December,
1758, Mir Jafar granted the Company a sanad,® for the free tenure of the
town of Calcutta. The sanad directs that ‘“the rents of the aforesaid
mouzas, etc. which adjoin to the factory of the most noble of merchants,
the English Company, amounting to 8336 rupees, and something more,
from the 1st of Rabbial Sauni, 5th Sun (beginning of December, 1758)
are forgiven, to the end that they provide for the detence of their factory,
and the safeguard of the seaports there in.”

1 Long Selections, No.139. See also Long's footnote, ibid, p. 53.

2 In 1718 English factories were open at Balasore, Cossimbazar, and Patna. The
Factory at Patna had been reopened inthat year. Bengal Public Proceedings, October 8,
1718: ~ “The 2d. received a letter from Mr. Samuel Browne, Chiefe, and Mr. Hugh Barker at
Patna dated the 20th ulto. advising us of their having taken possession of the ground granted
to the Honble. Company by the King’s Royall Phirmaund.” Parwanas from Khan Zaman,
Subahadar of Behar, and Abdu-l Qadir Khan, Diwan, are recited in the Proceedings of July
2nd, 1718. These documents give permission to the English to “resettle” their factory at
Patna “‘according to former custom.” The land at Luckypore was held on talukdari tenure.

3 The fard-i-sawal, or petition endorsed on the sanad, runs thus :—“The noblest of
merchants, the English Company, represent that the factory for carrying on their trade in the
pergunnahs of Calcutta, lying near the sea, and being liable to continual alarms and interrup-
tions from the enemy, for their defence, they have made a tank of water round their factory,
and left an esplanade on all sides at the distance of a cannon~shot, and that the mowza of
Govindpoor, etc. in the districts of the pergunnahs of Calcutta etc. of the Sircar Sautgaum,
belonging to the Paradise of the Nations, the Subah of Bengala dependent on the Khalsa
Shereefa and Jaghire of the Sircar, adjoin thereto; they request that a sunnud exempting them
from the payment of the rents thereof, be granted them.” Verelst: View, etc., Appendix pp.

153-85-
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In 1726, however, the Company again moved in the matter of
establishing Courts at their leading Indian settlements.! The letter
of the Coqrt of Directors, dated 17th February, 17 3%, to the President
and Council at Fort William is so full of many point§ of interest that it
is well worth quoting at length :

To Our President and Council of Fort William in Bengal.

1. Upon Application made to His Majesty, We have obtain’d His
Majestys Royal Charter for our settlements at Madraspatam,
at Calcutta at Fort William in Bengall, and at Bombay in the
East Indies to enable Us by Vertue thereof to have our Affairs
in all those Places and within the Districts therein mention’d,
as also in all the Subordinate Factoryes of those Presidencys
managed with greater Authority than ever hitherto, We
apply’d to get the Management of the Civil Affairs as near as
We could “agreeable to the Practice and Methods of the
Mayors Court at Fort St. George, which have continued for
many years, and as you will see in the said Charter {of which
we send you by the Bridgwater an Exemplification under the
great Seal of this Kingdom) It begins and goes through first
with all the Powers and Authoritys granted and Rules
prescribed for that Place, And then proceeds to erect the
like Courts and give the same Rules for our Settlements at
Bombay and Fort William.

2. The said Charter appoints an Annual Sheriff to be chosen to
be the last of your Council, and to return all the Processes of
the Court (And nominates nine Persons to be the Court of
Mayor and Aldermen, and as such a Court to Try all Civil
Causes that may happen) To bring into Court all Persons
complain’d of To hold them Bail or Confine them, and on
being empower’d by Warrants to Seiz and Sell the Effects to
‘make satisfaction to the several Persons, who by Decree of
the Court on hearing the Cause have any Summs of money
adjudged to be due to them, And in this the said Court have
by the Charter a Power to frame Rules of Practice in the
Proceedings.

3. There is a liberty reserv’'d in said Charter to appeal from the
judgment of the Mayors Court to the President and Council,
who are by this Charter made a Court of Record to receive
it, and rehear the Cause, And if either Party think him, her
or themselves then aggriev’d, they have liberty (in case the
Sentence is for one Thousand Pagodas or upwards in Value)
to appeal from the President and Council to the king in
Council here under certain Conditions therein contain’d.

*  The petition for the charters is printed in my Article “Some Records Relative to the
Mayors Court.”” Bengal : Past and Present, vol. viii, pp- 809. India Office Records
Department. Correspondence Memoranda. Vol. g,
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This Charter gives the President and five of the Senior Council
a Power to be and Act as Justices of the Peace and
Commissioners of Oyer and Terminer and Gaol Delivery, To
hold Quarter Sessions, and to proceed to hear, try and punish,
in all Criminal Causes, except only of High Treason, as
Commissioners of Oyer and Terminer and Gaol Delivéry do
in England appointing and Summoning Grand and Petty
Jurys for those purposes.

We hope this Power will have that good Effect as to prevent
all Persons from being guilty of wicked practices to subject
them to the judgment of said Court.

Likewise a Power is granted by said Charter to appoint
Generals by Land and Sea and Military Officers, and to Leyy
and Train Souldiers and resist Enemys, And further to Act
as is therein directed, And therewith is granted an additional
Authority to grant Probats of Wills and Letters of Administra-
tion on the Goods and Credits of Intestates, or of those whose
Executors are not on the Place as by the said Charter is

fully directed.

You must from the time the Charter is to operate, which is to
be within thirty days after receipt hereof, take particular care
to swear into the Office of Mayor and Aldermen the Persons
appointed thereto, and in case of Death or total absence others
as directed, The appointments of the several Persons for
Administring the Oaths of fidelity and those who are to take
the said Oaths and Oaths of Office are so plainly directed in
the Charter that there can be no mistake when once you have

but read it over attentively.

We had elected a very ingenious and able Person to go along
with the Charter to Fort St. George and assist there, and
afterwards at Bengall and Bombay in the first setting out to
put every thing in a right Method and Trace out the way at .
first with the Utmost exactness, And had agreed upon giving
him a very encouraging Gratification for his pains and the
time he must necessarily spend im all three Places, But some
unhappy Accidents with a great Indisposition that hath lately
seiz’d him has prevented his undertaking the Voyage and

consequently the Employment.

However that you might not be at a loss or doubtful in any
part of your proceedings, We herewith send you two written
Books One by the Bridgwater and the other by the Walpole,
Entituled Instructions for putting in Execution the East
India Companys Charter, First as to the form and Method of
proceedings in all Civil Suits, Actions and Pleas betwgen
Party and Party, Secondly as to the Method and Form of
Proceedings before Justices of the Peace and at a Court of
Oyer and Terminer and Gaol Delivery, Thirdly as to the
manner and form of Granting Probats of Wills and Letters of

1x
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Administration of Intestates Estates, To which is subjoin'd
the form of some Oaths necessary to be taken in pursuance

of the Charter, and which are not taken Notice of in the
Instructions.

10s  You will in said Book observe an instance in a Civil Case of

II.

12,

prosecuting for a Debt, and a Supposition of all the Accidents
that may happen in the whole of the Proceedings, many more
than are likely, and if you find them attempted may with
prudence be easily check’d so far as found dilatory and purely
litigious, Also Instances of all the several Steps that can
probably be taken before the Justices of the Peace and at
Courts of Oyer and Terminer and Gaol Delivery with variety
of forms of Warrants and other Orders, many more than in
probability you will ever have occasion for, And the same as
to the manner and form of Granting Probats of Wills and of
Administrations, wherein the Civilians have taken in as We
are told all that can well be said on that Subject, and more

than ever you shall want to consult in the Cases that may
come before you.

We likewise send you along with the said Instructions Two
written Copys of the said Charter bound in a Book, one of
each for the Common use of the President and Council in

Council, and the others for the Mayor and Aldermen at their
Court.

It will require your utmost care in every step you take for
putting in execution the Powers and Authoritys therein and
thereby given and granted, which when read over attentively
and duly consider’d together with the Instructions before
mention’d will be soon render’d easy and familiar, and then
with common prudence will doubtless be continued so.

13. If you apply heartily as We earnestly recommend to you to

14.

endeavour you will bring the Mayors Court though new with
you at present into use and good liking of all the People for
doubtless there doth arise among you at times some disputes
in the matters of Meum and Tuum, and if you do exercise the
other Powers with prudence and Justice (and We must tell
You it is greatly incumbent on you so to do, for the very
Intimations of Kings are commands and if not obey’d or their
Grants not thankfully accepted and made use of as they ought
may bring You as well as Us into a Premunire) We cant at
present apprehend We have any thing more that We shall
want of the Government as to our Settlements in India for
the better Government of them, And the Authority We shall
now act by being supported by one so mnch greater than Our
own, Will redound gréatly to the Honour of the Nation, and
part thereof will cast a Lustre on yourselves as the Instru-
ments of putting it into operation.

A§ the Charter directs a Sherriff to be annually elected, so it
directs other Officers to be chosen as well in the Court of
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Mayor and Aldermen as in that of Oyer and Terminer, but as
you have a great many Covenant Servants, We hope they
may serve the purposes of both without appointing any other
English People into them, or any of them, We would have
those most fit at present, or such as are most likely to be so
by time and practice to be first put in, wherein one Person
may possibly fill up two or more Stations, and though the
business they are likely to be employ’d in will be but very
little and seldom, Yet as they may think it very hard to
officiate without some reward for their labour, Therefore We
hereby direct You to appoint proper Fees according to their
different Employments, But be sure to take care that they be
very moderate and Suited to the Circumstances of the People,
who are many of them very poor and can’t bear the paying of
such as We may here Account but small Fees, whereto We
desire you will have a great regard, and send Us a Table
of the respective Fees in all Cases for our Inspection and
Judgment.

Be you particularly careful on your part and let the Mayor and
Aldermen know That We also earnestly recommend to them to
check the first beginnings of any oppressions, exactions
Misbehaviour towards any or the least foul practice of the
Attorneys and other Officers of the Court, Keep them all
within due bounds of Decorum, and Discountenance all
Attemps of prolonging of Suits, In the Instructions are certain
distances of times between one part of the Processes and
what next is to follow, Let the Court curtail them as much as
equitable may be, for Justice may be render'd Sour by delay-
ing, The most expeditious it can be made in reason is thereby
the better.

We hope you will never have occasion to put in Execution the
Powers given you for exercising of Martial Law in time of
War and open Hostility, as occasion may Le and necessarily
require and can legally be done, Therefore you should be
very careful in your Proceedings.

By the Charter Three of the Mayors Court, the Mayor or Senior
Alderman being One, may Try all Civil Causes, Yet We recom-
mend to that Court to have always as many of their Members
there in all Judgments to be given by them as possible, not only
for the greater Solemnity but also for the more thorough Sifting
all matters that shall come before them to prevent as far as
possible the least mistake or Error in the Sentence given, as
remembring they do in Judgment act in the Place of God
towards the People, And according to the Scripture Expres-
sion, He that rules over Men must be just ruling in the fear
of God.

As to the Proceedings in the several Courts of Record, It will
be necessary to use Parchment in the several Writings as
being most durable and to keep all safe from Vermine, there-
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fore We send you Nine Rolls of Parchment, each containing
Sixty Skins for use, On which let such moderate Sums be put
as to the larger or smaller Pieces wanted, that We may be
reimbursed our prime Cost with a small advance for Interest
and Risco.

Send Us yearly Copy of the Register of your Court Books kept
in pursuance of this Charter for our Notice and Observation
how you proceed therein.

You will find in the Packets a List of the Statutes and some
Law Books, which we have been advis'd to send You, as what
may give you some light on occasion.

This Charter being principally design’d for the Government
and benefits of Europeans, and many of the Natives who live
with you having peculiar Customs of their own, We are willing
they should still enjoy them, so as they live quietly and do
nothing that tends to publick disturbance or breaking into
the settled Rules of the Place, You must continue to be as
hitherto you have been very careful to avoid as much as
possible the putting any of the Moors to Death, unless the
Crime be of a very high nature such as Murther and Piracy
and the proofs thereof be very possitive and plain for fear
the Moguls Governours make it a handle for raising Distur-
bances, of which it may not be easy to foresee or prevent the
ill Consequences,

We are
Your Loving Friends
HeNRY LYELL, Chairman
(and 18 others.)

The Rev. J. Long, in the introduction to his volume of Selections
from the Unpublished Records of Government, 1748-67, tells us that the
records of the Mayor's Court “ are deposited with the High Court, but
unfortunately all records since 1749 have been lost”” He gives us the
following account of the expenses of the Mayor’s Court in 1753 :

Rs.’A. P.

To paid the trustees of the charity school for apartments for the records
for 4 months at Arcot Rs. 3o per month .., .. 120 0 o
Batta 8 per cent, 9 9 6
. 129 9 6
'To paid for a piece of red taffaty for gowns for the Alderman e 1215 3
To paid by order of Court for copying a largre book for the court’s use... 64 12 ¢
To paid for wax cloth ... 1 0 6
Velvet for the chair and cushion and making ... w 37 4 3

_In August, 1748, Madras was restored by the French to the English
Company. The Company were advised by the Solicitor-General and
their own Standing-Counsel, that the capture of Madras by the French
had terminated the powers and authorities granted by the Charter of

1723

As a new Charter was thus rendered necessary for Madras, the
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Directors thought that they might make use of this occasion, and, while
surrendering the charters for Bengal and Bombay, to obtain charters
embodying various improvements of which experience had proved the
need. The principal addition made was the establishment of Commis-
sioners to serve as a Court of Requests for the recovery of debts not
exceeding five pagodas in amount. In their letter accompanying the
Charter, the Directors remark :

“ With respect to criminal proceedings, we have nothing to add
to the instructions already given, unless it is, that the Legisla-
ture in the last Session made an Act of Parliament for better
preventing the horrid crime of murder, several copys of which
we send you herewith. So, if the Commissioners of Oyer and
Terminer think it may be a means to prevent or deter persons
from committing that horrid crime, they may, in case of con-
viction, proceed to judgment and execution, and disposal of
the body in the manner that the Act directs.”

The Charters of the Mayor’s Court! thus established four judicatures
- in Calcutia exercising jurisdiction from the English Crown over British
subjects, natives in their employment, and persons who voluntarily
placed themselves under the Courts:

. The President and Council (in-1723 “five of the Council”;
in 1753 “ all the Council”) are Justices of the Peace and Com-
missioners of Oyer and Terminer and Gaol delivery, and hold
Quarter-Sessions.

2. The Mayor’s Court.
The President and Council, a Court of Record, to hear appeals

from/the Mayor’s Court.
4. After 1753, twelve Commissioners to form a Court of Requests.

Turning to the subject of the law administered by these Courts, it
may be said at once that 1t was the law of England as it stood at the
introduction of each of .the Charters, i.e., 1723 to 1753, it was the law
of England as it stood in the year 1723, and from 1753 onward as the
same law stood in 1753. Impey at his Impeachment stated :

«“ Among the records, | found the instructions sent out by the Court
of Directors with that Charter (the Charter of 1753), and
expecting, as | really procured; great information from them,
ordered them to be copied. These instructions direct the
new Court how to proceed against prisoners not understanding
English, tells what crimes are misdemeanours, what simple
felonies, what within clergy, what capital, and all the distinc-
tions on that head; what punishments are to be inflicted,
amongst which transportation is particularised; how to
proceed in each case ; and gives precedents of indictments for
each crime, the oath tor an interpreter where the prisoner does

For earlier Charters of the‘Crown see Cowell: History and constitution of Courts,
and Legislative Authorities in India, chap. 1. -
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not understand English, directions how to proceed when any
Portuguese, Gentoo, or native of India, not born of British
parents, happens to be prosecuted for any capital offence,
which the instructions say *will probably often happen’; they
are told that stealing goods above the value of forty shillings
out of a dwellinghouse, above five shillings privately out of
a shop or warehouse, or stable, and from- every person above
five shillings is capital: they are told that the jury may
mitigate the sum so as to make the offence clergyable, and
the clerk of the peace is directed to mark the judgment [s]
so mitigated to distinguish them. They give precedents of
indictments for all these crimes, and add indictments for
burglaries, highway robberies, and horse-stealing, as cases
‘likely to happen.” In a marginal note they are told in cases
where any Act of Parliament makes a crime felony, which
was not so at common law, the indictment must conclude
‘against the form of the Statute.’ They are directed ‘to enlarge
on His Majesty’s princely goodness, who on the humble
application of Honourable Company, has thought fit to extend
. his care and the benefit of his laws to his most distant subjects
in the British settlements in the East Indies. This the Director
desire ‘may be done the first time the Commission is put into

execution’.’t

Sir Gilbert Elliott? contended that Sir Elijah Impey was mistaken as
to the date of these instructions, and asserted that they were in fact
sent out with the Charter of 1723. No evidence is forthcoming to
support Sir Gilbert's assertion, and, on the other hand, in a volume of
Early Parliamentary Papers (printed) there is to be found * Extracts
from the Book of Instructions for patting into execution the E. . Co’s
Charter for erecting and holding Courts of Justice, Civil and Criminal,
at Fort St. George and the Company’s other Settlements in the East
Indies, dated the 8th June, 1753, 26th year of the reign of George the
Second.” These extracts clearly are made from the instructions cited
by Impey.

Dur.in;g Impey’s impeachment, Mr. Boughton Rous was asked
whether he knew “anything of any intention to carry the English
criminal law into execution in the townof Calcutta?” He replied: . “I
have found amongst my papers a copy of a proclamation issued by His
Majesty’s Justices for the town and district of Calcutta at their Quarter
Sessions held on the 3rd June, 1762, in which such an intention is
announced.” A diligent search for a copy of this Proclamation
has been made at the Record Department of the India Office, but
in vain. ®

' Sir ]. F. Stephen: The Story of Nuncomar and the Impeachment of Sir Elijah I
vol. 11, pp. 20-21. Sir J. F. Stephen did not “attempt to verify this statemj;nt of I!.;'lpey’z?’ey’
3 '~he Mover of Impey’s impeachment ; afterwards the first Lord Minto,
> The House of Commons, on Feb. 25th, 1788, called on the Court of Directors to
produce a copy of the Proclamation, but apparently this order was never complied with. I

have been unable to trace this document either among the India Office Records or those of
the Calcutta High Court. But see Long : Selsctions, p. 430.
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Among the records following will be found “an Account of the
several persons who have been prosecuted in the Court of Quarter
Sessions in Calcutta, for criminal offences according to the Laws of
Eng!and, from the 1st of January, 1762, to the 1st of October, 1774.”1
It will be observed that the first case is dated August 27th, 1762, f.e.,
subsequent to the proclamation mentioned in the preceding paragraph.
Out of forty-five cases, in which sixty-two persons were implicated, the
natives are in the majority, and in twenty-one cases the sentence was
capital. Two cases may be taken as illustrative of the law enforced by
the Courts. These I take from Verelst's View of the Rise, Progress and
Present State of the English Government in Bengal, observing, how-
ever, that the first case does not appear in the list abovementioned.
Verelst has left it on record as his mature judgment: “as well might
we transplant the full-grown oak to the banks of the Ganges, as dream
that any part of a code, matured by the patient labours of successive judges
and legislators in this island. can possibly coalesce with the customs of
Bengal.”2  The first case he cites to prove his point is as follows :—

1. “In the year 1762, a native detected one of his women in an act
of infidelity. Throughout the East, women are wholly subject
to the will of their master, and every husband is the avenger of
his own wrongs. The man, therefore, satisfied of her guilt,
Proceeded to punishment, by cutting off her nose. He was
arraigned at the Calcutta Sessions. He confessed the fact,
but urged that he had done nothing to offend the laws and
customs in which he bhad been educated: that the woman
was his property ; and that, by such customs, he had a right
to set a mark upon her, for her infamy; that he had never
heard of the laws by which they tried him ; dtid they believe
that if he had known the punishment to be deaih, he would ever
have committed what they now called a crme? The man
notwithstanding this defence, was condemned and hanged;
for, if the Court possess jurisdiction, they must proceed
according to the English laws.”’?

2. The second case is interesting as forming a precedent for the
Supreme Court’s sentence upon Nanda Kumar (“Nuncomar”)
on his conviction of forgery. ‘“The amazing extent of public
and private credit in Great Britain,” writes Verelst in 1773,
“has induced our legislators to punish forgery with death.
Under this law a native of Bengal was condemned in the year
1768. But so extravagant did the sentence appear, where
experience had never suggested the principle, such the dis-
proportion in their eyes between the punishment and crime,
that the principal Inhabitants of Calcutta expressed their
astonishment and alarm in a petition to the Governor and

1 See Appendix. Sir J. F. Stephen cites this paper but gives a wrong reference.

% Verelst: View, efc., p. 134
3 Verelst: View, efc, p. 26.
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Council ; and, upon a proper representation, Rada Churn
Metre received a pardon.”’!

Verelst, in his View, efc., devotes a whole chapter to maintaining
“ the impossibility of introducing English laws into Bengal.” He points
to native customs absolutely irreconcilable with English principles—
polygamy, childmarriages, the customs of the harem, etc., etc.; and
reflects upon the fact that in Great Britain “not less than one hundred
and sixty felonies are created by acts of Parliament”” He recognises
that Europeans in Indian settlements must be subjected to British civil
and criminal law, and for that reason urges that, with the exception of
the few district officers of the Company, Europeans should not be
allowed to reside outside the Company’s territorial limits. The principles,
which his; oppressively pompous sentences make it difficult for the
reader to follow, are practically these :—

1. The laws of England are the result of centuries of varied
experience, and minute science, and are adapted only to a
free people.

2. The natives of Bengal are not capable of receiving a free
government, and therefore cannot receive the law of a free
people.

3- As the natives must be left to their own customs and laws,
justice must be administered by native judges: but to
prevent “independency,” the Governor-General and Council
should issue edicts from time to time, for “power must reside
in the conquerors.”

4. A Court of English justices, assisted by wotthy -natives, might
hold an appellate jurisdiction, but “to invest Europeans with
an original judicature throughout the country would be
productive of infinite oppression.”

The replies of the Collectors to the enquiries addressed to them in
17go, show that the idea of maintaining a British Government in India,
and yet leaving the native law substantially unchanged was an idea,
which rested on inadequate information both as to the character of
Muhammadan civilisation and the actual circumstances of the country.
Verelst held the view that English law was a monument of perfection—
a view commonly held by Englishmen at that time. To us the eigh-
teenth century criminal law is not an amiable subject for contemplation.
Its introduction, as it stood and as it- was developing itself, into Calcutta
was bound, as in the instance of the punishment of forgery or petty
thieving by death, to have deplorable consequences: on the other
hand the introduction into Bengal (for Britis" subjects and their depen-
dents) of the English law with all its imperfections and excesses, was
a necessary step towards the substitution of a carefully considered
criminal and civil code, adapted to’the people for whom it was intended,

A Ib:'d\.\ gx 141 and Appendix p. 177. See -also collection no 8, India Office Record
Department, Parliaméntary Branch, and Long: Selections, No. 840. Radha Churn Mitra
was a grandson of Holwell’s old foe, Govindram Mitra, the  Black Collector’ of Calcutta.
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and patent to expansion and revision, according to the even changing
circumstances of the State and the conditions of native life.

The weakness of the Judicatures of 1723 and 1753 arose from the
fact that they tended to be in fact but branches of the Companv’s
executive government, and they therefore afforded imperfect means
of resistance to the class interests of the Company’s servants, at a time
when the Company’s servants were bidding fair to monopolise the trade
of the country.! It would occupy more space than the nature of our
general subject would justify if we were to undertake a discussion of
the charges brought against these Courts by Bolts in his Considerations.
It may be held that Verelst does satisfactorily meet these charges,
but it must also be admitted that in doing so he unconsciously betrayed
the weakness of a system nnder which executive government and
judicial authority were combined in the hands of men who had
commercial interests of their own to defend.? The Aldermen of the
Mayor’s Court were as a rule anything but what the term “alderman”
etymologically implies : they were mostly junior servants of the Company
in the days when the Company’s servants, without any special training
at home, began their Indian career a little more than midway in their
teens:? Nor was the Charter itself so explicit a guide as occasion
required : it left room for doubts as to the amenability to sué poena of
witnesses residing beyond the Maratha Ditch:* and left room for
doubts which could not be dispelled without a tedious reference to law
authorities in England.? It cannot be doubted, however, that Cowell's
characterisation of the period covered by the activities of the Mayor’s
Court is over drawn. The Professor has taken Lord Macaulay rather
too seriously.

From the Sixth Report of the Committee of Secrecy, 1773, we
learn that, where debts had to be realised from natives living outside
the limits of the Company’s settlements, other methods than recourse
to the Mayar's Court were resorted to. ‘ Where the debtor was
dependent on, or connected with the Company, in the course of

! 2
' In 1767, however, the Mayor's Court protected, in despite of the Governor and

Council, a Mr. Atkinson who, having obtained the Company’s permission to go from Fort
Marlborough to China, came instead to Bengal.

2 Bolts, points out: “By the charter of George I., the Mayor’s Court had the power of
electing their own members to fill up vacancies; and, while such continued to be the
practice, that ¢ourt was the bulwark of all security with regard to property in the settlement,
and  might be considered in a great degree as independent. Indeed it was so much so at
that time (before the Company had adopted, in so common and frequent a manner, the
practice of seizing persons and sending them prisoners to England) that it was deemed
inconvenient to the Company who has many decrees given against them, and this was
thought the great defect before hinted at, against which, though not expressed; the Company
petitioned the Crown, and obtained the Charter of George II., whereby the right of electing
Aldermen was transferred from their own body to the Governor and Council, who thereby

had the unconstitutional power given them of making and unmaking the judges.”
Considerations; vol. I, p. 8.

3 On the dccasion of Nanda Kumar's trial, the combined ages of the Under-Sheriff of
- Calcutta, and gHe acting Persian Translator scarcely amounted to 42.

¢ The eastern boundary of Calcutta.
s See Sixth Report of the Committee of Secrecy, 1773.

13
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commerce, and residing (as these persons generally did) in the neighbour-
hood of any of the Company’s settlements, the general practice was to
lay hold of his person by their own authority, without applying to any
Court or Officer of the Government,! and they sometimes ventured to
exercise the same right, even where the debtor did not fall under that
description ; but this was an abuse, though generally overlooked by
Government. In the former case, the Government tacitly allowed and
countenanced the practice of seizing and detaining the debtor, it being
much the disposition of the Government to give all encouragement to
the Europeans, from iwhose commerce their country then derived such
considerable advantages. In cases where it was not thought prudent
to proceed in this manner, the only remedy was by application to
Government ; but your Committee were informed that there was seldom
occasion to make use of either of these ways to compel payment of any
debt to the Company or its servants, for that the persons dealing with
them reaped so much benefit from that connection, that there seldom
arose any dispute between them. . . . . . The French and Dutch
exercised the same privilege of seizing their debtors, and even continued
the practice after the Company’s acquisition of the Dewanee.”?

In 1774 the Supreme Court of Judicature took the place of the
Mayor’s Court, and at once commenced a conflict between the Judges
and the Governor-General’'s Council as to the Court’s right to intervene
in causes in which the revenue and the revenue officers, were concerned.
It is, therefore, interesting to note that a similar conflict had arisen
between the older Court and the Collector of Calcutta. In 1753 Holwell
protested that “the bulk of the causes that come before the cutcherry
are for sums cognizable by the said Court of Requests,”* and, on rst
March, 1754, the Mayor’s Court write to the Directors, complaining that
the Collector refused] at their bidding, to release a native whom he
had confined and who was a party to a cause brought into their
Court.

' By “Government” in this passage the Nawab’s Government is meant.

2 “Your Committee find, by the Secret Consultations lately received by the Lapwing,
that this practice having been lately prohibited by the President and Council, the French in
very strong terms, remonstrated against this order, as a violation of a right which they had
always held and exercised under the Country Government; but that the President
and Council denied this pretension, and insisted that the French should have recourse to the
courts of justice to compel payment of their debts : but your Committea do not find that this
dispute has been brought to a conclusion.”

s Fort William Consultations, ),09 October,lt753. See Bengal: Past & Present, vol, x.
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APPENDIX.

AN Account of the Several Persons who have been prosecuted in

the Court of Quarter Sessions in Calcutta, for
Criminal Offences, according to the Laws of
England, from the st of January 1762 to the

1st of October 1774 ; Specifying the Names and Crimes of such Persons,
together with the Dates of such Prosecutions respectively, and which
of the said Persons were convicted, and the Sentences pronounced on
such convictions.

I Serial No,

LN

(7,1

Voo O

10
11

12

13
14

s

16

Pn]:?sif:i;fm. Name of Persons tried. = Crime. Verdict.
‘ i
1762 |
W‘ Loll Khan ... | Privately Not Guilty,
i Stealing.
Novr, 27th ... | Sook Dev, and Diaram | Murder Do.
3oth ... | Enasse Gosaul ... | Felony Guilty of an
i assault, but
not of the
Felony.
. {giwrgggaomhnn?gﬁ:;eas} Burglary ... | Not Guilty.
Decr. 1st Brijoo Hazerath ... | Felony Guilty, Steal-
ing, Value
1od.
L. Granidier ... | Murder Not Guilty.

* ard {égﬁf{c } Rape Guilty o
17th Ramram .. | Murder Pleaded Guilty
Caville Burglary ... | Guilty

1763
§ E. Be .
Febry. 28th ... ) Doo]:ggge : Burglary ... | Not Guilty.
Augst. 27th ... | Mignel Van Colsten ... | Murder Not Guilty.
g]afﬁer C Guilty
Septr. 1st Golaum Hossein ; Burglary ... % Do.
Occoor Acquitted.
Novr. 2gth ... | Mary D’Rosario Murder Not Guilty.
goth ... [ Bernando Felony Discharged,
/ the Prose-
cutor not
appearing.
o Diaram Felony Guilty Steal-
ing to the
value of 104,
Novr, 3oth ... | Marshall Johnson Assault Guilty

Sentence.

To be flogged at
the Cart’s Tail
every Monday for
a month with a
cat of Nine Tails.

Do.

Death.

Do.
Do.

Death.
Do.

To be whipped at
the Public Mar-
ket Place Four
successive Mon=

days.
To be imprisoned
till next Ses-

sions, then left
to the MDiscre-
tion of the Jus-
tices to release
him, on finding
sureties for
bis good Bes
haviour.
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]

E Date of Names of Persons tried Crime Verdict Sentence.

-2 | Prosecutien. * . erdict. :

2 |

1762 ;
17 | Nov. SOth Bridjoo +ee | Murder Accessory to Death.
the Murder. )
1764 .

18 | Febry.28th ... Collin Campbell Assault Pleaded Guilty - Fined £100, to be
imprisoned One
Month, and to
find Security for
' his good Beha-
. viour, himself in
41,000, and Two
Sureties in £500

each.

19 | May 28th Fras. Russell Forgery ... |Guilty To be whipped

round the Town
. at the Cart's Tail.

20 | Septr. 11th ... | Susanna Murder Not Guilty ...

21 12th ... | Robt. Baker Felony Guity of Steal- To receive 100
ing to the, StripeswithaCat
value of 1od. | of Nine Tails.

22 Jean La Finesse .. | Assault Guilty i A small Fine.

23 | Decr. 14th ... | Frederick Hinnings ... | Murder Not Guilty.

1765.

24 | Febry. 27th... | Radachurn Metre Forgery ...! Guilty Death. Pardoned.

25 | May 27th ... | Shake Sobdy .. | Felony .. | Doa. ... | Death.

26 [ Augst, 27th ... | Contou -..’| Murder .. Do. « .| Do.

(Cooil 3
Mahomed Reza
Kedaine
Tittaoo Gauzee
Ariff Felony and | Pleaded Guilt
7 3 Babaaloo e Muz&ler. of the Felongx Death.
Cotubbe Monalda |
Anunderam ‘ !
and
B L Noon Mahommed J
28 | Novr. 27th ... | Nathanl. Freeman Assault Guilty Fined £50 and
‘ ! to be confined
until  he find
security for his
good Behaviour
for Twelve
1766 i Months.

29 | Febry. 27th ... | Bavauny Murder Not Guilty ...

30 e Lallchund Do. Guilty ... 1 Death,

3t Netow Do. Not Guilty ...

32 | May 27th ... | Lallbaharry Do. Do.

33 | Augst. 27th ... | Duwahmerand Do. Guilty Death.

34 Rhomeney Do. Do. ...| Do.

35 | Novr, 27th ... | Manas Romken Rape Not.Guilty ..,

1767 ) -
John Poole R
36 | Febry. 27th .., {Robt. Sherman } Assault ... | Not Guilty ...
Laurence Murray
37 | May 27th .., | Betty .| Murder Guilty e | Death,
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[ Serial No,

(%)
x

()
O

40

42
43

APPENDIX—Concld.
Date of N £p . Cri .
Prosecution. ames of Persons tried. rime. Verdict. Sentence.
1767
Anthonia Da Costa ... | Assault Pleaded Guilty.| Fined £20 and
imprisoned One
Month.
Augst. 27th ... { Mark Mathewson Felony Guilty, Steal- | Committed to the
| ing, Value 10d.| Public Gaol for
3 Months, to be
publicly whipped
through the Town
Twice, to receive
each Time 100
Lashes on his bare
Back with a Cat of
Nine Tails; and
afterwards to be
committed to
Bridewell to Hard
Labour for 6
Months.
Augst. 27th ... | Saml. Farley . | Assault Not Guilty.
Mathw. Callaghan
Novr. 27th ... gPrice Trumbull g Felony Not Guilty.
Walter Powers
...... Ram Gose Murder Do.
Sitteram Do. Do.
1768 .
Febry. 27th ... | Emandy . | Murder Not Guilty.
Novr. 27th ...} Wm, Macintosh .| Assault Guilty ... | Fined £20 Stg.,
: ’ and to find Secu-

———

rity for his good
Behaviour for 12
Months.

N.B.—The Preceding Account is conformable to the Order of the Honourable House,
so far as the Documents at the East India House will allow—the Proceedings of the Court of
quarter sessions at Calcutta for the year 1762 only commencing the 27th August of that year ;
and there has been no Proceedings of the said Court received of a later Date than the 27th
Novr. 1768.

It cannot be ascertained from any Document in the Company’s Possession in Europe,
which of the Sentences have or have not been carried into Execution, except that passed
on Radhachurn Metre, who was recommended for Mercy, and afterwards pardoned by His
Majesty.

East Inp1a Housg, }

3rd March, 1788.

R. HUDSON,

Pro. Examr. of India Correspondence.



CHAPTER VI,
THE ENGLISH ACQUIRE THE TWENTY-FOUR PARGANAHS.

THE Treaty, signed on the gth February, 1757, between Siraj-ud-
daula on the one hand and Admiral Watson and Colonel Clive on the
other, has been characterized as ‘“neither honorable nor secure.” It
was not honourable because it ‘“did not punish the Nabob for the
outrage by which the war was occasioned, or indemnify the Company
for the expense at which it had been carried on ;" it was not secure,
because, while it was suspected that the Nawab was intriguing with
the French, whose advent on the scene was daily expected, 1t failed to
provide against the combination of the Nawab and the French in an
attack on the English.!

In justice to Clive it is necessary to remember that in the carly
part of 1757 his position had been extremely critical and he had come
{o feel that, **if something was not done, the squadron and the land
forces would be soon starved out of the country.” In the early
morning of sth February Clive conducted a brilliant attack on the
Nawab’s camp in what is now the Sealdah district ot Calcutta; and
such was the success of this effort that Siraj-ud-daula withdrew his
forces beyond the Salt Lakes. Admiral Watson believing the Nawab
to be still far too confident in his superior numbers to be ready to
listen to the Select Committee's peace proposals, sent his Flag
Captain to Clive, with a letter urging that another blow should be
struck before commencing negotiations.? On the gth February,
however, the Nawab intimated his readiness to comply with the terms
of peace stated by Clive. When the circumstances in which the
Treaty was concluded—the military preponderance of Siraj-ud-daula’s
army, the expectation of the speedy arrival of either Bussy’s troops or
a powerful French squadron, the want of supplies experienced by the
English—are remembered, it becomes obvious that Clive had good
reasons for snatching at the opportunity of coming to terms with the
Nawab. It is, however, important to notice that the essential claim
made by the English was to bé restored to the status guo ante bellum,
and to be allowed to enjoy to the full all the privileges obtained
in the past by “phirmaunds and husbhalhookums sent from Delhi.”

The text of the Treaty of the gth February is best studied in Mr.
S. C. Hill's Bengal in 1756-57. Article IIl. provides: “All the
Company’s factories seized by the Nabob shall be returned. All the
money, goods, and effects belonging to the Company, their servants
and tenants, and which have been seized and taken by the Nabob,

t Elphinstone : Zke Rise of the British Power in the Eas-t, p- 2g0.

* “Till he i well threshed out, Sir, flatter yourself he will be inclined to peace. Let u-
theretore not be overreached by his politics, but make use of our arms, which are more to be
depended upon, and 1 dare say will be much more prevalent than any treaties or negotia-
tions.” Watson to Clive, 7th February, t757. Hill: Op. cit., vol. i1, p. 318,
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shall be restored. What has been plundered and pillaged by his
people shall be made good by the payment of such a sum of money as
his justice shall think reasonable.”

The Nawab’s acceptance of this condition is most unsatisfactorily
worded :—“I agree to restore whatever has been seized and taken by my
orders, and accounted for in my Sincany.”! The Nawab, however, had
by word of mouth promised a sum for the compensation of losses sustained
by private individuals, and itis probable that this and other verbal
undertakings on the part of the Nawab account for the perfunctory way
in which the subject of compensation is dealt with in the Treaty
itself.

In regard to the matter of alliance, Clive had proposed to the
Nawab’s agents to include in the Treaty an article of alliance between
the Nawab and the English against the French, but this proposal Siraj-
ud-daula would not adopt. The Nawab, however, wrote to Clive
and Watson, protesting that their enemies would be also his enemies,
and these assurances were regarded as sufficient.? What then the
English asked for in February, 1757, was in sum to be restored to the
position which they had held previous to the Siege of Calcutta, a
sanction for their mint, and that the villages which were given to the
Company by the Firmaun [ fzrman], but detained from them by the
Subah, be likewise allowed them ; nor let any impediment or restriction
be put upon them by the zemindars.””

The Treaty entered into with Mir Jafar on 3rd June, 1757 (i.e.,
prior to the victory of Plassey), differs from the Treaty with Siraj-ud-
daula, in that—

1. It excludes the French from establishing settlements in
Bengal, Bihar and Orissa.

2. It is definitely a treaty of alliance.

3. It initiates the process of destroying Mughal military power
in Bengal by engaging that the Nawab “ will not erect
any new fortifications below Houghly, near the river
Ganges,” i.e., it practically places the entrance to the
great river-system of Bengal in English keeping.

4. It, in definite terms, compensates the Company for the losses
sustained during its war with Siraj-ud-daula.

In regard to the Company’s lands, the relevant articles of the
Treaty with Mir Jafar run.

*&  Within the ditch* which surrounds the borders of Calcutta,
are tracts of lands belonging to several zemindars; besides

! Sincany, Ives (4 Voyage from England to India, p. 115) explains, means “Government
books.” ’

*  Hill Op. cit, vol. i., pp. cxlviii-ix.

3 Hill : Bengal in 1756-57, vol. ii. pp. 215-17, and Aitchison: Collection of Treaties,
Engagements, etc, vol. L., p. 181.

+ The ditch dug by the inhabitants during the Maratha panic of 1742. Wilson - Old
Furt William in Bengal, vol 1, p. 156.
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this, I will grant the English Company six hundred yards
without the ditch.

“g. All the land laying to the south of Calcutta, as far as Calpee,!
shall be under the zemindary of the English Company, and
all'the officers of those parts shall be under their jurisdiction.
The revenues to be paid by them in the same manner with the
other zemindars.”?

When the English ook possession of the revenue rights of the
Three Towns in 1698, the former holders received pecuniary compensa-
tion. The dipossessed holders of the Twenty-Four Parganahs, how-
ever, seemed to have suffered without receiving compensation of any
kind. Ina letter to the Court, dated 3rd November, 1772, Warren
Hastings and his Council write :—

“ The humane intention shewn in your commands of the 3oth June
1769, and recommended in many of your letters since that
date, to the rights of the zemindars who have inherited lands
from their ancestors, encourages us to solicit your compassion
for the antient proprietors of the 24-Pergunnahs, or Cal-
cutta lands which became the Company’s zemindarry by
the treaty of Plassey, and from which they were consequently
dispossessed. A small part of these lands were before that
time united within the zemindarries of Burdwan and Nuddea,
whose zemindars are amply provided for. The above zemin-
dars and talookdars have continued since that time in a state
of extreme indigence; some of them have large families to
maintain. It bas been a usual rule of the Mogul Government,
when any zemindar was divested of authority, to allow him a
subsistence’out of the rents of his zemindarry, proportioned to
the annudl income of it ; this proportion commonly amounted
to a tenth. 'We would not have recommended so large an allow-
ance for thése people; we are persuaded that they will be con-
tented with a much more moderate income, and receive it with
gratitude. As this indulgence has been extended to all the
other zemindars in both the provinces, since they were placed
under your government, we have judged that this represen-
tation of the case of those who has been excluded from it
would not be unacceptable to you.”*

* Calpee (Kalpi). The land granted by the sanad actually extended to the border
of the Azimabad pargana, and thus further south than Kalpi. See Major R. Smyth:
Statistical and Geographical Report of 24 Pergunnahs District, Calcutta, 1857, p. 68

2 Aitchison : Op. cit., vol. i, p 186. The text of the Treaty as given in Hill's Bengal
in 1756-57 (vol. i,y p. 384) runs: ¢ That the country to the south of Calcutta, lying between
the river and the lake and reaching as far as Culpee, shall be put under the perpetual Govern-
ment of the English, in the manner as now governed by the country Zemindars, the English
paying <he usual rents for the same to the Treasury.”

3 Apparently nothing was done, for, in October 1776, Hastings writes :—*“I think it
necessary to mention that I do not propose the appointment of Superintendent of the dunds
of the xxiv Pergunnahs, but as a temporary measure only. Whenever the ancient
zemindars shall be restored to their rights, or the lands shall be let on permanent leases, such
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The English lost no time in securing their new acquisitions. On
26th July Clive wrote from Murshidabad to the Court of Directors:

“It is impossible as yet to form a judgment how much the granted
lands will produce you, as the Europeans are quite ignorant
of the extent of the country between the river and the lake ;!
but in order to give you some idea of the value, I will venture to
estimate it at ten lacs per annum. An officer on the part of
the Nabob is already dispatched to Calcutta to begin the
survey in company with one of yours.”

The Press List of the Ancient Documents preserved in the
Imperial Record Department gives the following precis of a letter,
dated 279th July, from Clive and the Members of Council at
“Muxadavad” : -

“Informing that the Connago’s (Kanungo’s) man has been sent
on behalf of the Nabob to take an account of the lands,
villages, districts, revenues, and other particulars of the
territory from the Great Lake eastward of Calcutta as faras
Culpee on the South; recommending that, although these
men may not be able to trace a proper boundary, it may be
well for us to send capable persons to survey the lake,
because, as is supposed the lake extends as far as Culpee;
then the Company’s territory will be almost surrounded by

an office will certainly be unnecessary, as the case of the bunds will be best left to the charge
of those whose interest will be to keep them in order. The xXxiv Pergunnahs are at present
the zemindarry of the Company, by the dispossession of the legal proprietors, whose hard
case | have long since recommended to the justice of the Company, and mean to propose to
the consideration of the Board, whenever the new Settlement shall be under consideration,
having been at some pains for that purpose to collect the names of the old proprietors and
their descendants with the property originally held by them in the old Pergupnahs.” Francis:
Minutes, etc., pp. 133-34.

Mr. J. Westland (Report on the District of Fessore, 2nd ed., 18_74) throws some interesting
light on the history of one of the dispossessed proprietors in the xxiv Parganas. Manohar Ray,
Raja of Jessore, died about the year 1705 and was succeeded by his son Krishna Ram Ray.
Sukh Deb Ray, who succeeded Krishna Ram Ray, was persuaded by Manohar's widow to
make over four annas share in the estate to Syam Sundar, brother of Sukh Deb Ray. On the
death of Syam Sundar, about 1756, the four annas share became untenanted. “At that
time,” writes Mr. Westland, “the East India Company received from the Nawab a grant of
certain land near Calcutta, and one of the zemindars, whom the Nawab dispossessed in order
to make this grant, was named Salah-u-din Khan. This man, representing that Syam
Sundar’s property had no heirs, requested its bestowal upon himself in requital for the loss
of his former zemindari, and the Nawab not unwilling to give what was not his own,
bestowed upon him the four annas share of the raja’sestates . . . . The four annas
share lay mostly within the pergunnah of Saydpur, and was therefore known as the four
annas estates, or as the Saydpur estate, both of which names exist to thisday . . . . At
the time of the permanent settlement it was in the possession of a Mussulman lady
Mana Jan (Sala-u-din Khan’s widow) and she is noted as having been a very good manager
of her property. She brought it in safety through the critical time that succeeded the per-
manent settlement, and saved it from the dangers which overwhelmed almost all the other
zemindars. In 1814 we find the estate in possession of Mana Jan’s halfbrother, Haji
Muhammad Mzhsin, who in that year died. Having no heirs, he by will made his estate
over in trust for the benefit of the Imambara at Hooghly (Hughli), which has since that time
enjoyed its revenues.” For Haji Muhammad Mohsin and the Hughli Imambara see an
article by Syed Hassain in Bengal : Past and Present, Vol. 11, No. 1, January 1908,

! The Salt Lakes, in recent times much diminished in extent. Up to the time of
Woarren Hastings the usual route to Dacca lay across the lakes. Vide Bengal : Past and
Present, vol. V., pp. 171-73.



xcviii INTRODUCTION.

water, and a communication from Baag Bazar! to Kishna-
pore, on the borders of the lake, will effectually secure
Calcutta from any country enemy, and stating that if the
boundary can be exactly determined, they are inclined to
believe that the Nabob will not only assent thereto, but put
us in possession thereof, and confirm the same by ample
grants.”

In a letter dated 3rd August, 1757, Admiral Watson, who had been
requested to provide a surveyor for the newly acquired lands, replied :

“It appears to me to be a work requiring so much care and exact-
ness, that I know of no one in the squadron capable of it;
and, if there were, I am very certain such a performance will
require much more time than I shall continue here. But if
upon an enquiry in the squadron, you find anyone who will
answer your purpose, and is willing to remain in India, T will
give my orders for his being discharged.”®

The Council, however, were able to secure the services of Captain
Robert Barker; and, on the day following the receipt of the Admiral’s
letter, Barker was told off “to accompany the Connegoe’s man in the
survey of the territory to be granted to the Company, taking with
bim Captain William Swallow, an artist and a seaman, and to prepare
a plan of the course of the Great Lake, sound its depths of water,” etc.®

Barker's report when completed was sent Home to the Court of
Directors and neither the original nor any copy of it can now be traced.
The Council at Fort William, however, appointed one of their Senior
servants, William Frankland, as Collector of the New Lands and
entrusted to him the task of compiling a statistical survey of the
newly acquired lands to the south of Calcutta. This survey cost nearly
Rs. 50,000, ‘‘as it was necessary for Mr. Frankland to carry
a great retinue and a large number of servants of all kinds; add
to this that the King’s Connegoes were maintained at our expence, as
well as the gomasthas and other servants belonging to the zemindars,
whose accounts we sent for.”¢ In forwarding Frankland’s report to the
Court of Directors the Council write :

“No. 49 is a general abstract of all the pergunnahs to the south-
ward 3 of Calcutta, and points out in a very circumstantial
manner the quantity of ground contained in each of those
pergunnahs, the number of villages, markets, zemindars

* Bagbazar. Bagbazar in the northern extremity of Calcutta. A redoubt at this place
was the scene of a skirmish during the siege in 1756.

s pong: Selections, No 243.
3 Press List) Imperial Record Department, 4th August, 1757.
* India Office Records, Letter received from Bengal, vol. IV, p. 101.

8 Long (Op cit., p. 157) says that a return of two parganahs to the north of Calcutta
was also forwarded. To the north of the town of Calcutta the parganah Calcutta stretched
with the Hughly as its western boundary, to about Titaghur. North of this was parganah
Haveli Séxahr (corruptly Halishahr), in which the modern Barrackpore and Ishapore
are situated,
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and farmers, how much ground is assigned over to the
Gentoo idols, to servants, etc, what quantity lays barren and
uncultivated, and the net number of begahs that pay rent to
the zemindars. By which it appears that out of 816,446
begahs the zemindars collect their rents on only 454,804
begahs, the rest being either barren and untenanted, or
assigned over to servants, idols, etc.

“The revenue produced by the ground paying rent amounts to
Rs. 5,54,604,479 ! per annum, to which if we add the ground
assigned over to idols and what-lays untenanted (which in a
few years will be cultivated and settled with riots), the
Company will be able to collect between nine and ten laack
of rupees on the ground to the southward, computing the
value of each begah as at present paid, and supposing the
pergunnah contain no more than what the zemindars
have given Mr. Frankland an account of; but this remains
yet to be settled, and will, we flatter ourselves, turn out
more when a proper measurement is made of the whole,
which ought and must be affected, as the square covers in
each begah differ almost in every pergunnah as to the rents
collected on them. We have great hopes likewise that by a
proper management and encouragement, the value of the
grounds in our boundary will in a few years be enhanced,
and by that means the rent thereof increased.

“By the above abstract the revenues to be paid the Nawab for
the southern lands amounts to Rs. 2,15000 or thereabouts ;
but, as we have not entirely adjusted that point, and are in
hopes of settling it more to the Company’s advantage, we
cannot at present precisely ascertain what the gains of this
zemindarry will amount to.”

For the first sixteen months after coming into possession, the
Company’s government kept the collections of revenue throughout
their newly acquired lands in their own hands. In May, 1759, however,
they decided to let out the revenuesto farm, and on the 21st of that
month the following Rules were issued :

“Notice is hereby given that any person or persons who are
willing to farm any of the pergunnahs or parishes in the

Hon’ble Company’s new lands, may send in their proposals to
the Board within twenty days from the date hereof; a lease

! o the figure appears in the India office Records. Long has Rs. 5,46,04,476 per
annum—an incredible sum. Vide Selections No. 378.

2 India Office Records, Letters received from Bengal, vol. iv., p, g5 ef seg.

“The lands of the Twenty-Four Perguannahs,“ceded to the Company by the treaty of

1757, which subsequently became Colonel Clive’s jaghier, were rated on the King’s, books
at two lack and twenty-two thousand rupees. These lands were, for the space of sixteen
months, retained in bhand on the Company’s account, under the inspection and supetin-
-_tendence of a collector, Mr. Frankland, whose activities, abilities and integrity, ir the
eXécution of that trust, stood unimpeached.” Holwell: Inferesting Historical Events,

part L., pp: 217-18.
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for which farms, if their proposals are accepted, will be
granted them for the term of three years on the following
conditions :

“That the rents be not increased on the riots of the present
tenanted riotty grounds untenanted (or Badgi jeminl!) and in
case any jungles (or patit) grounds are cleared, the farmer is
to pay a russud or annual increase for the same according to
the payments in the before mentioned term of three years.
As soon as the measurement or Jumma-bundy is finished, the
farmer is to pay for the increase of lands agreeable thereto.
The farmer is not to turn out any riots that duly pay their
rents agreeable to their pottahs. No trees are to be cut
down without leave. The new farmers are to accept of the
balances of the riots with the former farmers. The judicial
authority is to be reserved to the Company with all royalties,
etc., privileges appertaining to them as proprietors, and lords
of the manor. The farmer is not to decide the disputes of
caste, nor is he to licence marriages in his district without
proper authority. If any of the ryots die without lawful heirs,
the farmer is to take a true and exact inventory of his or
their effects and send it to the Cutcherry, but is not to deliver
or give up the said effects to anyone without an order. The
farmer is to observe and obey all such orders as shall be sent
him from time to time concerning the Company's business.
The farmer is to take proper care and guard his districts with
such people as shall be allowed him. He is not to grant lands
for road, banks, etc. (Badgi jemin) without leave. He is to
collect and receive rents from the ryots as usually have been
collected by the former Ezardars®; he is also to repair all
banks, dams, drains, etc,, as customary.”3

In June a number of natives came forward with an offer to pay net
collections of the past year and an excess of Rs. 1,10,001, and submit
to a penalty of forfeiting twice the amount of the excess if it should be
proved that they had “increased any tax or sum upon the ryots more
than common.” On these terms they sought to farm the revenues of
the Twenty-four Parganahs for a period of three years.

Holwell comments on this proposal in a minute entered on the
proceedings of 11th June, 1759. He maintained that “keeping the lands
in our own hands will never lead us to a knowledge of their real value,”
and, after bestowing unstinted praise on Frankland, said “it is now
impossible for any one man with the most extensive talents and
integrity, to superintend this revenue in such a manner as to prevent the
Company being injured ; his attention cannot be everywhere, confidence
must be placed in a multitude, and it happens most unluckily that this

1 Basi-samin.
3 [jarahdar.

3 Long: Selections, No. 416. It had been decided on 2nd February, 1758 “that no
Europeans be suffered to purchase any of the Hon'ble Company’s farms.” Zéid., No 340.
See “the form of a lease to a zamindar in 1766”, Long Selections, No. 863.
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confidence centres from necessity in a race of people, who from their
infancy, are utter strangers to the very idea of common faith or
honesty.” As to the proposal that had been made, he was apprehensive
that the whole body of the lands might by a private confederacy “fall
into the hands of people with whom we would not trust any part of our
own fortunes, or confidence,” and, therefore, he would himself offer
Rs. 10,000 more per annum on their terms, “not that I wish myself, or
anyone else, in possession of them, on terms so vague and artful.”” In
conclusion he said—

“On the whole, therefore, I am of opinion that there is no effectual
method to arrive at this knowledge, and make your lands
yield every advantage to our Hon’ble employers, but by putt-
ing them up to public auction in single pergunnahs, under the
restrictions already published. People of substance will be
the only bidders for an entire pergunnah, the bad and
unprofitable parts will go with the good and valueable, and
the risque of deficiencies in the rents be guarded against ; the
expences of collecting will be in a manner reduced to nothing,
and this branch of the service be rendered less complicate and
intricate by our having 25 purchasers only to account with us,
in place of 5 or 600.”1

To these proposals the revenue farmers,®2 whom the English had
found in possession, naturally made objection, and presented the follow-
ing humble remonstrance :—

«That the principal part of your petitioners are the ancient
farmers of the Company’s new acquired lands, and have, with
great labour and care, as well as at great expense, cleared
the same from jungles, removing the savage inhabitants of
the woods, in order to people the lands with human species,
and by an indefatigable, unwearied industry of a period of
years, have the happiness to see their labours rewarded and
the lands flourish; for the still greater encouraging and
promoting of which, their ancestors removed themselves and
families and planted themselves in the heart of the new
farmed lands, where they built their habitation, and by their
presence and gentle treatment had the pleasure to see their
tenants daily increase, whom they looked upon and treated
as part of their family, and who were always ready on the
least call to assist on any emergency, by which means all
dacoits, thieves, etc, have ever been kept out of these lands ;
nor would so much of the lands have been barren and waste
as there is at present, had not a check been put to our
industry by the unjust and exorbitant taxes put upon the
lands by the zemindars (or rather by the different Nabobs)
by which even the flourishing state we had brought the lands

1 Long: Selections, No. 241. Holwell: Interesting Historical Events, pt. 1, p. 218

India Tracts, p. 173, ©seq.
*  Long describes these persons as ! lzardars.” The word properly is “ljarahdars,”
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to has been declining for some years past, and the rents have
been constantly decreasing; when, on the joyful news of the
Hon’ble Company’s being to have possession of them, we
were again revived with the pleasing hopes that we should
see them rise under our care, not only to that flourishing
state they were in some years ago but by the mild and just
government of our hoped for new masters we should in a few
years have the satisfaction to see every beegah of ground
produce its proper harvest to the honour and glory of the
Hon’ble Company.” 1

The Council had thus before them in 1759 the problem which was
to occupy the attention of the English revenue administrators up to the
date of Lord Cornwallis’ Permanent Settlement. The choice lay
between collecting the revenue direct from the representatives of the
cultivators or from the zemindars, or letting the collections out to
speculative capitalists to farm. In 1759 the English decided in favour
of the second method, Clive being of opinion that the arguments set
forth in Holwell's letter were unanswerable. It was resolved unani-
mously “to throw the pergannahs into fifteen lots, and farm them
out for three years certain to the highest bidder at public auction,
reserving to the Company the royalties of the lands, as also the judicial
power, fines, confiscations, burried treasures, etc.” 2 The auction was
beld at the Town Hall and the results were as follows: 3

PARGANAS. Rs. PURCHASERS. Rs.
Magurah put up at 1,02,000 Radakissen Mullick at 1,26,100
Moragatcha " 89,000 Mr. Samuel Griffith 1,20,000
Azimabad " 71,000 Sookdeb Mullick 80,500
Ghurr " 14,000 Chaund Haldar 17,000
Meddunmull and

Ekaburpoor " 57,000 J. Z. Holwell 72,000
Causpoor " 10,000 Edward Handle 15,700
Hattiagur & Meydah ,, 50,000 J. Z. Holwell 51,500
Buridge Hatty and

Ektearpore ” 50,000 Condoo Gosaul 70,000
Mamudamypoor " 300 Ramchurn Nye 6oo
Shawpoor " 11,000 Sappulliram Biswas 13,300
Shawnagore " 7,000 Ramchurn Nye 10,300
Dokinsagore ’ 2,000 Radakissen Mullick 3,800
Balliabussendry " 53,000 Ramsantose Sircar 70,000
Calcutta, Maunpoor,

Poycan & Habdishur,, 45,000 Radachurn Mullick 81,500
Pichacooley ” 21,000 Bullaram Biswas and Bobany
Churn Tagore 33,400

Sicca Rupees ... 7,635,700

1 Long: Op. cit., pp. 203+4
®  Holwell: India Tracts, p. 175.
3 Long: Selections, No. 443. Spelling as given by Long.
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The opinions of the.Court of Directors on Frankland’s report
reached Bengal accompanied with directions for the establishment of a
Revenue Council. Intheir General Letter to Bengal of 1st April, 1760,
the Directors write :

“94. With respect to the Lands ceded to us, Mr. Frankland’s
letter is too prolix and not very intelligible, but his account of
the different pergunnahs, the grounds and the revenues are
judicious and clear. The barren and untenanted lands are
very extensive, but through your care and attention, we shall
hope for large encreased improvements. Coconut trees will
grow in most soils, tho’ Bengal we fear falls Northerly for
them. We recommend it however to your consideration.
Many tracts may be proper for salt, other for paddy, and some
may suit the sugarcane; but as these are matters of such
importance to the future prosperity of Calcutta, we will not
doubt of your most assiduous application, and we shall entirely
and confidently depend upon you. We do not wish to grasp
at more than may be equitable or give umbrage to a supersti-
tious and bigotted people, but if among the great parcels of
land assigned to priests and idols abuses through neglects
may have crept in, such only do we desire you will cut off.
In the collection of these Revenues near 800 servants are
yearly employed whose wages amount to near Rs. 50,000 per
annum, exclusive of large portions of land. Thisis from ten
to tifteen per cent— upon the Revenues, and here perhaps
there may be room for Regulations; but still, if this has
been established-by ancient custom, and a reform may hazard
uneasiness or bring an odium upon us, this is not desired.

“gs. In all great and extensive branches there should be many
checks, and although we do not doubt the honour and fidelity
of our servants, yet we have frequently suffered from their
inattention, and remissness; and in so copious a field for
invention and improvement we cannot be too careful in
methodizing a suitable plan.

“g6. We, therefore, direct that these new acquisitions be placed
under the management of a Committee, to consist of five
persons (the second for the time being to be the head,
together with, at least two others of Council)), observing
that the President is to take the lead whenever he sees it
necessary,* and all application to or disputes with the Country

1 In their General Letter Jof 13th March, 1761, the Court of Directors order that the
President be always head of the Committee of Lands, and they grant him 2} per cent. of the
revenues collected as *consulage or commission.” It is worth noticing that in 1766 the
Court of Directors (General Letter to Bengal, 17th May, para. 17) wrote :—‘“ We observe
that when we first took possession of the grant from Jaffier Ally Cawn, of the Calcutta lands,
we immediately turned out all those who stood between the Government and the cultivators,
and put the farm of the lands up to public sale, in which we make no doubt our s.rvants
acted for our interest, according to the best of their judgment ; but it appears to have been
deemed by the natives an act of oppression, and contrary to the customs of Hindustan.
However it was then a partial evil, confined to a small tract of country, and the.Company
had this to plead in their defence, that thpir whole territ_ory, lying near to Calcutta, could
easily be kept under the general administratlon. of the Presidency, and this might be very
justifiable and very proper for so limited an object.” Verelst: Viem, efc., Appendix, p. 137.

/
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Powers are to pass through his authority alone. Regular
books are to- be kept, and heads opened for the different
pergunnahs ; these transactions to be introduced upon the
General Books under the head of Rents and Revenues of the
New Lands; regular diaries to be kept of their transactions,
entering all the observations, and necessary remarks; the
whole to be transmitted to us annually. It will be necessary
that you appoint a covenanted servant as Secretary and
Accomptant to this Committee.

“97. Their monthly or quarterly accounts are to be delivered to
the Committee of Accounts with their diary to be inspected
and supravised, who are to certify their opinion. Such
accounts are then to be laid before the Board; and, when
approved and passed in Council ; they are to be delivered to
the Accountant, who must then, and not before, bring them
upon the General Books. This Regulation will not affect the
Collector of Rents and Revenues, who must still have under
his charge (unless you have objections) the same confined
districts that were under our zemindar! before the loss of
Calcutta,

“98. You are certainly right to order an exact measurement of
all our new acquired lands, but we hope by more than one
person and at no great expence. Such persons, if they have
judgment, may from their observation of the different grounds,
be able to furnish you with many beneficial hints ; and, if they
strike out new advantages, we shall not be unmindful of their
merit. Sensible and judicious is your conduct in pursuing
lenitive measures and easing the tenants of real oppressions
and burthensome taxes. By adopting these salutary maxims,
our acquisitions and Calcutta also, will in time be filled with
numerous and useful subjects, attached to our Government,
from interest or affection, and the English name be as much
‘revered and respected as it has of late years been deservedly
despised and detested, and to our late President, Colonel
Clive, we chiefly ascribe this merit. Mr. Vansittart receives
a particular mark of our confidence, etc., etc.

“99. The pergunnah of Corry Jurie? that yielded formerly forty
lacks and now only 2,925 Rupees we agree is a most striking
instance of Government oppressions, or such vast tracts of
country could not have become a desert ; and we remark with
pleasure that you are determined to give suitable attention to
this important branch of our acquisitions, to render this
country habitable, and to people it are your great objects......

1 4, e., the Collector of Calcutta.

* “The extent of the pergunnah of Corry Jurie is unknown; it reaches as far as Gunga
Saugor to the soutl, and the Sunderbunds to the east; the revenue it formeily yielded,
we are informed on good authority, amounted to 40 laacks of rupees, but the greatest
part of this pergunnah is now uncultivated, uninhabitated, and overgrown with jungle.
The rents of it amount to no more than Rs. 2,025-9-0, and we pay the Nawab only
Rs. 562-8-0” Clive: Proceedings, 3tst December, 1758,

&
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“138. Before your letters reach’d us, we had finished our con-
tracts for silver for this season; and therefore, had we been
inclined, it was not in our power to have furnished you with
any quantity, but you amaze us in saying that your treasure
will be exhausted in the year 1760 with supplys to Fort St.
George, and your subordinates, compleating the citadel and
the necessary expences of the Settlement. This is really at
present past our power to comprehend, and should it prove a
truth, your great and dazzling acquisitions will be the ruin of
this Company, for it's a striking fact, that altho’ we have
benefitted upwards of a million sterling by the late treaty,
yet not a single shilling of this immense sum has gone in aid
to our returns, and by our representation the whole will be
bury’d in your citadel.”

In reply to these instructions the President and Council, 16th
January, 1761, wrote :

““107. The gathering in the Revenues was lodged in the hands
of one of the members of your Council, under the title of
Collector, who has regularly accounted for all the rents and
revenue whilst that method subsisted ; and, since the receipt
of your commands of this season, dated the 1st April, we
have, according to the regulations contained in the g6th and
97th paragraphs, formed a Committee of New Lands consisting
of three Members of the Board and two Junior servants, with
an accomptant and Secretary, for the greater regularity in
carrying on the business of their office. They will keep
separate books and annually transmit you their proceed-
ings.”1

The correspondence between the Governor and Council and the
Court shows that the Committee of the New Lands met once in each
week. In order to obtain a personal familiarity with the circumstances of
each individual parganah, the management formerly in the hands of the
Collector, was divided between the members of the Committee. On the
8th April, 1762, the President and Council write to the Court: ’

“g. The leases of the Calcutta pergunnahs expiring the first of
next month, excepting that of Magurah, the Committee of
New Lands have met very frequently to consider of the proper
method of disposing of them to the Company’s best advantage
with a view at the same [time] to their further improvement.
Plans are prepared for dividing each pergunnah into smaller
parcels, and we are agreed that the leases should be for a
longer term to make it worth the farmers’ while to be at some
expence for improving the ground; but, on the other hand,
we wish to have a more perfect knowledge of the real produce
of the lands, that is —what the labourers reap from the

1} Previous to the formation of this Committee, there had been a Committee, appointed
21st September, 1758, for the management of the new lands. Messrs. Watts, Frankland and
Scrafton served on this first Committee. See IVt Report of the Committee of Secrecy, 1773.

14



cvi INTRODUCTION.

grounds, as well as what they pay to the farmers, for we don't
find that the dedundeeor rent roll compiled by Mr. Frankland
is at all to be depended on, nor that the farmers have been
guided by that in collecting the rents from the inhabitants,
although by the terms of the leases, it should have been so.
We also wish to have an exact measurement of the whole,
and indeed we think both those informations very necessary
before we let them on a long lease. We are inclined, there-
fore, to make a trial to acquire this knowledge by keeping the
lands for one year in the Company’s hands, and only to let
the salt pans, which we have reason to think will become a
very considerable separate article of your revenues. Mr.
Cameron has made a very compleat survey and plan of the
outlines of the whole from Saugur round the Eastern hmit till
he joined the river at Bankabuzar, which is the northern
extent of your possession. He will proceed again with all
expedition to make an inside survey and measurement of each
pergunnah, which will give us a compleat knowledge of the
number of acres in the whole and in each pergunnah. In the
meantime, we propose that the several members of the
Committee of New Lands shall have the care and management
of the several pergunnahs in the manner they themselves
divided them as in their proceedings of 1761 :—that they shall
register the number of parishes in each pergunnah, the
number of villages in each parish, and the number and names
of the inhabitants (and) landholders in each village, with the
quantity of ground held by each, the nature and produce of it
and the yearly rent it has heretofore been rated at,—and
that for the present they shall collect the same rents as were
collected by the farmers until we can form a judgment from
the registers and measurement how far théy may be in-
creased.”

The General Letter from Bengal to the Court of 3oth October, 1762,
shows that the proposal to keep the parganahs in the Company’s hands
for a year was adopted. This fact would suggest that the Committee of
Lands had found cause to call in question Holwell’s belief that the
putting up of the revenues to farm afforded the simplest means of
ascertaining the value of the farms. This belief was based on the
assumption that no rational person would commit himself to an obliga-
tion to pay a lump-sum in composition for the revenues, unless he could
see his way clear to realizing the amount and a certain margin as his
own profit from the cultivators. Whatever abstract arguments might be
advanced in favour of this view, in practice it was found that the bids
for revenue farms made at public auctions, were, as a rule, of a wildly
speculative character. If the farm was to last for the three years, in the
first year the farmer would rent-rack the cultivators; and, if he found
he could neither make a profit for himself or dischatge his obligations,
he would in all probability abscond ; in the second year if he remained
he would fall into arrears, and in the third, knowing the remainder of
his time to be short, he would be grossly negligent. As the revenue
farmer was seld'pm of the soil race, but a mere stranger in the districts,
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there were no ties of local interests to link him with the ryots, and the
term of his office was far too short to allow for the growth of confidence.
The temptation to make undue profits, if profits proved possible, or else
either to abscond or become fraudulently bankrupt, had not been duly
considered when it was maintained as plain commonsense that no man
would involve himself in obligations to pay a lump-sum if the lands or
customs would not produce such a lump-sum and an ample profit for the
collector into the bargain. The speculative nature of the bidding excluded
the possibility of deriving from the offers made at the auction any just
estimate of the value of the lands or the customs.

In 1767 a number of natives offered for the farm of the Twenty-
four Parganahs the sum of Rs. 10,00,001, but “the President continuing
firm in his opinion that the lands are worth more than the sum offered,”
the Council judged it “more conducive to the Company’s interest to
continue the collections in their own hands, under the direction of the
Collector General till such a time as the real value of the lands are
exactly ascertained.”! The President at this date was Lord Clive and
his opinion will be read with a special interest :

With regard to the Company’s own, or Calcutta lands, I have but
too much reason to believe that great injustice has been done
to the Company in the collection ot those revenues. The Select
Committee had in consideration a thorough enquiry into their
nature and value, but could not obtain the necessary insight,
nor detect the frauds committed, until the expiration of the
term for which the lands were rented to the late farmers,
which was on the 1st November last. These lands now
come under the department of this Board, and your utmost
endeavours will not, I trust be wanting to ascertain their real
value. If the gentlemen who formerly parcelled out the
pergunnahs amongst themselves did not acquire large advan-
tages, it is certain that the servants acting under them did;
for I am well informed that the banians of those gentlemen,
as well as others, hold lands at the rate of 3 to 12 annas
per Beegah while other tenants pay from Rs. 2-4 to Rs. 2-12.
From the best information 1 can get, I find that the Calcutta
lands may in a short time be capable of yielding to the
Company between fourteen and fifteen lakhs of rupees per
annum. Should that be the case, how reprehensible is
the conduct of those gentlemen who so shametully neglected
the interest of their employers.”’?

This statement was made by Clive on 1gth January, 1767, and he
was, in all probability, relying on the researches of Verelst, who
contributes to the Proceedings of the Select Committee, 2gth April, a
minute of great importance on the subject of the Calcutta lands:

o

3 Long: Selections, No. 912,

2 Long: Selections, No.g41. See Grant: *‘ Analysis” in 5th Report. Grant describes
Verelst’s report of 1767 as “the completest and most authentic hustabood investigation ever
executed in Bengal.”

3 See India Office Records Department, Home—Miscellaneous, 737.
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“By the several accounts taken at different times of the measure-

ment of the Twenty-four-Pergunnahs, it appears that the
whole of the lands amounts to 10,82,543 beegahs 15 cottahs of
ground, which has been cultivated but on account of Charity
lands pretended to be deserted, and others again secreted,
not above two-thirds of this measurement have actually paid
rents to the Company. A research into the cause of this
deficiency, being well convinced that instead of a decrease
there has been a considerable increase of inhabitants on the

Company’s lands, is what has particularly engaged my time
and attention.

“On an examination of the Charity Lands, it appears that when

the Company received charge of these pergunnabs, the total
of the lands assigned for this purpose (an account of which
was delivered in by the zemindars themselves)—

B. C. G
Amounted to ... 217,142 19 8
Since which there has been resumed .. 14971 I ©

So that the total of charity land would stand at  2,02,481 18 8!

“In

instead of which it has by some means, probably by the
villainy of the black servants in office, increased since that
time to no less than Beegahs 2,63,702-2-8, by which the Com-
pany has been deprived of the annual rent of Beegahs
61,220-4-8, most, it not all, of which has most probably been
disposed of amongst the black servants in office, or their
dependants.

the account of these lands, it is said that Beegahs 25,679-13
have been lying uncultivated for a considerable time. As
they were originally designed for and appropriated to the
immediate maintenance and support of poor people, or to
religious purposes, they could be of use only while they were
cultivated, and ought immediately as they became neglected
by the people who had charge of them, to have been resumed,
according to the custom of the country, by the Company.
I judge a considerable addition might be made to the revenues
by obliging every person to produce the sunnud by which he
is entitled to hold these lands. The amount of the lands
allotted to the above charitable purposes, after resuming the
Beegahs 61,220-4-8, I think is very considerable, for estimat-
ing the Beegahs 2,02,401-18-82 at the medium rent of the
other lands, the annual revenue will be no less than
Rs. 3,14,638,

#“The amount of ryotty lands, or those which are farmed out,

appears in the cutcherry books to be Beegahs s5,91,172-9,

1 It will be observed that there is an error in substraction, but the figures are given as in
Long’s Selections.

2 Thus in Long.
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producing an annual revenue of Rs. 10,12,305-12; there
have, moreover, stood under this head Beegahs 29,363-3-12
said to be uncultivated, but from the several examinations
made therein, I am of opinion that it is mostly cultivated, and
ought to be brought to the immediate credit of the revenue.
It also appears that the lands held by the servants in office and
their dependants have been estimated at less rent than they
should have been by Beegahs 15,877-5-13, which will like-
wise be brought to account, as I see no necessity for douceurs
where every man employed by the Company receives his
monthly allowance, nor can I trace by what authority they
held them at the low rate they have hitherto done.

“Under the head of commar,! or lands cultivated by contract,

there appears to be Beegahs 1,98,305-19-12. The amounts of
these lands must ever be uncertain, as the rents being paid
in the products of the land, their value depends wholly on the
sale of such products. However estimating them on a
medium by what they have hitherto yielded, their rents will
amount to Rs. 2,91,842-10-11.

“«These together with the batta® of rupees, buzzy Jumma3 or

collections made in the pergunnah cutcherries, salamies* on
the weddings and visitation of the dees, called diderry,?
farms of tuffauls,® salt and wax duties collected in the markets
and ghauts, interest on money advanced for cultivation,
repairs of dykes and bridges, rents of the collarys,” the 15
dees, etc., of Calcutta town, are none of them included in the
estimation I have laid before you. They also require a
particular scrutiny, as well as the expences attending the
collections ; and I am perfectly sensible that many lands are
still beld at a low unequitable rent, though the intricacies and
delays attending these matters having prevented my finding
them out.

«“As it will be impossible to fix the just value of the lands until

tlieir measurement and products can be ascertained, I would
recommend that as many capable surveyors as could be

rocured should be employed on this business. They should
be directed to form a register of all the ryots; the quantity of
land each holds and the usual products, when each ryot might
have inserted in his potta the measurement of his lands and

1

Commar, correctly Khamar.
Batta. Exchange charges on various kinds of the rupees. The word is also used

to mean sustenance allowance granted to the troops.
3 Bazzy Jumma. Baszi-jama, ie, lands held on various tenures, but exempt from

revenue.
Salamies. Salami a gift by way of compliment, or in return for a favour,

Diderry—dihdari (dih=village).
Tuffanls. Verelst defines a tuffaul as “ collection ot callarrys, or salt pans.”
Collarys. Khalari—places in which salt is made.

4

13
8
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the annual or monthly rents he is to pay ; this will prevent
the impositions of the black servants, or if you farm the lands,
any oppressions of the farmers.

H. VERELST.”!

Through the transactions recorded in the present chapter, the
English Government professed a lively interest in the welfare of the
cultivators. This has been instanced in the Rules for farming lands
published on 21st May, 1759—a document which has been quoted. The
Collector’s orders of 1767 direct the native officials: ‘the article of
increase in the Hustabood you are to make a strict enquiry into, and
what can be collected without injury to the ryots you are to collect and
forward to me, and you are to be very particular in giving to me an
account of the state of your pergunnah; what improvements it will
admit of, and what further benefits can accrue to the Company without
laying the ryots under any hardships. it being the Company’s intention
that they should enjoy ease and comfort.”?

Of the persons described as zamindars, the English at this time
entertained grave apprehensions. The Council write to the Court, 8th
September 1760:

“ Without the greatest care being taken to prevent zemindars
from carrying on long balances and defrauding the Govern-
ment under various pretences, your collections would soon
dwindle to a sum insufficient to defray their own charges,
the authority of the administration would be despised, and
the several rajahs and zemindars would assume to themselves
an independent power, after they had fleeced the people and
fattened upon the spoils of the public.”3

In 1767 the Board took into consideration a joint proposal made by
Raja Nubkissen and a member of the Ghosal family, to farm the Calcutta
towns for three years at thirteen lakhs per annum. This offer the Board
rejected on the ground that “Nubkissen’s present situation gives him
so great an influence in the country that the ryots might be alarmed
and apprehensive of oppression.”*

The “ nett revenue clear of all charges” derived by the English
from the Calcutta lands, including the older zamindari of the Three
Towns, is indicated by the following figures, supplied by Verelst.?

1 Long: Selections, No.946. Verelst, the grandson of Cornelius Verelst, the noted
fower-painter, “arrived’’ in Bengal on 16th July, 1749, was second of Council at Jugdea
in 1736 and Sub-Secretary at Fort William in 1757. In 1760 he was sent to Chittagong
as Chief. In 1762 (11th March), his name appears as the last of the signatures of a
protest against Vansittart's policy. In 1763 he attempted an expedition to Manipur,
but got no further than Khaspur in Kachar. In 1765 he came to Calcutta and was
a member of the Select Committee. In the same year he was appointed Supravisor
of Burdwan and in the following year of Midnapur. His inquiries into the Calcutta
lands commenced towards the end of 1766,

3 Long: Selections, No. 957,

3 Long, No. 885.

+ Jbid, No. 951.

¥ Verelst: View, efc, p. 73, Compare Fourth Report of the Committee of Secrecy, 1773,
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May to the end of April. Cur. Rupees.
1760-61 Cash received. 730,501
1761-62 do. 597,355
1762-63 do. 486,352
1763-64 do. 740,473
1764-65 do. 979,349
1765-66 do. 602,459
1766-67 do. 801,571
1767-68 do. 1,116,395
1768-69 do. 1,030,464
1769-70 do. 1,022,845

Verelst explains that the apparent variation during the years 1760-
1766 was owing to the irregular payments of the sum of Sa. Rs. 2,12,332
which was due first to the Nawab and latterly, as will be explamed to
Lord Chve ‘““the revenues themselves having undergone no great
alteration.” The marked increase of the three last years must be
regarded as the result of Verelst’s organization of the revenues in 1766.

Before concluding it will be necessary to say a few words on the
subject of Lord Clive’s Jagir.! On his creation as an Omrah of the
Empire, Clive had expected that the usual jagir, or assignment of the
revenues of a selected district, would he granted him for the support of
his newly acquired dignity, and early in 1759 he wrote to the Seths, the
great Murshidabad bankers, a letter in which he expressed his dis-
appointment and asked them to use their influence to procure a jagir
for him. On the 20th February the Seths replied that they had made
an application to the Nawab, who, however, would not grant one in
Bengal, or in Orissa,  which is very poor,” but in Bihar.?

In the same year, 1759, Prince Mahomed Ali Gohur (afterwards
Emperor Shah Alam) with the design of supplanting Mir Jafar in his
government, entered Behar, at the head of an army, which at one time
was supposed to number 40,000 men. The Prince at once sought to
induce Clive to desert Mir Jafar, but, so far from wavering in his
alliance, Clive gatherd together a force of 500 Europeans and 2,500

} SFagir (jai—place, gir—taking). The Commissioners appointed in 1776 by Hastings to
report on the land revenues, divide jagirs into two kinds:
1. Assignments of particular lands in order to defray State expenses, e.g., the
fleet at Dacca.

2. Assignments for the support of individuals—

Altamgha—hereditary and unconditional.
Zati ~-Zatee,” personal and for a single life.
Mashrut —* Mushroot,” conditional on the performance of specified services.

Harington: Elementary Analysis, vol. ii, p. 66. See also an article by W. Irvine:
Fournal, Royal Asiatic Society, 1896, pp. 520-21.

2 Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Calcutta, 1911, No, 48. See also Auber; Rise and
Progress of the British Power in India, 1837, Vol. L, p. 75, and 4 letter to the Proprietors of
the East India Stock from Lord Clive to which are added the opinions of the Hon. Charles
York and Sir Fletcher Norton on his Lordship's Faghire, London, 1764 (Reprinted 1764), and
The Opinions of Mr. Fames Eyre, Mr. Edward Haskins, Mr. E. Thurlow and Mr. Fohn
Dunning on the subject of Lord Clive’s Faghire ; to which are added his Lordship’s letter,
etc. London. (No date). For the Sanad, etc., connected with the Jagir see Aitchison :
Treaties, etc.,, Vol. L, Appendix,
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sepoys and set out for Patna. Having relieved that citadel, Clive
returned to Murshidabad, where the Nawab Mir Jafar, either out of
gratitude, or as a means for securing or conlirming Clive’s fidelity,
bestowed upon him the jagir of the lands known as the Twenty-four
Parganahs. It has been secn that when those parganahs were
entrusted as a zamindari to the Company, the revenue to be paid
annually into the Nawab’s Treasury, by the Company, was fixed by
the sanad at Rs. 2,22,058-10-2-3. The effect of Clive’s acquisition of
the jagir was that the Company’s fixed revenue quota, instead of being
payable to the Nawab’s Treasury became payable to Lord Clive.
When the Company in England, at a later time, chose to quarrel with
Clive, they raised the question of the legality of this transaction ; but it
must have been obvious to any disinterested person that Mir Jafar's
right to bestow the Jagir on Clive stood on precisely the same ground
as his right to bestow the zamindari on the Company. It has been said
that “ Clive was man of the world enough to know that his position as
at once servant and landlord of the Company was an impossible one,’”’!
but it does not appear that Clive was ever conscious of standing in this
double position. The criticism seems to be based on a misunder-
standing, for what Clive received was not a “ quit-rent” on lands let
to the Company, but an assignment of the revenues. Had the Company,
as the result of some political misunderstanding, determined to withhold
the payment of the revenues due from them, Clive would have been
simply a sufferer without means of securing redress. To suggest that
as jagirdar he could have deprived the English of their zamindari, or
treated them as a landlord might treat tenants at will, is to misunder-
stand what is meant by the term jagir. By a sezad from the Nawab,
dated 23rd June, 1765, and a farman from the Emperqr of the same date,
the jagir was confirmed to Clive for ten years from the 1oth May, 1764;
after the expiration of this term, or on Clive’s death if occuring within
it, the jagir was to vest in the Company as an a@lfamgha* or uncondi-
tional and perpetual gift.

Y Cambridge Modern History, vol. V1., page 557.
2 Altamgha—a royal gift, “so called from two Turkish words signifying red and seal,
such grants having been formerly sealed with a red seal.’—Field.



CHAPTER VII.

i,

THE CEDED LANDS.

Mir Jafar by his first treaty with the English, in addition to the
promise of an extension of the Company’s Calcutta lands, had offered
compensation to the extent of Rs 1,77, 060,000 to those whose property
had suffered in the siege of Calcutta. In addition to the obligations
entered upon in the treaty, the new Nawab had pledged himself to a
donation of £ 600,000 to the army and the navy and payments to various
English officials amounting to Rs. 53,90,000. During the first period
of his rule, he managed to pay a large portion of the restitution
money and also of the donation to the army, but his own financial
position became troubled, and the piy of his own army fell into arrear.
He was soon driven to the necessity of pledging his jewels to the
Company’s Government at Calcutta, and in 1758 was compelled to
offer portions of the revenues of Burdwan and Nadia as “tuncaws”
(tankhwahs) or assignments for the realisation of his dues.!

Before the English Government actually broke with Mir Jafar
and entered into negotiations with Mir Kasim, Governor Vansittart
went so far as to ask for a donation to the Company of the faujdari
(military district) of Sylhet and the province of Chittagong; but Mir
Jafar respectfully declined to part with these lands.?

[t cannot be doubted that Holwell, and in turn Vansittart, honestly
believed that the Nawab, whom the English had enthroned after
Plassey, was a person in whom no confidence could be placed. They
held that he was not only incompetent, but also treacherous, and they
had some reason to believe that while by public profession he svas
their ally, he had been guilty of intrigues with their enemies the
Dutch, and with the Mughal prince, Ali Gohur.3 Moreover, until

Y Third Report of the Select Committee, 1773, p. 311. In July 1758, Luke Scrafton,
the Agent at the Murshidabad Durbar, writes: “As soon as the pooneah is passed, the
Raja of Burdwan will pass a writing fixing the dates on which he will make the several
payments for next year; when this is settled, permit me to recommend it to your
Honour, etc., to order the reveaue to be paid in Calcutta, and whenever he is a few days
beyond his agreement, to march a company of sepoys into his country, and when once he is
thoroughly intimidated, he will be very regular in his payments It will be necessary to look
on the province as the Hon'ble Company's for these two years, and not to permit the
Government (z.e.,, the Nawab) to interfere in any but Phousdary affairs till the Company’s
tuncaws are paid.” Long: Op.cit p. 147. Scrafton suggested that the Raja of Nadia
ought to be threatened ¢ with loss of caste and such corporal punishments as are in practice
among these people” 71bid. N> 357. Tan literally ‘body’: khwah ‘need,” .ence
tankhwah. See Irvine: Fournal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1896, Article: “ The Army of
the Indian Moghuls.”

®  Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Imperial Record Department, vol. I, no. 386.
See Long: Selections, No. 39:.

3 Vide Vansittart: A Narrative of the Transactions of the English in Bengal (1766) ;
Scrafton: Observations on Mr. Vansittart’'s Narrative (1767) ; Holwell : An Address from §.
Z. Holwell, Esq. to Luke Scrafton (1776).

15
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1765, when Clive returned to Bengal, it was believed that Mir Jafar
had been responsible for the murder of the harmless members of
Ali Verdi’s family.! It was resolved, therefore, that Mir Jafar should
be deposed,-and that Mir Kasim should take the old Nawab's place on
the musnud. 1t was agreed with the latter (September 27th, 1760) :

“For all charges of the Company and of the said army and
provisions for the field, etc., the lands of Burdwan, Midna-
pore, and Chittagong, shall be written and granted. The
Company is to stand all losses, and receive all profits of
these countries, and we will demand no more than the
assignment aforesaid.”

On October 27th, 1760, quietly and without the least disturbance,
Mir Kasim Khan was placed on the musnud. On 8th January, 1761,
Amyatt caused a minute to be entered on the proceedings of the
Select Committee, in which in the strongest terms (‘‘ breach of faith,”
“odium,"’ ‘“‘assisted to dethrone a man whom we were bound to support
by the most solemnities divine and human,” etc.) expressed, on behalf
of himself and two other members, an entire disapprobation of the
late revolution.?

At its start the Government of Mir Kasim Khan was full of
bright promise. Within a short time the new Nawab was able to pay
so large a sum to his English creditors that the Government at Fort
William were enabled to remit two and a half lakhs of rupees to
Madras—a sum which arrived at the latter place ‘very opportunely
for the service of the Army before Pondicherry.” In fact, however,
Mir Kasim was straining the resources of the revenues to an impos-
sible degree of tension; and it is probable that from the very first
moment of his elevation to thHe musnud his attention was fixed on
procuring the means to drive the English out of Bengal. Although
made Nawab by the English Governor, Mir Kasim knew very well,
that amang the members of the Council at Fort William he had
mortal foes, and possibly no friend save Warren Hastings. It was,
as Verelst afterwards expressed it, “impossible that Mir Cassim should
rest the foundation of his government upon our support.”* Realising
that, in course of time, there must be war to the death the Nawab

set himself to husband his resources, and to increase the rigour of
the revenue system.®

* “4]n justice to the memory of the late Nabob Meer Jaffier, we think it incumbent on

us to acquaint you that the horrible massacres wherewith he is charged by Mr. Holwell, in his
Address to the Proprietors of the East India Stock (page 46) are aspersions on the character
of that Prince, which have not the least foundation in truth. The several persons thus
affirmed and who were generally thought to have been murdered by his order, are all now
living except two, who were put to death by Meeran without the Nabob’s consent or
knowledge.” Letter of Clive and the Select Committee, Sept. joth, 1765.

4 Aitchison : Collection of Treaties, etc., vol. 1, p. 215.
*  Firminger: Diaries of Three Surgeons of Paina (1909), p. 5. Amyatt, whom Verelst

‘regarded as setting an example of personal moderation, was murdered by Kasim Khan’s
officers in 1763.

¢ Verelst: View, efc. p. 47.

s Francis (Minufes, efc. p. 23) writes of Mir Kasim: His principle issaid to have
been that whatever the ryots paid should be the property of government, thereby totally
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Clive and his Secret Committee, in a letter dated January 24th,
1767, describe the paramount cause of the Company’s troubles in
the days of Mir Kasim’s rule. “We,” they wrote to the Court of
Directors, ‘“now come to your instructions relative to the inland
trade, which you very justly consider as the foundation of all the
bloodshed, massacres, and confusion, which have happened of late
years in Bengal”! The inland trade referred to here is defined by
Vansittart as ““trade carried on by private persons, on their own credit
and bottom, in commodities produced in the country, and again sold
in the same country. ... The private trade consists of goods not fit
for exportation, but which are again sold in the country ; or it consists
of articles which are funds appropriated, and paid into the exchequer of
the country (i.e. the Nawab’s) government.”2 With thisinland trade the
East India-Company had no direct concern, and not one -of the charters
of privileges secured by the Company could possibly be held to confer
on the Company’s servants, as private merchants trading on their
own behalf, the free trade privileges which had been secured for the
export or import of goods of the public company. Vansittart very forcibly
observes: ‘‘It never could be intended by the Mogul King that
private foreign merchants should be upon a better footing than private
native merchants. If any set of foreign merchants could deal in all
goods, produced in the country, and sold in any part of the same
country, free from all duties, while at the same time all duties were
paid by the natives, the foreigners must, in consequence, keep the
whole trade to themselves, and also the Government of the country
must lose the whole of the duties.”

Luke Scrafton, who had had a hand in the trick by which Clive duped
Omichund (Amirchand), and who had been posted at Murshidabad as
Resident after Plassey, writes in his Oébservations on Mr. Vansittart's
Narrative :

“The general idea at this time entertained by the Servants of the
Company was that the battle of Plassey did only restore us to
the same situation we were in before the capture of Calcutta;
the Subah was conceived to be as independent as ever, and
the English returned into their commercial character, with no

excluding the zemindars. His officers acted accordingly. Their fear of him was so great,
both from his skill in accounts and the rigour of his government, that his orders were
punctually obeyed ; so that partly from the direct produce of the lands, and partly by fines
and confiscations, it is believed that for two years, he drew almost double the ancient
revenue from the country. His short administration may rather be deemed a regular
pillage, than a system of government.” In the IVth Report of the Commiitee of Secrecy,
1773 (p. 3,) it is stated that in 1760 Mir Kasim ‘“laid an additional tax of 14 annas or
<5 parts of the original crown rents; and estimated this addition at Sicca Rupees 4,50,164-
2.9, which being added to the former revenue of 1,32,82,060-2-17-1, made the whole of
these revenues in his time amount to 1,37,33.124-5-6-1 or £71,792,172 sterling” In
arriving at this last sum it seems to have been forgotten that if in the time of Ali Werdi
Khan, Rs. 1,32,82,060-2-17-1 was the total revenue, when Mir Kasim came to the musnud
the revenues of Chittagong, Midnapore, and Burdwan were assigned to the English, and
that therefore Mir Kasim’s increase cannot be simply added to Ali Verdi Khan’s revenue in
order to discover the former’s total revenue.

1 Verelst : View, efc., Appendix, p. 44.
2 Vansittart : Original Papers, vol. 1, p. xxvii.
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other alteration in their situation than a full indemnification
for their losses, and a small acquisition of territory, which it
was thought might defray the military expences of their
garrisons, grown too burdensome to be suppoited by their
trade alone; if the forces were to take the field in support of
the Subah, it was to be at his expence.”

This passage no doubt represents the #Zkeory arrived at of the
Company’s position in regard to the Nawab, but it completely
misrepresents the actual situation. In the full confidence of the English
power, of which the event of Plassey was eloquent, the majority of the
Company’s servants, from the Governor down to the youngest of the
juniors,! had become merchants on a large scale, sometimes even
forming companies for trade with one another, and employing European
agents in frontier districts which, but a few years before, had been traced
on no published map.? In April, 1762, Warren Hastings, then a member
of the Council, wrote :

“The oppression committed under the sanction ol the English
name, and through want of spirit in the Nabob's subjects to
oppose them ... This evil, I am wellassured is practised all
over the country by people falsely assuming the habits of our
sepoys or calling themselves our gomastahs ... I have been
surprised to meet with several English flags flying in places
which | have passed on the river. [ do not believe that [
passed a boat without one. By whatever title they have been
assumed (for I could only trust to the information of my eyes,
without stopping to ask questions), I am sure their frequency
can bode no good to the Nabob’s revenues, the quiet of the
country, or the honour of our nation, but evidently tend to
lessen each of them ... You are sensible, Sir, that it is from
such little irregularities, too trivial perhaps for publick
complaint, and continually repeated, that the country prople
are habituated to entertain the most unfavourable notions of
our government, and by them the English credit suffers much
more than by matters which are made of greater consequence
in the debates between the Nabob and us.”?

With a view to coming to an agreement on the vexed subject
of the inland trade, Vansittart, accompanied by Hastings, visited the
Nawab at Murshidabad in October, 1762. A very reasonable plan
was discussed, and agreed to; but the Council at Calcutta were

! William Bolts is the person whose history would most amply illustrate this
period. Expelled from India, he ultimately joined the Austrian Company. ~The letter-books
of Richard Barwell, now in the possession-of the Calcutta Historical Society, show how
Barwell built up for himself an enormous fortune by trade of all kinds, and was thereby
enak’ed to secure his advancement by bribes lavishly scattered on influential people in
England, Vabhsittart’s private trade formed a cause of real embarrassment to him when this
matter of the inland trade became a burning topic of politics.

s See, for instance, the map includ&d in Bartholomew Plaisted’s
Calcutta by Sea to Busserahy and from thence across the Great Desert in 1
This map is reproduced in Bengal : Past and Present, Vol, IV.

3 Vansittart: A Narrative of the Transactions in Bengal, vol. 11, pp. 80-81.

Fourney from
750. London, 1757.
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doubt have made him a highly successful colonial Governor in our
own day; but in the Bengal of those times the strong, and perhaps
even the brutal, methods of Lord Clive were necessary to secure
order at the Council Board, and subordination in the public service.

War having been declared with Mir Kasim, Mir Jafar was once
again proclaimed Nawab. In the agreement of July 6th, 1763, the
restored Subah, undertook “to confirm to the Company the cession
of- the provinces of Burdwan, Midnapore, and Chittagong, made by
Meer Cassim, either by Jagheere, Sunnuds, or such deeds as may
secure the property of them, in the strongest manner, to the Com-
pany.” * Had the Nawab, on the basis of this obligation, created
the three ceded districts English zamindaris, their history would, for a
few years at least to come, have been somewhat different from what
it actually was. The formal treaty, however, on July 1oth, 1763, ran

“] do grant and confirm to the Company, for defraying the
expences of their troops, the Chucklas of Burdwan, Midna-
pore, and Chittagong, which were before ceded for the same
purpose.”’ 2

Lord Macaulay, in his Essay on Warren Hastings, has said that
up to 1772, ‘“‘the only branch of politics about which the English
functionaries busied themselves was negotiation with the npative
princes. The police, the administration of justice, the maintenance of
order, were left to this high functionary,” i.e., the native Naib
Diwan of Murshidabad. The authority of Mr. Westland, as that of a
professional revenue servant and an antiquarian of established repute
in Bengal, is in this matter even greater than that of Lord Macaulay.
“I am aware,” writes Mr. Westland, ¢ that direct government is
usually dated from 1772, but what the English did before 1781 can
hardly be dignified by the name of internal administration.” 3 Mr.
Baden-Powell writes in one place of his Skort Account of the Land
Revenue and its Administration in British India,* ‘1765-1772
(when British rule began):” in another “when the province of
‘Bengal, Bihar, and Orissa’ was granted to the English Company in
1765, at first no attempt was made to conduct the administration by
British officers.”®> The tendency has thus been to ignore completely

t Verelst: View,efc., Appendix, p. 158.
3 Ajtchison: Op. cit, vol. 1, p. 218.

3 Westland : Report om the District of Fessore, 2nd edn., p.354. Mr. Westland’s
Report is a most valuable work based on the Collectorate records of Jessore. Unfortunately
the records actually preserved at Jessore only begin with the correspondence of a
Mr. Henckel who was appointed Judge and Magistrate at Moorley in 1781. Mr. Westland
apparently had no knowledge of the correspondence of Robert Wilmot, who was Supervisor
of Jessore in 1769, in which much information about that district is to be found.

+  Second edition, p. 43.

8 Op.cit.p. 155: In a footnote Mr. Baden-Powell corrects an error, “inadvertently
left at page 393 of vol. I.” of his Land Systems of British India. In the amended passage it
is stated quite generally # our direct Revenue™ control did not begin till 1772.” It may be
observed that on p. 155 of the smaller work, Baden-Powell speaks as if the District Super-
visors became Collectors, before Warren Hastings' time. This is a mistake; and it is also
inaccurate to speak of Hastings as “ Governor-General” 1n 1772. He took office as
Governor and President of Fort William on April 13, 1772. The office of ' Governor-
General” was a creation under the Regulating Act of 1773.
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the Ceded Districts, which in 1765 together with the Calcutta lands
yielded a very considerable proportion of the total revenues of Bengal.
It has beern usual to follow up a criticism of the Company on the
score of its delay in taking up the direct administration, by remarks on
the subject of the ignorance of its servants of all matters concerning
revenue, when at last, in obedience to the command to * stand forth as
diwan,” they assumed the immediate government of the country. Itis
indeed true that the English were somewhat slow in “standing forth as
diwan” in the lands of “the Diwani portion,” but the explanation is
supplied by Verelst, who writes that, in 1765, the Council “very wisely
determined to assume the slow but certain conviction of experience for
their guide, giving their first attention to those provinces, the revenues
of which had been subject to the administration of Europeans from the
first cession of those lands by Mir Kasim in 1760. The'event corresponded
to their views. In the year 1769 the condition of these last-named
provinces formed so striking a contrast to other parts of Bengal, where
the oppression of the ancient government was universally felt, that
foreigners as well as natives began earnestly to wish for a more
extensive reformation.” 1

Attention must now be devoted to each 'of the Ceded Districts
in turn :

Chittagong.

It has been already mentioned that Chittagong is fallaciously
included in the Ain-i-akbari as a portion of the&nghal dominions.?
A part of the extensive Hindu kingdom of ‘Tipperah, Chittagong
seems to have become for a time a possession of the Afghan
kings of Bengal. During the struggle between the Mughal power
and the Afghan kings, Chittagong was seized by the kings of Arracan
in whose hands it remained to the close of the sixteenth century.
According to a somewhat questionable tradition, the Magh chief, who,
held Chittagong on behalf of the Arracanese king, in 1638, visited
Dacca, and made over the district to the Governor, Islam Khan, and
by this circumstance the name of Islamabad, applied by the Mahomedans
to the principal town, is explained. It is certain that in 1666 the
Governor  Shaistah Khan despatched a fleet and an army, and
that Chittagong having then been laid siege to and captured, from
that time forward, formed one of the frontiers of the Mughal province
of Bengal. Here also the Portuguese had once a settlement;
Chittagorg being their Porto grande, as Satgaon, a little to the
N.W. of Hughli, had been their Porto pigueno.?

In December, 1760, Chittagong having been ceded to the English
Company by the Nawab Mir Kasim, the Council at Fort William

1

Verelst : View, etc., p. 75.
Beames writes : “This Sarkar was not conquered till the reign of Aurangzeb about
the year A. D. 1665. The present names of the parganahs, dating from the conquest only,
do not in any way correspond with those given in the 4in, and to those, like myself, familiar
with the district do not .ecall any of the local names now current.” ournal of the Royal
Asiatic Society, 1896, pp. 134-,5.

3 See Caesar Frederick’s travels A.D. (1563-81) in Hakluyt's Voyages (Everyman’s
Library, vol iii. pp. 236 & 237. Bemgcl: Past & Present, vol. ii, pp. 383-84 and vol, iii, p- 18.

2
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appointed Harry Verelst Esq.l to be Chief of Chittagong, Messrs.
Thomas Rumbold and Randolph Marriott to be members of his Council,
Mr. Walter Wilkins to be assistant to the factory, and Gokul Chand
Ghosal? to be diwan. The party, so composed, reported their arrival
from Seetacoond on 3rd. January, 1761, and two days after they
received formal charge from Muhammad Riza -Khan himself. On
May 22nd, they write that “aflter an infinite deal of trouble we have at
last got a full and particular statement of the revenues of this province.
The villainous intention of those people that had the management
of the revenues here before in endeavouring to secrete from us
and make as intricate as possible whatever they could, has delayed
it (se. their report) thus long.” A letter from Verelst and his Council,
dated 16th February, gives an account, designed for transmission to
England, of the newly acquired territory :

“The province of Chittagong extends in lattitude to the south-
ward of the capital (Islamabad) about fifty miles to a river
called Cruz Colly, which extent to the Southward is bounded
by the sea. To the Westward, from the said river,
is a range of mountains that stretch to the S.E. and E,,
and divide the Chittagong District from the Kingdom of
Arracan; to the N.E. and N. the mountains still continue,
and divide the province from that of Tipperah; to the N.
N.-W and N.W. it is bounded by a river called the Burrah
Fenny, which empties itself into the sea, a little below
the pass; from the above river to one that runs by the
capital, commonly called the Chittagong river, we judged the
coast lay N.-W. and S.-E., so that to the Westward S.
W. the province is terminated by the Bay of Bengal. As
near as we can see, the quantity of land cultivated 1s about
400,000 connys; but a very considerable part of it lays free
of rent, having been lands given in charity. The Measure
of the conny is twelve nulls, each null eight covids (i.e.
cubits). The soil in general is very fertile, especially in
the plains and valleys, but interspersed with sandy hills
and some rocky mountains, which are covered with a high
wood, and many of them about the boundaries yield variety
of good timbers. The land is capable of producing great
quantities of wheat and rice, and all other kinds of grain,
cotton, wax, oil, timbers of various sorts, and some
elephants’ teeth. The manufactures at present are but very
indifferent, but will admit of great improvement. The
government of the Moors, in this as well as in all other

! Verelst “arrived” in Bengal on the 16th July, 1749, and in 1756 he was second at

the [actory at Jugdea, and from thence joined the refugees at Fulta. Rumbold was in
after years Governor of Madras and was created a baronet. R. Marriott, who had some
success in an expedition to Tipperab, was the first in Council to propose Mir Jafar's
restoration. He got into trouble in connection with the mint at Benares, and incurred
Lord Clive’s wrath. In after years he was Chief at Balasore.

2 For notices of the Ghosal family see Cotton: Memorandum on the Revenue History
of Chittagong ; Beveridge The District of Bakarganj.
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parts of the Mogul Empire, has prevented such improve-
ments in the produce, manufactures, and commerce of the
province as the country is capable of affording. But as
the inhabitants will now be encouraged from that sloth
and indolence they have ever been used to, we make no
doubt but that in a few years greater advantages than at
present can possibly be expected will accrue to the Com-
pany; to promote which (your Honour etc., may depend)
will be our chief study.”

In this I tter, the Chittagong Council report that they have already
despatched a letter couched in friendly terms to the Court of Arracan,
and they go on to suggest that a sazad to enable them to take posses-
sion of Tipperah would be *‘inconsiderable to the Nabob of Muxadavad,”
the great distance of that province ““from the capital baving for several
years past screened the bad disposition of its inhabitants from paying
any revenue worth mentioning.” They-“had reason to believe” that
such an acquisition would *“ admit of a passage through the mountains
of Iconko into Thibet and the Northern part of China.”

The Report of 5th June, 1761 gives an account of the history and
existing condition of the revenues.

“ Boozzoog Oomed Cawn, (Buzurg Umed Khan) son of Shaistah
Cawn,! uncle to Aurangzib, conquered the country from the
Muggs [Maghs] in 1072 Bengal Era (1666 A.D.) No rents
being then collected, the expences for maintaining the
province were paid from Dacca; and in this state it remained
for many years, until the inhabitants greatly increasing and
improving the lands, such cultivations were made over to the
Zemindars to support the keeping up of a force for the pro-
tection of the country. As they were more capable of doing
so, the sums drawn from Dacca on that account became less
and less ; and, in course of time, the governors here, finding
the advantages arising from the lands to be considerably
more to the zemindars than what they were originally
designed for, instead of allowing them the whole of their
lands for the maintenance of their troops, now only granted
a part for that purpose, and rents were collected for the
remainder, as also from all new inhabitants that in future
came to settle in their government.” 2

From the report it appears that Mir Hadi, who was Governor
about 1120 B. S. (1713 A. D.), returned the revenues of the Chittagong
district to the authorities at Murshidabad as amounting to Rs. 68,422-10-73,
and that this sum was known as the awsi/ jama. In reality the Governor
collected Rs. 1,75,458-0-24.

1 For notices of Buzurg Umed Khan see Sir R. C. Temple’s edition of the Diaries of
Streynsham Master, vol. 1, p. 301, vol. ii, p. 280.

2 H.J. S.Cotton: Memorandum on the Revenue History of Chittagong, Calcutta, 1880,
The original document was inspected by the present writer in 1909. It is torn and much
defaced.
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Under a succession of governors increases were levied to the extent
that in 46 years, each rupee of the original jama was increased to
Rs. 3-13-10% and the total jama stood at Rs. 3,31,529-1-15. Muhummad
Riza Khan, it was said, had actually collected Rs. 3,37.761-1-11% In
addition to the ma%i/ or land revenue there were other collections, and
the following is pethaps an approximately correct account of the existing
Jama of the district at the time when it passed under English
administration.!

Rs. A. P.
Mahl Mahomed Reza Khan ... v 3,37.761 1 11%
Sowah .« 43,975 10 I
Mutferkat 2,127 2 ©
Ezafa talkat hazarean 3,842 4 o
Nowabad e 9,362 4 0%
Saiar kesbah 760 7 143
Baze duffah .. 36,541 15 II
Russool nuger 0.528 2 6%

Total ... 4,43,918 15 14}

This survey of the increase of the land-revenues under Mughal
rule evoked fiom the Council at Calcutta the order (24th June, 1761) -
‘ As Chittagong rents have been continually raised, raise them higher;
but consult for the Company’s interest and the happiness of the
inhabitants.”

That Verelst’s revenue dealings were “direct” cannot be doubted.
At an early stage of his residence, he caused a nptice to be published
throughout the district requiring that “ all persons possessed of perwan-
nahs and grants executed by former governors should bring them to
the cutcherry on or before the 1st of April, Bengal Style, in order that
their right to the same might be examined into, confirmed, and
registered; ............ any person neglecting to comply with the order
should forfeit all right to any lands he might lay claim to, for per-
formance of which they were allowed one month and a half.” Knowing
that “lands once given in charity are generally held sacred,” he sought
the Governor's epinion as to whether or no it would be wise to make
resumptions. The answer was: *Charity lands are to lapse to the
Company on the death of the present holders, except in particular
cases.” Waste lands were granted for three or four years revenue free,
and progressively increasing revenue to be settled at the expiration
of that time.

For the period between 4th January, 1772, and August, 1778, with
the exception of a volume of Commercial Correspondence with Lucky-
pore,? there are no local records preserved at Chittagong. In his

t For explanation of the revenue jaigir, see Cotton: Op. cit. p. 7.

2 At Luckypore the Company had held lands by talukdari tenure since 1758. See
Imperial Record Department. Home Department Government of India Records. Public
Proceedings. June 28, 1759,
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published work, Verelst writes : «Mr. Verelst was appointed to the
chiefship the beginning of 1761, and quitted it in 1765. This province
being exposed to frequent alarms, the revenues must fluctuate more
than those in secure situations. But it may deserve to be remarked
that the Subahdars of Bengal seldom received more than two hundred
thousand rupees revenue.”!  The amounts received by the English in
these early years are stated by Verelst as follows :—

Curt Rupees.

Jan. 1761 to April 1762. Cash received ... . 7,28,508.
May 1762 » 1763 do. .. 4,67,368.
" I763 " l76‘-‘- do. e 4420,474-
» 1764, 1765 do. - e 4,04,721.
» o 1765 n 1766 do. ... 3,66,158.
n 1706 w1767 do. e 378,830,
w 1762, 1768 do. . 4,22.766.
» 1768 w1769 do. oo 4.32,540.
» 1769, 1770 do. o 3,08,835.

During his term as chief at Chittagong, Verelst went far into
Kachar on a military expedition to Manipur. Little of Kachar is heard
of again in the English records until the beginning of the nineteenth
century.

The cession of the Diwanilands in 1765 did not affect the direct
character of the Company’s administration in Chittagong. Here there
were no ** black collectors” to be superseded by European covenanted
servants of the Company.

In 1773, when the Provincial Comptrolling Councils of Revenue
were established, Chittagong was left outside their jurisdiction, and its
Chief and Council continued to correspond directly with the supreme
Revenue authority at Fort William.

In the administration of criminal Justice, the Chief was invested
with the superintendence of the Faujdari jurisdiction. To the Faujdar
it belonged to pronounce the future, or judgment, and this was
submitted, in course, to the Naib Nazim, for confirmation. When the
orders of the latter bad been received it remained for the Chief to see
those orders executed. The Chittagong records show that on certain
occasions, when the order from Murshidabad enjoined the infliction of
such penalties as multilation or impalement, the Resident was tempted
to procrastinate, awaiting advice from his superiors at Fort William,
before proceeding to extremities.?

Midnapore.

The chaklas of Midnapur, Jelesore,? Hijili and Tamluk had originally
formed part of the Mughal subahdari of Orissa,* but, after having for a

Verelst: View, efc,y p. 74.

Cotton: Op. cit., Appendix iv, pp. 221-22.

The Imperial Gaszetteer spells the name Jaleswar.
Vide McNeile: Village Watch, p, 55 et seq.

.- o @ -
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time been in the hands of two Mahomedan adventurers, were subjugated
and annexed to the province of Bengal. Hijili and Tamluk did not come
under the Company’s administration until the grant of the Diwani in
1765, and, although they now form a subdivision of the Midnapur district,
they were from 1765 to at lcast 1774, governed as a part of the Hughli
district.

Having acquired the sanad for their occupation of Midnapur, the
Governor and Council despatched Mr. John Johnstone to that place.
He seems to have established himseif peac: fully within the old tort, but
within a few months he was besieged by the Marathas from Cuttack.!
On 7th, March 1761, however, the Council were able to report to the
Court of Directors :

“The Midnapore province being now free from troubles by the
retreat of the Mahrattas to Cuttack, and a good force being
kept there under the command of Captain Knox, we imagine
the investment formerly provided at Ballasor may for the
future be carried on with equal convenience and more security
at  Midnapore, and have accordingly transmitted to
Mr Johnstone your list of investment received per Lord
Mansfield with directions to use his endeavours to comply
with 1t. The revenues he is appointed to collect will supply
him amply with money for that purpose, and the expences of
Ballasore factory will be saved.”?

Midnapur thus replaced Balasor as the Company's commercial
headquarters in this part of the country, but the Resident’s revenue
functions were held to be of greater importance than his commercial
activities. The near presence and the ever threatening movements of
the Marathas as well as the lawless condition of the country, necessi-
tated the preservation of a strong military control in the handis of the
Resident. ‘“His power for good or evil,” writes the local hstorian,
“was far greater than is now exercised by the Collector of the largest
district in Bengal; and, so far from being a mere merchant or factor,
responsible only for the safe and profitable investment of the Company’s
advances, he was at once a statesman, besides being the chief ecxecutive
authority in the district. It is very probable that the business of the
Company’s investment occupied but a small portion of his attention, his
consideration being mainly directed to the sage and tranquil settlement
of the revenues, or the expulsion from the district of gangs of robbers
and dacoits; to the destruction of a hostile French armament, or a
skilful negotiation with the Marathas.”?

In regard to the administration of criminal justice, the Resident at
Midnapur possessed the same power as that entrusted to the Chief at

> Long: Selections, No. 543.

s At Balasor, Surgeon J. Bristow had lately been Commercial Resident, but in 1760
the Governor and Council did not think it worth whileto appoint a European officer to
succeed him, and determined to rely on the Faujdar. Calendar of lersian Correspondence,
vol. i, no. 1451. In 1766 Randolph Marriott was appointed Resident at Balasor.

» J.C.Price: Notes on the History of Midnapore as contained in the Records extant
1n the Collector’s Office.  Calcutta, 1876, vol. i, p. 4.
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Chittagong ; z.e., he was empowered to arrest robbers, dacoits, and
disturbers of the peace, and was vested with the superintendence of the
Faujdari courts. The police-stations (¢karas) were under his direction,
and while the subordinate revenue-collectors (fehsildars) gave their
assistance to the thanadars, the latter would at times be required to
assist the tehsildars.

On gth July 1768, the Resident wrote to the Collector-General :
“Some very hortid murders have lately been committed here. The
perpetrators are now in prison; the facts have been fully proved upon
them, and are now confessed by themselves. What would you have me
do with them ? I wish to hang them for the sake of example, but do not
think it would be proper to proceed to that extremity without your
approbation.” To this the Collector-General replied, on the 1gth July:
‘“ Having spoken to the President concerning the murders mentioned in
your letter of the gth instant, he thinks an application to the Board
unnecessary, and that the perpetrators ought to be tried in the
Fousedar’s Court at Midnapore; where, if the facts are proved, they
must he condemned to death; in which case I desire you will order
their execution to be made in such a manner as may be most likely to
deter others in future.” In regard to the cutcherry courts, when in
1771, the Directors sent out a number of recommendations for reforms,
the Resident informed the Government at Calcutts that these recommen-
dations were unnecessary in the case of Midnapur, since “all the
judicatures in that district wore under the authority ot the Resident and
persons appointed by bim in every pergunnaly; that all cases in inferior
districts were reported to the Resident and every case duly registered in
the phousdar’s cutcherry, so that there were no arbitrary fines or
impositions, or any undue authority exercised, independent of the
Resident.” .

The Resident again exercised a direct authority in regard to the
revenues. In the General Letter fiom Bengal to the Court, 12th,
November, 1761, the Council wrote :

“Mr. Johnstone has shewed the same assiduity in his department
of Midnapore and we must do him Justice to remark that he
has bad, of all, the most difficult task, that province being
made up of two districts of a great number of separate
zemindars, everyone endeavouring to conceal the true value of
his possessions. However Mr. Johnstone got into his bands
some of the former years’ accounts, and, having procured from
them au insight into the several articles of the revenue of each
zemindary, the amount paid to the Nabob, with such encreases
as at prescnt seem reasonable, appears to be Sicea
Rupees 6,05,854-g-10, but here also we may hope for annual
improvements.”

In 1762 Burdett succeeded Johnstone as' Resident, and in 1764-
Anselm Beaumont, a wealthy free-merchant of Calcutta who had been
rewarded by a post in the Company’s service as an acknowledgment of
his services on the occasion of the Siege in 1756, relieved Mr. Burdett
at the Residency. Beaumont had pledded that the gianting of leases
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for a term of years is the only method to encourage the cultivation of
waste lands,” and he had sought permission to form a hustabood, or
actual valuation of the lands. On the 6th November, 1764, Governor
Vansittart and bis Council wrote :

*“We observe that from the time the Company were first put in
possession of the province of Midnapore we have met with
the greatest obstruction from the zemindars in the collection
of the rents, and have always found them ready to join our
enemies whenever they have an opportunity: we think, therefore,
that the Company’s possessions in that country would be
much better secured and th: rents ascertained by entirely
annulling the authority of zemindars and allowing them a fixed
income for their maintenance by assignments of lands, and
appointing officers everywhere on the part of the Company to
collect the rents immediately from the ryots.”

Hugh Watts, who had succeeded Beaumont, as Resident, in October,

commented on this proposal :

“The annulling of the authority of the zemindars and allowing
them a fixed income, and appointing officers on behalf of
the Company to collect the rents from the tenants, I am
afraid, would be very prejudicial to the country. They are
so reduced that it is out of their power to do harm to the
Country’s affairs, and if encouraged (which granting leases
will do), they well may be of great service. The assign-
ment or allowance for their maintenance also to the zemin-
dars and chowdries, with the charges of collections, must
greatly exceed the increase of the revenues; for, if such a
scheme takes place, and the lands made the property of the
Company, I believe I do not exceed in saying that about
3,000 families in justice should be maintained by us; that
is, so many would be deprived of lands which they have
either held for many generations or have bought of the
zemindars. Since this -‘country has been ceded to the
Company it has flourished, and will continue to do so as long
as the zemindars and talookdars find either mildness of
our government; but, if we are too hard or oppressive, there
is great reason to expect it will rather decline.”

In accordance with this advice, the Government, 11th December,
1764, decided that so long as the zamindars paid their tashkhis with
regularity, it would ‘be unnecessary to put into execution the resolution
of removing them from the collectlpns and placing them on pensions.
In the year following, the Council decided that Midnapur was not
a place of sufficient \importance to justify the presence there of a
memper of the Board, and in consequence Watts was recalled, and
Thomas Graham, who had served as assistant to W.B. Sumner in
forming the revenue settlement of Burdwan, was sent to Midnapur, and
a little later on Midnapur was brought under the superintendence of
Harry Verelst. Against this reduction in the dignity of his office,
Graham protested; his letter concludes:
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“As to your proposition of letting the lands upon more advan-
tageous leases than have hitherto been granted, it must
proceed from your not being sufficiently advised of the
constitution of this province. There is no part of the land
occupied by farmers; the whole is possessed by the here-
ditary zemindars, who derive their rights from original sunnuds
granted to their ancestors. By these they are entitled
to the residue of the rents, after paying the Government
revenue; and, when the increase is added to their former
payments, I do not apprehend that there will remain for
their appropriation more than a scanty maintenance, which,
were they to be dispossessed of entirely, must always be
allowed them.”1

It may be observed that Graham, in obedience to orders received
from the. Select Committee, made a circuit of the Midnapur and Jelle-
sore districts, and the records bear witness to the exertions he made
to encourage ryots to settle in the waste lands. The primary object
of the circuit was the acquisition of information relative to the value
of the lands, so that anv future increase in the revenue might be made
without oppression of the cultivators. Government expressed a hope
that tghe Resident would make a circuit of his district once in each
year.

. The foregoing extracts from the Midnapur records show that the
principal preoccupation of the early English rulers in that province
was with the various local zamindars. The records also show that
the term zamindar was very lonsely emploved. We hear, for instance,
of “the Midnapore zemindar’—a lady, the Rani Shiromani. On her
were dependent a number of parganahs, each of which had its own
particular zamindar.? Again in the Cosijura (Kashijora) parganah,
out of 3,700 families resident therein, 1,500 are styled Khushnishans,
and are thus described by the Resident:—

“Some of them have real sunnuds from former kings, nabobs, or
zemindars, for the whole of their possessions, and some for
part; some have forged themselves sunnuds, and others pretend
they had sunnuds formerly, but have lost them by fire or
robbery, and other accidents; and all, when they had once
possessed themselves of any lands, whether by grants or by
forgery or by bribery or fraud, have never failed to combine
“together to prevent the zemindars from makingany resumptions.
Mr. Watts, during his residence, appointed five persons to
examine into the claims of these Khushnishans, and Mr.
Graham added another to the number. These persons accord-
ingly made some inquiries; and some of the Khushnishans
having been convicted of forgery, the Rajah insisted on rents
from them. He has not, however, been regularly authorised to

! Firminger : Bengal District Records, Midnapur, vol. i, p. 4a.
2 Ibid. p. 48.
3 Bengal ; Past & Present, vol, x, p. 296.
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do it, nor has the greater part of the claims been examined
into, nor any final resolution taken concerning any of them.
I have, therefore, added to the number of inquirers one person
more, whom the Khushnishans themselves desired; and to
these seven persons, consisting of the tehsildar, two ameens,
the deputy chowdry, the deputy cauzy, and the two canoon-
goes, I have issued a perwannah to the following purport ; that
they are to examine into the claims of all the Khusnishaus;
that were they unanimously agreed concerning the justice of
anyone’s claims, the Rajah is to grant him a fresh sunnud
witnessed by them; that were they unanimously agreed
concerning the injustice of claims, they must give a writing
to the Rajah, under their hands and seals, permitting him to
seize the lands in question; that the Rajah, having received the
said written permission, may seize the lands whenever he
pleases, unless the possessor will consent to take a pottah and
pay rents in the same manner as other ryots; that where any
of the aforesaid seven persons differs in opinion from the rest
concerning the justice or injustice of a claim, it is to be
referred to my decision, and that they are to send me weekly
accounts of their proceedings. By this means a considerable
quantity of lands mav be added to the Company’s malgoozaree,
and there is a verv little danger of anyone’s being deprived of
his just rights.  With your prrmission, therefore, I shall pursue
the like method in every other pergunnah, and where the like
complaints may be made to me, I shall likewise inform myself
as perfectly as possible of the number of Khushnishans in
every pergunnah, and it may hereafter be worthy of considera-
tion whether a great part of those who have sunnuds ought not
to be subjected to the payment of some rents, suppose half of
what is paid by other ryots.”}

Soon after establishing themselves at Midnapur, the English
discovered that to the westward there was a large tract of country, which,
although within the boundaries of the province? was in the hands of
zamindars who had paid little or no revenue at all since the time of
the Maratha troubles when Ali Verdi Khin was Nawab. At the
beginning of 1767, therefore, Grahamn despatched Lieutenant John
Fergusson on an expedition, the object of which was to bring the
zamindars of these “ Jungle” or * Western ” districts to order. The
military proceedings thus initiated ultimately extended to districts, which

roperly formed part of Burdwan. The records,® which afford ample
illustrations of the difficulties of this task in a country covered with
wild forest growth and subject to sudden and extensive inundations,
show with what combined tict and firmness the wotk was cartied out.

T Firminger : Op cit, p. 144. .
3 Part of these unexplored lands really pelonged to the chakla of Burdwan.
3 Two volumes of the District Records of Midnapur have been published by the Rengal

Secretariat Record-room. Some scattered notices are to be found in the Calendar of
Records of the Select Committee at Fort William in Bengal, Calcutta (Bengal Secretariut

Record-room), 1915.
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These ]’;angal chiefs are not inaptly described as “ rebellious free-
booters,” and their subjects as “chuars ... bred up as much for
pillaging as cultivating.” "On the other hand, the English officer had
to be careful lest his own soldiery might not “prove a weightier
grievance to the country in general than those freebooters we are aiming
to make _sensible of thejr duty.”. In 1781 some of these zamindars,
in dg:scnbmg thsalr country, write, “ it is a jungle; that their rents are
a kind of quit-rent collected from their pikes and chuars; they
are sur.round'ed likewise by jungle zemindars, on the east by Bogree
and Bishnupur; on the “north by Pachet [Panchkot or Panchet]; on
the west by Singbhoom; on the “south Damudar Bhanza the Mohar-
bunj Raja; that all these are more mighty than they, and from whom
they frequently suffer depredations, notwithstanding the redress upon
application from Midnapore.” )

It_ls Interesting to notice that on 17th September, 1761, the Select
Committee took into consideration the question whether or no “the
properest step to prevent the Mahrattas from committing their usual
ravages in Bengal will be to carry the war into their own country.” As
a result of their debate, they wrote to Mr. Hay at Patna:

“Sir,

“ At a Select Committee held this day, the state and manner in
which we should employ our forces during the rainy season
has come under our consideration. From the advices we have
had it is scarce to be doubted that the Maharattas will enter
the country and commit their usual ravages, if no method is
fallen upon to prevent them. We are of opinions that the
most effectual step we can take for that purpose, and also to
distress them and secure to ourselves tranquility will be to get
up an expedition on foot against Cuttack.

“ We, therefore, desire you will consult with the Nabob, and learn
from him the value of the rents of the country lying between
Jellasore and Cuttack, and what part of it he will.be willing to
make over to the Company to defray the expences of such an
expedition, the success of which we have no reason to doubt,
and which will, not only secure to him the total ancient
possession of the Soubahs of Bengal, but also be a considerable
addition to his revenues, and a grim barrier against future
invasions of the Mahrattas.

“We are, etc.”

On April 8th, 1762, however, the Select Committee wrote to the
Court of Directors:—

‘ Gentlemen,

* * *

“In our last we informed you of our resolution to prosecute our
design against the Marhattas at Cuttack, but the Nabob not

17
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having sent the troops he promised nor given us a sufficient
assurance of a reimbursement of the expences of the Expedition,
and the Mahrattas not attempting any disturbances in our
d_igtricts, we ‘did not judge it expedient to make ourselves
principals in the operations against them, but wrote the Nabob
that, whenever he should resolve upon the recovery of the
Province of Cuttack out of the hands of the Mahrattas, we
should be ready to give him such assistance as he might apply
to us for, on condition of his paying the expence.

“We are etc,

“P. Amyatt,
“John Carnac.”

Verelst, when governor, endeavoured to secure the possession of
Cuttack by negotiation with the Marathas, but the design was not
executed. Such an acquisition would have linked up the Northern
Circars with Bengal, afforded a secure communication by land with
Madras, and also afforded a much needed protection to shipwrecked
mariners in the Bay.!

In 1765, Graham laid before Lord Clive’s eye, ever ready to gloat
over evidence calculated to incriminate the leading members of his
predecessor’s Council, a tale of unlawful increments derived from
revenue gleanings and increased civil charges.2 The records, however,
provide no means for testing the truth of Graham’s indictment.

Midnapur was not visited by the Committee of Circuit in 1772,
but in August of that year the Resident, Edward Baber, was ordered
to publish an advertisement inviting proposals for farming the
Midnapore and Jellasore lands. He replied (1st Sept., 1772):

* See the Genuine Memoirs of Asiaticus. Reprint, 19og, for an account of a shipwreck
in this part of the coast.

* In addition to the Midnapur District Records, No. 737 of the India Office Record
Department’s # Home Miscellaneous’” should be consulted. The following letter exhibits
Clive’s methods in a somewhat sinister light :

[To H. Vererst].
DuM DumMma,
20th December, 1765.
Dzar Sir,

I know very well Mr. Senior’s condition with the Rajah of Burdwan tofreceive 1,50,000
Rupees, and that he received a part through the hands of Mr. Graham. and my intelligence
says that this Mr, Graham also received more than one lack on his own account. The Rajah
can make you accquainted with these matters, and I wish you would come at them, because it
may be necessary to have such anecdotes to frighten people into their duty to the Company,
if no other use be made of them.

"1 hear a certain gentleman employs spies to watch all our actions—your’s and
Syles in particular, but we may serve them as Scipio did those sent by Hanibal —lead them
at noon-day through every department in which we are concern’d and then dismiss them,
telling them they may go and tell their master all they know.

I am, dear Sir,
Your affec. Friend &}Servant.
Clive,
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“In the regulations .which accompanied the advertisement, I
observe that the collector’s servants and dependents of all
denominations are prohibited holding farms or having any
connections. I beg leave to ask whether the present
zemindars of the province may be permitted to turn
farmers; for, if they are not, there is nobody in the
country to make proposals, the whole of it being in the hands
of hereditary zemindare, who derive their right from original
sunnuds granted to their ancestors.  This particular
circumstance relative to these provinces may probably merit
your particular attention. In Lord Clive’s administration
the Select Committee had the same intention of farming
them, but it was not carried into execution on this account.”

In 1773, when the English collectors were withdrawn from the dis-
tricts, the administration of Midnapur began to enter into a period of
change; the district was then placed under the jurisdiction of the
newly formed Provincial Council.of Revenue at” Burdwan, whither in
1774 its Resident was transferred, and a native officer, denominated
Naib, was placed in charge of the local business.! Three years later,
however, Mr. ]. Peiarce, was sent to Midnapur to revive the office of
Resident, a separate Commercial Resident being appointed to relieve
him of the care of the commercial interests of the Company. In 1798
Midnapur was separated from the Burdwan province, and in 1781,
when the Provincial Councils were abolished, the local Diwani Adalat
was entrusted to a separate Magistrate.

The following statement as to the Midnapur revenues is derived
from Verelst’s book :

May to the end of April— Curt. Rs.
1760-1761 Cash Received ... ... 1,16,025
1761-1762 do. . 837,083
1762-1763 do. wo 743,330
1763-1764 do. e 148,777
1764-1765 do. «. 590,932
1765-1766 do. ... 7)32,055
1766-1767 do. ... 10,05,882
1767-1768 do. ... 8384,390
1768-1769 do. ... ©9,75,051
1769-1770 do. ... 0,02,I49

Burdwan,

Since April, 1758, the English had been in possession of
tankhwahs, or assignments of revenue in districts of the Rajas of
Burdwan and Nuddea. Of Tilok Chand, the Burdwan Raja, the
Company’s servants had some unpleasant experiences in the times

1 On December, 1773, the Government had lightened the Resident's wark : ¢ S¥veral
of the Zemindars and talookdars of your districts having applied for permission to pay their
rents immediately to the Khalaa we have granted their request, and have in consgquence to
direct them as separate from your collections,” With this arrangement the Resident wag
much dissatisfied.
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before Plassey.! They were now especially desirous of maintaining
good terms with him, since they looked to him for supplies of work-
men to labour on the building of the New Fort Willlam. Burdwan
being easily accessible from the Presidency and yet not being an
English commercial station, the President and Council were unwilling
to send European officers to reside there, and their hope was that they
would be able to leave nearly the whole of the administration in the
Raja’s hands. In July, 1759, Mr. Hugh Watts, who had gone to Burd-
wan on the business of the assigned revenues, had opportunity to

discover the lawless conditions of the place. He writes to Governor
Holwell:

Hon’ble Sir,

In former letters I have acquainted you of the insolence of the
Rajah’s forces. Their behaviour for many days past in con-
fining the Izardars? and attempting to seize the treasure as
it is brought to the cutcherry has, not enly given me great
trouble, but prevented my collecting more money. The
day before yesterday they stopped Gocool Mojumdor in his
palanquin, and threatened to confine him. This day Sook
Lall,. a jemadar, killed one of my sepoys, who was then
unarmed in the town. I sentto enquire the reason, but
could get no answer, therefore [ sent a subadar with 30
sepoys to bring bim to me, but to make no disturbance.
Before they reached the house, 7 or 800 forces were gathered,
who presented their matchlocks as my sepoys were advan-
.cing. On this intelligence, I sent orders to the Subadar to
retire to the Rajah’s cutcherry, and I detached Lieutenant
Brown with about 200 men to his assistance, with orders to
avoid engaging, if possible; but before Mr. Brown could
speak to them, they began firing. This occasioned an
action; in which, I am sorry to say, we have been greatly
worsted, the sergeant and about 50 sepoys killed upon the
spot, Mr. Brown and some others slightly wounded. Since
the return of our forces to their quarters, I have intelligence
that the enemy were increased to 3,000 strong, and premedi-
tated an open rupture by seizing upon the treasure. These
are the Rajah’s unpaid discontented forces with other
malcontents that harass the inhabitants, and disturb the
peace of this province. Everything is quiet at present, and
I believe will continue so. I cannot give you a more parti-
cular account this night, but will write again tomorrow.

I am, etc.

Hugh Watts.

1 In 1755 the Burdwan Raja had closed all the Company’s factories within his district,
Long :. Selections, Nos. 147'& 151.

3 ljaradars, i.e. revenue farmers.



THE CEDED LANDS. cxxxiii

Having read this letter the Council agreed ‘“that a detachment
of 130 European and 300 Sepoys do proceed to Burdwan to be joined
by a party of 300 Sepoys under the command of Lieutenant Nollikins,
now on the other side of the river.” !

The sanad granted by Mir Kasim for the cession of Burdwan to
the Company appears on the Public Proceedings of the President
and Council for November 17th, 1760. It runs thus in the official
translation:

“To the Zemindars, Canoongoes, Talookdars, Tenants, Hus-
bandmen, and chief Villagers of the pergunnah of Burdwan,
etc., the zemindaree of the Rajah Tilluck Chand, in the
districts of the Subah of Bengal,

“Be it known that, whereas divers wicked people have traito.
rously stretched forth their hands to plunder the subjects,
and waste the royal dominions, for this reason the said
Pergunnah, etc.,, is granted to the English Company in
part disbursement of their expences, and the monthly
maintenance of five hundred European horse, two thousand
European foot, and eight thousand sepoys, which are to be
entertained for the protection of the royal dominions. Let
the above officers quietly and contentedly attend and pay
to the persons appointed by the English Company the stated
revenues, and implicitly submit in all things to -their authority;
and the office of the Collectors of the English Company is as
follows :—

« They shall continue the zemindars and tenants in their places,
regularly collect the revenues of the lands, and deliver them
in monthly for the payment of the expences of the Company
and the pay of the abovementioned forces, that they may
be always ready *cheerfully and vigorously to promote the
affairs of the King. Let this be punctually observed. Dated
the 14th. of the month Rubbe-ul-awal 1st. Sun., answering
to the month Cartic 1176, Bengal style,” 2

The circumstances of Raja Tilak Chand at this time must have
been those of great distress. Holwell ascribes the Raja’s inability
to meet the revenue demand to the shameless way in which he was
fleeced by Mir Jafar, but it must be remengbered tha:t" in saying this
Holwell is defending the policy _of substituting Mir Kasim for Mir
Jafar.3 It is more important to notice _that for some months past the
Marathas from Orissa had been making raids into Western Bengal,*
and the Burdwan districts had suffered with special severity from this

* Long: Selections, No. 468.
s 1bid. No. 481. Aitchison, op. cit. vol. i. pp. 216-17. For Shah Alam’s confirmition,
12th August, 1765 See ibid. vol.i, p. 228. The sanad is for the parganah, but what had

been promised was the chakla.
3 Holwell: India Tracts, p. 84.
Clive’s departure seems to have given the sign for the Maratha movement,
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cause. The Raja’s accounts, laid before the Council on December
18th compute the loss inflicted by the ravages of the Shahzada’s army
and the Marathas at Rs. 7,93,080-3-9.1

On 7th November, 1760, the Governor ordered Tilak Chand to
repair to the Presidency and bring with him his accounts.2 Eight
days later the Raja was threatened that, if he would not come of his
own accord, troops would be despatched to bring him thither by force;
and -again two days later he was informed that, in consequence of his
disobedience, the Company had decided to deprive him of his zamin-
dari.3

In the meanwhile the Nawab had announced that the Rajas of
Burdwan and Birbhum were alike unreliable, that it was his intention
to chastise them, and that he “would like to send for the old zemindar
of Burdwan and place him in the situation held by his ancestor's.”+
Towards the end of the month, however, Tilak Chand undertook to
send a capeble person to the Presidency to explain affairs, and that
his own visit would not be long delayed.® The Council, who still
maintained a hope that the Nawab would execute his promise of
chastising the Raja, while sending W. B. Sumner to Burdwan to
investigate the accounts, and providing troops to secure the peace of
the district, attempted to assure the Raja that he need have no fear,
provided “ he acted in the right way, and attended to the adjustment of
the Burdwan affairs.”6 A native offitial of the name of Bia Ram was
to receive the Burdwan papers from the Ray Rayan, and the revenues
paid direct to an officer of the Calcutta Government.- Not all of these
measures were taken, for in December we find the English still talking
about sending troops, and on the 1gth of that month, the Governor
congratulates the Raja on ‘“ his turning a deaf ear to his former ill-
advisers” and on his ‘‘reformed conduct.”’”

On December the 16th Rajchandra Ray, the Burdwan vakil,
arrived- at the Presidency, and two days later the accounts were laid
before the Council. The Raja’s future payments were then settled as
follows: 8

"To be paid in the course of the ensuing four months.

Rs. a. P

Khalsa, Jaghir and Chouth ... 26,37,937 6 o
Sundry allowances on Durbar charges etc. to

the Sircar o 2,08182 o ¢

Total ... 28,56,119 7 6

Long : Selections) No. 487.
Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Imperial Record Department, No. 559.
Ibid, Nos. 578, 580,
Ibid, No. 598.
Jbid, Nos 601.
Jbid. No. 620.
Ibid. No. 694.
- Long : Selections, No. 487.

t N e W W
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Deduct— Rs. A. P
The pergunnah called Bealan,! now belongmg
to the Company . 38,750 7 1

The Sattimaul? or the duties on piece goods,
which the Nabob Jaffir Ally Khan ordered
not to be collected ,16,711 1 9

Total .. 1,55461 8 10

27,00,657 14 8

To be paid in 5 years, in consideration of damages done to the
country by the Marathas and the marches of the army:—

Rs. A. P, Rs. A. P.
In the year 1168 or 1761 ... 1,50,000 0 o
’ 1169 ,, 1762 ... 1,70,000 0 o_
” ri7o ,, 1763 ... 1,70,000 0 0
” ri7r ,, 1764 ... 1,70,000 0 ©
" 1172 ,, 1765 ... 1,84,062 o o
—e 8,44,062 15 o

18,56,504 15 8
Old Balance due according to Raja Tilluck
Chand’s account, being the remains of

Rs. 16,51,872-15-10 w. 181,300 1 2

20,37,985 o 10
Whereof the Royroyan received in the year
1167 or 1760 from August to ertember,
according to the Rajah’s account . 10,02,700 12 O

10,35,284 4 10

Kistbundee of the year 1167 or r760.

Poos ending the 1oth January 1760 2,85000 0 o
Maug " roth February ,, 2,75000 0 o©
Pagoun 1oth March ,, 2,50,000 0 O
Cheyt. |, 1oth April " 2,25284 4 10

Sicca Rupees ... 10,35,284 4 10

It was the unanimous opinion of the Board that this settlement
was far from representing the real value of the Burdwan landsybut

! Ballea, one of the Twenty-four Parganas, in which the fort of Budge-Budge was
situated.

% Seti-mal.
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they were constrained to be content with it, seeing “ how many of the
zemindars have taken part with the Shahzada, and how near Burdwan
was being persuaded to take the same course.”

The correspondence of 1761 is full of the Council’s complaints
against the Raja, and counter-complaints, probably of a fictitious
character, of the Raja against Major White, the officer to whom had
been entrusted the task of driving out the Marathas and subjugating
the rebellious Raja of Birbhum. I[n February the Council pointed
out to Tilak Chand that of Rs. 2,85,000 due from him, Rs. 50,000 had
been received with one chalan, 31,000 with another, while the third
chalan, for 79,000 had arrived unaccompanied by cash; and the January
kist was now overdue.! On the following day the Governor and Coun-
cil wrote to the Nawab, whose interests were much affected by the
unsatisfactory state of things at Burdwan, that now at last they were
sending “a person with troops and cannon” to receive the arrears of
revenue, and the Raja was informed that Mr. Sumner was on his way
to Burdwan ‘“to.collect the money and, with a few troops to secure
the country and drive out the Mahrattas.”? This, however, was only
another feint, for on Februaty the gth, the English informed the Raja
that, his Vakil having undertaken that “Ramdhan Naj shall come to
Calcutta in seven days with what remains of the guis#,” although, if
he (the Raja) will not keep stationary at Burdwan or remit his dues,
«“Mr. Sumner will certainly be sent.” This threat is repeated on Feb.
the 11th with, however, the explanation added, that Mr. Sumner’s
arrival “will be beneficial not disastrous to the country.” In reply to
this Tilak Chand remarked “it would be disastrous to send Mr.
Sumner.” The Governor and Council at this time were not without
grounds for suspecting that the Raja had tampered with their corres-
pondence with Major White. The Raja still absented himself from
Burdwan, and even the Raja’s own Diwan pressed the Governor to
send a native Tahsildar to Burdwan.

At the end of March, the arrival of Mr. Sumner at Burdwan is
announced to taks place in two days’ time, but on April 3rd. the Raja’s
revenue officials were at Calcutta, and a kistbandi made for the
closing and ensuing years. Ten, days later Tilak Chand wrote to
thank the Governor for recalling Mr. Sumner. On the 13th. Sumner
is “shortly to proceed to Burdwan,” and the intimation is repeated a
week later.3 The reason'why Sumrier is being sent back is that “ Ram-
dhan Naj gives information that the country is disaffected, and that,
in consequence of some evil rumours, the managers of districts and
the tenants are fleeing from the Raja’s zemindari” “Mr. Sumner
will act in accordance with the Raja's wishes, and assist in the collec-
tion of the revenues.” The troubles alluded to may have had the
effect of changing the Raja’s mind: it may be hoped that the letter
he wrote, saying that ‘“Mr. Sumner’s arrival has much rejoiced him,”

* Calendar of Persian Correspondence, No. 877.
3 Jbid., Nos. 884 and 88s.
3 [Jbid., Nos. 894, 910, 914.
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was not a mere idle compliment. On June 15, 1761, the Raja wrote
t}? cClon:qulazl1 of “the hardships he had suffered at Mr. Sumner’s
ands.”

In the General Letter from Bengal to the Court, 12th November
1761, Sumner’s deputation is thus described:

13 72.

..« Mr. Sumner was appointed in the month of March to
proceed to Burdwan, and soon after the Rajah, by his principal
Vakeel, proposed to encrease the Maulgazary? (or Government’s
share of the revenues which now belongs to the Company) to
Rs. 25,20,661-8-0 for the present Bengal year, and for the next
to make it 28,56,119-7-6. This we thought so considerable an
augmentation that we had determined to accept of’these terms,
and, Mr. Sumner was accordingly recalled; but, upon his
arrival, and informing the Board that, by some lights he had
procured into the state of the revenues, he imagined that
upon a scrutiny, more advantageous terms could be made for
the Company, he was directed to return to Burdlwan, and
impowered to make a full examination into the rea produce
of the Country. This commission he fulfilled with great
diligence and much to our satisfaction and on the 15th June
laid before the Board his proceedings at large in twelve papers
of which No. 7 is the computation of the whole produce of the
Burdwan Province, being Forty one Laak fifty Eight Thousand
Seven hundred and Seven Ruppees, fourteen Annaes, and two
Pice (Rs. 41,58,707-14-2). No. 10 is a state of the malguzary
being what the Rajah is obliged to pay every Year, except in
cases of devastation by public enemies amounting to Sicca
Rupees Thirty Laaks (Sa. Rs. 3000000) and for which
Mr. Sumner took the Rajah’s acknowledgement but it being
customary in this country for the Nabob to demand a further
sum from the different rajahs over and above the malguzary
in any case of extraordinary expence, as raising new forces,
building fortifications, &c. it appeared to Mr. Sumner that we
might reasonably make some demands of this kind for the
present year because the Rajah by the troubles in which he
engaged at the time of our taking possession really put us to
an extraordinary expence and because the assistance he now
has of English troops will enable him to discharge a great part
of his own, accordingly after some cbjections he signed another
acknowledgement for two Laaks and a half to be paid on that
account. A ballance of more than five Laaks of last year’s
revenues remained unpaid at the close of the Year, and which
the Rajah and his Officers declared to be outstanding in the
country on account of the troubles, of these Mr. Sumner
collected a part and for what remained due at the time we made
the agreement with the Raja for the new year he took another

Ibid., Nos."937-38, 989, 1057-59, 1092, 1100, 1106, 1128, 1148, 1157, 1172, 1202, 1215,
1223, 1237, 1248-49, 1312, 1322.
Malguzari,
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obligation the amount four Laak eleven thousand eight
hundred fifty seven Rupees Thirteen Annas and four Pice
(Rs. 4,11,857-13-4). The whole state of the moneys to be
received from Burdwan for the present year is therefore as
follows:
Rs. A. P
For the Malguzary 30,00,000 0 o©
For Expences of the Troops «2,51,000 O ©
For last year’s ballance which however is to
be collected from the ballances outstand-
ing in the Country or else to be made good
by the Rajah or his Principal Officers so as
not to interfere with this year’s produce ... 4,115,857 13 4

Total 36,61,857 13 4

“After this plain Detail of the advantage which the Company will
receive from Mr. Sumner’s diligence in the execution of this
Trust it is needless to add anything in his favor. Upon his
return to Calcutta the collection of the Money according to
to the Kistbundee or Monhtly proportion settled was left in
charge to Mr. Graham who went with Mr. Sumner as assistant,
and we have the pleasure to acquaint you that to this time the
payments of the thirty two laaks and an half have been made
very regularly, the collecting in the old Ballance meets with
some difficulty, but we shall insist on all deficiencies being
made good by the Rajah and his officers, and we promise
ourselves that upon the whole there will be a smaller balance
outstanding at the end of this year than is usually admitted in
this country notwithstanding the disadvantages the Burdwan
country has labored under this year by reason of the troubles
which were not quelled till March, and by reason of the large
arrears due to the Rajah’s own troops amounting to Rupees
(Rs. 4,50,000) as Per No. g in Consultation of the 15th June,
disadvantages which it will not be subject to another year.”

While all these transactions were in progress the English had
been turning a deaf ear to their native advisers. In November, 1760,
the Governor had been informed by Soliman Bey ‘‘that the Burdwan
Rajah is entering men into his service; that 15,000 peons, pikes and
robbers and others are already in pay and others are daily entering.”!
In the same month the Nawab himself wrote: “I am informed that
the zemindar of Burdwan has bad intentions, and has conferences
with the Beerboom Rajah, and they have agreed to act in conjunc-
tion. I hope that you will send troops to Chuckla Burdwan, Midna-
peor, Islamabad E'Chittagong], to take possession of them, and that
nothing can accrue from their bad intentions.”2 Again in December,

1 Long: Selections, No. 504.

8 Ibid) No. 506. Mir Kasim writes (/5id, No. 508): “It is my jntention to send for
the old zemindar and give him a surpan, and make him happy ‘by reinstating him in the
gemindary.”
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after having repeated his warning, the Nawab insists: “You write
that the Burdwan zemindar is but 2 young weak man and his people of
no consequence, and, regarding the good of his country, you have
prevented the troops from going to Burdwan, and sent them to
Midnapoor. The Burdwan zemindar has entered sepoys into his
service, and his intentions are evil, but that will avail nothing. Till
he bas dismissed his troops, come to you, and settled everything,
his writing and speaking will not satisfy us. The zemindars will before
you be submissive, and comply with everything you propose; but they
are all deceit, and only wait an opportunity to surprise you’! In
January, 1761, Mir Kasim wroté: “I am informed that Shu Bhut Mahratta
with 2 or 3,000 horse and as many foot has joined the Beerboom
Rajah, and the Burdwan zemindar acts in conjunction with them.” 2

All these warnings were based on fact. When Captain Martin
White was on his way to join Major Yorke in the expedition against
Birbhum, he bad, on the 2gth. December 1760, to deal with the Rajah
of Burdwan’s army, amounting to some 10,000 men in arms. Without
the loss of a single man, White inflicted a complete defeat on the
Raja’s forces, leaving 500 killed on the field.3 The English, however
perhaps wisely, chose to look upon the Raja as still their friend. On
January the 16th the Council reported these doings to the Court:

“101. Of the Revenues of your late valuable acquisitions of
Burdwan, Midnapore, and Chittagong, we can give you but an
uncertain statement. The Burdwan Rajah, persuaded by the
reports of some ill designing persons round him, that it was
our design toturn him out from bis zemindary, seemed inclined
to take the part of the disaffected rajahs. How expedient
soever it may be hereafter to bave an exact measurement of
that extensive province and to divide it out into small parcels,
yet it was by no means our present intention, being unwilling
to give the Rajah any reason to take part with the enemies
of the Government at a time when the country was already
full of commotions. We endeavoured therefore, by all possible
means to continue him in the zemindary,with which appearing
satisfied, he sent one of his principle officers to settle a Kistbunda
or stipulation of payment for the remainder of the present
Bengall year ending the 1oth April, the whole amount of the
said Kistbunda was Sicca Rupees 1,03,584-4-10, as is entered
at large in our consultation of the 18th December.

« 102. These terms, we are sensible, were much below the real
value of the lands, and much to the Rajah’s advantage ; but, in
consideration of the present want of money here, and at Fort
St. George, and for other reasons more particularly mentioned
in the said consultation, we thought it prudent to accept of
them, and reserve to a future opportunity the establishing

Ibid, No, 516.
3 Jbid, No. 537.
*  Ibid, No. 558,
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such regulations as might seem more beneficial to the Company.
But it is now again doubtful whether even these payments
will be made according to agreement, for the Rajah, under
pretence of being obedient, seems to have carried on a private
correspondence with the other disaffected Rajahs and it is
fortunate we should have had so early an opportunity of
putting him to the proof.

“103. A detachment which was sent to take possession of Midna-

pore under command of Captain Martin White, was ordered,
that service performed, to march to join Major Yorke, who is
proceeding, in conjunction with the Nabob, against the
Beerboom Rajah. The road from Midnapoor to the place
where the two parties were to join happens to lie through the
town of Burdwan. Captain White had the most positive orders
to regard the country as a possession of the Company’s and
the Rajah as their friend, which orders he strictly adhered
to, but the Rajah, who no doubt had designed to prevent the
junction, of our troops, opposed with all his force the passage
of our detachment over a river near Burdwan. Captain White
deferred as long as possible the coming to extremities, but
when he found himself obliged to it, it did not cost him much
to give the Rajah’s forces a total defeat They dispersed,
abandoning the town and Captain White proceeded on quickly
to the place of his destination. We have had no advices from
the Rajah since, and doubt not that this accident will have
good effect, and it certainly gives us a very just reason for
putting the zemindary upon that footing we %hink the most
convenient, and such measures we shall takewhen circumstances
will admit of it.

“104. Of the Country of Midnapoor our troops took quiet

possession, but, this district consisting of a number of zemin-
daries, the regular payment of its Revenue can’t depend on
the idea they have ot our Force. We have got an account of
the Revenue, as entered in the Books of the Government,
amounting to Rs. 5,30,063-2-4 as per No. 43 in the packett, but
we look upon this as a very uncertain computation, and hope
to be better informed from Mr. John Johnstone, who is sent to
Midnapoor for that purpose.

“ ,05\ We have got a like account of Chittagong Revenues,

amounting to Rs. 5,04,148-6-6 as per No. 44. Mr. Verelst is
one thither with the other gentlemen, as mentioned under
the 6th head of Servants, and we hope soon to receive a
satisfactory account of their enquiries and regulations.”

From March, 1761, may be dated the establishment of an English

revenue official at Burdwan. Unfortunately Burdwan has no locally
preserved district records of earlier date than 1786, when Burdwan
was made a collectorate, and we are, therefore, without the assistance
provided at Chittagong a.nd Midnapur. The English official at
Burdwan is styled a Resident, but it is probable, the desire of the



Council to make the Raja as much as possible answerable for the
management of his districts to some extent differentiated the character
of the Resident of Burdwan’s functions from those of the Resident
at Midnapur. At the beginning of the new revenue year (1763),
Mr. John Johnstone,! was sent to Burdwan to make a new arrange-
ment with the Raja. The General Letter from Bengal of 3oth
October, shows that this gentleman made a settlemet for thirty-four
lakhs of sicca Rupees, in addition to the outstanding balances. Mr.
Johnstone was much employed on this occasion In' reducing the
numbers of the Raja’s disorderly troops. Here again may be seen at
work the process, which, in the first chapter of the present work, has
been called  the virtual conquest of Bengal.” Major White’s victory
had made possible a peaceful disarmament of the country power,
although the appearance of waging war with the Raja had been, as far
as possible, carefully avoided.? In 1763, when Mir Kasim made war
on the English, many of these disbanded troops found service under
his allies.

Under Johnstone’s administration the system of putting up the
revenue collections to farm at a public auction was introduced, a
measure of which the Court of Directors expressed their disapproval
in their General Letter of 17th May, 1766. In this Letter, the Direc-
tors say:

“In the province of Burdwan, the Resident and his Council took
an annual stipend of near Rs. 80,000 from the Rajah in
addition to the Company’s salary. This stands on the
Burdwan account, and they carried that pernicious princi-
ple even to sharing with the Rajah of all he collected
beyond the stipulated malguzzary, or land revenue; over-
looking the point of duty to the Company, to whom properly
everything belonged that was necessary for the Rajah’s
support.”

After making an admission that the method of auctioneering the
revenue to farmers, might have been justified by circumstances in
the instance of the Calcutta lands, the Directors, go on to say:

“When large provinces fall under our government, such as
Burdwan, we could not think the same conduct should have
been observed, but you should have made the best terms

1 John Johnston A sonof Sir James Johnston (the ‘e’ is both often omitted and inserted)
had been in charge of a gun at Plassey, and accompanied Col. Forde in his campaign in 1759 :
He was Resident at Midnapur in 1760, and stood_a siege by the Marathas at the M1dnapur
Residency. In 1765 he was one of the most prominent civil servants accused of corruption
by Clive. He was prosecuted in England by the Court of Directors, but the cause was
abandoned by order of the Court of Proprietors. See Bengal: Past & Present, vol.-iii,
PP: 392-93- )

3 “Mr. Johnstone reduced the Najdean force, which had previously been a considerable
army, maintained at the cost of three lakhs per annum, and with the sanction of Government
fixed the sum of Rs. 1,03,360 as an annual allowance to the Raja out of the gross jumma
of the estate for their support.” McNeile: Report on the Village Watch, p. 82. Cf. Long:

Selections, Nos, 954-55.
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you could with the Rajah for the mulguzzary or land reve-
nues. Particular local circumstances might have required
deviations from the general rule—such as the incapacity of
the Rajah, which might bave been remedied by putting
proper ministers about him; and experience has convinced
us they have either erred in judgement or their duty to the
Company. For after all the various experiments of putting
the farms up to public sale, by which means many families
seem to have been utterly ruined, of keeping the lands in
the hands of the Company, which you call Coss (%kas),
and the various methods that have been tried, find the collec-
tions brought to the Company’s credit for the year 1764 are
five laaks less than what were paid in Ali Verdi Cawn’s
time in 1752.”

In this letter the Directors state that it was precisely from the

Burdwan transaction that “we have acquired the most experience of
the nature of the collections of the revenues.” This consideration
gives a special weight to the words in whiQh Verelst expresses his
judgment on ‘the _farming system as at first practised under the
English administration :

“On my arrival at Burdwan, and inspecting the state of the reve.

nues and collections for the preceding as well as the present
year, I was surprised to find a large decrease of the revenues
from our first taking possession. The rents of the province,
according to the jummabundy, or rent-roll of 1168 or 1761,
amounted to Rs. 37,24,474-10-8, which, by the outcry (i.e.,
public auction) of 1169, were increased to-~Rs. 529, 034-1-11,
also by Chaukeran' malguszarry affairs (or lands allotted
for servants, resumed this year) Rs. 1,03,825, making in
all Rs. 43,57,334-0-7, out of which Rs. 3,785-4-4 were
deducted for the Rajah’s Vuncar? in one of the pergunnahs.
The sum, therefore, due was Rs. 43,53,548-12-3, of which
were collected from the farmers Rs. 34,60,085-1-8. For
the year 1170 or 1763, the same jummabundy and with some
small articles of increase, came to Rs. 44,81,035-10-15, of
which were collected Rs. 37,19,464-9-4. The very great
balances of these two years, amounting to Rs. 16,54,134-12-6,
made the Honourable Board sensible of the impossibility
of the then farmers complying with their agreements, and that
the lands could not be made to produce anything equal to the
valuation in consequence of the outcry in r169. They there-
fore issued an order, whereby those who chose it might
relinquish or keep their farms on making good the balances out
of their private fortunes, and that such as were not able should
have their farms taken from them, and their goods sold to do
it. Many were glad to take advantage ‘of the first order,
although certain ruin attended it; and many more were obliged

~~

 Chakaran, plural of chakar, a seryant.
3 Nankar,



THE CEDED LANDS. cxliit

to submit to the latter, by which lands to the amount of
Rs. 2615-4.4 became coss (kkas). The advantages of
collecting in that manner were so evident, that it was
resolved to endeavour to farm them out again for the third
year on the best terms that could be procured. The
examples, however, of the two former years were sufficient to
prevent men of substance and credit from offering them-
selves; so that only to the amount of Rs' 5,80,429-4-0
wab taken at a considerable discount from the former Jumma
or valuation, although the most profitable were selected out
of the whole by the Muttorseddees, who were well acquainted
with what they would produce. The rest, amounting to
Rs. 20,35,934-4-0, still continued coss, and skeikdars,
or collectors were appointed to them, people in every respect
as unworthy and infamous in their characters as the pur-
chasers of the year 1169, who had been just dismissed, by
which the expences in collecting were very considerably
increased. The jummabundy of 1171, including an increase
this year of Rs. 3,013-9-16 amounted to Rs. 44,84,049-4-11,
out of which is to be deducted Rs. 12,744-4-18 for
lusses sustained by hail, etc., so that Rs 44,71,304-15-13
remained due ; of this sum was only collected Rs. 35,12,393-3-0,
so that there appears to be a balance for the—

first year of ... Rs. 8,92,563-10-15,
second year of v 7.61,571-1-11,
third year of .ee y»  0,58,011-12-13,

making altogether for the three years for which the lands
were sold at an outcry, a deficiency in the estimation made
from the sale of 1169 of Rs. 26,13,046-8-19. Out of the
balance 'of the third year, the sum of Rs. 5,54,124-6-14
arises from the Coss lands only,—a sum much larger than
the amount-advances bid at the outcry, not a rupee of which
can ever be recovered, as the revenues of those lands are
collected by servants appointed for that purpose, whose duty
it was to pay into the treasury only what they receive from
the tenants, on seitling whose accounts no further demand
could be made upon them.

“From the above account you will observe how very short of
-what was estimated in 1169 the real produce -of the province
has been, and how little prospect there was of its mending ;
nor do I think it can be otherwise whilst the same plan of an
outcry is pursued  The being put into immediate possession
of the lands, of which the purchaser is to have the sole collec-
tion, independent of the Raja and his officers, or the Chief and
Council, on his agreeing to pay into the cutcherry a certain
sum, is a sufficient inducement for men of desperate fortunes,
such as have no method of livelihood, and who, by their
malpractices in other parts, were incapable of getting
employment, to come and offer themselves as purchasers,
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thereby securing an immediate subsistence, and hoping by
their oppression to get some profit, even should they buy in
the lots too dear to obtain anything by them in a fair way,
and, as the sale was public, no bidder could there be con-
sistently objected to. With these views, they cared not what
they bid; and while the old farmers, who had possession,
perhaps, from father to son for many years past, continued
to rise in their offers, and probably exceeded the real value
of the lands, rather than be turned out of what they had
esteemed their estates and habitations, and insulted by new-
comers ; these last always thought they could afford some-
thing more. Thus the greatest part of the province fell into
the hands of a set of rapacious wretches, who revelled in the
produce of the lands which ought to have been paid into the
cutcherry; the consequence of which was, that, at the close
of the year 1170, 2 most enormous balance was incurred, as
has been above remarked, and the ryots, who had been
oppressed by the head-farmers, and many ruined, were
obliged to desert their lands, which became uncultivated.
The substantial farmers, who, rather than quit their habita-
tions, had purchased at the outcry, at an exorbitant rate,
were obliged to relinquish their farms on making good the
balances out of their private fortunes, by which many were
ruined, whilst all the satisfaction that could be obtained from
the others, was to turn them out, without hopes of ever
recovering anything from them.! ¥ % % = After the
heavy losses and real detriment the first outcry had
proved of to the whole province, I was greatly surprised to
find, on my arrival here, that it had been again exposed to
public sale. However, purchasers had only been found for
about 22 laaks of rupees, so great was the prejudice taken at
the former sale, and the whole of that very considerably
under the Fummabundy of 1169, excepting the farms lately
held by Messrs. Johnstone, Hay, and Bolts, on which a great
advance was bid; the rest of the province, for which there

1 The Committee of Circuit in 1772 held that long leases were essential to the good
working of the farming system. In 1776, the Court of Directors ordered that the leases
should be for one year only, although the local experience of their servants favoured ionger
Jeases. and the Directors’ orders were frequently disobeyed Verelst elsewhere in the
letter under quotation in the text, writes : ‘ |f the leases are granted for so short a time,
it only serves as an incitement to ill-disposed people to take them; having no concern in
the future success and welfare of the country, they pay no regard to anything but enriching
themselves at the expence and to the detriment of the industrious Ryot, by which the lands
soon become neglected and uncultivated It is a known custom here for the farmers, who
are desirous of increasing the number of their tenants, and promoting the good of their
co ntry, to assist them from time to time with money towards purchasing the necessary
implements for cultivation, as well as to support their families till the produce of their lands
enable them to support themselves, and which I have never known repaid in less than three
years, It is not, therefore, to be expected that people in the above circumstances should
attempt improvements at a certain loss; on the contrary, when the lands dre disposed of
at a moderate rent to substantial and creditable people, to be held in perpetuity, it becomes
their own interest, equally with that of government, to encourage the cultivation.”
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were no bidders, became Coss [kkhas.] The stateme.-+
of the revenues of the lands is as follows =

Christian Ara Bengal Ara Rs. AS. P,
1760 or 1167 .. 10,14,242 1 4
1761 » 1168 ... 11,66,910 3 I0
1762 " 1169 .. 12,72854 o0 15
1763 " 1170 .. 12,72,854 o 1§
1764 " 1171 e 9,012,237 I §

“ By which you will observe the great difference in the
Fumma or valuation of them, between 1169 and 1171, the first
and the last years of the outcry, besides the almost certainty,
from the distress the lands were left in, of their decreasing as
much again in their value, if continued to be collected in this
manner, and attended with a very considerable addition of

expence in servants, etc.,, that must be employed in that
service.”1

Finding the revenues in this perilous condition, Verelst, on his arrival
at Burdwan in August, 1765, found himself in a position to substitute a
new system for that of “an outcry.” This fact in itself affords a striking
instance of the fallacy that not till 1772 did the Company’s servants exert
themselves in direct revenue administration. Verelst's method was to
abolish the public sale, and instead “to engage men of substance apd
character” to take charge of the collections,  with a promise, that if they
exerted themselves in the improvement, they should never be dispossessed,
but meet with all due encouragement and favour from the Company.”
The lateness of the season compelled him to give immediate possession;
and in return, the newly-established revenue-gatherers andertook to realise
and pay in an equivalent to the yieldings of the previous years, to give
progressive increase in the second and third years, in the fourth to pay
what had been yielded in 1167 R.S,, and after that to ‘“subject them-
selves equally to others to any general increase or tax "upon the
province.”

A further and equally significant instance of direct administration is
to be found in the action of the Company’s servants in regard to the
Basi Zamin, or lands granted rent-free for the maintenance of religious
or charitable persons or public institutions. Verelst tells us that his
predecessor, Mr. Johnstone, had “taxed the whole of this land at g
annas per bighah, without regard to what was really applied to the
purposes it was intended for, except some which Mr. Marriott bad
cleared during his short stay at Burdwan.” Verelst finding that many of
these lands were in fact uncultivated, and that where productive they
formed “a nursery of indolence,” for altogether unworthy persons,
while undertaking to admit claims properly substantiated, secured from
the Rajah, in whom the right of reversion of such aliena.t:ons was vested,
the reversion of all such exemptions as would fall to bim by death of
the holders, until a sum amounting to one half of the whole should be

1 Verelst s View, efc., Appendix, No. 131, pp. 314-16,
19
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obtained. This he designed to be kept as a fund for the support of “such
invalided sepoys and others as have, or may suffer in our service.”’!

The frequent orders of Government, for a scrutiny of sanads and
claims,? and a just valuation of the lands, had never been complied
with, for the system of disposing of the collections by public auctions
was supposed to have the merit of freeing the Government from the
necessity of minute and painful inquiries into ancient records and the
toil of exact land measurements. Johnstone, who had advocated the
farming system, held that ‘“‘the outcry ” would, by economic law of
competition, reveal the value of the lands, as it was to be presumed
that no man would purchase at a loss. Experience proved here in
Burdwan, as at a later date it was to prove elsewhere to Warren
Hastings, that speculation does not confine itself to the limits dictated
by prudence. In justice, however, to the Company’s servants, it must
be said that the farming system was the method recommended to them
by the native officials, on whose trained experience they were bound to
set great reliance. “On examining into the circumstances of the
principal farmers of the province,” writes Verelst, “I found that the
most considerable part of the land was farmed by the Muttaseddees, and
those the most principal selected out by them; itis through these
people we are to acquire a knowledge into the state of the country,
the revenues and the customs in collecting; and while they, by being
such extensive farmers, have so large an interest, they do their utmost,
not only to keep us ignorant, but also to deceive us in points of the
greatest consequence; besides which, being themselves capable, and,
no doubt, guilty of great frauds, in their accounts, they are under the
necessity of conniving at the same in others, to prevent a detection in
themselves. They are very sensible how these arguments may be used
against them, and are the more cautious of letting it be knowr what
lands they have, giving different péople in their families for securities.
This is not only the custom of the heads, but is followed by every petty
Mohooreer in each office ; exclusive of which, the infamous practices
used by them to obtain lands at the outcry at under-rate, are most
notorious.”® The system of public sales, could at the best, only reveal
the value of lands with which Government was already acquainted; but
“the great quantity of lands, in possession of the different Mutta-
seddees, have been selected out of the whole province as the most
profitable, containing more cultivated lands, and producing a greater
profit than is by most people imagined ; these they ever kept amongst
themselves, to prevent their real value being known.”* During the

2 Verelst : View, efc., Appendix, p. 214.
% Cf. Long: Selections, No. 590.

3 Verelst: View eic., Appendix, p. 217. Verelst explains * Mohooree” as * any writer,
or under-clerk, among the natives of Bengal ”: “ Muttaseddee” as “ a general name for all
officers employed in taking the accounts of Government, or any person of consequence,”

¢ Verelst : Op. cit., Appendix, pp. 217-78. Verelst recommended—

(i) That “ such Muttaseddees as hold a large quantity of lands should be obliged
to quit them, or their offices, and that nobody holding any post be permitted to
farm, except it be a very small quantity for the conveniency of their house and

family.”
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period 1758-1772 there came into existence a new Bengal landed
aristocracy which owed its wealth to founders who had been revenue
servants of the Company or banians of the Company’s servants.

It must, however, be remembered that it was the native officials
alone, who, in these early days, made great fortunes, thanks to the
Company’s ignorance of the country and the opportunities afforded by
the system of farming out the collections. The names of Johnstone,
Hays and Bolts are vested with an unenviable reputation, which the
burking of an enquiry tended to enhance. It may, however, be said
that not a few of the charges recklessly brought against the Company’s
servants by their employers, prove, on investigation, to rest on a
perverse misconstruction of a system which had always allowed certain
privileges to the officers of the Government. The sums which we find
Sumner and his assistant, Graham, were compelled to refund were in
fact recognised perquisites of their offices. It must also be admitted
that when a Government puts up at public auction advantages which
are to be asserted by the bidders’ free offer, it can hardly be a matter
of complaint if those who know best the value of what is offered bid
‘“at an under-rate.”” An auctioneer, who puts no reserved limit on
his lots, is hardly in a position to claim that he is cheated, if after he
has accepted a bid the supposed paste jewels prove to be real diamonds.
The moral argument might be advanced that the auctioneer’s assistants
had bad the opportunity of making themselves better acquainted with
the worth of the lots, and that their duty as servants was to have
informed their master in good time to prevent his making mistakes.
But what is to ke said of the moral rights of an auctioneer who under-
pays his assistants, on the ground that their opportunities of making
advantageous bids at his sales will compensate for the scantiness of
their wages—an auctioneer who says, ‘“My only chance of ever
knowing whether these jewels are paste or diamonds is the offer you
may choose to make " ?

The Resident’s duties at Burdwan were primarily of an officer
entrusted with the supervision of the revenues; but he was also
concerned with the courts of justice. Verelst gives us the following
account of the local courts, and tells us ‘“the like administration
prevails in nearly all the provinces of Bengal.”

“Sudder Cutcherry—In this court are received all the land-rents
and revenues of the province, all accounts relative to them
adjusted, all purchases and sales of land and property con-
firmed, all differences between landlord and tenant heard
and determined, and from hence all orders respecting the
rents and revenues are issued.

Buxey Dustore [Bakhshi Dastur.]—This court superintends
the conduct of all the forces, guards, and other persuns

(ii) That “ an account should be made in every pergunnah, and every village, haut,
etc., in it, of its jumma, and the exact measurement of its lands, and as much
of this last as possible by surveyors to be appointed” by the Board. Hat
{corruptly “ haut,”) a market held at stated times,
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employed for the protection of the province in general,
the prevention of thefts and disturbances of the peace of
the inhabitants; and all orders respecting such persons
are issued from this office; at the same time it provides
for their pay and obedience.

Fousdarry—The jurisdiction of this court is wholly confined to
criminal matters, and the judgment of capital offences.

Burrah Adaulat.l—Is a court of meum and tuum for all demands

above 50 rupees, and does not interfere in any claims under
the amount of that sum.

Ameen Dustore—ls, in a great measure, a court subordinated to
the Sudder Cutcherry, as all complaints are first made to the
former, and referred from thence to the latter. They relate
entirely to the business of the revenue, and the conduct of
those employed in the collections.

Chootah Adalat—Takes cognizance of all suits for debts not
exceeding 50 rupees.

Bazee Zemin Dustore.*—Is a court for settling all differences
relative to charity lands and other public supports. Each
person’s property in claims of this kind are ascertained, and
from hence all orders respecting them are issued.

Basee Yumma Dustere—~This court takes cognizance of adul-
teries, abortious, and other crimes, that more immediately
concern the peace and happiness of private families, grants,
for lands and public works for the accommodation of travellers,
such as tanks or ponds of water, serais or resting places, etc.,
are issued from this court.

Karidge® Dustore—The landholders’ accounts, when settled, are
sent to this Court for payment; and in such cases where the
debtor is incapable of paying the amount, a power is lodged
in this court to compromise the debt.”#

It may be inferred that at Burdwan, prior to the advent of the
English, no records were kept by these courts. Under the supervision
of the English Residents, the proceedings and the evidence given were
recorded, and the sentences inflicted were approved either by the Nawab
or the Raja on the one hand and the Resident on the other.

Verelst’s doings at Burdwan belong to the ‘“days of small things.”
The concluding paragraph of the letter just quoted will bring this truth
home to the reader.

} Adalat, a court.

s Bazi=Miscellaneous. Dastur==custom, practice, but also usedto denmote a sub-
divisional district, or group of parganahs.

3 Khiraj or Kharaj=tax, tribute.
+ Verelst: View, efc., Appendix, pp. 219-20. CTf. Long: Selections, No. 956.
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“ From the vicinity of Burdwan to the Presidency, I cannot think
the appointment of a factory any ways necessary. One person
toreside on the spot, who will, in conjunction with the
Raja and his officers, sign all papers, and issue all orders
which regard the collections, is fully sufficient, and which is
at present the duty of the Council in rotation. A Supra-visor
may, as he sees occasion, go there to settle and regulate any
matters that may occur, or send his directions from hence.
If it is urged that these gentlemen preside over the
several courts of justice, and thereby relieve the poor, I must
remark, that in so very large a district as this pravince, it is
impossible to have the greatest part of the complaints brought
to Burdwan. It is, therefore, customary to issue directions to
the Sheikdars, etc.,, in the pergunnahs at the head of the
petition, ordering them to enquire into it. Besides which as
the gentlemen are obliged to inform themselves through the
servants and Banyans appointed to each office, I do not think
it so necessary to have that number, as one might equally well
attend to causes of any consequence.”!

No doubt ‘‘one person to reside on the spot’ in so large a district
as Burdwan does not afford evidence of an adequate internal administra-
tion, but, if on this ground we chose to abide by Macaulay’s statement,
it must be remembered that even after 1772, and indeed after 1781,
other large districts in Bengal could but claim a solitary collector and his
assisant. As to criminal judicature, Lord Macaulay’s view might be more
easily defended ; it was in this respect English energy most lamentably
held fire; yet, on the other hand, it was no small thing that, when the
Company's servants in 1772, received the mandate to ‘“stand forth as
Diwan,” they had for nearly eight years past a varied experience of
revenue affairs gathered in the lands granted to them by Mir Kasim.

The following is Verelst’s statement of the Net Revenues of
Burdwan :— :

May to April. Curt. Rs,
1760-1761. Cash received. 607,482.
1761-1762. do. oo 38,41,087.
1762-1763. do. «. 39,49,167.
1763-1764. do. ... 3986,101.
1764-1765. do. ... 36,29,78¢.
1765-1766. do. w. 35,67,854.
1766-1767. do. .o 42,88,171.
I767'1768' do. oo 41,409,471,
1768-176g. do. ... 41,58,387.

1769-1770. do. .. 39,48,037.

Verelst points out that in the first year, “only a small part of the
revenue was brought into the Treasury,” and also “the duties upon salt
made within the province, which in former years made a part of these
revenues, were, after the establishment of the Society in the year 1765,
paid into the Treasury of Calcutta.”?2

1 Verelst: Op. cit., Appendix, p. 219. * View, efc., p. 7a.



CHAPTER VIIL

THE GRANT OF THE DIWANI OF BENGAL, BIHAR AND
ORISSA, 1765.

“71 observed to him [Lord Chatham] that it was necessary for
him to determine whether i1t was an object for the Company or the
State ; for I was persuaded, if the State neglected it, the Company,
in process of time, would secure it for their greater quiet and safety,
exclusive of gain.” Walsh to Clive, 26th 16 ovember, 1759.

Lord Clive arrived in Calcutta, on his second period as Governor,.cn
the 3rd of May 1765, but in the past half year, the Calcutta Government,
under Spencer’s brief regime, had done much to increase the Company’s
power. .Feeling that he was possessed of a mandate ““to cleanse the
Augean stable” Clive, but for an unfailing belief in his own personal
power, might well have been dismayed by the thought he was about to
pit himself against a Council which could credit itself with the comple-
tion of a difficult war, the increase of the Company’s territory, and an
improved treaty with the Subahdar of Bengal. A farman from the
Emperor, dated December 29, 1764, had assigned to the Company *the
country of Ghazipoor and the rest of the Zemindari of the Rajah Bulwant
Singl, belonging to the Nizamut of the Nabob Shujah-ul-Dowla ; other
regulation and government thereof we have given to their disposal, in
the same manner as it was in the Nabob Shujah-ul-Dowlah’s. The
aforesaid Rajah having settled terms with the chief of the English
Company, is, according thereto, to pay the revenues to the Company.”

In February, 1765,* moreover, the old Nawab Mir Jafar had died,
and his son, Najm-u-daulah on February 2oth entered into a treaty by
which he signed away one of the most important elements of
sovereignty.

“IV. Ido confirm to the Company, as a fixed resource for
defraying the ordinary expenses of their troops, the Chucklahs
of Burdwan, Midnapoor and Chittagong in as full a manner
as heretofore ceded by my father. The sum of five lacks of
sicca rupees per month for their maintenance, was further
agreed to be paid by my father and I agree to pay the same
out of my treasury, whilst the exigency for keeping up so
large an army continues. When the Company’s occasions

1 Mill says (History of British Jndia, vol. iii, p. 250) that Mir Jafar, *after
languishing several weeks at Calcutta, returned to Moorshedabad, loaded with disease, and
dieﬁ in January 1765.” Mir Jafar seems to have returned to his capital on December 19,
1764, and on December 20 he ordered Nanda Kumar “to manage the business of the
country and revenues.” Mir Jafar died on February 6, 1765. Imperial Record Department:
Calendar of Persian Correspondence, vol. i, p. 377. During the administration Vansittart,
Nanda Kumar’s treacherous and criminal character had been exposed,
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will admit a diminution of the expenses they are put to, on
account of their troops, the Governor and Council will then
relieve me from such a proportion of this assignment as the
increased expenses incurred by keeping up the whole force
necessary for the defence of the provinces will admit of : and,
as I esteem the Company’s troops entirely equal thereto and
as my own, I will only maintain such as are immediately
necessary for the dignity of my person and government, and
the business of my collections throughout the provinces.”

The second article bestowed on Muhammad Riza Khan the office of
Naib Subah, in which was vested the management of the Subahdari,
and of this trust he was not to be dispossessed without the consent of
the Company.

So affairs stood on Clive’s arrival in May. Having set in motion
his principal machinery of reform—the Select Committee,! Clive started
up-country on June 25. He had already, on the occasion of a visit
from the Nawab, turned a willing ear to the tale of how the Naib Soubah
had depleted the treasury of Murshidabad by payment of presents to
the English who had come thither as a deputation on the occasion of the
Nawab’ accession. Clive’s present business at the capital, however, was
not to listen to complaints, but to prepare for the virtual cession of the
whole civil authority of the Nawab to the English Company.

“ Regulating the country government was the next object of our
attention. We found the Nabob highly dissatisfied2 with
those plenary powers vested in Mahomed Reza Cawn, who
by virtue of the treaty acted in quality of prime minister and
enjoyed uncontrolled authority. This unlimited sway, lodged
in the hands of a single person, appeared dangerous to the
present establishment, which we thought it becoming to
maintain, as having been formally ratified by the Governor
and Council. To amend the very cbvious defects in the treaty
without reversing the principles on which it was founded,
was consistent with “equity, whilst it met with the Nabob’s
own approbation,® and the most effective means of doing
this seemed to us to consist in an equal partition of ministerial
influence. As Mahomed Reza Cawn’s short administration
was irreproachable, we determined to constitute him in a share
of the authority, at the same time that we associated with him
men of weight and character; so that each became a check

! This Committee, which had been given extraordinary powers during a crisis Clive
turned into a permanent organ of government. Vide Mill: History of British India, vol. iii,
p- 275 : (5th edition) 1858.

* In the margin of the copy of Verelst’s View in the possession of the present writer
Archibald Swinton, who played no small part in the events of this period, writes against tiie
above passage : “ No doubt he (the Nawab) was; but he had far greater reason to be dis-
satisfied with his situation afterwards.”

3 Swinton asks: “ Who gave away the Nabob's treasures, in the Nabob’s name against
his will, for the appointment of himself to plenary power, diametrically opposite to the
Nabob'’s inclinations 7"’
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.upon the other. Accordingly we fixed on Juggut Seat [Seth]
and Roydullub [Rai Durlabh], for the reasons assigned in the
Proceedings : and we now have pleasure to acquaint you that
the business of the Government goes on with unanimity,
vigour and dispatch.”?

Ten years earlier, the idea of ‘“ regulating the country government”
would have seemed to the Company’s servants the dream of 2 madman.
Lord Clive was now to regulate the affairs of the Mughal himself. The
Company in England had expressed its disapproval of the recent acquisi-
tion of new territory, and therefore in the treaty between the Nawabs
of Oudh and Bengal on the one hand and the English Company on the
other, dated August 16, 1765, it was agreed :

“4. The King (Shah Aalum) shall remain in full possession of
Korah, and such part of the province of Illah-abad as he now
possesses, which are ceded to His Majesty as a royal demesne
for the support of his dignity and expenses.

5. His Highness (i, the Nawab of Oudh) Shuja-ud-Daula,
engages in a most solemn manner to continue Bulwant Singh
in the Zemindaries of Benares and Ghazepore, and all those
districts he possessed at the time he came over to the late
Nabob Jaffir Ally Khan and the English, on the condition of
his paying the same revenue as heretofore.

6. It being firmly resolved to restore to His Highness the country
of Benares and the other districts now rented by Bulwant
Singh, notwithstanding the grant of the same from the King
to the English Company ; it is, therefore, agreed that they
shall bz ceded to His Highness in the manner following :—
vis., they shall remain in’ the hands of the English Company
with their revenues, till the expiration of the agreement
between Bulwant Singh and the Company, being on the 27th
November next ; after which His Highness shall enter into
possession, the Fort of Chunar excepted, which is not to be
evacuated, until the 6th article of this treaty be fully complied
with.

7. His Highness shall allow the English Company to carry on a
trade, duty-free, through his dominions.”2

By articles of Agreement, dated August 19, 1765, it was arranged
that the Nawab of Bengal, Najm-u-daulah, should pay to the Mughal

A Clive and the Select Committee to the Court, September 30, 1765. Hastings
(Consultations, t1th July, 1773,) thus defines the office of * Naib Subah ” or * Naib Nizam’ :
# According to its original constitution, (it) comprehends the superintendency of his (the
Niwab’s) education, the management of his household, the regulation of his expenses, the
representation of his person, the chief administration of justice, the issuing of all orders
and the direction of all measures which respect the government and police of the provinces,
the conduct of all public negotiations, and execution of treasuries, in a word, every branch
of executive government.”

s Aitchjson: Treakiss efc., vol. i, pp. 8g-91.
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Emperor the stm of twenty-six lakhs of rupees per annum, in regular
monthly payments of Rupees 2,16,666-10-9, the first payment to be
made on September 1, 1765.! As the English Company were to be
security for the payment of this sum, the Emperor Shah Alam, on
August 12, had already made over to the Company,? *“ the dewannee of
the provinces of Bengal, Behar and Orissa, from the beginning of-the
Fussal Rubby of the Bengal Year 1172 as a free gift and ultumgan
[a/tamgha] without the association of any other person, and with an
exemption from the payment of the customs of the Dewannee, which
used to be paid to the court.” ’

This grant of the Diwani necessitated a new agreement between
the Nawab Najm-u.daulah. On September 30, the Nawab agreed to
accept the annual sum of sicca rupees 5,386,131-9-0 as “art adequate
allowance for the support of the Nizamut.”3 Of this sum, Rupees
36,07,277-8-0 was to be expended on the maintenance of troops for “the
support of my dignity only,” and this expenditure wasto be controlled,
not by the Nawab himself, but by an official named in the treaty.

Lord Clive’s estimate of the importance of the new acquisition is
set forth in the following passage of the General Letter from Bengal to
the Court of Directors, 30th September, 1765 :

"““22. The perpetual struggles for superiority between the Nabobs
and your Agents, together with the recent proofs before us
of notorious and avowed corruption, have rendered us unani-
mously of opinion, after the most mature deliberation that no
other method can be suggested of laying an axe to the root
of all these evils than that of obtaining the dewannee of
Bengal, Bihar and Orissa for the Company. By establishing
the power of the great Mogul, we have likewise established
his rights ; and his Majesty, from principles of gratitude, of
equity and of policy, has thought proper to bestow this
employment on the Company, the nature of which is the
collecting of all the revenues, and defraying all the expenses
of the army, and allowing a sufficient fund for the support of
the Nizamut, to remit the remainder to Delhi, and wherever
the King shall reside or direct. But as the King has been
graciously pleased to bestow on the Company forever such
surplus as shall arise from the revenues, upon certain stipula-
tions and agreements expressed in the sunnud, we have settled
with the Nabob with his own free consent that the sum of 53
lacs shall be annually paid to him for the support of his
dignity and all contingent expenses, exclusive of the charge
of maintaining an army, which is to be defrayed out of the
revenues ceded to the Company by this royal grant of

—

' Op. cit., vol. i, p. 229.
Op. cit,, p."'227.
® Some misleading conclusions have been formed by writers who ignore the fact that
this sum does not represent the Nawab’s gross personal income, but what was allowed ot of
the revenues for “ the support of the Nizamut.”

20
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dewanny ;! and indeed the Nabob has abundant reason to be
well satisfied with the conditions of this agreement,2 whereby
a fund is secured to him, without trouble or danger, adequate
to all the purposes of such grandeur and happiness as a man
of his sentiments has any cenception of enjoying ; more would
serve only to disturb his quiet, endanger his government, and
sap the foundation of that solid structure of power and wealth,
which, at length, is happily reared and completed by the
Company, after a vast expense of blood and treasure.

“23. By this acquisition of the Dewanny, your possessions and
influence are rendered paramount and secure, since no future
Nabob will either have the power, or riches sufficient, to
attempt your over-throw, by means either of force or corrup-
tion. All revolutions must henceforward be at an end, as
there will be no fund for secret services, for donations, or for
restitutions. The Nabob cannot answer the expectations of
the venal and mercenary, nor will the Company comply with
demands, injurious to themselves, out of their own revenues.
The experience of years has convinced us that a division of
power is impossible without generating discontent, and
hazarding the whole ; all must belong either to the Company
or the Nabob. We leave you to judge which alternative is
the most desirable and the most expedient in the present
circumstances of affairs. As to ourselves, we know of no
other system we could adopt, that would less affect the
Nabob’s dignity, and at the same ‘time secure the Company
against the fatal effects of future revolutions, than this of
the Dewanny. The power is now lodged where it can only
be lodged with safety to us, so that we may pronounce with
some degree of confidence that the worst which will happen
in the future to the Company will proceed from temporary
ravages only, which can never become so general as to
prevent vour revenues from yielding a sufficient fund to defray
your civil and military charges, and furnish your investments.”

It is necessary to pause at this stage, in order to show that the
momentous transfer of the office of Diwan from the Nawab to the Com-
pany was no original idea of Lord Clive.

In he General Letter to the Court, of Dccember 31, 1758, the
President and Council write (para g) :

““The success in Bengal has acquired us so great a reputation at
the Court of Delhi, that the Vazier has several times addressed
himself to the President to use his interest with the Subah to

1 Contrast this statement with the terms of the Agreement with Najm-u-daulah.

2 Swinton comments : ¢ By this is to be understood that he would rather have this
sum than less; and, in short, that he consented to be called Nabob on these terms rather
than not be Nabob at all. The next section gives a more just statement of the case,
acknowledging that a division of power is impossible without generating discontent and
hazarding the whole, and that all must belong to the Company or the Nabob,”
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comply with the Royal mandate in paying the revenue due to
the Mogul from his Subabship ; and you will observe in the
book of correspondence by letters from Setaub Roy the
Vazier's agent, that the Court is extremely desirous of appoint-
ing the President the Collector of this revenue, amounting to
50 laack of rupees annually. The person invested with this
employ, who is stiled the King’s Duan, is the second man of
rank in the kingdom ; such a dignity aunexed to your Presi-
ddncy would give extraordinary weight to the Company in the
Empire, which notning could be able to remove; however,
though repeated proposals have been made to the President, yet,
at this critical conjunction, he has been under the necessity of
evading them, and managing his answers in such a manner as
to protract time in the expectation of a more favourable
opportunity. The accepting this employ might occasion
jealousy on the part of the Subah, and we are unwilling to
cause him any dissatisfaction at a time when our small force
is engaged another way, especially as you, Gentlemen, give
us so little hopes for reinforcement from home.”

The suggestion that the English should become Diwan thus
originated in 1,58 with the Mughal, and, as will be seen, it was pressed
on the English again in 1761 and 1763. Lord Clive, however, had
reasons for hesitancy over and above those explained in the foregoing
extract. He had been, in fact, on the point of proposing to Pitt that the
Diwani should be accepted in the name, not of the Company, but of the
English Nation. On the 7th January, 1759, he wrote to Pitt:

“So small a body as two thousand Europeans will secure us
against any apprehensions from either one or the other (Mir
Jafar or Mir Miran) : and that in case of their daring to be
troublesome, enable the Company to take the sovereignty
upon themselves.! There will be the less difficulty in bring-
ing about such an event, as the natives themselves have no
attachment whatever to particular princes; and as, under
the present Government, they have no security for their lives
or properties, they would rejoice in so happy an exchange as
that of a mild for a despotic Government; and there is little
room to doubt our easily obtaining the Moghul's sunnud in
confirmation thereof, provided we agreed to pay him the
stipulated allotment out of the revenues, viz, fifty lacs
annually. This has of late years been very ill-paid, owing to
the distractions in the heart of the Moghul Empire, which
have disabled that court from attending to their concerns in
the distant provinces ; and the Vizier has actually wrote to
me, desiring I would engage the Nabob to make the payments
agreeable to the former usage ; nay, further, application has
been made to me from the Court of Déelhi, to take charge of
collecting this payment the’ person entrusted with which is

1 These assertions it is interesting to compare with Col. James Mill’s “ Scheme for an
Expedition under the Imperial [i. e, the Austrian] Emperor for dethroning the Nabob of
Bengal,” drawn up in 1746. Bolts: Considerations, vol. iil, p. 16 ef seg.
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styled the King’s Dewan, and is the next person both in
dignity and power to the Soubah. But this high office I
have been obliged to decline for the present, as I am unwilling
to occasion any jealousy on the part of the Soubah; especially
as | see no likelihood of the Company’s providing us with a
sufficient force to support properly so considerable an employ,
and which would open a way for securing the Soubahship to
ourselves. That this would be agreeable to the Moghul can
hardly be questioned, as it would be so much to his interest
to have these countries under the dominion of a nation famed
for their good faith, rather than in the hands of people who, a
long experience has convinced him, never will pay him his
proportion of the revenues, unless awed into it by the fear of
the Imperial army marching to force them into it.

#But so large a sovereignty may possibly be an object too extensive
for a mercantile Company; and it is to be feared they are
not of themselves able, without the nation’s assistance to
maintain so wide a dominion; I have thorefore presumed,
Sir, to represent this matter to you, and submit it to your
consideration, whether the execution of a design, that may
bereafter be still carried to greater lengths, be worthy of the
Government’s taking it into hand. [ flatter myself I have
made it pretty clear to you, that there will be little or no
difficulty in obtaining absolute possession of these rich king-
doms and that with the Moghul's own consent, on condition
of paying him less than a fifth of the revenues thereof. Now
I leave you to judge whether an income of upwards of two
millions stirling, with the possession of these provinces abound-
ing in the most valuable productions of nature and art, be an
object deserving of public attention ; and whether it be worth
the nation’s while to take the proper measures to secure such
an acquisition—which, under the management of soable and
disinterested a minister, would prove a source of immense
wealth to the kingdom, and might in time be appropriated in
part as a fund towards diminishing the present heavy load
of debt under which we at presént labour.”1

1 The Life of Robert Clive, collected from the Family Papers communicated by the Earl
of Powis. By Major-General Sir John Malcolm, G. C.B, F. R.G.S, London, 1836,
vol. ii,, p. 121 ef seq. ‘Walsh, a relat‘lon of Clive's, by whom this letter was submitted gives
an account of his interview with Pitt, in a letter dated 26th November, 1759. Pitt regarded
the proposal as “very practicable,” but of a “very nice nature” ‘“He mentioned the
Company’s charter not expiring these twenty years; that upon none of the late transactions
it had been enquired into whether the Company’s conquests and acquistions belonged to
them or the Crown, and the judges seemed to think to the Company: he said the Company
were not proper to have it, nor the Crown, for such a revenue would endanger our liberties,
and that you have shown your good sense by the application of it to the public. He said
the difficulty of effecting the affair was not great under such a genius as Colonel Clive; but
the sustaining it was the point, it was not probable he would be succeeded by persons
equal to the task.” “1 observed to him that it was necessary for him to determine whether
it was an object for the Company or the State, for 1 was persuaded that, if the State
neglected it, the Company, in process of time, would secure it, that they would even find
themselves under- a necessity to do it for their greater quiet and safety, exclusive of
gain. He seemed to weigh that: but, as far as I could judge by what passed then, it will

be left to the Company to do what they please.”
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In 1761, the Emperor Shah Alam, on his way to Delhi, offered to
Major Carnac, who was “in attendance on the stirrup,” a confirmation
of all existing privileges enjoyed by the Company and the grant of the
Diwani, provided that the Company would guarantee the remission to
Delhi of the Emperor’s share of the revenues.! At that time, however,
the strain between the English civil and military authorities had
reached its highest tension, and Governor Vansittart, who had charac-
terised Carnac’s conduct as ‘‘unbecoming and arrogant” was not prepared
to accept a boon coming through such a channel. On the gth March,
1763, the Cqurt expressed its approval : “ Your refusal of the Dewanee
offered by the King” wrote the Directors, “was certainly very right,
and we are well satisfied with the just and prudent reasons you give
for declining that office.” It may be mentioned that on March 11, 1762,
in a letter of protest against Vansittart’s act in substituting Mir Kasim
for Mir Jafar as Nawab, Coote, Amyatt, Carnac, Ellis, Batson and
Verelst, had urged the Court of Directors either to accept the offer
Shah Alam had made of the Diwani, or to sanction an expedition to
Delhi in order to subdue the rebels to the Emperor’s authority.
Holwell’s comment on the first offer of the Diwani is as follows: *“ With
regard to the offer of the Dewanee, the objections against it were
strong and unanswerable, unless we could have been invested with the
Soubadaary as well.”

The letter in which the Court of Directors acknowledged the gift
of the Diwani breathes their usual sancta simplicitas. They—on May
17, 1766— approve of the acquisition as terminating a state of things in
which the Company was gradually “sinking to decline, while their
servants in Bengal were “ laying hands upon everything they did not
deem the Company’s property”; but they admitted that they were
alarmed by the contemplation of added responsibilities. They write:

“ We observe the account you give of the office and power of the
King’s Dewan, which in former times was  the collecting of
all the revenues, and after the defraying the expenses of the
army, and alowing a sufficient fund for the support of the
Nizamut, to remit the remainder to Delhi’ This description
of it is not the office we wish to execute. The experience we
already have had in the province of Burdwan convinces us
how unfit an Englishman is to conduct the collection of the
revenues, and follow the subtle native through all his arts to
conceal the real value of his country, and to perplex and
elude the payments. We, therefore, entirely approve of
your -preserving the ancient form of government, in upholding
the dignity of the Soubah.

“14. We conceive the office of Dewan should be exercised only
in superintending the collections and disposal of the
revenues; which, though vested in the Company, should be

1 Calendar of Persian Correspondence, vol. 1, Nos. 1291-92. Auber: Rise and Progress,
vol. 1, pp. 82-83.  Holwell: Judia Tracts, p. 92.
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officially executed at the Durbar, under the control of the
Governor and the Select Committece. The ordinary bounds
of which control should extend to nothing beyond the super-
intending the collection of the revenues, and the receiving
the money from the Nabob’s treasury to that of the Dewanny
or the Company; and this we conceive to be neither difficult
nor complicated; for that at the anrual Poorak (punia) the
Government settles with each Zemindar bis monthly payments
for the ensuing year: So the monthly payments of each
Zewmindar, which must be strictly kept up, and if deficient,
the Company must trace what peculiar province, Rajah or
Zemindar has fallen short of his monthly payments, or, if it is
necessary to extend the power farther, let the annual Poonat,
by which we mean the time when every landholder makes his
agreement for the ensuing year, be made with the consent of
the Dewan or Company. The administration of justice, the
appointment of officers, zemindarrees, in short, whatever
comes under the denomination of civil administration, we
understand to remain in the hands of the Nabob or his
ministers.”

The Court of Ditectors 1magined that all it behoved their servants to
do was to lie beneath the tree and let the ripe fruit tumble into their open
mouths. They would take the produce of the people’s labour, and, in
return, offer the people no protection against injustice and oppression.
Fortunately for our national honour the Court was asking for what
was impossible. The English were soon to learn that if they were to
accept the revenues, they must undertake the care of the country.

It has been observed by James Mill that the dual system of govern-
ment which the accession of the English to the Diwani for a time estab-
lished was the  favorite policy of Clive, to whose mind a certain degree
of crooked artifice seems to_have presented itself pretty congenially in

“the light of profound and skilful politics.””1  The dual system presented
itself in a different way to Clive on the one hand and Verelst on the
other. While Verelst honestly believed that the ancient institutions
could be revived and made to do good work, Clive regarded the
Nawab’s authority as a ‘“ name and a shadow,” and when he spoke of
“ throwing off the mask” (ie. declaring the Company Subah of the
provinces), he, in- as many words, admitted that his system was one.of
artifice. So far as the Nawab’s power and wealth was concerned, he
was aware that the English had, so to speak, sucked the orangs dry, but
he imaginad that the skin and the pulp left behind on the table, would
serve to delude the other foreign guests in Bengal into the idea that the
English had not as yet devoured everything worth eating.

That the power had in reality passed into English possession, Clive
never doubted. The Select Committee, in their Consultations of roth

1 Mill: History of Britisk India, (s5th edn.), vol. iii, p. 3os.
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September, describe the Company as having ‘ come into the place of the
country Government by His Majesty’s grant of the dewanee.” Ina
letter, dated 16th January, 1767, the Governor and Select Committee
write:  We are sensible that since the acquisition of the dewanny, the
power b_elonglng to the Soubah of these provinces is totally and in fact
vested in the East India Company. Nothing remains to him but the
name and shadow of authority.” Under the system which Clive estab-
lished the English were t6 do the work, but the Nawab’s shadow was to

cover it all, so that all that the English did was in outward seeming to
emanate from the Nawab himself.

“ This name, this shadow, it is indispensably necessary we should
seem to venerate. Under the sanction of the Soubah, every
encroachment that may be attempted by foreign powers can
effectually be crushed, without any apparent interposition of
our own authority ;! and all real grievances complained of by
them can, through the same channel be examined into and
redressed. Be it, therefore, always reme mbered that there is
a Souhah ; and that, though the revenues belong to the Com-
pany, the territorial jurisdiction must still rest in the chiefs
of the country, acting under him and this Residency in con-
junction. To appoint the Company’s servants to the office
of Collectors, or indeed to do any act by any exertion of the
English power, which can easily be done by the Nabob at our
instance, would be throwing off the mask, would be declaring
the Company Soubah of the provinces. Foreign nations
would immediately take umbrage : and complaint preferred to
the British Court might be attended with very embarrassing
consequences. Nor can it be supposed that either the French,
Dutch or Danes, would readily acknowledge the Company’s
Subahship, and pay into the hands of their (7. ¢., the English)
servants the duties upon trade, or the quit-rents of these
districts which they have long been possessed of by virtue of
the royal phirmauns, or grants from former Nabobs.”

The acquisition of the Diwani, it must be observed, had no imme-
diate effect on the condition of British administration in the ceded lands
(2. e., Chittagong, Midnapur and Burdwan). The executive organised at
Mur<hidabad for the collection of the revenues in what was now known
as the “ Diwani portion” had no jurisdiction in the three districts of
Chittagong, Burdwan and Midnapur, for the possession of which the
Emperor Shah Alam had granted a separate farman, confirming thereby
the past acts of Mir Kasim and Mir Jafar. The districts which made up
the Diwani portion are enumerated by James Grant as follows :2

* And yet the Nawab now had no effective army of his own. ‘

* Grant: Analysis of the Finances of Bengal. Included in the Fifth Report from the
Select Commiltee on the Affairs of the East India Company, 1812, p. 336. It must be
observed that No. 17 “ Mahomedameenpore,” as described by Grant, p. 391, is a partition
of the old sarkars of Satgaon and Salimabad,
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1. Rajeshay [Rajshahi]. 14. Rokinpore [Rokanpur].
2. Dinagepoore [Dinajpur]. 15. Edrackpore [Idrakpur].
3. Bheerbhoom [Birbhum]. 16. Futtehsing.

4. Purneah. 17. Mahomedamcenpore.

5. Rungpore [Rangpur]. 18. Silberis [Salburi].

6. Dacca. 19. Chunakly.

7. Nuddeah [Nadia]. 20. Bishenpore [Bishnupur].
8. Hidjelee [Hijili]. 21. Pachite [Pachet]

9. Rajemahal. 22. Tipperah

10. Sylhet. 23. Ichangurpore [Jahangir-
11. Jessore. pore] elsewhere Grant
12. Mahm